

Fatigue neuromusculaire induite par répétition de sprints: Etiologie et impact de l'hypoxie

Arthur Peyrard

▶ To cite this version:

Arthur Peyrard. Fatigue neuromusculaire induite par répétition de sprints : Etiologie et impact de l'hypoxie. Education. Université Grenoble Alpes; Université de Lausanne, 2019. Français. NNT : 2019GREAA011 . tel-03615487

HAL Id: tel-03615487 https://theses.hal.science/tel-03615487

Submitted on 21 Mar 2022

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.

Communauté UNIVERSITÉ Grenoble Alpes

THÈSE

Pour obtenir le grade de

DOCTEUR DE LA COMMUNAUTE UNIVERSITE GRENOBLE ALPES

Spécialité : **Biologie de la motricité** Arrêté ministériel : le 6 janvier 2005 – 25 mai 2016

Présentée par

Arthur PEYRARD

Thèse dirigée par **Thomas Rupp** Codirigée par **Grégoire Millet et Laurent Messonnier**

Préparée au sein du Laboratoire interuniversitaire de biologie de la motricité

Dans l'Écoles Doctorale SISEO

Fatigue neuromusculaire induite par répétition de sprints – Etiologie et impact de l'hypoxie.

Thèse soutenue publiquement le **16 juillet 2019** devant le jury composé de :

Thomas Rupp, MCF, université Savoie Mont-blanc, Directeur
Grégoire Millet, PR, université de Lausanne, Co-directeur
Laurent Messonnier, PR, université Savoie Mont-blanc, Co-directeur
Jeanne Dekerle, Principal lecturer, University of Brighton, Examinatrice
Olivier Girard, senior lecturer, murdock University, Examinateur
Fabrice Favret, PR, Université de Strasbourg, Rapporteur
Marc Jubeau, MCF, Université de Nantes, Rapporteur



Scientific production

Publications

- **Peyrard A**, Willis SJ, Place N, Millet GP, Borrani F, and Rupp T, (2019) Neuromuscular evaluation of arm-cycling repeated sprints under hypoxia and/or blood flow restriction. Eur J Appl Physiol. doi: 10.1007/s00421-019-04143-4
- Willis SJ, **Peyrard A**, Rupp T, et al (2019) hypoxia during arm cycling repeated sprints. J Sci Med Sport 6–11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsams.2019.05.001

Congress

Peyrard A, Willis SJ, Place N, Millet GP, Borrani F, and Rupp T, (2019) Neuromuscular evaluation of arm-cycling repeated sprints under hypoxia and/or blood flow restriction. ECSS – prague 2019.

List of abbreviations

ADP	Adenosine diphosphate
AMP	Adenosine monophosphate
Amplifirst	Amplitude of the first part of the M-wave
Amplisecond	Amplitude of the second part of the M-wave
AMT	Active motor threshold
ANOVA	Analysis of variance
AOD	Accumulated oxygen deficit
AOD	Accumulated oxygen deficit
AP	Action potential
aRSA	Arm-cycling repeated sprint ability
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
ΑΤΡΑΝΑ	Rate of ATP synthesis through oxidative phosphorylation
ATPox	Rate of ATP synthesis through oxidative phosphorylation
BCAA	Branched-chain amino acids
BFR	Blood flow restriction
Ca2+	Calcium
Ca2+	Calcium
CBF	Cerebral blood flow
СНО	Carbohydrate
CHT	Continuous hypoxic training
СК	Creatine kinase
CI-	Chlorure
CIC-1	Sarcolemmal chlorure channels
CMEP	Cervicomedullary motor evoked potentials
CNS	Central nervous system
CSA	Cross sectional area
CV	Coefficients of variation
DA	Dopamine
Db10	Force response obtained with paired stimuli at 10 Hz
Db100	Force response obtained with paired stimuli at 100 Hz

DHPR	Dihydropyridine receptors
DL	Diffusing capacity of the lung
Dм	Diffusion process
DOMS	Delayed onset muscle soreness
Durfirst	Duration of the first part of the M-wave
Dursecond	Duration of the second part of the M-wave
EC	Excitation-contraction
EEG	Electroencephalography
EMG	Electromyography
EMS	Electrical muscle stimulation
ENS	Electrical nerve stimulation
ERT	Estimated resting twitch
FI	Fatigue index
GPX	Glutathione peroxidase
GR	Glutathione reductase
GSH	Glutathione
GSSG	Oxidized glutathione
H ₂ O ₂	Hydrogen peroxide
HFF	High-frequency fatigue
HH	Hypobaric hypoxia
HIF-1α	Hypoxia-inducible factor 1-alpha
HL	High-load
HR	Heart rate
HRT	Half relaxation time
HVR	Hypoxic ventilation response
ICC	Intra-class correlation coefficient
IHE	Intermittent hypoxic exposure
IHIT	IHE during interval training
IHT	Interval hypoxic training
IMP	Inosine monophosphate
IPC	Ischemic pre-conditioning
ITT	Interpolated twitch technique

K+	Potassium
KAATSU	Blood flow restriction
KATP	ATP- sensitive K ⁺ channels
La	Blood lactate concentration
LDH	Lactate dehydrogenase
LF/HF	Low frequency fatigue ratio
LFF	Low-frequency fatigue
LHTH	Live high-train high
LHTHL	Live high-train high and low
LHTL	Live high-train low
LHTLH	Live high-train low and high
LL	Low-load
LLTH	Live low-train high
LLTL	Live low-train low
LT4	Lactic Threshold
MCT-4	Monocarboxylate transporter-4
MEP	Motor evoked potential
МНС	Myosin heavy chain
Mmax	Amplitude of the M-wave
MNS	Magnetic nerve stimulation
MRI	Magnetic resonance imagery
MU	Motor unit
MUAP	Simulated motor unit action potential
MVC	Maximal voluntary contraction
NA	Noradrenaline
Na+	Sodium
NAC	N-acetyl cysteine
NH	Normobaric hypoxia
NH	Normobaric hypoxia
NIRS	Near-infrared spectroscopy
NME	Neuromuscular function evaluation
NMF	Neuromuscular function

NO•	Nitric oxide
NOX2	NADPH-oxydase 2
O2 ^{•-}	Superoxide anions
OBLA	Onset of blood lactate accumulation
000	Pressure used induced total occlucion
OH•	Hydrogen radical
ONOO-	Peroxynitrite
PAP	Post activation potentiation
Pcr	Phosphocreatine
Pcr	Phosphocreatine
PGC-1α	Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma coactivator 1α
Pmax	Maximal Power Output
Pmean	Mean Power Output
РО	Power Output
Pt	Pic twitch
RF	Rectus femoris
RI	Reuptake inhibitor
RMS	Root mean square
RNS	Reactive nitrogen species
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
RPE	Rate of perceived exhaustion
RSA	Repeated sprint ability
RSE	Repeated sprint exercise
RSH	Repeated sprint training in hypoxia
RSH	Repeated sprint training in hypoxia
RSN	Repeated Sprint Training in Normoxia
RST	Repeated sprint test
RTH	Resistance training in hypoxia
Sbest	Best sprint performance
SD	Standard deviation
Sdec	Decrement score
SEM	Standar error of mean

SERCA	Sarcoplasmic reticulum calcium pumps
SFAP	Single fiber action potential
SICI	Intracortical inhibition
SIH	Sprint Interval Training in hypoxia
SIT	Superimposed twitch
SOD	Superoxide dismutase
SP	Silent period
SR	Sarcoplasmic reticulum
SSC	Stretch-shortening cycle
Sworst	Worst sprint performance
T-tubules	Transverse tubules
ТО	Theoretical torque produced at null velocity
TMS	Transcranial magnetic stimulation
ТРТ	Time to reach Pic Twitch force
TRP	Tryptophan
TYR	Tyrosine
V0	Maximal theoretical angular velocity produced under zero load
VA	Voluntary activation
VATMS	Voluntary activation calculated with TMS
VHL	Voluntary hypoventilation
VHL	Voluntary hypoventilation at low lung volume
VL	Vastus lateralis
VM	Vastus medialis
VO ₂	Oxygen uptake
VO _{2max}	Maximal oxygen uptake
Yo-yo IR	Yo-Yo IR test
θνς	Time required for the O ₂ to combine with hemoglobin
[tHb]	Total hemoglobin/myoglobin
2,3-BPG	2,3-Bisphosphoglyceric acid
³¹ P-MRS	Phosphorous magnetic resonance spectroscopy
5-HT	Serotonin

List of tables

Table 1. Published studies on the impact of BFR exercise on neuromuscular	118
function	
Table 2. Published studies on training intervention with RSH	135
Table 1 (Study 1). Effect of arm cycling	165
Table 1 (Study 2). Intraday reliability of the neuromuscular indices measured	191
on the new cycloergometer	
Table 2.(Study 2). Inter-days reliability of the neuromuscular indices measured	192
during a repeated sprint exercise on the new cycloergometer	
Table 3 (Study 2). Intra- and inter-days reliability of the biomechanical indices	193
measured during isolated sprints on the new cycloergometer	
Table 4 (Study 2). Inter-days reliability of the biomechanical indices measured	195
during a repeated sprint exercise on the new cycloergometer	
Supplementary Table I (Annex). Effects of hypoxia and/or blood flow	257
restriction (BFR) on elbow flexors, saturation index and neuromuscular function	
at rest	
Supplementary Table II (Annex). Effects of an arm-cycling repeated sprint	260
ability test to task failure in normoxia without blood flow restriction on elbow	
flexors, saturation index, and neuromuscular function	

List of figures

Figure 1. Speed profiles of the 100 m and 200 m. Illustration of recovery impact	20
on sprint performance.	
Figure 2. Contribution of metabolic pathways depends on the sprint number.	24
Figure 3. Sites and processes that lead to force generation at the muscle and	34
can contribute to fatigue.	
Figure 4. From single fiber action potential (SFAP) to muscle action potential	37
(M-wave).	
Figure 5. Effect of fatigue on transmembrane action potential and resulting M-	39
wave.	
Figure 6. Three mechanisms underlying the force decrease during fatigue	42
induced by repeated tetanic stimulation.	
Figure 7. The major reactive oxygen/nitrogen species in muscle.	47
Figure 8. Example of peak twitch response in an unfatigued (A) and fatigued (B)	51
state.	
Figure 9. Force-[Ca ²⁺]i relationship before, 10 min and 55 min after elevated	53
[Ca ²⁺]i.	
Figure 10. Quadriceps force recordings after different electrical muscle	54
stimulations.	
Figure 11. Different steps involved in voluntary force production with the major	56
associated feedbacks from the muscle acting at three distinct levels.	
Figure 12. A typical example of measurement using the twitch interpolated	57
technique.	
Figure 13. Overview of the TMS induced current.	59
Figure 14. Typical EMG response during a submaximal contraction with a	60
superimposed TMS.	
Figure 15. Procedure to calculate voluntary activation using TMS.	61
Figure 16. Overview of the effects of some pharmacological and nutritional	64
manipulation on exercise performance through brain neurotransmitter	
adaptations.	
Figure 17. Overview of the characteristics and classification of different motor	67
units.	

Figure 18. The relation between twitch torque and recruitment threshold. Rate	68
of discharge depending on the force.	
Figure 19. Summary of possible routes for afferents feedbacks to change the	70
firing rate of motoneuron during fatigue.	
Figure 20. Group III and IV muscle afferents increase central fatigue but	73
attenuate peripheral fatigue.	
Figure 21. Influence of the recovery period on exercise performance and	76
peripheral fatigue.	
Figure 22. The link between peripheral fatigue and Intramuscular metabolic	79
perturbation.	
Figure 23. Contribution of anaerobic and oxidative ATP production during	80
intermittent isometric knee-extension.	
Figure 24. The effect of an arm-cycling repeated sprint ability test on the	84
neuromuscular function of the elbow flexors muscle.	
Figure 25. The development of neuromuscular fatigue during a repeated-sprint	87
exercise (RSE).	
Figure 26. Corticospinal excitability assessed at rest or during a light contraction,	90
in two positions.	
Figure 27. Schematic representation of the Oxygen extraction process.	96
Figure 28. Oxyhemoglobin dissociation curve.	97
Figure 29. Dependence of the lung diffusing capacity (DL).	98
Figure 30. Time course of oxygen pressure (PO2) in a resting human pulmonary	99
capillary.	
Figure 31. Oxyhemoglobin dissociation curve under normoxia, hypoxia and	101
exercise.	
Figure 32. Oxygen dissociation curve for normal blood and myoglobin.	102
Figure 33. Power output during running repeated sprint exercise performed at	107
different simulated altitudes.	
Figure 34. Main acute responses to multiple-sprint exercise in hypoxia	109
Figure 35. Hypothetical scheme linking oxygen (O2) transport and exercise	112
performance via its effects on fatigue.	
Figure 36. The proposition of potential mechanisms induced by blood flow	127
restriction and impacting the development of neuromuscular fatigue.	

Figure 37. Updated panorama of the different hypoxic/altitude training methods.	130
Figure 1 (Study 1). Protocol overview and details on neuromuscular function	157
evaluation (NME).	
Figure 2 (Study 1). Performance on the arm-cycling repeated sprint ability test	161
depending on the condition: normoxia, hypoxia, with or without blood flow	
restriction.	
Figure 3 (Study 1). Arterial and tissue oxygenation PRE and POST arm-cycling	162
repeated sprint ability test.	
Figure 4 (Study 1). Peripheral fatigue indices PRE and POST arm-cycling	163
repeated sprint ability test depending on the condition: normoxia, hypoxia, with	
or without blood flow restriction.	
or without blood flow restriction. Figure 1 (Study 2). Overview of the study design.	182
or without blood flow restriction. Figure 1 (Study 2). Overview of the study design. Figure 2 (Study 2). Pictures of the specific ergometer build from a recumbent	182 184
or without blood flow restriction. Figure 1 (Study 2). Overview of the study design. Figure 2 (Study 2). Pictures of the specific ergometer build from a recumbent bike and a velotron flywheel.	182 184
or without blood flow restriction. Figure 1 (Study 2). Overview of the study design. Figure 2 (Study 2). Pictures of the specific ergometer build from a recumbent bike and a velotron flywheel. Figure 3 (Study 2). Neuromuscular function measured during two sessions of a	182 184 197
or without blood flow restriction. Figure 1 (Study 2). Overview of the study design. Figure 2 (Study 2). Pictures of the specific ergometer build from a recumbent bike and a velotron flywheel. Figure 3 (Study 2). Neuromuscular function measured during two sessions of a repeated sprint exercise.	182 184 197
or without blood flow restriction. Figure 1 (Study 2). Overview of the study design. Figure 2 (Study 2). Pictures of the specific ergometer build from a recumbent bike and a velotron flywheel. Figure 3 (Study 2). Neuromuscular function measured during two sessions of a repeated sprint exercise. Figure 4 (Study 2). Biomechanical indices measured during two sessions of a	182 184 197 199

Table of contents

GEN	SENERAL INTRODUCTION14	
СНА	PTER 1 - BACKGROUND	18
1	REPEATED SPRINT EXERCISE, DEFINITION AND FACTORS LIMITING PERFORMANCE	19
1.1	DEFINITION	19
1.2	MANIFESTATION OF FATIGUE AND LIMITING FACTORS	20
	1.2.1 Energy supply	22
	1.2.2 Mechanical factors	
	1.2.3 Omitted factors	
	1.2.4 Task dependency	
2	PHYSIOLOGICAL MANIFESTATION OF FATIGUE	32
2.1	Peripheral mechanisms	34
	2.1.1 Muscle membrane excitability and extracellular K+ accumulation	
	2.1.2 Excitation-Contraction coupling and metabolic change	40
	2.1.3 Noninvasive tools for the evaluation of EC coupling during physiological exercise	50
2.2	CENTRAL MECHANISMS	54
	2.2.1 Investigation of the central compartment of fatigue	
	2.2.2 Supraspinal changes	62
	2.2.3 Spinal changes	66
	2.2.4 Muscle afferent feedback	
2.3	NEUROMUSCULAR FUNCTION AND REPEATED SPRINT EXERCISE	75
	2.3.1 Impact of RSE on neuromuscular function	75
	2.3.2 RSE and the underlying physiology of neuromuscular fatigue	
	2.3.3 Methodological considerations	
3	ENVIRONMENTAL FACTORS: THE IMPACT OF SYSTEMIC HYPOXIA	94
3.1	Acute effects of hypoxia at rest	94
	3.1.1 From the air to the mitochondria	
	3.1.2 Acute hypoxia and neuromuscular function	102
3.2	Sprint exercise and hypoxia	104
	3.2.1 Single sprint performance	105
	3.2.2 Repeated-sprint performance	
	3.2.3 Responses to sprint in hypoxia	

4	ENVIRONMENTAL FACTORS: THE IMPACT OF BLOOD FLOW RESTRICTION	114
4.1	1 FATIGUE ETIOLOGY	116
4.2	2 ACUTE MECHANISMS OF BLOOD FLOW RESTRICTION IMPACTING FATIGUE	123
4.3	3 CUFF APPLICATION	128
5	REPEATED SPRINT TRAINING IN HYPOXIA	130
5.1	1 POTENTIAL MECHANISMS	131
5.2	2 EFFECTS ON PERFORMANCE	133
SYN	THESIS AND OBJECTIVES	140
СНА	APTER 2 – EXPERIMENTAL DATA	144
1	STUDY 1: NEUROMUSCULAR EVALUATION OF ARM-CYCLING REPEATED SPRIN	FS UNDER
НҮР	POXIA AND/OR BLOOD FLOW RESTRICTION.	145
1.1	1 Presentation	145
1.2	2 THE STUDY	146
1.3	3 Synthesis	176
2	STUDY 2: A NEW ERGOMETER TO INVESTIGATE NEUROMUSCULAR FATIGUE	177
2.1	1 Presentation	
2.2	2 THE STUDY	178
2.3	3 Synthesis	201
СНА	APTER 3 – ANALYSIS AND OUTLOOKS	203
1	GENERAL DISCUSSION	204
2	PERSPECTIVES	209
3	CONCLUSION	211
BIBI	LIOGRAPHY	212
	NEXES	253

General introduction

There is no need for any scientific background to acknowledge the existence of fatigue. Who hasn't experienced tiredness, exhaustion or the sensation of weakness associated with any task that has been too long, too intense or too strenuous?

Fatigue can rely on so many different features that one of the most challenging aspects when trying to characterize it, is probably to provide an adequate definition. The field of sports sciences has always been driven by the desire to assess human performance and to understand its limits and this is probably why fatigue has been part of its early development and its definition often relies on the quantification of a force, or power decrement. Pioneers work (Mosso 1891; Hill and Kupalov 1929) have been focusing their interest on physiological changes within the muscle associated with exercise-induced fatigue which led the scientific community to believe that performance was mainly limited through peripheral phenomenon linked to lactic acid concentration. For years, the study of fatigue was limited to muscle compartment and performed on isolated muscle fibers. However, voluntary contractions don't start from the neuromuscular junction but originate from the brain and any failure in the chain of command from the cortex to the muscle is likely to induce a diminution in the force or power produced by the muscle itself. Merton (1954) proposed the use of superimposed electrical stimulation to assess the ability to fully recruit a considered muscle and quantify a lack of motor drive from the central nervous system, typically named central fatigue.

It is now rather established that fatigue originates concomitantly from both peripheral and central compartment (Bigland-Ritchie et al. 1984). Furthermore, the progressive development of new methodological approach (e.g. electromyographic recordings, muscle biopsies, magnetic stimulation, magnetic resonance imaging...) have widened our understanding of neuromuscular function and fatigue associated with exercise in healthy but also in clinical populations. Therefore, peripheral fatigue is no longer associated with the lactic acid concentration but rather to an impairment of the muscle membrane excitability and the excitation-contraction coupling due to the accumulation of byproducts of the muscle contraction. Metabolic changes within the muscle have also been linked to central fatigue via muscle afferents feedback impacting the central nervous system at the spinal and supraspinal levels (Gandevia 2001). This confirms the close link between peripheral and central development of fatigue and reaffirms the complexity of its development.

15

The methodology currently used to assess neuromuscular function is conceptually the same as the one proposed by Merton (1954) using isometric contractions. This probably contributes to explain why most of the literature investigating neuromuscular fatigue in humans employs isometric contraction to induce fatigue. This is rather problematic as it appears that fatigue origin depends on the type of activities performed, often referred as the task dependency principle, and many parameters have been shown to influence fatigue etiology such as intensity, duration, and mode of exercise (Enoka and Stuart 1992). It is therefore complicated to transpose findings on fatigue etiology from small muscle mass involved in isometric contraction to whole-body exercise using a multitude of synergist muscles working together.

Repeated sprint exercise has been shown to be a good index of performance in a variety of intermittent sports and a multitude of different approaches have been proposed to improve athlete's capacity to maintain a high level of power production through the repetition of efforts. This type of exercise is very strenuous for the neuromuscular function and is known to induce marked peripheral fatigue in the very early stages with the progressive development of the central compartment.

Recently, a new method involving the use of hypoxia added to repeated sprint training session has been developed and provides interesting results regarding performance improvement. In parallel, hypoxia is responsible for a cascade of physiological adaptation leading to an impairment of cerebral and muscle oxygenation and impact the development of neuromuscular fatigue exacerbating its central aspect, thus, a potential beneficial feature of repeated sprint training in hypoxia could arise from adaptations through the central nervous system.

Therefore, this thesis will focus on the fatigue associated with repeated sprint exercise, and its impact on the neuromuscular function when performed in a deprived-oxygen environment.

Three main chapters articulate this manuscript.

Firstly, an overview of the literature is presented, defining the main concepts on which this work is based and offering scientific evidence on the actual knowledge regarding repeated sprint exercise, the manifestation of fatigue and the impact of environmental factors on its etiology.

16

In a second chapter, the experimental work accomplished during the last years is compartmented into two main studies aiming to provide answers to a lack of experimental data or methodological flaws in the current literature.

Finally, the results obtained are synthesized, discussed and put into perspectives in the last chapter of this manuscript.

Chapter 1 - Background

1 Repeated sprint exercise, definition and factors limiting performance

A lot of intermittent activities (soccer, rugby, and hockey among others) require participants to produce repeatedly maximal or near maximal efforts of short duration with a brief incomplete recovery period. Therefore, the athlete ability to repeat such effort is a strong aspect of physical performance during competitions (Spencer et al. 2005). This has been named repeated sprint ability (RSA) and a variety of protocols have been developed to determine it (Dawson et al. 1993; Aziz et al. 2000; Spencer et al. 2005).

The next section will try to give more insight and provide scientific backward from the literature regarding the definition of RSA, the differences between RSA modalities and an introduction to the fatigue induced by such test and how it can be measured.

1.1 Definition

While the term "sprint" is often used to characterized short "supramaximal" exercise, it sometimes refers to exercise lasting ~30 s (Bogdanis et al. 1996; Ball et al. 1999). For the purpose of this thesis, a sprint will be defined as a brief exercise where maximal workout (power/speed) can be sustained, or nearly sustained until the end of exercise (figure 1.A; Girard, Mendez-Villanueva, and Bishop 2011). Furthermore, when talking about repetitive sprints, it is important to differentiate two modalities, repeated, and intermittent. Intermittent sprints are interspaced with a period of recovery long enough (60 to 300 s) to allow near complete restoration of performance between each sprint whereas repeated sprints are characterized by a shorter period of incomplete recovery (<60 s) inducing inevitable diminution in performance over the repetitions (figure 1B).



Figure 1. Panel A: speed profiles of the 100 m and 200 m world record for men. In this example, the 100 m would be considered as a sprint exercise whereas the 200 m would be an all-out exercise. Panel B: Illustration of the impact of recovery on 4 s cycling sprint performance. Intermittent sprints were interspaced with 120 s of recovery whereas repeated sprints were performed every 30 s. * show significant diminution compare to the first sprint (P<0.05). Adapted from Girard et al, (2011).

Fatigue is a complex phenomenon involving several processes and section 2.2 will try to provide an overview of it, but before that, it can already be mentioned that during repeated-sprint exercise (RSE), fatigue will rapidly develop as soon as the first sprint (figure 1.B shows a significant diminution in work already during the 2nd sprint). This fatigue can be induced by numerous factors as an inappropriate motor command from the brain to the accumulation of byproducts of the contraction inside the muscle.

Overall, a great diversity of tools exists to quantify fatigue during RSE and the next part will present some of them as well as some of its major limiting factors.

1.2 The manifestation of fatigue and limiting factors

Fatigue Indices

Depending on the exercise modalities (i.e. cycling or running), fatigue will manifest as a reduction in power output, speed or an increase in time. To quantify the RSA researchers proposed different indices. First, the best sprint performance (i.e. it has to be obtained from the first sprints, otherwise it probably implies that the participants didn't give is best), then the

average sprint performance (considering the whole RSE) and lastly, a fatigue score index that can be calculated in various ways. Two different methods of calculating this index appear to prevail in the literature. The first is named Fatigue index (FI) and represents the drop of performance from the best sprint to the worst during the RSE (equation 1).

$$FI = \frac{100 \times (Sbest - Sworst)}{Sbest}$$

Equation (1)

Where Sbest is the best sprint performance and Sworst, the worst sprint performance. The second indicator is named decrement score (Sdec) and compares the overall sprint performance to an "ideal performance" (i.e. as if the participant were able to reproduce his best sprint during the whole session) as shown in equation 2.

Sdec =
$$\left(1 - \frac{\text{Smean}}{\text{Sbest}}\right) \times 100$$

Equation (2)

Where S mean is the mean performance of all sprints. The advantage of Sdec is that it considers the totality of the RSE whereas FI only depends on the best and worst sprint. Furthermore, Glaister, (2008) concluded that Sdec provided the best reliability to quantify fatigue over RSE. Nevertheless, it should be noted that they obtained an ICC of 0.75, which stand as good, by comparing 2 RSE with different recovery period (35 *vs* 65 s). FI and Sdec should always be interpreted with care as they are greatly dependent on the best (usually the first) sprint. Therefore, any pacing strategy will have drastic effects on this parameter.

Interestingly, the initial performance is relatively well correlated with the subsequent loss of power/speed over the RSE (Bishop et al. 2003; Mendez-Villanueva et al. 2008). This can be explained by the fact that the athletes producing higher power output are likely the ones with the highest energy consumption. Because the anaerobic pathway is the major supplier of ATP, the metabolites are likely to accumulate more inside the muscle leading to an exacerbated level of fatigue (see section 2.2 for further details). This is supported by the fact that athletes with lower anaerobic power reserves (i.e. less reliance on anaerobic metabolism) have a relative higher fatigue resistance.

An interesting factor having an impact on RSE is the time of the day, indeed, performing RSE in the afternoon increased the performance of the first sprint without impacting the

subsequent ones (Racinais et al. 2005). This leads to a sharper decrement and therefore is associated with an impaired RSA when calculating the Sdec or FI (i.e. higher best sprint whereas the rest of the test is identical). This further highlight the fact that those indices should be interpreted with care (always the three together, best sprint, an average of all the sprint and finally, fatigue score) and that RSE should be performed at a similar time of day if they are to be compared to each other.

1.2.1 Energy supply

Pcr resynthesis

Once the relatively small amount of adenosine triphosphate (ATP) available has been consumed, it is resynthesized from the stock of phosphocreatine (Pcr). The latter represent roughly 80 mmol•Kg⁻¹ of dry muscle and the maximal turnover rates is of approximately 9 mmoleKg⁻¹ of dry muscle (Hultman and Sjöholm 1983) and is, therefore, a very important component of RSA. For instance, Gaitanos et al. (1993) showed that after a single 6 s cyclingsprint, Pcr stores were depleted to 43% of resting values. They also showed, that after a repetition of ten 6 s sprints with 30 s recovery, Pcr store was further diminished to 16% of baseline values. Those results were confirmed in another study by Dawson et al. (1997) using six sprints and a recovery period of 24 s. The necessary time to fully replenish the Pcr content is about 5 min (Bogdanis et al. 1995), then it can be postulated that shorter recovery time will lead to performance decrement over the RSE. The Pcr diminution reported by Gaitanos et al. (1993) was obtained through biopsies and therefore doesn't differentiate the muscle fiber types (see section 2.2.1.2) and, it has been shown that type-II muscle fibers have higher Pcr depletion compare to type-I muscle fibers (Söderlund et al. 1991; Karatzaferi et al. 2001b). Therefore, during RSE, it is possible that some of the type-II fibers deplete even more their Pcr store, leading to the performance diminution (Sahlin and Ren 1989).

Because recovery periods during RSE are less than 60 s, the depletion of ATP/Pcr is likely to be one of the major factors limiting performance. This even led several authors to propose that due to the similar time course of recovery between Pcr and power output, the latter was limited by Pcr availability (Bogdanis et al. 1995). Furthermore, creatine supplementation has been associated with an increased Pcr resynthesize, less accumulation of metabolites and a

better RSA performance (Yquel et al. 2002). This would suggest that RSA performance is strongly related to Pcr resynthesize.

Anaerobic glycolysis

During an isolated 6 s sprint, 40% of the total energy is supplied by the anaerobic glycolysis (figure 2.A). Even if lactate concentration gets relatively high when sprints are repeated, glycolysis contribution progressively decreased as the sprints are repeated (Gaitanos et al. 1993). Indeed, Gaitanos et al. (1993) reported an 8-fold decrease from the first to the tenth 6 s sprints (interspaced with 30 s recovery) in the ATP production from glycolysis while power output still represents 73% of the first sprint. The link between anaerobic glycolytic rate and RSA performance is however controversial. As stated earlier, subjects with the greatest power output decrement during RSE were the one having the highest glycolytic rate during the first sprint (Bishop et al. 2004) but also the highest isolated sprint performance (Bogdanis et al. 1995). This way of thinking can lead to the interpretation that training, which improves the ability to supply ATP through the anaerobic pathway, could lead to an impairment of the RSA. Thus, further researches are needed to evaluate if increasing the impact of anaerobic metabolism impact both the development of higher isolated sprint performance and the ability to repeat them.



Figure 2. Panel A shows the changes in metabolism during the first (upper) and the last (lower) sprint of repeated sprint exercise (RSE). Note that the area of each circle represents the total absolute energy used during each sprint. ATP, Adenosine triphosphate; Pcr phosphocreatine. Panel B represents the increase in the aerobic contribution through RSE. The dashed line represents the maximal oxygen uptake (VO_{2max}). AOD, accumulated oxygen deficit; VO₂, oxygen uptake. Adapted from Girard et al. (2011b).

Oxidative metabolism

During an isolated sprint, oxidative phosphorylation accounts for less than 10% of the total amount of energy required, however when sprints are repeated, this amount progressively goes up to 40% during the last sprints. Furthermore, athletes with moderate to high value of VO_{2max} may reach it during the latter sprints (McGawley and Bishop 2008). This suggests that VO_{2max} could limit the aerobic contribution during RSE and that appropriate training could enhance the aerobic component during the last sprint of the RSE, thus diminishing fatigue and improving RSA performance. This could explain the significant correlation (r = -0.45 to - 0.75) observed between RSA performance indices (Sdec, FI) and VO_{2max} (Bishop and Edge 2006; Rampinini et al. 2009). However, those results are to take with care as other studies reported a non-significant correlation between those two

parameters (Aziz et al. 2007; Castagna et al. 2017). The discrepancy in the results could arise from differences in the aerobic fitness of the tested population, a relatively homogenous population within the study could mask a potential correlation. This also brings back the relationship between the power performed during the first sprint and the overall RSA performance and one could argue that because endurance-trained participants have a relatively lower maximal power production capacity, this could lead to a better RSA performance when considering Sdec. However, this is speculative and further studies should try to dissociate those 2 parameters. Another possibility to explain the lack of correlation between Sdec and VO_{2max} is the fact that the latter is more limited by the capacity of the cardiovascular system to deliver oxygen to the muscle (Bassett and Howley 2000). But during maximal exercise, aerobic capacity seems to be limited by the oxygen utilization through the mitochondria rather than its delivery per se, this has been shown by Calbet et al. (2015) using 30 s all-out exercise. Therefore, further studies should investigate this parameter during RSE but this argument is supported by an inverse relation between FI and the maximal ADPstimulated mitochondrial respiration directly measured in the muscle fiber (Thomas et al. 2004).

Interestingly, participants who had the highest decrease in systemic oxygen saturation during RSE (20×5 s-sprints) were also the ones with the greatest score decrement and the lowest VO_{2max} (Billaut and Smith 2010). Other indirect markers of oxidative capacities have been correlated to RSA performance such as VO₂ kinetics (Dupont et al. 2005, 2010) or the speed associated to the onset of blood lactate accumulation (da Silva et al. 2010). For example, Dupont et al. (2005) reported that participants with faster VO₂ kinetics during submaximal exercise (the necessary time for oxygen consumption to reach a steady state) were also the ones with the lowest performance decrement during 15 × 40 m-sprint with 25s recovery.

Recently, the technological development of near-infrared spectroscopy (NIRS) techniques allows the investigation of localized tissue oxygenation in a noninvasive manner during exercise. Authors reported that the amplitude of the deoxygenation level associated with sprint repetitions remained constant through the test [10×6 s-sprint (Racinais et al. 2007), or 10×10 s-sprint (Billaut and Smith 2010) with 30 s of recovery]. This indicates that the oxygen extraction would not be impacted during RSE. Study with recovery times long enough between sprints reported that the muscular oxygenation was maintained through the test (Smith and Billaut 2010; Billaut and Buchheit 2013) whereas, with a shorter recovery period, Racinais et al. (2007) reported a progressive augmentation of the concentration of deoxyhemoglobin. After an 8-weeks training protocol, Buchheit and Ufland (2011) reported

an increase in the rate of muscle re-oxygenation strongly correlated to the increase in RSA performance. This is further supported by Billaut and Buchheit (2013) who showed that the impaired re-oxygenation during RSE induced by hypoxia was associated with a diminution of total work performed compare to normoxia. Finally, Brocherie et al. (2015) showed that the RSA performance was directly correlated to re-oxygenation kinetics during RSE (6 × 35 m-sprint with 10 s recovery). This suggests that muscle re-oxygenation could also be a limiting factor of RSA.

To summarize at the beginning of the RSE, Pcr and glycolysis mainly contribute to supply the high energy demand of the task. Rapidly, Pcr stores are depleted because of the too short period of recovery and glycolysis is progressively inhibited. Consequently, the relative amount of energy provided by the aerobic metabolism increases whereas the total amount of energy and the associated power production decreases through the RSE.

1.2.2 Mechanical factors

Changes in mechanical behavior of the muscle (mainly due to stiffness regulation) may directly impact RSA performance, especially when considering running exercise (Ross et al. 2001). It is generally accepted that a stiffer system allows a better energy transfer during the concentric phase of the movement (Farley et al. 1991; Chelly and Denis 2001) reported a close relationship between sprint running performance and stiffness and it has therefore been postulated that its alteration could be an important factor regarding the RSA performance. Morin et al. (2006) previously showed that the impairment of the spring-mass model properties (used to characterized lower limb properties in runners) was associated to a diminution in performance during repeated all-out exercise (i.e. 4 × 100 m with 2 min recovery). Girard et al. (2011b) also reported alteration in leg-sprint behavior during 12 x 40 m-sprints interspaced with 30 s of recovery. It seems that the lower stride frequency and the concomitant diminution in RSA performance would result from an increased vertical displacement of the center of mass (decreased vertical stiffness) rather than a change in leg stiffness. Morin et al. (2011a) also showed that during RSE consisting of 4 sets of 5 x 6 ssprints, the ability to properly orient the force (i.e. horizontally and not vertically) was reduced. Therefore, a technical aspect of sprinting could also be impacted during RSE and further studies investigating the impact of biomechanical factors on performance are required.

1.2.3 Omitted factors

Two really important factors limiting performance have been omitted in this section because they will be later discussed in a more detailed manner. The development of muscular fatigue through the accumulation of byproducts within the muscle or because of inappropriate motor command from the brain will be presented in section 2.

The other factor concerns the environmental component. Indeed, when RSE is performed under added stress such as hot or hypoxic condition, the performance will be impacted. A full section will consider the physiological effect of hypoxia and the associated change when combined with RSE. The impact of temperature is outside the scope of this thesis but one could refer to the review from Girard, Brocherie, and Bishop (2015)

1.2.4 Task dependency

Inevitably, the fatigue experienced during RSE will be impacted by the exercise modalities in which the test will be performed, this is referred as task-dependency and is a well-known component of fatigue-based studies (Enoka and Stuart 1992).

Cycling vs Running

For example, differences in fatigue origin have been reported when comparing cycling vs running RSE (Rampinini et al. 2014; Tomazin et al. 2017). However, there is some discrepancy in the literature as some studies reported higher decrement in performance in cycling modalities compare to running (Girard et al. 2011a; Rampinini et al. 2014) Whereas other reported higher decrement in running compare to cycling (Tomazin et al. 2017). Tomazin et al. (2017) reported a decrease from the first to the last sprint on normalized power produced during both activities (i.e. watt per kilogram). Their RSE consisted in 4 sets of 5 \times 6 s-sprint with 24 s-recovery with 3 min recovery between sets and they showed that running

sprints led to a diminution of ~29% whereas cycling sprint led to a decrease of ~17% of peak power output (which is in line with previous studies). In their study Rampinini et al. (2014), had participants performed a 5 x 6 s-sprint 30 s-recovery RSE. They calculated the decrement score from the mean power output (cycling) and the mean sprint time (running) and showed that Sdec running was 4.5% and Sdec cycling was 14%. Those differences might arise from the different mode of calculation (Sdec on mean power vs FI on peak power) as both FI and peak power values are less reliable compared to Sdec and mean power. However, it appears more logical to compare normalized power in both activities rather than sprint time vs power output. Moreover, the huge disparity between both results is unlikely to be explained only by the differences in calculation mode and the RSE modality potentially played a role as some participants in the Tomazin et al. (2017) study were unable to complete the running protocol. Therefore, further studies are needed in order to answer this question. Both studies also compared fatigue etiology and once again, their findings are not the same. Whereas Tomazin et al. (2017) reported the same amount of peripheral fatigue but central fatigue only in the running condition (see section 2.2 for details); (Rampinini et al. 2014) reported exacerbated peripheral fatigue and rate of perceived exhaustion (RPE) with cycling-RSE despite similar physiological responses (i.e. same concentration of blood lactate, and H+).

Taken together these results highlights the need for further researches to establish the differences between cycling and running sprints.

Arm-cycling vs Leg-cycling

More recently, researchers have started to investigate the impact of RSE on upper limbs, probably for different reasons. First, RSA of the arm is of interest in many sports; Sandbakk et al. (2015) et Kamandulis et al. (2018) recently reported that a 4 weeks training period, with 3 sessions a week including three rounds of 14×3 s of all-out punches increased punching forces and maintenance of punching frequency of competitive boxers. And secondly, the use of upper limbs also allows researchers to investigate fatigue etiology with specific tools (i.e. cervicomedullary motor evoked potentials) easier to apply on the arm due to methodological considerations (Pearcey et al. 2016). Recently, Halperin et al. (2018) compared the upper and lower body responses to intermittent (i.e. 180 s recovery) and repeated (i.e. 30 s of recovery) cycling sprint consisting of 10×10 s-sprint, the next paragraph will only focus on

the comparison between upper and lower limb and the impact of recovery period will be discussed later. Raw power was inevitably higher for the legs compared to the arms, but interestingly, this wasn't associated with differences in heart rate (HR) or RPE. When normalized (i.e. as the first sprint being 100%) no differences were found between both sprint modalities (i.e. same HR, RPE and power decrement) except for the maximal voluntary contraction force (MVC) developed pre- and post- RSE which showed less impairment in the arms compared to the legs. Those results are guite surprising considering the differences usually observed between arm and legs in muscle typology (Koppo and Bouckaert 2001), force generation capacity (Harbo et al. 2012) and smaller muscle mass (Janssen et al. 2000). Indeed, when comparing upper and lower body exercise, the literature usually reports higher HR associated with the leg, however, exercise modalities are often of longer duration and lower intensity (Schneider et al. 2002; DeJong et al. 2009; Salwa B et al. 2014). Therefore, it is possible that the short exercise duration associated with a work-to-rest ratio of 1:3 prevented differences in systemic responses (i.e. HR) between upper and lower limb. The differences regarding MVC are interesting, however, because authors didn't associate any other measurement to it, it is guite hard to analyze them. One integrative way of interpreting those results would be to consider that arm-cycling and leg-cycling sprint probably don't rely respectively on elbow flexors and knee extensors in the same proportion (i.e. maybe legcycling are more reliant on knee extensors than arm-cycling is on elbow flexors...). But other parameters should be considered as neuromuscular fatigue has been shown to rely on different mechanisms depending on the considered limb. For instance, Gruet et al. (2013), reported that upper limbs were more sensible to spinal adaptation. J. A.L. Calbet et al. (2015) showed that upper vs lower limbs exercise elicited different hemodynamics adaptation during continuous cycling that could impact differently fatigue etiology. Lastly, when comparing neuromuscular fatigue etiology between muscle groups, conflicting results are reported. Nevroud et al. (2013) showed similar fatigue in different muscle group (i.e. plantar flexors, thumb adductors, elbow flexors, and knee extensors) after a sustained contraction at 50% of MVC. Senefeld et al. (2013) reported that the loss of MVC was 16% higher in the elbow flexors compare to the knee extensors after 90 submaximal isotonic contractions performed at maximal shortening velocity. And lastly, Vernillo et al. (2018) reported a higher decrease in MVC from the knee extensors compare to the elbow flexors after a 2 min-sustained MVC with the leg vs arm but the peripheral fatigue was higher in the elbow flexors. Taken together these results suggest that fatigue etiology can hardly be compared if exercise modalities are not the same and therefore further studies comparing directly the effect of arm vs. leg cycling sprints are required to draw any solid conclusion.

Number of sprints, recovery duration and modality

Another factor of prime importance is obviously the number of repetitions performed during the RSE, the duration of the sprint and the associated recovery pattern (i.e. duration, nature). For example, Balsom et al. (1992) compared the impact of three different recovery time (30,60 and 120 s) on RSE consisting of 15 × 40 m. They showed that the mean running speed was impaired from the sprint number 11 with 120 s recovery whereas it occurred after the 7th sprint with 60 s, and after the 3rd with 30 s recovery. The acceleration time was only impacted in the 30 s-recovery condition. Blood lactate was similar during the RSE but increased more in the 30 s-recovery whereas it increased from sprint 1 to sprint 7 and was higher with 30 s-recovery. Overall, those results have been confirmed several times and it can be affirmed that recovery duration associated with RSE is one of the major factors impacting performance.

To characterize RSE, the authors proposed to use the work-to-rest ratio, a ratio of 1:4, indicates that the recovery time is 4 times longer than the sprint time. But one can wonder if it is enough to fully illustrate the RSE demand. Little and Williams (2007) compared 2 different distances with 2 work to rest ratio (15 m-sprint with a 1:4 ratio; 15 m-sprint with a 1:6 ratio; 40 m-sprint with a 1:4 ratio, and 40 m-sprint with a 1:6 ratio,). They reported a significant main effect of the work-to-rest ratio on sprint speed and blood lactate with respectively an exacerbated decrease and increase with the lowest ratio (i.e. greater speed diminution and lactate accumulation with shorter recovery). They also reported a main effect of sprint distance on both blood lactate and decrement in sprint time (i.e. Increased concentration of blood lactate with longer sprint and exacerbated decrease in sprint time with shorter sprints). These results suggest that the work-to-rest ratio paradigm is a good indicator but is not enough to illustrate the demand of RSE as the same ratio with different sprint duration/distance is likely to produce distinct outcomes.

The last point is about the nature of recovery, a recent review from Madueno et al. (2018) came to the conclusion that passive recovery reduced both physiological and perceptual demands of RSE and the subsequent performance decrement compare to active recovery.

Therefore, the use of active recovery can be a useful training overload to induce further physiological adaptations.

Regarding what's been said about task specificity, it is important to admit that most of the scientifically based knowledge concerning fatigue development during RSE comes from cycle-based studies in a laboratory environment. While it is appropriate to control and isolate specific variables, it is nonetheless quite far from what is happening on the ground. Whereas It is necessary to go further in that direction to fully understand the exact underlying mechanisms of RSE, it is also necessary to provide new tools and new reliable methods closer to real exercise modalities.

Next, section 2 will try to provide an overview of what is fatigue and how it is possible to characterize it depending on its potential origin. Then it will present how RSE can impact the etiology of fatigue development.

After that, section 3 and 4 will present environmental factors such as hypoxia and blood flow restriction that can influence RSA performance and its associated fatigue via potential physiological mechanisms.

Finally, section 5 will present a new methodological approach to improve RSA via the use of top-up stimulus from environmental factors, repeated sprint training in hypoxia.

2 Physiological Manifestation of fatigue

Fatigue is a universal symptom that is experienced through many different tasks or physical activities of everyday living and repeated sprint exercise is no exception. Many attempts have been trying to provide a precise definition of this phenomenon, often referring to a decline in performance (Allen and Westerblad 2001), changes in the EMG activity (Kallenberg et al. 2007) or the endpoint of sustained activity (Enoka and Duchateau 2016). Taken together, those three parameters represent the most widely used tools to detect apparition of fatigue. It is important to note that fatigue and exercise failure are two different concepts. Indeed, the later point out to the inability to sustain a demanded task and therefore only appears at a specific time point whereas fatigue refers to "a response that is less than the expected or anticipated contractile response, for a given stimulation" (Macintosh and Rassier 2002). This definition has the advantage to allow detection of progressive changes in contractile function through any type of stimulation.

When considering voluntary contraction, muscles are activated via complex pathways starting in the brain and involving information coming from different parts of it (e.g. body position from the parietal lobe, task planning from the frontal lobe...) to the motor cortex. The information will then go done through the spinal cord and reach lower motoneurons that will carry the action potential (AP) to the muscle. Although motor performance is in fine limited by the muscle ability to produce force and/or velocity resulting in a decrement of power production of the active muscle, fatigue is most of the time characterized by a decrease in maximal voluntary contraction force (MVC) and can have for origin any site involved in the programming and execution of the required muscle contraction. Figure 3 represents some of the major potential mechanisms involved in neuromuscular function (taken from Hunter 2018). Fatigue appears to be therefore a multi-factorial mechanism and is going to be impacted differently depending on the type of activity involved. This refers to the concept called "task dependency" which state that the specificity of the required task will be determinant in the relative contribution of the different mechanisms to fatigue (Enoka and Stuart 1992). Intensity, duration of exercise, mode and speed of contraction are among the variables that influence fatigue etiology. For instance, a big part of the literature used repetitions of single-joint submaximal isometric contractions (Bigland-Ritchie et al. 1984) or sustained isometric MVC (Taylor et al. 1996) as a model to investigate the different aspects of NMF. While being practical, these methods have inherent limits since they're far from

ecological activities where dynamic whole-body exercise are usually involved, resulting in greater muscle mass recruitment and cardiorespiratory demands compare to single-joint exercise (Sidhu et al. 2013). These differences are likely to exacerbate the importance of respiratory muscle work, core and brain temperature, cerebral and muscle oxygenation and therefore impacting fatigue etiology (Nybo and Nielsen 2001; Secher et al. 2008; Rasmussen et al. 2010). More specifically, (Sidhu et al. 2012) showed that corticospinal responses after submaximal sustained cycling exercise are different from single-joint exercise, again emphasizing the importance of the task dependency. However, the use of whole-body exercise to investigate fatigue also implies limitation as most of the time, a delay is necessary to adjust the experimental setup for the NMF evaluation allowing quick recovery of some parameters (Taylor et al. 2000) leading to probable underestimation misinterpretation of fatigue etiology. Among all those parameters used to characterized neuromuscular fatigue, MVC is probably the most widely spread and provides an easy way of quantification. However, it must be interpreted as a global index and can't differentiate the origin of fatigue. Before going further, the next parts will focus on defining and describing the potential sites at which can occur muscle fatigue and for clarity, the concepts of peripheral and central fatigue will be presented even if some authors prefer avoiding those terms (Enoka and Duchateau 2016). From now on, peripheral fatigue will refer to any changes acting at, or distal to the neuromuscular junction whereas central fatigue will be characterized by a decline in voluntary activation (VA) or neural drive from the central nervous system (Goodall et al. 2012). In the upcoming section, the different compartment susceptible to be impacted during

In the upcoming section, the different compartment susceptible to be impacted during fatiguing exercise will be presented. Firstly, peripheral mechanisms including membrane excitability, calcium release and sensitivity as well as force production by the actin-myosin cross-bridges will be discussed and non-invasive methods allowing their investigation will be exposed. Secondly, the impact of physical activity on central adaptation will be exposed after providing some noninvasive tools allowing its investigation. Central adaptation will be separated in spinal and supraspinal changes. Finally, the impact of repeated sprint ability test on neuromuscular function will be discussed.



Figure 3: Schematic view of the sites and processes that lead to force generation at the muscle and can contribute to fatigue. Shown within the spinal cord schematic are selected excitatory and inhibitory pathways to the spinal cord that have been found to modulate the output of the motoneuron pool during fatiguing contractions. Taken from (Hunter 2018)

2.1 Peripheral mechanisms

The fatigue process induced by intense or prolonged exercise involves a direct decline of the contractile function of skeletal muscle fibers. It is generally associated with increased energy demands to fulfill the ATP resynthesize necessary to match ATP consumption by the different

compartment of the muscle. Among those consummators of ATP, the first coming in mind are of course the actin-myosin cross-bridge but other mechanisms explained below also required ATP consumption such as the sarcoplasmic reticulum calcium pumps (SERCA) or to a lesser extent the sodium-potassium (Na⁺-K⁺) pumps. Inadequate energy furniture to those proteins would have dramatic consequences to homeostasis and muscle function like noncycling cross-bridges leading to unsynchronized movement or even rigor development of the muscle. Fortunately, mechanisms exist to prevent those disastrous effects through effective systems to resynthesize ATP and to decline ATP consumption. The latter mechanism obviously leads to a decline in force/powder production and is called fatigue. This section will address the cellular mechanisms inducing fatigue at or distal to the neuromuscular junction. First, the impairment in muscle membrane excitability will be discussed followed by the excitation-contraction coupling (E-C coupling) failure. In this second part, the accent will be made on decreased myofibrillar Ca²⁺ sensitivity, decreased Ca²⁺ release, and reduced force per cross bridge.

2.1.1 Muscle membrane excitability and extracellular K+ accumulation

To obtain muscle contraction, AP must be generated at the neuromuscular junction and propagate in both directions of the muscle fiber surface (sarcolemma). This is made possible by the opening of voltage-gated Na⁺ channels, through a signal from the motoneuron, leading to Na⁺ influx that will cause the inside of the membrane to be more positively charged (membrane depolarization). Once the inside of the membrane reached its maximal potential, Na⁺ channels close and K⁺ channels open, leading to the efflux of K⁺ and repolarization of the membrane. In fine, the AP will reach the transverse tubules (T-tubules) to activate the voltage sensors channels and trigger Ca²⁺ release (these steps will be described in the latter part). The Na⁺-K⁺ pumps will restore the concentration gradient of Na⁺ and K⁺ using ATP energy so the membrane is ready to propagate a new action potential.
Impact of fatigue on muscle membrane excitability

Despite the action of the Na⁺-K⁺ pumps, marked changes in the concentration of these ions occur during intense exercise (McKenna et al. 2008). For example, extracellular K⁺ concentration can increase from approx. 4mM at rest to above 10 mM during high-intensity exercise (Mohr et al. 2004; Juel et al. 2017). Using continuous 60-Hz stimulation of rat fasttwitch muscles in vitro, Clausen et al. (2004) reported considerable K⁺ efflux from the muscles associated with a huge (approx. 80%) diminution in force and M-wave in 30 s. Other experiments have shown that imposing continuous high-frequency stimulation at 80Hz on human muscles in vivo caused both force and M-wave to decline rapidly and recover substantially when the rate of stimulation was reduced to 20Hz (Bigland-Ritchie et al. 1979). These findings suggest that in some situations with imposed stimulation regimes, changes in ion concentrations, particularly K⁺, are not adequately compensated by the activity of the Na⁺-K⁺ pump or other means and could lead to reductions in muscle excitability and force. However, during exercise under physiological condition, protecting mechanisms have been shown to exist to prevent this decrease in membrane excitability (See Allen et al. 2008 for review). For example, Nielsen et al. (2001) showed that the impaired excitability and severely (~75%) decreased force production induced by exposing isolated rat muscles to increased K⁺ (11 mM) were almost completely reversed by acidification. This protective effect arises from the inhibition of sarcolemmal Cl⁻ (ClC-1) channels (Pedersen et al. 2005, 2016a) facilitating the Na⁺ induced depolarization and protecting against AP failure (Pedersen et al. 2016b). During the early stage of fatigue, acidosis inhibits CIC-1 channels which counteracts the reduced excitability caused by the K+ efflux over the sarcolemma (Pedersen et al. 2009a, b; de Paoli et al. 2013). However, in the late stage of fatigue, the passive sarcolemma conductance has been found to increase in type II fibers only, promoting AP failure (Pedersen et al. 2009b) due to parallel activation of CIC-1 channels and ATP- sensitive K⁺ (KATP) channels (Pedersen et al. 2016a). Those KATP channels stay closed if [ATP] is above 2mM (Spruce et al. 1985) therefore they only open at some advanced level of fatigue. Taken together, these results suggest that sarcolemma excitability could be impaired during the late stage of fatigue because of the concomitant reduced K⁺ gradient and the opening of CIC-1 and KATP channels. However, further researches are required in order to be able to determine how these mechanisms interact with each other and their relatives' implications in different types of fatigue.



Figure 4: Schematic representation of (A) a motor unit and example of a simulated motor unit action potential (MUAP) obtained as the sum of the temporally dispersed single fiber action potential (SFAP) and (B) a muscle and example of a simulated compound muscle action potential (M-wave) obtained as the sum of the temporally dispersed motor unit action potentials (MUAPs). Ampli_{FIRST} is the amplitude of the first part of the M-wave; Ampli_{SECOND} is the amplitude of the second part of the M-wave; Dur_{FIRST} is the duration of the first part of the M-wave and Dur_{SECOND} is the duration of the second part of the M-wave. Adapted from (Rodriguez-Falces and Place 2018).

Noninvasive methods for measuring muscle membrane excitability: The M-wave

Muscle membrane excitability refers to the ability of the sarcolemma to generate and propagate this AP. In studies involving human participants, by applying supramaximal electrical or magnetic stimuli to the nerve trunk (respectively electrical nerve stimulation, ENS or magnetic nerve stimulation, MNS), the impulse will travel through the motor axons to the neuromuscular junction. With electrodes placed over the skin of the desired muscle, an EMG response can be recorded and is called the compound muscle action potentials (M-wave, see figure 4). The M-wave represents the sum of the individual motor unit action potential (MUAP) recruited by the electrical stimulus. whereas the MUAP is the sum of the temporally dispersed single fiber action potential (SFAP). It is, therefore, a useful noninvasive tool to

investigate muscle excitability and its potential alterations during fatiguing contractions (Rodriguez-Falces and Place 2018). The resultant question is then to determine whether M-wave is impaired and how can it be detected when considering fatigue induced by voluntary contraction instead of electrically induced ones.

Current literature assumes that impaired neuromuscular propagation results in a decrease in M-wave size. In a recent review, (Rodriguez-Falces and Place 2018) reported discrepancies from a wide range of studies that investigated M-wave changes during exercise. Their result is quite surprising as it is still unknown if exercise-induced fatigue results in an M-wave decrement or increment. For the authors, the controversy partly arises because M-wave is always analyzed as a whole (i.e., peak to peak amplitude and total area) instead of analyzing separately its first and second phases. Indeed, it appears that during a sustained MVC, the amplitude of the first phase of the M-wave increases progressively before reaching a plateau whereas its second phase amplitude would first increase before decreasing due to mechanical changes making its interpretation inconsistent (Rodriguez-Falces and Place 2017). Authors go further and proposed that impaired sarcolemma excitability would be manifested by an augmentation (and not a depression) of the first part of the M-wave. They explain that the increase extracellular K⁺ would have two distinct effects on the individual transmembrane action potentials (figure. 5a), 1) reduce its amplitude (Horowicz et al. 1959; Juel 1988) and 2) enlargement of the main spike (Metzger and Fitts 1986; Lännergren et al. 1987). These two changes have a competing effect on the resulting M-wave, the reduced amplitude of the individual transmembrane action potentials will also reduce the M-wave but the enlarged intracellular potential will sum up more effectively resulting in greater M-wave. (Dimitrova and Dimitrov 2002). Therefore, while being smaller in amplitude, a lengthened transmembrane action potential would lead to an enlargement of the M wave (figure. 5b).



Figure 5: Simulation showing the effect of fatigue on (a) the transmembrane action potential and (b) the resulting M-wave. Taken from from (Rodriguez-Falces and Place 2018).

Based on those considerations regarding M-wave properties, (Rodriguez-Falces and Place 2018) provide some recommendations to assess changes in muscle membrane excitability using the M-wave technique. Among them, they recommend the use of monopolar electrodes that should be placed above or near the neuromuscular junction to ensure that the M-wave first phase isn't too much influenced by end-of-fibers signal and to minimize cross talk. They also strongly advised to perform separate analysis of the first and second M-wave phases (as illustrate on figure. 4B) and that only the first phase (and preferentially its amplitude) should be interpreted as changes in sarcolemma excitability.

However, even when following those criteria's, some limits inherent to the technique might persist as the electrodes are fixed on the skin, therefore only allowing investigation of superficial muscles. During dynamic contractions, it is important to keep in mind that length of the muscle is going to change and so is the relative position of the electrodes from the muscle, impacting the recorded signal. Lastly, environmental parameters (temperature, sweat, movement...) may deteriorate both the EMG signal and the stimulus used. It is then important to deliver a stimulus at supra-maximal intensity (120 to 150% of optimal response) to take into consideration possible alteration of the experimental setup.

39

2.1.2 Excitation-Contraction coupling and metabolic change

Peripheral fatigue is often associated with excitation-contraction (EC) coupling failure. The events involved in EC coupling are quite well described and starts with an AP arriving at the presynaptic terminal of an α -motor neuron, which activates voltage-gated channel allowing Ca²⁺ to enter and bind on synaptic vesicles, triggering exocytose and the release of acetylcholine in the synaptic cleft. The binding of acetylcholine to a receptor on the muscle fiber will allow Na⁺ to enter the membrane and create depolarization and propagation of the AP through the sarcolemma and into the interior of the muscle down the T-tubules, activating the T-tubular voltage sensors called the dihydropyridine receptors (DHPRs). DHPR then activates the sarcoplasmic reticulum (SR) Ca²⁺ release channels (ryanodine receptors type 1, RyR1), releasing the Ca²⁺ into the cytosol where it binds to the troponin-tropomyosin complex and frees the actin filament. The myosin heads can now reach the actin, which enables the ATP-dependent cross-bridge cycling and the muscle fiber to contract, resulting in force production. Because Ca²⁺ is constantly pumped back by the ATP-consuming SR Ca²⁺ pump (SERCA), its intracellular concentration [CA²⁺]i goes down rapidly when α -motor neuron stop firing and the muscle fiber relaxes.

Different type of muscle fibers

Muscle fibers rapidly lose their ability to produce force during intense activity when energy demand is higher than the aerobic capacity and the required energy must come from the anaerobic metabolism. The current classification of skeletal muscle fiber is based on the expression of myosin heavy chain (MHC) which determines the rate of cross-bridge cycling and therefore the maximal shortening velocity of a muscle cell, type I being the slowest, type IIa intermediate and type IIx the fastest (Bottinelli and Reggiani 2000). It should be noted that two muscle fibers having the same MHC expression (i.e., two type IIa fibers) can still have different maximal shortening velocities showing that other factors are also contributing to muscle fibers capabilities (Bottinelli and Reggiani 2000; Bottinelli 2001). However, quite often there is a gene co-expression so that the slow MHC type I is co-expressed with "slow" isoform of other proteins. For example, in type II fibers, the density of both DHPR and RyR1 is higher compared to type I fibers (Lamb 1992; Delbono and Meissner 1996) leading to a higher rate

and amount of CA²⁺ release per AP (Baylor and Hollingworth 2003). In order to pump back this CA²⁺, type II fibers also have a different expression of the SERCA pump (named SERCA1a) and approximately a six-fold number of pumps compare to type 1 fibers. In fine, there are large differences between muscle fibers regarding their speed of contraction, intracellular Ca²⁺ handling, glycolytic vs. oxidative capacity, etc. all resulting in differences in fatiguability. A reductive but widely accepted approach is to consider that type I muscle fibers consume ATP slowly, have a high aerobic capacity and so are more fatigue resistant compared to type II even if it's mainly due to other factors than their MHC isoform (Allen et al. 2008).

Potential sites of EC coupling failure

As stated, fatigue appears faster for a higher rate of ATP production, especially when the anaerobic pathway is required (i.e., the more intense is the exercise, the quicker is the apparition of fatigue). In a recent review, (Cheng et al. 2017) identified three components responsible for the decrease in force production during fatigue. The first two are, a diminution of the ability of the actin-myosin cross-bridges to generate force and a reduced myofibrillar Ca²⁺ sensitivity, they characterized an impairment in the myofibrillar function and occur in the early stage of the fatiguing exercise. The third one, a decrease in SR Ca²⁺ release, occurs in the later stage of fatigue. A visual representation of the 3 types of failure in the E-C coupling is provided in figure 6.



Figure 6: Three mechanisms underlying the force decrease during fatigue induced by repeated tetanic stimulation. Typical pattern of force decline (A), and corresponding [Ca2⁺]i records (B). Tetanic force initially decreases while tetanic [Ca2⁺]i increases (i to ii); hence, the initial force decline is caused by impaired myofibrillar function. The final force decrease is caused by reduced sarcoplasmic reticulum (SR) Ca2⁺ release (ii to iii). Application of caffeine facilitates SR Ca2⁺ release and the resulting increase in tetanic [Ca2⁺]i leads to a marked force increase (iv). (C) The relation between force and [Ca2⁺]i during fatigue induced by repeated tetanic stimulation (thick line) plotted together with the force–[Ca2b]i relationship in the unfatigued state and during fatigue (thin lines). This assessment shows that acute fatigue involves initial decreases in force per cross-bridge and myofibrillar Ca2⁺ sensitivity, which are followed by decreased SR Ca2⁺ release. [Ca2⁺]I intracellular calcium concentration. Taken from (Cheng et al. 2017).

Metabolic changes and their effect on myofibrillar function

During intense exercise, glycogen breakdown through the anaerobic pathway results in the production of lactate ions and hydrogen ions (H⁺) whereas phosphocreatine (PCr) breakdown results in creatin and inorganic phosphate ion (Pi) accumulation through the creatine kinase (CK) reaction (PCr + ADP \leftrightarrow Cr + ATP) (Westerblad et al. 2010). An increase in [H⁺] reduces the pH (i.e., acidosis) and for a long time, the "lactic acid" (i.e., the lactate ion and its associated H⁺) was own responsible for muscle function failure. (Posterino et al. 2001) showed that lactate has no major effects on the contractile function and researchers suggest that it can be a substrate for the aerobic glycolysis (Brooks 2018) but there is less consensus in the literature regarding its associated H⁺. Many studies found a correlation between acidosis and the decrease in muscle function (Cady et al. 1989; Kent-Braun 1999) but evidence suggests that this correlation might not be causative. In their review, (Allen et al. 2008) concluded that the [H⁺]i by itself has guite small effects on muscle fatigue and is not part of the main factors affecting muscle function. The same goes with creatine ions in the muscle that have been reported to have no major impacts on muscle function (Murphy et al. 2004). Thus, increased [Pi] in the muscle has been proposed to be the dominant cause of force decrement during fatigue. First by a direct action on cross-bridge function, preventing the myosin head to bind strongly to the actin, that could contribute to approx. 10% of the force decline in physiological exercise (Dahlstedt et al. 2001; Allen et al. 2008; Cheng et al. 2017). And secondly, because Pi accumulation reduces the myofibrillar sensitivity to Ca²⁺ (Debold et al. 2006) which may have a large impact on force production (figure 6.C). Nonetheless, the role of acidosis has been brought back recently as new findings suggest that associated to Pi accumulation, elevated of [H⁺] could exacerbate the observed diminution of force (Fitts 2016) but again, this doesn't seem to be consensual (Westerblad; 2016).

During most type of exercise, ATP resynthesizes matches ATP consumption through the action of both anaerobic sources and mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation (Bangsbo et al. 1996; Westerblad et al. 2010). But when a very demanding task is performed [ATP] can decrease by up to 80% in single type II muscle fibers (approx. 0.7 to 1.7 mM) whereas in slow fibers, on the other hand, there is probably little decline (Karatzaferi et al. 2001a). And because the CK and adenylate kinase (2ADP \leftrightarrow AMP + ATP) reaction are close to equilibrium, this ATP breakdown leads to the accumulation of ADP, Pi, AMP, and Cr. AMP will subsequently be broken down by AMP deaminase to inosine monophosphate (IMP) and ammonia (NH³). Lastly, Mg²⁺ mostly bind with ATP and have a much lower affinity with ADP,

AMP et IMP, when [ATP] decrease, free [Mg²⁺] in the cytosol rises. Because some steps of the EC coupling involve ATP consumption, its breakdown could impact the contractile function. During the cross-bridge cycle, ATP is required to detach the myosin head from the actin filament after the power stroke, but a physiological decrease in [ATP] doesn't impact force production. It is only when [ATP] fall below 0.5mM that contractile velocity might be impacted (Dutka and Lamb 2004). ADP acts as a weak competitor of ATP and an increase in [ADP] increase isometric force while slowing the contraction (Cooke 2007). Finally, intracellular [MG²⁺] reached during fatigue is not enough to impact cross-bridge properties (Swenson et al. 2014).

In summary, ATP and associated ADP, AMP, IMP et Mg²⁺ changes have only small effects on actin-myosin cross-bridge properties and the myofibrillar function is mostly impacted by Pi accumulation resulting in both a decrease in force produced by active cross-bridges and myofibrillar Ca²⁺ sensitivity.

Metabolic changes and their impact on SR CA2+ release

As mentioned above, fatigue mechanisms are here to prevent disastrous effects of complete [ATP] breakdown on muscle function. Probably one of the best ways to avoid that is by limiting the SR Ca²⁺ release which will concomitantly reduce the number of cross-brides cycling and the Ca²⁺ reuptake by SERCA, both ATP consuming. But this process will lead inevitably to impairments of muscle performance.

Experiments on different muscle fibers (frog, mouse, and rat) all showed similar evolution pattern of $[Ca^{2+}]i$ during fatigue induced by electrical brief repeated tetani (Allen et al. 1989; Westerblad and Allen 1991; Lunde et al. 2001) presenting an initial increased followed by a plateau (more or less long depending on the fiber type) and a final decrease (as represented in figure 6.B). In addition to its effect on myofibrillar function, Pi, again, act as an important limiting factor of SR Ca²⁺ changes. Indeed authors showed using either pharmacological interventions or genetically modified mice (with no CK expression) that, reduced [Pi] blunted the initial increase of $[Ca^{2+}]i$ and delayed its secondary decrease (Dahlstedt et al. 2000; Dahlstedt and Westerblad 2001). However, after CK injection in the genetically modified mice, the evolution pattern of $[Ca^{2+}]i$ went back to normal (Dahlstedt et al. 2003). The first effect of Pi on the blunted increase of $[Ca^{2+}]i$ can be explained by the fact that Pi may inhibit or even reverse SR CA²⁺ pumping (Duke and Steele 2000; Stienen et al. 2017) which in the

short term could increase [Ca²⁺]i. Different processes could act concomitantly, but they remain unclear and further researches are needed to fully understand the mechanisms (Allen et al. 2008). Regarding the late decline of [Ca²⁺]i, two mechanisms have been reported and mainly rely on the impact of [Pi] on the SR Ca²⁺ release. The first one is a Pi induced inhibition of the RyR1 receptors as shown on the skinned muscle fiber by Duke and Steele (Duke and Steele 2000). Furthermore, Westerblad and Allen (1992) showed that the inhibition effect of Pi was markedly larger when combined to intracellular [Mg²⁺] corresponding to those observed in the fatigued muscle (approx. 1.6mM) compare to rested muscle (0.8mM). The second effect is a Ca²⁺-Pi precipitation that could occur in the SR, causing a reduction of the amount of free Ca²⁺ available for release. Because of the fatigue-induced increases of [Pi] in the myoplasm, some Pi could enter the SR and when the Ca2+-Pi solubility product is exceeded, precipitation occurs. Even if the theory behind this phenomenon is appealing, the actual occurrence of SR Ca2+-Pi precipitation has never been shown directly and while several experimental results support it (Westerblad and Allen 1991; Kabbara and Allen 1999), others are difficult to reconcile with this mechanism (Stephenson 2006). Therefore, although it is guite clear that Pi causes a decrease in [Ca²⁺]i in late fatigue, the exact processes still need investigation and it is likely an accumulation of several inhibitory actions that lead in fine to the decreased SR Ca²⁺ release. Indeed, RyR1 opening is strongly stimulated by ATP binding, with its breakdown products (ADP, AMP) acting as weak competitive agonists. To observe a ~20% decrease of SR Ca2+ release, cytoplasmic [ATP] has to be reduced to 0.5mM and an increase of [Mg2+]i to 3mM is necessary to reduce the SR Ca2+ release by ~40% (Dutka and Lamb 2004). Even if those values aren't physiological, when combined altogether, low [ATP], raised [Mg²⁺] and, presence of ADP, AMP or adenosine, the impairment of SR Ca²⁺ release is exacerbated (Blazev and Lamb 1999; Dutka and Lamb 2004). However, it can be noted that again, pH doesn't seem to be implicated in the impairment of CA²⁺ release (Lamb and Stephenson 1994; Balog and Fitts 2001).

To conclude, during an intense exercise, several mechanisms act together to diminish CA²⁺ release in acute fatigue to avoid complete exhaustion and consequent complications. This will reduce the cross-bridge cycling and the Ca2+ reuptake by SERCA pumps which are the two main sources of ATP hydrolysis. This is mainly done by i) RyR1 inhibition induced by concomitant increased of [Pi], [Mg2+]i, and/or alteration in [ATP] and its byproducts; ii) probable Ca2+-Pi precipitation in the SR and iii) decreased membrane excitability because of a reduced K⁺ gradient over the sarcolemma and the opening of CIC-1 and KATP channels (c.f., part 2.2.1.1). Further researches are required to understand the precise role of all those

mechanisms in different types of fatigue. Nevertheless, the current literature shows that skeletal muscle fibers can decrease SR Ca²⁺ release to prevent catastrophic metabolic changes and it comes at the price of a reduced muscle power output.

Glycogen depletion

When considering prolonged exercise, glycogen store and depletion becomes an important part of fatigue development. Using the biopsies technique, Bergström et al. (1967) showed a depletion of muscle glycogen after prolonged cycling (~2 hours) and noted a correlation between the time to exhaustion and the pre-exercise store of glycogen. Since then, many studies have confirmed the relation between muscle glycogen reserve and exercise capacities (Ørtenblad et al. 2013). Studies using electron microscopy distinguished different zone in the muscle where the glycogen is preferentially stored. It can be found either in the subsarcolemmal, intermyofibrillar or intramyofibrillar compartments and it appears that during exercise, the intramyofibrillar compartments is used first (ørtenblad et al. 2011; Nielsen et al. 2011). More recently, Nielsen et al. (2014) found a correlation between reduced SR Ca2⁺ release and depletion in intramyofibrillar glycogen after repeated tetanic stimulation of intact single mouse muscle fibers. Thus, intramyofibrillar glycogen is preferentially reduced during fatigue and this is associated with decreased SR Ca²⁺ release and, hence, reduced force production.

Those results confirmed the ones from Ørtenblad et al. (2011) with human where they took muscles biopsies before, immediately after and 4 hours after a 1-h Nordic ski race. During the first 4 h of recovery, participants received either water or carbohydrate-enriched food. Those who received carbohydrates showed a noticeable recovery of glycogen and SR Ca²⁺ release as opposed to the subjects who received only water. Taken together, these results suggest that glycogen depletion during exercise contributes to fatigue by lowering Ca²⁺ release. The exact mechanism(s) by which depletion of intramyofibrillar glycogen leads to decreased SR Ca²⁺ remains to be established. Future studies are also needed to elucidate links between the above-discussed mechanisms of reduced SR Ca²⁺ release in acute fatigue and localized glycogen depletion.

Reactive oxygen/nitrogen species

It is quite well established that most types of physical activities increase reactive oxygen species (ROS) and reactive nitrogen species (RNS) production (Powers and Jackson 2010). It has also been shown that the use of ROS scavengers exogenously added in muscle fibers reduce the rate of fatigue (Reid et al. 1992; Moopanar and Allen 2005) suggesting that ROS probably play a role in fatigue development. Figure 7 provides a guick overview of the ROS/RNS origins and pathways. The first produced ROS are the superoxide anions $(O_2^{\bullet-})$ and because they have very short lifetimes, they will quickly breakdown in various ROS, the principals being hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂), and hydroxide radicals (OH[•]). (O₂^{•-}) can also interact with nitric oxide (NO[•]), which is the primary RNS in cells, to form peroxynitrite (ONOO⁻). The production mechanisms of ROS and RNS are quite complex and doesn't rely on a single source. The production of NO[•] in the skeletal muscle appears to be mainly triggered by increased neuronal nitric oxide synthase activity (Hirschfield et al. 2017). For some time, it was believed that (O_2^{\bullet}) comes in majority from the mitochondria and while this origin has been confirmed (Wei et al. 2011; Cheng et al. 2015) other studies proposed NADPH-oxidase 2 (NOX2) as the major ROS source in active skeletal muscle (Michaelson et al. 2010; Sakellariou et al. 2013; Pal et al. 2013). It should be acknowledged that other sources of ROS have been shown such as the t-tubular membrane (Hidalgo et al. 2006).



Figure 7: The major reactive oxygen/nitrogen species in muscle. Numbers in brackets indicate approximate lifetimes of various species. O₂•: superoxide anions; NO•: nitric oxide; ONOO⁻: peroxynitrite; SOD: superoxide dismutase; H₂O₂: Hydrogen peroxide; OH•: hydrogen radical; GSH: glutathione; GPX, glutathione peroxidase; GSSG: oxidized glutathione; GR, glutathione reductase. Adapted from Allen et al, 2008

It is still unclear if all these different sites contribute equally to the increased ROS activities observed during muscle contractions or if one site predominates. It is probable that different sites are active in different situations and the associated effect of ROS are localized. For example, ROS generation by the sarcoplasmic reticulum or t-tubule systems may be of more importance in the regulation of SR CA²⁺ handling than ROS generated by mitochondria or extracellular oxidases (Powers and Jackson 2010). Therefore, the impact of ROS on exercise-induced fatigue likely depends on exercise modalities. Decreased ROS/RNS have clearly been associated with improved endurance performance during studies investigating submaximal contraction (Reid et al. 1992; Powers et al. 2011) whereas no effects were detected with high-intensity exercise or near maximal contractions (Matuszczak et al. 2005; Powers et al. 2011). These differences could be explained because during high-intensity exercises, the above-mentioned mechanisms (e.g., Pi and Mg²⁺ accumulation) probably dominate (Allen et al. 2008) whereas during submaximal repeated contractions, the relation between force and Ca²⁺ release and sensitivity is steeper (figure 6C), therefore, small changes induced by ROS/RNS could have quite a substantial effect on force production (Lamb and Westerblad 2011; Cheng et al. 2016). Furthermore, depending on the considered ROS injected, some studies found an increase in performance. For example, exogenous injection of H₂O₂ results in an increase myofibrillar Ca²⁺ sensitivity (Andrade et al. 1998; Cheng et al. 2015) and some skinned fiber experiments show increased rather than decreased myofibrillar Ca²⁺ sensitivity after fatiguing contractions (Watanabe et al. 2015). McKenna et al. (2006) also showed that the antioxidant N-acetyl cysteine (NAC, which that support the gluthanione resynthesize and so the elimination of H₂O₂) minimized the reduction in Na⁺-K⁺ pump activity and the K⁺ accumulation that usually occur during exercise. Because the Na⁺-K⁺ pump is redox sensitive (Glynn 1963) authors propose that the ROS scavenger NAC can reduce the fatigue associated with ionic changes induced by the Na⁺-K⁺ pump.

To sum up, it is quite clear that active muscle increases ROS/RNS production which contributes to fatigue but the mechanisms behind their production and their specific impact on the muscular function are still uncertain. Overall, experimental data tend to show that SR CA^{2+} is more impacted by $O_2^{\bullet-}$ or ONOO⁻ due to associated perturbation of RyR1 (Bellinger et al. 2008; Andersson et al. 2011) whereas H_2O_2 and OH[•] seem to decrease myofibrillar sensitivity to CA^{2+} (Cheng et al. 2016). The membrane excitability also seems to be impacted through the effect of ROS on the Na⁺-K⁺ pump.

Accessorily, it can be mentioned that RyR1 modification trigger mitochondrial biogenesis and other beneficial adaptations (Bruton et al. 2010; Place et al. 2015). Because ROS/RNS

induce modifications of RyR1 structure and function, this could explain why treatment with antioxidants reduce the beneficial effects of endurance training (Gomez-Cabrera et al. 2008; Merry and Ristow 2016).

Others potential mechanisms

As explained, the contractile function of the muscle fiber relies on the SR ca²⁺ release and even if the absolute majority of Ca²⁺ is being pumped back by the SERCA, a small amount of the released Ca²⁺ will end up living the cell essentially by Na⁺-Ca²⁺ exchanger and plasma membrane Ca²⁺-ATPase (Hidalgo et al. 1986; Balnave and Allen 1998). A depletion of SR Ca²⁺ could then be responsible for the decreased muscle function with fatigue. But to avoid Ca²⁺ depletion during physical activities, the rate of Ca²⁺ influx is upregulated during prolonged contraction and in fine, if any changes are to be detected, the total muscle Ca²⁺ content increases (Everts et al. 1993). Therefore Ca²⁺ flux over the sarcolemma doesn't appear to be part of the responsible mechanisms inducing fatigue.

Lastly, the mitochondria's are located close to the SR and the two structures are bind via small linkages (Boncompagni et al. 2009) allowing Ca^{2+} to go back and forth from the SR and the mitochondria. Increased mitochondrial [Ca^{2+}] is known to stimulate mitochondrial respiration and ATP production (Brookes et al. 2004; Glancy et al. 2013). However excessive Ca^{2+} can result in cell death (Duchen 2000). Therefore mitochondrial [Ca^{2+}] needs to be tightly controlled to maximize beneficial effects without inducing the deleterious ones, suggesting that important mechanisms probably occur between SR and mitochondria, but those specific mechanisms remain poorly understood. Regarding their potential impacts on the development of muscular fatigue, authors showed the very limited impacts of mitochondria Ca^{2+} uptake on intracellular [Ca^{2+}] under physiological condition. Even if more data appears necessary, there are little chances for mitochondrial Ca^{2+} uptake to be a limiting factor in fatigue development.

General conclusions on peripheral muscle fatigue

Acute muscle fatigue develops when energy production depends on anaerobic metabolism. First, impairments in myofibrillar function will occur through a decrease in cross-bridges force production and reduced Ca²⁺ sensitivity, then Impairment of the SR Ca²⁺ release will become predominant in the latter stages of fatigue to protect the muscle integrity from the consequences of a complete depletion of ATP. Several mechanisms act together to decrease SR ca²⁺ release; among them: i) an increase in [Pi], [Mg²⁺] and a decrease in [ATP] that will inhibit RyR1 opening; ii) an entrance of Pi in the SR that will induce precipitation with Ca²⁺, reducing the free Ca²⁺ available for release; and iii) an extracellular K⁺ accumulation as well as an increased opening of CIC-1 and KATP channels reducing sarcolemma excitability. While it is quite clear that physical increases ROS/RNS production, their impact on muscle fatigue is not well understood. Preliminary results suggest that they could act on SR Ca²⁺ release and/or Ca²⁺ sensitivity. When considering more prolonged exercise at a lower intensity, it is likely that the reduction in SR Ca²⁺ release could be related to glycogen depletion.

2.1.3 Noninvasive tools for the evaluation of EC coupling during physiological exercise

While most of the results presented in the precedent sections are obtained from isolated muscle or muscle fibers that involve the dissection from animals, some noninvasive tools exist to evaluate the neuromuscular function (NMF). As the M-wave for the membrane excitability (presented above), EC coupling can be indirectly studied by using electrical or magnetic stimuli applied to the nerve trunk (respectively electrical nerve stimulation, ENS or magnetic nerve stimulation, MNS) or in some cases, directly over the muscle motor point (electrical muscle stimulation, EMS). Those stimulations will initiate a force response, thus bypassing the supraspinal and spinal compartment and, based on the stimulation characteristic (i.e., it's frequency) and the associated motor response, physiological interpretations, and extrapolations regarding the induced fatigue by a specific exercise can be made to identify potential sites of EC coupling failure. Of course, the information's obtained using such techniques are indirect and therefore based on some concept relying on the

different mechanisms exposed earlier. In the upcoming section, two modes of evaluation will be discussed.

The Peak twitch

The peak twitch (Pt) is the motor evoked response associated with the M-wave described previously. When a single supramaximal stimulus is delivered through the nerve (either using ENS or MNS), it will recruit some motor unit resulting in both an M-wave and a force response (see figure 8). With fatigue development, the shape of the force response is likely to be impacted negatively (reduced and/or broadened), as presented earlier and, because spinal and supraspinal responses are bypassed, the force diminution comes either from impairments of the membrane excitability, SR Ca²⁺ release, Ca²⁺ sensitivity or force produced by active cross-bridges. However, if the M-wave doesn't change, therefore the fatigue contribution comes from myofibrillar function (i.e., Ca²⁺ sensitivity or force produced by active cross-bridges) or SR Ca²⁺ release. Other parameters can be determined from the Pt such as the time to reach peak twitch force (TPT) which can be interpreted as a global index of muscle typology (More type-II oriented muscle will display a faster TPT) and an indicator of Ca²⁺ release or the half relaxation time (HRT), that represent the ability of the muscle to relax. A faster HRT could be an indirect factor of the SERCA pumping back the Ca²⁺ into the SR as discussed by (Behm et al. 1996).



Figure 8. Example of peak twitch response in an unfatigued (A) and fatigued (B) state. Pt represents the force amplitude of the peak twitch, TPT represents the time to reach Pt and HRT is the half relaxation time. Adapted from a presentation given by N.Place (2017).

It is important to take some methodological consideration when investigating the neuromuscular function using the Pt. Indeed, after a contractile conditioning activity, the Pt response to the exact same stimulus will be higher, this is known as the post-activation potentiation (PAP). PAP principal mechanism is an increase in Ca²⁺ sensitivity and has its strongest effect when intracellular [Ca2+] is low (i.e., the steep part of the force-Ca2+ relationship, figure 6.C), therefore, PAP is greater when considering single or low-frequency stimuli because with high-frequency, the intracellular $[Ca^{2+}]$ is rapidly saturated (Sale 2002). Fatigue and PAP often coexist (Rassier and MacIntosh 2000), it is then important to record peak twitch in a saturated intracellular $[Ca^{2+}]$ induced by a conditioning contraction (e.g., brief MVC), both pre- and post- exercise if the purpose is to identify the effect on the fatiguing task on the contractile properties of the muscle involved. Others methodological constraints arise from the fact that not all motor nerves are accessible for stimulation (i.e., sciatic nerve) or that both agonist and antagonist muscles are innervate by spatially close nerve (i.e., Biceps and triceps brachii). To counteract this limitation, stimulation of the motor point of the muscle can be used to obtain force response. With the use of MNS, it is sometimes not possible to deliver supramaximal stimulation notably with obese population.

Low- to high-frequency ratio

To investigates the peripheral origin of fatigue, repeated stimuli can be delivered at different frequencies to have insight on different mechanisms behind force impairment.

(Chin and Allen 1996) showed that after a fatiguing protocol (repeated 0.35 s tetani at 100Hz interspaced with 3-4 s of recovery) on isolated mice muscle fiber, there was a proportionally greater loss of force at low-frequencies (30-50 Hz) stimulations compared with high frequencies (100Hz). In the same study, this phenomenon called low-frequency fatigue (LFF) also appears in an experimental condition with elevated [Ca²⁺]i but without fatigue (through the concomitant use of caffeine + tetani stimulations) and authors reported unaltered Ca²⁺ sensitivity (figure 9) or myofibrillar force production capacity. They concluded that LFF arises from an increase [Ca²⁺]i during fatigue that will trigger different processes leading to EC coupling failure and impaired Ca²⁺ release and that it doesn't depend on changes in myofibrillar function. Because during low-frequency recruitment of the muscle, the Force-[Ca²⁺]i relationship is steep, only small changes in CA²⁺ release can lead to drastic force diminution (figure 9).

It is important to note that this fatigue phenomenon is not necessarily caused by exercise involving low-frequency recruitment and furthermore, the force impairment recovery can take hours or even days to recover (Jones 1996; Keeton and Binder-macleod 2006). Initially, LFF was characterized by the ratio between the force response to low- and high-frequency tetani (see figure 10.A), but this method is associated with a high level of discomfort/pain when used with human participants. Verges et al. (2008) showed a high correlation between the force ratio obtained with tetani stimulation and paired stimulations at 10 and 100Hz. Therefore, LFF is now characterized as follow:

LFF = Db10 / Db100

With Db10 and Db100, the force response obtained with paired stimuli at respectively 10 and 100 Hz (cf. figure 10.B).



Figure 9. Force-[Ca²⁺]i relationship before, 10 min and 55 min after an experimental condition inducing elevated $[Ca^{2+}]i$ but without fatigue (through the concomitant use of caffeine + tetani stimulations). Data for force and

 $[Ca^{2+}]i$ were obtained at 30, 50, 70 and 100 Hz. Because $[Ca^{2+}]i$ at high frequencies is on the horizontal part of the curve, moderate falls in $[Ca^{2+}]i$ have no effect on muscle force. At low frequencies, $[Ca^{2+}]i$ is on the steep part of the curve, so falls in $[Ca^{2+}]i$ produce large changes in force. Adapted from Chin and Allen (1996) and Keeton and Binder-macleod (2006).

On the other hand, high-frequency fatigue (HFF) is characterized by a loss of force when the muscle is stimulated at high frequencies. This type of fatigue is often associated with slower propagation and shorter amplitude of muscle AP and is exacerbated if extracellular [Na⁺] is decreased or [K⁺] is increased. This type of fatigue is characterized by a diminution of Db100 and appears to recover quickly (Jones 1996) which is in adequation with its physiological explanation as impairment in the ionic balance is rapidly counteracted. Db100 is also a useful tool to investigate the central compartment of fatigue as it will be discussed in the next section.



Figure 10. Quadriceps force recordings from a representative participant. Panel A shows his response to 10 and 100Hz tetani stimulation via electrical muscle stimulation. Panel B shows his response to a single (Pt) and paired pulses at 10 Hz (Db10) and 100 Hz (Db100) stimulation of the femoral nerve.

2.2 Central mechanisms

Repeated muscle contractions will inevitably lead to peripheral adaptation as explained in the above section. However, in the 1980s, studies started to investigate the impact of the brain in fatigue development because as much as fatigue can be characterized by a reduction in

contractile function, a reduced stimulus from the central nervous system (CNS) will inevitably result in a less powerful contraction, creating a central aspect of fatigue (Davis et al. 2000). Indeed, to initiate a voluntary contraction, the motor cortex is stimulated by others area of the brain and generates APs that will travel to the spinal cord along the corticospinal tract to finally activate the α-motoneuron (see figure 11). Any failure along this chain of action will result in the so-called central fatigue that can be further divided into spinal and supraspinal fatigue. The latter refers to a suboptimal drive from the motor cortex whereas spinal fatigue is related to a failure at the lower motoneuron level (Gandevia 2001). Quite recently, the use of the transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS) permitted new understandings underpinning mechanisms behind both supraspinal and spinal compartments of fatigue. This section will first present different methods of investigation of central fatigue and will then debate potential changes either at the supraspinal and spinal level before finishing by presenting the role of muscle afferents feedback on the whole system.



Figure. 11 Different steps involved in voluntary force production with the major associated feedbacks from the muscle acting at three distinct levels. Adapted from Gandevia, (2001).

2.2.1 Investigation of the central compartment of fatigue

Several noninvasive techniques have been developed to investigate the central compartment of the neuromuscular function during exercise in humans. In this section, a brief overview of two of the technique used during this thesis will be presented.

The interpolated twitch technique

For a review of the interpolated twitch technique (ITT) method, one can refer to Shield and Zhou, (2004). ITT is commonly used to assess the extensiveness of muscle activation during MVC. (Merton 1954) reported a negative linear regression between superimposed and voluntary force (i.e. the higher is the voluntary force production, the less will be the evoked force), thus, by quantifying the force induced by the superimposed twitch (SIT) relatively to the one obtained in the relaxed muscle (see figure 12), it is possible to determine the voluntary activation (VA) using the equation:

VA (%) =
$$\left(1 - \left(\frac{\text{SIT}}{\text{resting twitch}}\right)\right) \times 100$$

Equation (3)

Where the resting twitch is the force obtained at rest using the same stimulation modalities as the one used for the SIT.



Figure 12: Typical example of measurement using the twitch interpolated technique. A paired-pulse stimulus was delivered (arrow) at 100Hz to the posterior tibial nerve during a maximal voluntary contraction (interpolated twitch) and again in the subsequent recovery period (potentiated twitch. Taken from Shima et al. (2002).

To minimize the limit associated with the post-activation potentiation (see section 2.2.1.3) it is recommended to deliver the control twitch right after the MVC (~1.5 to 5 s after; (Allen et al. 1995). To maximize the validity and reproducibility of the method, a few guidelines are to

be respected. First, the site of stimulation should only recruit the agonist's muscle and the intensity of stimulation should be supramaximal, especially when investing fatigue because of changes in motoneurons thresholds. Depending on the considered muscle, it is recommended to use 120 to 150% to the optimal intensity (i.e. the smallest intensity for which the evoked response is maximal). It is also recommended to use doublets at high frequency (Suter and Herzog 2001) because they provoke higher and less variable force increasing the signal to noise ratio. Furthermore, for the study investing fatigue, the higher frequencies will be less impacted by the impairment in EC coupling (Bigland-Ritchie et al. 1986). Thus, the literature recommends the use of paired-pulse at 100 Hz like the one used to investigate the low-frequency ratio. Lastly, it is important to have the participant familiarized to the technique as it can be associated with some discomfort potentially preventing the reach of the true MVC due to the anticipation of the stimulus. Despite that, it is possible for the participant (or the experimenter...) to perform poorly, each MVC should be therefore examined during the test and bad trials rejected if the force doesn't present a plateau at the time of the stimulation or if two MVC exhibit too much variability. When investing fatigue, the delay between the end of exercise and the measure is of prime interest and therefore it is not always possible to performed multiple trials. A modified formula for VA has been proposed by (Strojnik and Komi 1998) to limit the impact of a missed stimulation (i.e. not delivered during the plateau):

VA (%) =
$$\left(100 - \frac{\text{SIT} \times \frac{Finit}{Fmax}}{\text{resting twitch}}\right) \times 100$$

Equation (4)

Where F_{init} is the force at the moment of the stimulus and Fmax is the true maximal force reach during the MVC. Despite the use of this formula, researchers should always aim to deliver the SIT during the plateau.

VA has been extensively used to characterized fatigue etiology during exercise and it appears that the capacity to activate skeletal muscle decrease as fatigue increase (Gandevia et al. 1996). Subsequently, a diminution of VA will induce a diminution of the MVC produced by the participant and is interpreted as a reduced motor output from the CNS creating a central aspect of fatigue. However, the determination of VA with the ITT alone doesn't allow to determine whether this diminution is due to cortical or spinal factors and this will be discussed in the forthcoming section

Transcranial magnetic stimulation

Transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS) is used in exercise physiology mainly to explore the plasticity of the motor cortex before and after a fatiguing task for example. For a recent review of the technique, one can refer to (Todd et al. 2016). Technically (and briefly) speaking, a short high-current magnetic pulse is induced in the magnetic coil placed on the top of the head (Hallett 2000). As shown in figure 13, a magnetic field arise perpendicularly to the plan of the coil and a subsequent electric field perpendicular to the magnetic field is produced below the coil. This allows the stimulation of specific brain area without the discomfort associated with electrical stimulation.



Figure 13. Overview of the TMS induced current. Taken from http://psychscenehub.com

When the coil is placed over the motor cortex and a TMS delivered, the generated electrical field will depolarize neurons, thus leading to a muscle contraction. This response characterized by Taylor and (Gandevia 2001) as a mainly monosynaptic corticomotoneuronal excitation can be recorded with EMG placed over the considered muscle and is called a motor evoked potential (MEP, see fig. 14). For the authors, MEP depends 'on transmission through relevant excitatory and inhibitory interneurons and on the excitability of the motoneurons pool' but because it is measured at the muscle level (EMG), it also depends on the muscle membrane excitability, which can be characterized by the M-wave. In order to isolate the spinal and supraspinal part of the response, it is necessary to normalize the MEP to the M-wave obtained through peripheral nerve stimulation.

When TMS is superimposed to a voluntary contraction, a period of near silence in EMG is seen right after the MEP (typically lasting ~100-300 ms) and is called silent period (SP, see figure 14). While this SP has long been assumed to reflect intracortical inhibition (Säisänen et al. 2008), it has been suggested that spinal mechanisms probably have much more impact on the SP than previously though Yacyshyn et al. (2016). The exact mechanisms are still debated, and the reader can refer to the recent work from (Škarabot et al. 2018) for more information. But briefly, the first ~80 ms of the SP are believed to arise from spinal adaptation whereas, after 100 ms, intracortical inhibition seems to be mainly responsible, acting through GABA_B receptors.



Figure 14. Typical EMG response from the vastus lateralis muscle during a submaximal contraction with a superimposed TMS. The dotted line represents the delivery of TMS and the solid line represent the end of the silent period. MEP, motor evoked potential.

When TMS is delivered during a voluntary contraction, it produces a SIT as the one obtained with peripheral nerve stimulation thus, allowing to calculate voluntary activation (VA_{TMS}). However, some methodological differences are to be considered, for example, corticospinal

excitability is improved during a voluntary contraction so the same stimulation will elicit greater force output during contraction than at rest (Lee et al. 2008). It is therefore not possible to normalize the SIT obtained during a voluntary contraction to the one obtained at rest. An alternative method based on the fact that the relation between voluntary force and their corresponding evoked SIT is linear above 50% of MVC has been proposed by (Todd et al. 2003). Therefore, using three contractions (one brief MVC plus often 75% and 50% of the considered MVC, see figure 15), it is possible to determine the y-intercept of the regression and to obtain the theoretical SIT at rest called the estimated resting twitch (ERT). This method has been validated for the upper limb (Todd et al. 2003) and the knee extensor muscles (Goodall et al. 2009). Once the ERT is calculated, its value replaces the resting twitch value in equation (3), giving equation (5).

$$VA(\%) = \left(1 - \left(\frac{SIT}{ERT}\right)\right) \times 100$$

Equation (5)



Figure 15. Procedure to calculate voluntary activation using TMS. Panel A shows torque traces obtained at maximal voluntary contraction (MVC), 75% of MVC and 50% of MVC and the size of the associated superimposed twitch. Panel B shows the linear regression obtained between the voluntary torque and the superimposed twitch allowing the determination of the estimated resting twitch (ERT). Adapted from (Todd et al. 2016).

Assessing VA using TMS presents some limitations and the most important is probably he concomitant recruitment of both agonist and antagonist muscles. To overwhelm this problem,

it is recommended to check the ratio between MEP and M-wave in both the agonist and the antagonist's muscle during VA measurement. The agonist ratio will give an indication on the capacity of the TMS pulse to recruit a large portion of the motoneurons, thus any increment in torque is likely to be better for a higher ratio [a ratio of 80% of the superimposed M-wave (Mmax) is considered large, (Todd et al. 2016)]. Concomitantly, the antagonist ratio must be the lowest possible to ensure that the motor evoked response elicited by the TMS is not contaminated by an antagonist co-contraction. To obtain a valid measurement, Todd et al. (2016) recommend having concomitant agonist MEP superior at 50% Mmax and antagonist MEP inferior at 20% Mmax, therefore the intensity of the stimulation should be adapted to meet those criteria. Unfortunately, M-wave can't be obtained in all muscle making complicated to use this procedure to determine the optimal TMS intensity. In this case, a more classical approach with a recruitment curve similar to the one used with peripheral nerve stimulation is used and the intensity kept for the VA assessment is the lowest one eliciting the highest MEP during a contraction at 20% MVC.

Furthermore, when assessing neuromuscular function with TMS during exercise, it might be difficult to ensure that the stimulation is given at the same spot. To limit this issue without restricting the recruitment to bald participants, a swim cap can be used and taped to the participant's head so the optimal coil location can be drawn on it.

The use of TMS for neuromuscular function evaluation allows having more insight compare to the ITT as it gives access to more direct indicators of the central compartment such as the MEP and the SP. However, it is still not possible to distinguish the supraspinal from the spinal impact on those indicators.

2.2.2 Supraspinal changes

Descending Drive

When fatigue develops during intermittent or sustained MVC, the associated descending drive from the motor cortex is also reduced as shown by a reduction of the EMG activity (Taylor and Gandevia 2007). Conversely, (Decorte et al. 2012) found an increase in the same EMG activity during cycling correlated with the apparition of peripheral fatigue and the same results occur when sustaining submaximal isometric forces. This suggests that the

descending drive is increased to compensate for the development of peripheral fatigue and reduced spinal excitability (Søgaard et al. 2006; Klass et al. 2008) and may come from the recruitment of additional motor units (Carpentier A et al. 2001; Johnson et al. 2004). However, this ability to increase central drive is limited and will eventually decrease with fatigue in both maximal and sub-maximal exercise (Taylor et al. 2016b). From the early '90s, TMS has been used to investigate the central nervous system (CNS) and its methodology has been described above, but quickly, an extra force evoked by TMS during a MVC indicates that the motor command to the muscle was not maximal, thus suggesting that at least some of the central deficit is supraspinal or spinal (Gandevia et al. 1996).

The use of brain imaging techniques during exercise allows a much more precise investigation of which areas of the brain are recruited and can bring insight into the understanding of fatigue development. Therefore, a submaximal contraction of the hand muscles induced concomitant increase in the activity of EMG, contralateral and ipsilateral sensorimotor cortex, supplementary motor area, and cingulate motor area (Liu et al. 2003). Interestingly during a sustained MVC, force and associated EMG response decrease whereas the activation of the cortical areas increase but not enough to maintain the neural drive (Post et al. 2009).

It is difficult to draw conclusions from those studies as it seems that during both submaximal and maximal contraction supraspinal structures increase their activity whereas different outputs responses at the muscle level are observed. Indeed, during submaximal contractions, the concomitant increase in EMG and cortical activity suggest improved central drive while, during maximal contractions, augmentation of the cortical activity doesn't necessarily result in an increased motor output to the agonist's muscle. It can be then hypothesized that the increased brain activity is due to the recruitment of motor units from other synergist muscles 2001) or muscle not critical to the task (Post et (Gandevia al. 2009). In addition to TMS and imaging, fatigue-induced changes at the brain levels can be investigated through the use of pharmacological intervention to look at the specific function of some brain neurotransmitters.

Changes in brain neurotransmitters

The communication between neurons in the brain is dependent of chemical compounds that act as messengers, they are named neurotransmitters and are released into the synaptic cleft to bind receptor sites at the postsynaptic neuron to trigger excitatory or inhibitory responses. Different types of neurotransmitters exist (e.g., amino acids, peptides, and monoamines) and the one sports scientists are the most familiar with is probably the acetylcholine because of its presence at the neuromuscular junction. While at first, serotonin was suggested to play a major role in the process of central fatigue, recent research proposes that, when considering physiological temperature, dopamine and noradrenaline are more likely to have an important role (Meeusen and Roelands 2018). The upcoming paragraph will try to offer a brief overview of the impact of exercise on brain neurotransmission in humans but for more accuracy, the reader is invited to refer to Meeusen and Roelands (2018).



Figure 16. Overview of the effects of some pharmacological and nutritional manipulation on exercise performance through brain neurotransmitter adaptations. DA, dopamine; RI, reuptake inhibitor; NA, noradrenaline; 5-HT, serotonin; TYR, tyrosine; BCAA, branched-chain amino acids; CHO, carbohydrate and TRP, tryptophan. Taken from Meeusen and Roelands (2018).

The central fatigue hypothesis (Newsholm 1987), assumes that changes in brain neurochemistry and more specifically, a rise in serotonin level induced by exercise would augment lethargy and negatively impact mood and drive, leading to fatigue. Ten years later, Davis and Bailey (1997) added the dopaminergic activity as a potential target influencing the onset of fatigue saying that "an increase in brain dopaminergic activity may delay fatigue by inhibiting brain serotonin synthesis and by directly activating motor pathways" (Davis and Bailey 1997). This was the starting point for exploring the use of nutritional and pharmacological interventions modifying brain neurotransmitters synthesis and their impact on fatigue (see figure 16). An interesting example is provided using carbohydrate supplementation which obviously acts as a substrate for muscle metabolism at the peripheral level, but also impact brain function as illustrated using the "mouth rinsing" paradigm. It consists of oral exposure to glucose without ingesting it, therefore suppressing its "direct" effects on muscular function. (Chambers et al. 2009) performed functional magnetic resonance imaging and showed that mouth rinsing improved performance through activation of specific brain regions involved in the motor control and reward processes. Those results have been confirmed by other studies (Turner et al. 2014; De Pauw et al. 2015) reinforcing the close link between brain chemistry and performance.

But despite these promising results and the additional insights from animal work, human studies investigating serotonergic pathways don't provide straightforward results (Meeusen and Roelands 2010), probably due to the complexity of the serotonergic system (Taylor et al. 2016b) but also maybe because serotonin might not be the key factor. Before going further, it is important to understand that neurotransmitters are also responsible for thermoregulatory responses and therefore, depending on the environmental condition and the considered neurotransmitters, responses to pharmacological intervention are susceptible to change. For example, methylphenidate (a dopaminergic reuptake inhibitor, therefore supposed to increase dopamine levels (figure 16), didn't impact endurance performance at ambient temperature but improve performance by 16% compared to placebo on a self-paced time trial (ROELANDS et al. 2008). Interestingly, in the same study, participants reach higher core temperature in the experimental condition not associated with a higher perception of it and neither their perception of effort was impacted despite the better performance. In another study, also using methylphenidate, Swart et al. (2009) found similar results on performance (they didn't mention the temperature of exercise...) and this was associated with greater metabolic and cardio-respiratory stress in the methylphenidate condition (higher oxygen consumption and heart rate) without changes in their perception of the associated effort. From those results, it appears that increased dopaminergic activity in hot environment allows participants to push harder and becoming warmer without any change in their perception of effort.

Another widely used molecule is the reboxetine (this time, a noradrenergic reuptake inhibitor, which increase noradrenaline (figure 16) which has been shown to decrease endurance performance in ambient temperature and in hot conditions (respectively -10% at 18°C and -20% at 30°C; (Roelands et al. 2008). In a recent study (KLASS et al. 2016) exposed that the diminution in endurance performance related to the use of reboxetine was also associated to an increased rate of central fatigue (using VATMS) without changes of muscular or corticospinal excitability (M-wave and MEP). From those results, the authors concluded that the performance impairment in the reboxetine condition was due to a decreased output from the motor cortex. Interestingly, mental fatigue has also been recently linked to changes in brain neurofunction, Pageaux et al. (2015) hypothesized that the neural activity associated with cognitive tasks would exacerbate the extracellular adenosine concentration (known for its inhibitory action on the dopaminergic pathway) in certain parts of the brain subsequently increasing perceived exertion and leading to a decrease in endurance performance. This is supported by (Azevedo et al. 2016) who showed that caffeine (an adenosine receptor antagonist) counteracted the effect of mental fatigue on physical performance. However, further researches are required to determine if such a hypothesis can be experimentally verified. From those brief examples and the extended literature on human studies, Meeusen and Roelands (2018) concluded that in normal ambient temperature, the noradrenergic system had a deeply negative impact on performance fatiguability whereas in hot environment dopaminergic reuptake inhibitor alone or combined with noradrenergic reuptake inhibitor seems to increase performance.

As a general conclusion, brain neurochemistry appears to be without any doubts part of the complex mechanisms responsible for fatigue even if further researches are needed to fully understand its impact. Nevertheless, it probably acts together with other central changes such as the neural drive and/or spinal changes that will be detailed below.

2.2.3 Spinal changes

Each α-motoneuron have their cell bodies in the ventral horn of the spinal cord and innervate several muscle fibers through their axon which constitutes the smallest contractile unity called a motor unit (MU). MU size can vary greatly from a muscle to another and the ratio between the number of motoneurons and the number of muscle fiber is an indicator of how accurately

this muscle can be controlled (the fewer fibers per motoneuron, the more accurate will be the muscle). MU also differ depending on the type of fibers they innervate. Small motoneuron will constitute slow MU (S) innervating small type I muscle fibers, on the other hand, large motoneuron innervate type IIx muscle fibers and constitute the so-called fast fatigable MU (FF) and somewhere between those two lasts the fast fatigue resistant MU (FR) of intermediate size (figure 17). Furthermore, when the muscle is solicited, the smaller MU will be recruited first. This is known as the Henneman's size principle (Henneman et al. 1965).



Figure 17 Overview of the characteristics and classification of different motor units. Taken from Kinesiology of the Musculoskeletal System, 2nd ed.

Muscle properties are divided into three relations (Partridge and Benton 2011), the forcefrequency (F-f), the force-length (F-I) and the force-velocity (F-v). From the F-f relationship depends the conversion between the motoneuron firing rate into isometric force, this is the direct link between the neural drive and the motor response. The force resulting from the neural drive during dynamic exercise will depend on the three relationships, thus, the same descending drive will generate different force output depending on the length of the muscle and the velocity of the contraction. Therefore, most of the study focus on isometric strength, so it is easier to isolate the F-f component. Thus, during an isometric contraction, a progressive increase in force development will require a progressive increase in the frequency of the descending drive to the muscle. This increased motor drive will have two concomitant consequences, i) increasing the force produced by the already recruited MU by increasing their discharge rate and ii) recruiting new MU. During the beginning of the gradual muscle contraction, the increase of force will be mainly due to the recruitment of new MU (see example in figure 18.A, at ~20% MVC already 50% of the MU have been recruited) and the first recruited MU (i.e., S unit) might reach a plateau (see figure 18.B). This phenomenon is referred as "saturation discharge rate" and correspond to a plateau of the discharge rate of a motoneuron despite increased excitatory signal coming to it and is due to intrinsic mechanisms of the considered motor unit (Fuglevand et al. 2015). However, it should be noted that not all studies report such saturation (Duchateau and Hainaut 1990). When approaching MVC, the force will keep increasing because of an increase in force produced by each MU through an increased discharge rate rather than because of the recruitment of new MU. Interestingly, (Kernell 2006) reported that when motoneurons are recruited and starts to fire action potentials, the resulting force is ~10% of its maximal force.



Figure 18. Panel A: the relation between twitch torque and recruitment threshold for 40 motor units (MU) from a single individual. The linear regression was statistically significant P<0.001. Panel B: activity of 38 MU of the first dorsal interosseus during brief isometric contraction at different target forces. Each line represents a different MU, for which ten contractions at different targeted forces have been performed. The lower limit represents the minimal target forces at which the motor unit discharged action potential repetitively. 12 of the 38 MU display a clear plateau in discharge rate. Adapted from (Heckman and Enoka 2012)

During a sustained isometric contraction at an intensity superior to the upper limit of MU recruitment, the modulation of the discharge rate differs among muscle. For example, sustaining high force contraction with the tibialis anterior or the forearm extensors muscle result in a decrease of the MU discharge rate (Rubinstein and Kamen 2005) whereas no changes are observed in extensor hallucis longus (Macefield et al. 2000). This decline is discharge rate contribute to the decline observed in MVC (Fuglevand and Keen 2003). When considering a lower level of force, the firstly recruited MU display a decrease in their discharge rate (Conwit et al. 2000; Carpentier A et al. 2001; Calder et al. 2008). The fact that new MUs are being recruited while others present a decline in the discharge rate has been interpreted as an increased in central drive superimposed to intrinsic adjustments of the motoneuron properties (i.e., adaptation and changes in afferent feedback) (Carpentier et al. 2001; Garland and Gossen 2002; Johnson et al. 2004).

Despite this increased central drive, some MU eventually stop discharging AP and this derecruitment is matched by the recruitment of a new MU, this refers to MU substitution, however, if the previously de-recruited MU is activated again, this is named MU rotation (Heckman and Enoka 2012). During submaximal contractions, studies have shown that this MU rotation process occurs among MU with identical recruitment thresholds (Bawa and Murnaghan 2009). Those adjustments have been attributed mainly to changes in the balance between the central drive and inactivation of voltage-gated channels and are not considered as CNS-controlled strategy recruitment (Westad et al. 2003; Bawa and Murnaghan 2009). It is important to note that the lower is the intensity of the sustained contraction, the more variable are the observed changes (Harwood et al. 2012).

Dynamic contractions have been less studied probably because of the incapacity to well control the associated changes in F-v and F-L relationships but preliminary results suggest that the discharge rate decline in sub-maximal (Harwood et al. 2012) and high-intensity exercise (Cowling et al. 2016), with the greater decline observed in the latter.

The decrease in spinal motoneuron excitability and intrinsic properties

A motoneuron act as the interface between the motor command arriving from the brain and the effector of the movement which is the muscle. It is innervated by various excitatory and inhibitory afferents (figure 19) and the treatment of all those signals, including the supraspinal (already discussed) and the muscle afferents (discussed below), will result in the production of the motor drive arriving at the muscle. Therefore, any changes in its excitability or intrinsic properties could reduce the command arriving at the muscle, therefore impacting contractile function.



Figure 19. Panel A: summary of inputs to α - and γ -motoneuron for an agonist's muscle. Cells with solid circles are inhibitory. The dotted curved region at pre-motoneuronal terminals denotes presynaptic inhibition acting selectively on the afferent paths to the motoneurons. Panel B: Summary of possible routes for afferents feedback to change the firing rate of motoneuron during fatigue. Adapted from (Gandevia 2001)

Some evidence suggests that repetitive activation of a motoneuron induces a diminution of its excitability or how it responses to excitatory input (Brownstone 2006). Johnson et al. (2004) showed that to maintain a steady firing rate over time, additional MU were recruited, implying that the targeted motoneuron needed progressively more descending drive to maintain a similar output. Additionally, EMG response to CMEP is reduced during sustained MVC (Taylor and Gandevia 2007) suggesting again a diminution of motoneuron excitability. Furthermore, if CMEP is delivered during the silent period following TMS delivery while the subject is performing a sustained submaximal voluntary contraction, CMEP is also reduced (McNeil et al. 2011). This diminution of motoneuron excitability is believed to arise from changes of the intrinsic properties of the muscle (Taylor et al. 2016b) However the specific mechanisms occurring are unknown.

As mentioned above, neurochemistry in the brain affect the neuronal pathway and it seems also to be the case when considering motoneurons from the spinal cord. Descending serotonergic neurons from the brainstem innervate the α -motoneuron both at the dendrites and soma levels where serotonin act as an excitatory transmitter, increasing motoneuron excitability through persistent inward current (Heckman et al. 2008). However, Cotel et al. (2013) using an animal model showed that descending serotonergic neurons would be responsible for a decrease in spinal motoneurons excitability through spillover of serotonin. This might be explained by the presence of inhibitory serotonin receptors at the beginning of the axon, therefore, a too high level of descending drive from the serotonergic neurons would induce an accumulation of serotonin near the axon limiting motoneurons firing rate. Thus, the descending serotonergic system could act on motoneuron excitability in different manners, i) by increasing its excitability via a stimulation of the excitatory receptor at the dendrites and soma level; ii) reducing its excitability via a diminution of the descending drive and iii) reducing its excitability because of too much descending drive, leading to an accumulation of serotonin at the axon level. While the given example focusses on the serotonergic pathway, many other neuromodulators are likely to influence motoneuron excitability such as norepinephrine (Johnson and Heckman 2014). Researchers barely scratched the surface regarding the potential impact of neuromodulation on motoneuron excitability and much further work is required in that direction.

Besides changes in intrinsic properties and neuromodulation impacting its excitability, motoneurons are also influenced by the modulated muscle afferents feedbacks (as shown in figure 19; Enoka et al. 2011). Therefore, those feedbacks can be either inhibitory (group lb, III/IV and Renshaw cell) or excitatory (descending drive and muscle spindle afferents). While some of them are reduced during fatigue, like the group Ib and Renshaw cells (Gandevia 2001) others, like firing rate of the III/IV muscle afferents are increased and lead to a decrease in motoneuron excitability (review from Taylor et al. 2016b). Even though relative mechanisms are still under debate, they likely involve direct inhibition of the motoneuron pool, presynaptic inhibition of Ia afferents and a reduced descending drive from the supraspinal compartment (review from Taylor et al. 2016b). Those effects will be discussed in the next part focusing on muscle afferent feedbacks. To conclude on spinal adaptations, it is likely that a multitude of factors acting together can explain the progressive changes in motoneuron excitability) will depend on the magnitude of the different adaptation and are probably not the same regarding the task specificity.

71
2.2.4 Muscle afferent feedback

Muscle afferents are numerous and can have either inhibitory or excitatory effects at the spinal or supraspinal compartment. Figure 19 provides an overview of the muscle afferent at the motoneuron level. They can be categorized by different parameters and have been classified as group I - IV. The figure 19.B present potentials pathway from which muscle afferents could impact motoneuron excitability including a possible altered descending drive. Among the excitatory afferents, muscle spindles (group Ia and II) can directly modulate the sensitivity of the motoneuron pool through transmissions via the la pathway. Using microneurography, (Macefield et al. 1991) showed that a sustained submaximal voluntary contraction was associated to a decreased in firing rate of muscle spindles afferents and concluded that this was probably part of the process resulting in a decreased MU discharge rate during sustained submaximal contraction as previously discussed. The effect of muscle spindle on motoneuron pool can also be attributed to modulation via presynaptic inhibitory mechanisms and can be studied through changes in reflexes evoked by weak electrical stimulation (called H-reflex). During sustained MVC (Duchateau and Hainaut 1993) or submaximal contractions (Duchateau et al. 2002), the amplitude of this H-reflex progressively decrease, and authors concluded that not only muscle spindle firing rate decreased, but also the efficacy of the la-induced facilitation diminished. H-reflex has also been shown to decrease in the antagonist's muscle, for example, during a sustained submaximal contraction of the elbow flexors, H-reflex of the triceps brachii decreased whereas CMEP (that is not dependent of presynaptic inhibition) increased (Lévénez et al. 2008). These results suggest an adaptation of the co-activation during contraction via the muscle spindle afferents on both motoneurons of the agonist and antagonist muscles.

The small diameter muscle afferents from the group III and IV have been closely related to peripheral and neural changes during both single-joint and whole-body exercise. Group III are mechanically sensitive and respond to muscle contraction or stretch while group IV are sensitive to intramuscular metabolites and metabolic changes.

72

Role of afferents in peripheral fatigue

Group III/IV muscle afferents play a role in the development of peripheral fatigue by being involved in the regulation of the cardiovascular, hemodynamic, and ventilatory response to exercise (figure 20). Indeed, feedback from the working muscle (Kaufman and Forster 2011) and central command (Waldrop et al. 2011) allows a rapid increase in ventilation, cardiac output and limb blood flow to promote optimal oxygen delivery to the working muscle. Both blood flow and oxygen delivery are considered as key compartment impacting the development of peripheral fatigue during both single-joint and whole-body exercise (Barclay 1986).



Figure 20. Group III and IV muscle afferents increase central fatigue but attenuate peripheral fatigue. Firing of group III and IV muscle afferents increases during fatiguing contractions. During exercise, these afferents produce reflex increases in heart rate, blood pressure, and respiration to improve muscle blood flow and oxygenation. This slows the development of fatigue of the muscle itself (peripheral fatigue). At the same time, the afferent firing also leads to a reduction in voluntary neural drive to the muscle. That contributes to central fatigue. The afferents evoke sensations of muscle discomfort and fatigue, increase supraspinal fatigue, presynaptically inhibit la input to motoneurons, and have different actions on different motoneuron pools. Adapted from Taylor et al, (2016).

Role of muscle afferents in central fatigue

As presented in figure 19, group III and IV muscle afferents impact directly or not the spinal motoneurons during fatiguing exercise resulting in an impairment of the voluntary activation and thus, exercise performance (Bigland-Ritchie et al. 1986; Amann et al. 2009). This has been shown by using a sustained maximal isometric contraction to induce fatigue (as reported by a decrease in VA) and to study its recovery time course. When classical recovery is performed, VA goes back to baseline values within minutes whereas if a blood pressure cuff is inflated around the limb to trap the metabolites inside the muscle, therefore maintaining the firing of the group III and IV, VA stays depressed until cuff deflation (Gandevia et al. 1996). This result has been confirmed in whole-body exercises using pharmacological intervention to block afferent feedback from locomotor muscle (using fentanyl) during high-intensity cycling exercise. Authors reported that when III and IV muscle afferents were blocked, the output from spinal motoneurons was less restricted compare to the control condition with intact muscle feedbacks.

To conclude, fatiguing exercises are related to many changes within the human body, some associated to the peripheral compartment, some associated with the central nervous system; some limiting performance (power output, time to exhaustion...) others allowing to go further down the limit. Despite the diverging theory behind the concept of fatigue and which compartment prevails (i.e. central vs. peripheral governor), the actual knowledge doesn't allow researchers to conclude if one is more important than the other and, in the end, one could probably not exist without the other.

2.3 Neuromuscular function and repeated sprint exercise

As mentioned in a previous section (2.1.2) repeated-sprint exercise (RSE) induces a diminution in performance through the test that can be measured using different indices [e.g. mean power output (Pmean), decrement score (Sdec)...]. Such exercise is extremely strenuous for the neuromuscular function (NMF) and therefore is associated with the development of both central and peripheral fatigue (Collins et al. 2018). This section will try to synthesize the current knowledge in the literature regarding the development of both central fatigue during acute RSE and the potential impacting variables. In the second section, some methodological consideration will be discussed.

2.3.1 Impact of RSE on neuromuscular function

From the first sprint of RSE, performance is impacted regarding of the exercise modalities (Mendez-Villanueva et al. 2008; Girard et al. 2011a); however, its diminution doesn't appear to be linear. Indeed, authors often report a greater loss of performance from the first sprints compared to the latest (Racinais et al. 2007; Mendez-Villanueva et al. 2012) and this has led the community to hypothesize that maybe this could be linked to differences in fatigue etiology. To investigate NMF, researchers often used isometric contraction pre- and post-RSE to identify and interpret potential changes in fatigue indices (e.g. MVC, VA, M-wave...). And until recently, not many studies had investigated the time course and etiology of fatigue during RSE and how it was impacted by the recovery period (i.e. Repeated vs intermittent sprint, see section 2.1.1). Because of the longer period of rest between sprint in the intermittent modality, one could argue that it would facilitate the intracellular process of recovery, therefore, impacting peripheral and central aspect of fatigue (Spencer et al. 2005; Twomey et al. 2017). Pearcey et al. (2015), had participants performed an intermittent-RSE consisting of ten 10 s leg-cycling sprint with 180 s of recovery between sprint and measured NMF before, during (at sprint 5) and after exercise. The 180 s of recovery wasn't enough to mask the development of fatigue and the diminution of performance; thus, they obtained the same pattern with two slopes observed with RSE (higher decline in performance during the first 5 sprints vs. the last 5). They also found that following the first 5 sprints, fatigue was peripheral whereas after, a combination of both peripheral and central fatigue occurred.

Hureau et al. (2016) investigated NMF after RSE consisting of either 1, 4, 6, 8 or 10 sprints with 30 s of recovery and an additional session of 8 sprints with only 10 s recovery. This original design allowed them to obtain kinetics of NMF changes induced during RSE. They found that already after the first sprint, peripheral fatigue occurred and remained so during all the subsequent sprints whereas central fatigue happened only after sprint 6. Interestingly, the decrease in power output was more pronounce when recovery was fastened to 10 s compared to 30 s whereas neuromuscular fatigue was not altered (i.e. same impairment with both recovery time, figure 21). Those results suggest that whatever the recovery period between sprints (i.e. 10, 30 or 180 s) the relative kinetics of fatigue appears to be similar with a rapid onset of peripheral fatigue and progressive development of central fatigue. This really questions the impact of recovery time on NMF during RSE.



Figure 21. Influence of the recovery period on exercise performance and peripheral fatigue. Panel A shows the evolution of peak power output during each sprint and panel B shows the associated development of peripheral fatigue in both conditions. 8_{SPRINTS}, repeated sprint exercise consisting of 8 sprints of 10 s with 30 s recovery; 8_{SPRINTS R10}, repeated sprint exercise consisting of 8 sprints of 10 s with 10 s recovery; S_{tw}, single twitch force response. Adapted from (Hureau et al. 2016).

RSE and recovery time

A practical way of limiting the decline in performance associated with the development of neuromuscular fatigue during RSE would be to increase the recovery time between sprints. Overall, the preservation of repeated sprint performance with increased recovery time has already been shown (Glaister et al. 2005; Billaut and Basset 2007). Thus, it has been hypothesized that it may be due to greater resynthesizes of Pcr and ATP stores (Bishop et

al. 2004; Bishop and Claudius 2005; Mendez-Villanueva et al. 2012) and improved evacuation of muscle metabolites (Glaister 2005). However, the results mentioned earlier from Hureau et al. (2016) doesn't report any differences in fatigue associated with RSE with either 10 or 30 s recovery between sprints (figure 21). Neuromuscular fatigue is also known to recover relatively quickly depending on its etiology and, two minutes after a sprint protocol, authors showed that it was minimal (Perrey et al. 2010; Girard et al. 2013; Hureau et al. 2014). Then, a possibility is that it takes a longer duration than 30 s for the neuromuscular function to recover. Monks et al. (2017) performed a similar study like the one exposed earlier (Hureau et al. 2016), however, they compared a recovery period of 30 s and 180 s. Their findings were similar with improved performance during RSE (i.e. less power decrement with 180 s recovery) but no differences regarding neuromuscular fatigue development. This suggests that recovery time doesn't impact performance and fatigue etiology to the same extent (i.e. the longer period of recovery improves RSE performance without changing fatigue development). This is rather surprising, and a possible hypothesis is that the use of isometric contraction is not an effective modality to evaluate fatigue induced by whole-body exercise involving alternative high-speed muscle contractions. However, further data are needed to support those findings.

From those results, it seems that peripheral fatigue appears from the very early stage and persists through the RSE and may be the major factor limiting performance (Perrey et al. 2010; Goodall et al. 2014a). On the other hand, central fatigue appears later (Goodall et al. 2014a; Pearcey et al. 2015) and some authors suggest that it could play a role by limiting the central drive as a protective mechanism to avoid further peripheral fatigue preventing muscle damage. The next section will discuss the potential underlying physiological mechanisms behind fatigue.

2.3.2 RSE and the underlying physiology of neuromuscular fatigue

Neuromuscular fatigue results in a combination of both peripheral and central mechanisms.

Peripheral fatigue

The first aspect to look at when considering the development of peripheral fatigue is to investigate whether the membrane excitability is impaired or not. An indirect measure can be obtained through the M-wave assessment and despite the conflicting results obtained with various types of exercises and the methodological issues associated regarding its analysis (see section 2.2.1.1) it seems that in a majority of studies, M-wave isn't impacted by RSE during cycling (Hureau et al. 2016; Tomazin et al. 2017; Monks et al. 2017) with some exception (increase of M-wave reported by Racinais et al. 2007). Results are a bit more confusing when considering running RSE as authors reported no changes (Goodall et al. 2014a; Tomazin et al. 2017) or an impairment (Perrey et al. 2010) of M-wave. Overall, these findings suggest that the neuromuscular transmission is maintained during RSE and indicate that the origin of fatigue is located beyond the sarcolemma. Indeed, concomitantly to the M-wave measurement, the same authors also reported a diminution in the twitch force assessed via peripheral nerve stimulation translating an impairment of the EC coupling. Among the several factors impacting EC coupling (see section 2.2.1.2) most of them are also impacted by RSE.

Indeed, energy furniture during the early part of RSE mainly relies on the anaerobic glycolysis and has therefore been associated with an accumulation of muscle metabolites and a Pcr/ATP breakdown. For instance, Gaitanos et al. (1993) showed that after a single 6-s cycling-sprint, Pcr and ATP stores were depleted respectively to 43% and 87% of resting values. They also showed, that after a repetition of ten 6-s sprints with 30-s recovery, Pcr and ATP store were further diminished respectively to 16% and 68% of baseline values. Those results were confirmed in another study by (Dawson et al. 1997) using six sprints and a recovery period of 24 s. The two main byproducts associated with glycolysis are H⁺ and Pi and their respective contributions to peripheral fatigue have been presented in section 2.2.1. The gold standard to assess skeletal muscle bioenergetics during exercise is the phosphorous magnetic resonance spectroscopy (³¹P-MRS), but it has not yet been possible to perform RSE inside the magnetic resonance imagery (MRI) device. However, researchers showed some relative similar metabolic changes between a 3 min all-out cycling exercise and a 5 min all-out isometric knee extensors protocols (Burnley et al. 2010) and despite the relative differences in exercise modalities, all-out knee extensors protocol might provide a first insight of what could happen inside the muscle during RSE. In a recent study, (Broxterman et al. 2017), had 8 participants performing an all-out single leg isometric knee extensors exercise (3 s MVC and 2 s relaxation) inside a whole-body MRI and outside to perform NMF evaluation pre- and post- (on a separated visit). They showed a decrease in VA (-12%) and Pt (-52%) similar as the one observed by Hureau et al. (2016) after ten 10 ssprints with 30 s of recovery (i.e. VA: ~11%, Pt: ~50%). And at the end of the exercise, Pcr was approximately 20% of its baseline value which also matches the decrease during repeated sprint presented above (Gaitanos et al. 1993). However, in the Broxterman et al. (2017) study, the decrease in MVC was much higher compared to Hureau et al. (2016) (respectively -58% vs. -19%) and this is probably due to the differences between the fatiguing and the evaluation task (i.e. fatigue is induced by RSE and evaluated using MVC) and the specificity of the fatigue induced by repeated isometric MVC (i.e. strong vaso-occlusion). Nevertheless, (Broxterman et al. 2017), present some interesting results regarding the potential links between peripheral fatigue and intramuscular metabolic perturbation during all-out exercise (figure 22).



Figure 22. The link between peripheral fatigue and Intramuscular metabolic perturbation. Panel A: Intramuscular metabolite concentrations during the 5-min all-out intermittent isometric single-leg knee-extensor protocol. And panel B: the relationship between quadriceps fatigue and intramuscular metabolites (both in the percentage of change from baseline to end-exercise). Adapted from (Broxterman et al. 2017)

Indeed, the diminution in Pt was correlated with the changes in Pi, pH, and H⁺ during exercise. Another interesting result is their bioenergetics findings of all-out exercise that appears to be not so far from the one provided in section 2.1.2 for RSE. Thus, whereas the ATP mainly originated from the anaerobic pathways at the beginning of the test, it progressively switched toward aerobic metabolism (Figure 23).



Figure 23. Contribution of anaerobic and oxidative ATP production during the 5-min all-out intermittent isometric single-leg knee-extension protocol. ATP_{ox}, rate of ATP synthesis through oxidative phosphorylation; ATP_{ANA}, rate of ATP synthesis through oxidative phosphorylation. Both are expressed relative to the total ATPase rate Significantly different * between conditions, † from 1st min, and ‡ from 2nd min (p < 0.05). taken from (Broxterman et al. 2017)

Of course, the differences in exercise modality are to consider with care and further studies with a fatiguing protocol closer to RSE are needed to better understand intramuscular perturbation induced by the repetition of supramaximal exercises. The last mechanism known to impact peripheral fatigue is the depletion of glycogen store. While it is often associated with prolonged exercise, the study performed by Gaitanos et al. (1993), provides some interesting information as they found a decrease in muscular glycogen (measured by biopsies) after both a single 6 s sprint (~15%) and RSE (~37%) consisting in ten 6-s sprints with 30 s recovery. Although the potential mechanisms between glycogen store and peripheral fatigue are not well understood, it is still a plausible cause that could explain performance impairment.

To conclude, it seems that because of the supramaximal nature of RSE and its dependency towards anaerobic pathways, the development of peripheral fatigue appears inevitable. *Central fatigue*

As discussed in section 2.2.1, different techniques exist to investigate the central component of fatigue in exercise physiology and have been used combined with RSE to try to better understand fatigue etiology.

The estimation of VA either via TMS or nerve stimulation has been reported by several authors during leg-cycling sprints (Racinais et al. 2007; Billaut et al. 2013), Arm-cycling sprints (Pearcey et al. 2016) and running sprints (Perrey et al. 2010; Goodall et al. 2014a). In a recent study, (Tomazin et al. 2017) compared fatigue etiology between running and cycling sprints and reported a similar decrease of peripheral fatigue whereas central fatigue measured 30 s after the end of the exercise was only present in the running condition. Their protocol consisted of 4 sets of five 6 s-sprints, 24 s-rest with 3 min rest between sets (i.e., 20 sprints) and their measures were after the first, second and final sets. A potential explanation from the differences observed could arise from a higher metabolic demand during running sprints (i.e. more accumulation of byproducts), leading to an exacerbated drive from the group III and IV muscle afferents. However, (Rampinini et al. 2014) reported that both modality of RSE (i.e. running vs cycling) induced similar level of metabolites (blood lactate and H⁺). So, VA impairment should have been detected in both sprint modalities. Another explanation could be that running induces more muscle damage than cycling due to the specific mode of contraction relying on stretch-shortening cycle (SSC) that have been shown to release K⁺ and interleukin-6 (Dousset et al. 2007), both triggering group III and IV muscle afferents (Hoheisel et al. 2005). But because the impairment in VA disappeared after a short period of rest (5 min), it is unlikely to be the only explanation. Finally, other authors did report a diminution in VA after cycling-RSE (Pearcey et al. 2015; Monks et al. 2017) but only after the tenth sprint whereas it could be detected after the second running sprints (Goodall et al. 2014a). In a recent study, (Willis et al. 2018) performed a cycling-RSE to exhaustion and reported no associated diminution in VA or RMS/M-wave, however, their measurements were performed 3 min after the end of the test. Taken together, these results suggest different central perturbation pattern depending on sprint modalities. The experimental design used by (Tomazin et al. 2017) probably played a role in the fact that they didn't detect any changes in VA during cycling-RSE (only five 6 s-sprint per block). This highlight the need for further research to confirm and provide more insight regarding the differences in fatigue etiology and the associated mechanisms in cycling- *vs.* running-sprints.

While most studies couldn't differentiate spinal from supraspinal origin of fatigue and reported unaltered MEP (Girard et al. 2013). (Goodall et al. 2014a) hypothesized different mechanisms at the spinal and supraspinal level. Their interpretation comes from the fact that they have changes in VA, but not in MEP or M-wave, they concluded that a compensatory mechanism must occur at the spinal level to mask the supraspinal changes. However, they didn't have any "direct" measure of the spinal component. Some authors used additional techniques such as cervicomedullary motor evoked potentials (CMEP; Pearcey et al. 2016) or H-reflex (Perrey et al. 2010; Pearcey et al. 2017) to get more insight on what happened in the CNS during RSE. The first to do so were Perrey et al. (2010) by using the H-reflex (i.e. a method allowing to detect changes in the excitability of the motoneuron pool) after twelve 40-m running sprints interspaced by 30 s of recovery. Because of methodological limitation, H-reflex is difficult to assess, and especially on certain muscle and therefore, in this study, the muscle used was the soleus. They reported significant decrease in MVC (-11%), VA (-2.7%), Pt (-13%) and the H-reflex remained constant. Those results are to take with care as the chosen muscle is known to have a high proportion of type I muscle fibers, highly resistant to fatigue development, which could explain the relatively low impact of exercise on muscle function compared to other studies. Furthermore, H-reflex is a technique presenting a high variability and takes time to complete (i.e. the total time required for the H-reflex evaluation was ~1 min and the delay between the end of exercise and the evaluation procedure isn't mentioned.) Despite the limitations, those results suggest that the impact of RSE on central fatigue, while being small, would mainly occur at the supraspinal level (i.e. decrease in VA while similar excitability of the motoneuron pool).

The other study was performed by Pearcey et al. (2016), they incorporated measurement of MEP and CMEP during an arm cycling RSE. As for H-reflex, CMEP has some further methodological limitation compared to TMS and is relatively hard to obtain for lower-limb muscles (Taylor 2006) which probably explain why authors used arm-cycling sprints.

However, when both TMS and CMEP are used together, it is possible to estimate the respective part of the spinal and supraspinal induced changes in central fatigue. Indeed, CMEP has a large monosynaptic component reflecting motoneuron excitability when normalized by the M-wave. On the other hand, the supraspinal component can be isolated by normalizing the MEP by CMEP. For a review of the CMEP technique, one can refer to (Taylor 2006). In their study, Pearcey et al. (2016) had participants performed two intermittent-RSE consisted of ten 10 s-sprints interspaced with 150 s of recovery. The first one was used to measure force, VA and Pt responses (session A) after sprints 1, 5 and 10 whereas the second (session B) was only for corticospinal excitability assessment (i.e. TMS and CMEP during a contraction at 5% MVC force). In both sessions, the authors reported that the delay between completion of the sprint and the beginning of the NMF evaluation was 5 s. They reported a decrease in power output for both sessions (session A: 13.1% and session B: 18.7%). In session A, MVC, Pt, and VA decreased respectively by 8.7%, 27.6% and 5.6% whereas M-wave didn't change after the RSE (results are summarized in figure 24). In session B, MEP/M-wave amplitude decreased from pre- to post sprint 1 (-28.7%) and post-sprint 5 (-42.1%) but increased from post-sprint 5 to post sprint 10 (+40.1%). Finally, the changes between pre- and post-sprint 10 weren't significant (-19.6%; P = 0.069). Interestingly, CMEP amplitude didn't change between pre- and post-sprint 1,5 and 10. But significantly increased from post-sprint 1 to post-sprint 10 (+25.5%) and post-sprint 5 to postsprint 10 (+48.5%). MEP/CMEP ratio significantly decreased from pre-sprint 1 to post-sprint 5 (-31.9%) and post-sprint 10 (-35.8%). Those results are summarized in figure 24 and provide an interesting point of view regarding the development and etiology of central fatigue associated with arm cycling RSE.



Figure 24. The effect of an arm-cycling repeated sprint ability test (ten 10 s-sprints with 150s of recovery) on the neuromuscular function of the elbow flexors muscle. Panel A shows the changes in maximal voluntary force (MVC), twitch force and voluntary activation. Panel B shows the biceps brachii changes in corticospinal excitability [as a ratio between motor evoked potential (MEP) and M-wave], spinal excitability (as a ratio between cervicomedullary motor evoked potentials (CMEP) and M-wave) and supraspinal excitability (as a ratio of MEP/CMEP). Values are presented as Mean ± SEM. Adapted from (Pearcey et al. 2016)

Authors, therefore, reported a different pattern of evolution between spinal and supraspinal changes. It appears that during the early stage of fatigue (i.e. the first 5 sprints), MEP, representing the overall corticospinal excitability, decreased whereas, from sprint 5 to sprint 10, MEP increased to come back relatively close to its resting value. When considering separately spinal and supraspinal changes, it looks that they follow a distinguished pattern

that could explain the peculiar results obtained with MEP. Indeed, spinal excitability tends to increase whereas supraspinal excitability (characterized by MEP/CMEP) clearly decreased towards the arm cycling RSE. Because no other study looked into the effect of arm cycling RSE on NMF, the next paragraph will try to provide an overview of the potential mechanisms that could have occurred by evoking results from other exercise modalities. It should, therefore, be taken with care as it is highly speculative.

First, the increased spinal excitability can have several potential origins (as discussed in section 2.2.3), such as increased excitatory afferents from the muscle spindles or a descending drive from serotonergic neurons leading to the release of serotonin at the dendrites/soma level of motoneurons and creating persistent inward currents known to induced an increase in motoneuronal excitability (Heckman et al. 2008). Previous studies have shown that the activity of the serotonergic neurons increased concomitantly to the motor output. It is then possible that due to the high motor output required during RSE, the increased activity of the serotonergic neurons leads to increased spinal excitability. However, this interpretation is only a hypothesize since it's not yet possible to evaluate directly the impact of RSE on such variables.

Supraspinal component clearly appears to be reduced during RSE and indicates a diminution of the central motor drive. This finding is in accordance with a study from (Sidhu et al. 2017) where authors reported that relatively high-intensity cycling-exercise (80% of peak power output) induced a diminution in the central motor drive (MEP/CMEP ratio) but not in spinal drive. Furthermore, when combined with a pharmacological condition blocking group III and IV muscle afferent (using FentanyI), this reduction of central drive disappeared, leading the authors to conclude that group III and IV muscle afferents were responsible for the diminution of central drive associated to fatiguing leg-cycling exercise. Even if no studies investigated directly the impact of RSE on group III/IV muscle afferents, there are quite high chances that they play a major role in the development of fatigue as their activity has been strongly correlated to muscle metabolites accumulation (Taylor et al. 2016b).

Taken together, these results suggest that despite not being the main origin of fatigue, central components are impacted during RSE and probably even more when considering running compare to cycling exercise. The distinct pattern followed by supraspinal (i.e. a decreased) *vs.* spinal (i.e. increased) drive might be responsible for the overall unchanged MEP amplitude observed in some studies. Furthermore, the fact that the only study performing RSE to exhaustion (Willis et al. 2018) reported no change in VA also brings uncertainty about the potential mechanisms occurring at exhaustion. Further studies are needed to confirm the

previous results and extend the understanding of the potential mechanisms acting on the central compartment.

Conclusion

Because of the huge disparity of exercise modalities used to investigate the impact of RSE on NMF (i.e. intermittent vs repeated sprint; lower- vs upper- limb; cycling vs. running), it is quite difficult to provide unbiased conclusion mainly due to the known task- and muscledependency of fatigue (Carroll et al. 2006a; Taylor and Gandevia 2007). However, despite all the limitation associated, the previous results regarding both peripheral and central component will be discussed and, potential mechanisms proposed regarding the development of neuromuscular fatigue associated with RSE. As this is highly speculative, the upcoming discussion is to be taken with care and needs further investigation to be confirmed. At the beginning of the precedent section (2.2.3.1), it was proposed that the decrease in power observed during RSE wasn't linear possibly due to differences in fatigue etiology. (Collins et al. 2018) proposed a model (figure 25.A and B) based on the literature postulating that the total neuromuscular fatigue will first increase because of the peripheral compartment and then would rely on both peripheral and central fatigue. While the idea is appealing, the fact that the authors proposed a breaking point with an increase in the rate of fatigue development from the middle of the RSE to the end is surprising and doesn't fit with the observed decrement in performance (i.e. higher rate in performance at the beginning). Rather, it could be hypothesized that the rate of fatigue development is higher during the first phase of the test due to a strong reliance on the anaerobic glycolysis. Through the test, the energy would be more and more furnished by the aerobic system, diminishing the rate of peripheral fatigue development. The central fatigue is even more delicate to interpret as it appears to have different kinetics depending on exercise modalities (i.e. cycling vs running) and that both of its component (i.e. spinal and supraspinal) tend to show different patterns during RSE. However, figure 25.C proposes a modified version of the model of (Collins et al. 2018) that might better fit the development of fatigue during RSE. Again, this proposal still needs to be supported by further experimental data and some limits can already be pointed out as the pattern will probably highly dependent on the "profile" of the participant performing the RSE (i.e. trained, untrained, endurance runner, sprinter...). Furthermore, the only study (Willis et al. 2018) regarding the neuromuscular function at exhaustion is surprising as it doesn't report any impairment in VA. Therefore, further studies are required in that direction.



Figure 25. The development of neuromuscular fatigue during a repeated-sprint exercise (RSE). Panel A shows the typical pattern of diminution in sprint performance (here, power output) when ten sprints are repeated with incomplete recovery (< 180s) and panel B is a model proposed by (Collins et al. 2018) to explain the associated origin of neuromuscular fatigue. Surprisingly, the rate of neuromuscular fatigue didn't match the rate of diminution in performance and the amount of central fatigue was paramount to the peripheral fatigue at the end of the RSE. Panel C shows another proposition to explain the same phenomenon, however, the rate of fatigue development would be higher at the beginning of the sprint and the total amount of fatigue would more rely on the peripheral compartment. The dashed line represents the usual number of sprints performed during RSE (~10) and questioned the validity of this model when performed to exhaustion. Interpretation of this model should be made with care as it is highly speculative. Adapted from (Collins et al. 2018).

The next section will try to provide an overview of the actual limitations regarding the evaluation of neuromuscular fatigue induced by RSE.

2.3.3 Methodological considerations

Different tools allow the investigation of the neuromuscular function and have been used to highlight the presence of both peripheral and central fatigue associated with RSE in a variety of modalities. As briefly mentioned along the past two sections, those techniques are associated with some limitations and it appears necessary to provide an overview of the situation regarding the potential problems accompanying the evaluation of neuromuscular fatigue in response to RSE.

This section will address the issues of task dependency, joint positioning and muscle state, repeated sprint modalities and time delay.

Task dependency

As stated earlier, when introducing the concept of fatigue, it is important to remember that fatigue is associated with the task responsible for its origin. And yet most of the current literature used isometric contraction to evaluate the etiology of fatigue induced by a repetition of dynamic contraction such as RSE. Furthermore, RSE is often associated with whole-body exercise (i.e. cycling, running) where participants use a combination of different major muscle groups (Dorel et al. 2012) to produce power. But in order to evaluate fatigue, researchers focus on the MVC developed by a single muscle group (often the knee-extensors) and further concentrate their interpretation from the EMG response of one mono-articular muscle (i.e. *vastus lateralis*). In addition, other parameters have been shown to alter neuromuscular fatigue such as contraction mode (e.g. dynamic, concentric, eccentric...), muscle mass, intensity and duration (Rossman et al. 2012, 2014). Central compartment of fatigue has also been proven to be task-dependent (Carroll et al. 2006a; Taylor and Gandevia 2007). For instance, corticospinal excitability of the biceps brachii is increased during rhythmic compare to tonic motor output (Forman et al. 2016). The findings presented earlier from Hureau et al. (2016) and Monks et al. (2017) are also a good example of the limits associated with the

current means to evaluate NMF. Indeed, the fact that they were not able to detect any changes in fatigue etiology despite an increased recovery time associated with increased power output is questionable. Maybe the overall fatigue that is produced by rhythmic dynamic contractions is not entirely transferable to the isometric mode of contraction for the NMF evaluation. Or maybe the absence of differences regarding fatigue comes from the fact that the total amount of work performed was higher in the condition with longer period of recovery as it was associated with higher power output (i.e. the longer recovery period led to higher power output that could have possibly led to similar amount of fatigue compare to a condition with shorter recovery time but lower power output). This brings the question if the work-to-rest ratio is enough to characterize RSE as it doesn't consider the total work performed. This paragraph provides certainly more questions than it gives answers.

Nevertheless, measuring fatigue using task-specific parameters may be more effective for understanding the development of neuromuscular fatigue in response to repeated sprint exercise.

Joint position and muscle state

This point has been addressed in a recent review by (Collins et al. 2018). The first paragraph will transpose their current opinion on the question whereas the second one will briefly expose some limits of their point of view.

So corticospinal excitability of the upper limb has been shown to be altered depending on the joint position when performing an isometric contraction (Mogk et al. 2014), probably mainly due to spinal changes (Nuzzo et al. 2016). In a series of experiments, Collins et al, (Collins et al. 2017; Collins et al. 2017; Collins and Button 2018) investigated the impact of shoulder position (0 *vs.* 90° of shoulder flexion) and muscle state (i.e. contracted at 10% MVC or relaxed) on spinal and supraspinal excitability (with the use of M-wave, MEP and CMEP) and reported that both joint and muscle state altered corticospinal excitability of a given muscle (figure 26 provide an overview of their findings). Authors concluded that because the joint position and muscle state affect corticospinal excitability, therefore, if evaluating NMF with MVC, it should be taken care of using a position like the one used during the fatiguing modality.



Figure 26. Corticospinal excitability of the biceps brachii assessed either at rest or during a contraction at 10% of maximal voluntary contraction (MVC) force with two positions. Black lines and hashed lines represent respectively 0° or 90° of shoulder flexion. Taken from (Collins et al. 2017)

First, by having a look at their result, it should be noted that mostly the second part of the EMG response seems to be impacted by a change in position and this brings back the point mentioned in the section 2.2.1.1 based on the work of Rodriguez-Falces and Place (2018). Indeed, they explained that the 2nd part of the M-wave reflect the termination of the action potential propagation against the tendon and therefore isn't an indicator of muscle membrane excitability (figure 4.A. Section 2.2.1.1). So, when changing the position or the state of a limb, the length of the muscle is likely to change as well, impacting the distance between the motor point and the fiber-tendon junction. This architectural change is likely to be the main reason for the observed change in the so-called "corticospinal excitability" in Collins et al studies. It can be postulated that at a 90° flexion, the biceps brachii is shortened and so is the distance between the motor point and the rotor point and the tendon-fiber junction leading each single-fiber action potentials to reach it in a more synchronous way.

Therefore, additional studies are required investigating only the first phase of the Mwave/CMEP/MEP to see whether the excitability is impaired by the limb position or not. The main point to assess however is to have the exact same position at each time point of the measurement.

Repeated sprint modalities

Very few studies compared directly the neuromuscular fatigue induced by different modalities of exercise. (Tomazin et al. 2017) reported that similar sessions of running and cycling sprints induced a similar level of peripheral fatigue whereas central fatigue was only detectable after the running modality. They suggested that the current findings in the literature regarding cycling-RSE could not be transposed to running-RSE due to differences in fatigue etiology. No studies reported directly the differences between lower- and upper-limbs and their repercussion on neuromuscular fatigue associated with RSE. However, guite a few reported physiological differences and distinct adaptations to exercises. Upper-body muscles usually involve lower muscle mass and have a larger proportion of type-II muscle fibers (Miller et al. 1993; Koppo et al. 2002), likely relying on different metabolic and cardiovascular responses compare to the legs. For instance, upper-body exercise is known to induce less vascular reactivity (Richardson et al. 2006), shorter blood transit-time but larger diffusion distance and smaller diffusion area (Calbet et al. 2005; Stöggl and Karlöf 2013). Calbet et al. (2009), demonstrated that muscle metabolism elicits systemic perturbation influencing oxygen transport, extraction, and brain function. Therefore, the limb specificities of exercise are likely to produce distinct systemic perturbation impacting neuromuscular fatigue differently. Using 90 submaximal isotonic contractions, it has been shown that knee extensors and elbow flexors have different kinetics regarding fatigue development (Senefeld et al. 2013). In another study, Neyroud et al. (2013b), reported similar force loss after a sustained 50% MVC, the diminution in VA was also similar but peripheral fatigue was higher for the elbow flexors compare to the knee extensors. And Vernillo et al. (2018) showed that the relative strength loss and the associated VA, during a 2 min sustained MVC was higher in the knee extensors compare to elbow flexors but they showed the opposite for peripheral fatigue (i.e. greater diminution of Pt in the elbow flexors compare to the knee extensors). Gruet et al. (2013) also highlighted that upper-limbs are more sensitive to spinal adaptations compare to lower-limbs. Once again, taken together, these results suggest that fatigue etiology is highly dependent on the exercise modality used. Recently, Halperin et al. (2018) compared the responses to upper- and lower-limb RSE in 4 different conditions consisting in ten 10 s-sprints with either 30 or 180 s of recovery but they didn't have any measurement of fatigue development other than the rate of perceived exhaustion (RPE), MVC (post-sprint 5 and 10), and power decrement. Interestingly, considering raw data (i.e. not normalized) authors didn't report any differences in heart rate and RPE between both sprints modalities despite the significant less amount of work performed in the arm conditions. Furthermore, when considering the normalized data (i.e. with the first sprint as reference) no differences were found except for a greater reduction in knee extensors MVC compare to elbow flexors. This suggest that RSE probably leads to differences in fatigue etiology depending on the considered limb as previously suggested with others exercise modalities (Senefeld et al. 2013; Vernillo et al. 2018). However, it should be noted that in the Halperin et al. (2018) study, the applied resistance was different between limbs (i.e. 5% vs. 10% body weight respectively for the arms and legs). Obviously, muscle capabilities are different across limbs and so should be the applied resistance, but this highlight the possible impact that can have the resistance settings on the outcome of RSE. Despite several evidences suggesting that the resistance settings should account for interindividual differences and ergometer specificities (Duche et al. 2002; Jaafar et al. 2015), the majority of studies still conduct cycling sprints using a standard resistance (often 7.5% of body weight), independent of the population, limb or even ergometer tested (Glaister et al. 2005; Hureau et al. 2016). Further studies should be performed to propose an objective way of adapting the resistance during RSE. Many other factors can influence neuromuscular fatigue development associated with RSE

and should be considered. For instance, training status of the participants has been shown to induce changes in the output of the nervous system during muscle contractions (Carroll et al. 2001, 2011; Philpott et al. 2015). Thus, the results obtained during a research protocol highly depend on the recruitment of a specific population (often young and physically active participants...).

Time delay

The classical setup to measure neuromuscular fatigue involve the delivery of a superimposed stimulus during a voluntary contraction thus, requiring the use of a specific ergometer and the necessity to move the participant to it after the completion of the fatiguing task. This has some clear limits as it induces some delay between the end of the task and the measurement of fatigue but also because it prevents researchers to obtain a real kinetics of fatigue etiology

(i.e. often, the study design allows only to have a measure of fatigue pre- and post-exercise, without the possibility to have multiple time points of measurements). Tomazin et al. (2017) reported that usually, this delay is comprised between 45 s and 2.5 min and can be essentially considered as recovery time. This is problematic because neuromuscular parameters of fatigue recover quickly (Bishop and Claudius 2005; Froyd et al. 2013) but even more because depending on its etiology neuromuscular fatigue recover at different rates. Herbert and Gandevia (1999), showed that corticospinal excitability is altered for less than 5 s after maximal motor output compared to later time points. Thus, time delay as short as 5 s may lead to misinterpretation regarding the relative amount of fatigue originating from central vs peripheral compartments. Specific setups have been proposed by different teams to limit this delay and one promising solution appears to combine both sprint and neuromuscular ergometer to avoid the "switch-time" associated to go from one ergometer to another (Doyle-Baker et al. 2017). This method will be presented in the second chapter as a similar model has been developed during the completion of this thesis.

This section presented a brief overview of the concept of neuromuscular fatigue, its origin (i.e. central and/or peripheral) and the potential mechanisms associated with its etiology. It focuses thereafter on the impact of repeated sprint exercise on neuromuscular function and tried to provide information about the current scientific literature and the associated knowledge on the link between repeated sprint exercise and fatigue.

To sum up, repeated sprint exercise induces a combination of both central and peripheral fatigue, however depending on a variety of factors (i.e. upper- or lower- body exercise, work-to-rest ratio, cycling *vs* running...) fatigue etiology is not constant. Furthermore, some methodological barriers prevent the possibility of investigating fatigue during task completion, often limiting the data collection to pre- and post-exercise.

Moreover, the above-mentioned literature only looked at exercise performed under ecological conditions and fatigue is known to occur more rapidly under deleterious environmental factor, such as, at high altitude (Fan and Kayser 2016), or when blood flow is restricted (Scott et al. 2015).

Thus, investigating the development of neuromuscular fatigue when repeated-sprint exercise is combined with extreme environmental conditions can provide a new experimental model to try to understand the associated physiological mechanisms. In this regard, the next section will bring rapidly some context about the use of hypoxia and blood flow restriction as investigating tools.

3 Environmental factors: The Impact of Systemic hypoxia

Hypoxia Can be defined as any state in which oxygen in the lung, blood, and/or tissues is abnormally low compared to sea level. During hypoxic exposure, all the different stages of the oxygen cascade are going to be impacted, from the ambient air to the mitochondria where oxygen is finally used (West et al. 2007). This section will start describing the different processes involved in the oxygen cascade and the acute effect of hypoxia at rest before looking more into details how hypoxia can impact repeated sprint exercise.

3.1 Acute effects of hypoxia at rest

Here, the acute effects of hypoxia on ventilation, pulmonary gas exchange, cardiovascular system, hemoglobin dissociation curve, capillary and mitochondria exchange, and central nervous system will be considered.

3.1.1 From the air to the mitochondria

All cells in the human body depend on oxygen delivery to prosper and, this oxygen comes from the inspired ambient air mainly through the effect of gradient pressure. Noteworthy, never the composition of the air is going to change with altitude, from sea level to the top of Everest ambient air is gas mixture comprised (volume wised) of 20.95% of dioxygen (O₂), 78.08% of nitrogen (N) and less than 1% of other gases. However, at sea level, the barometric pressure corresponds approximately to 760 mmHg and as altitude increases, barometric pressure decreases. This pressure diminution will impact the partial pressure of the gases composing the ambient air, including O₂. Therefore, the partial pressure of a gas composing a mixture can be obtained by multiplying its volume (in % of the total volume of the mixture) by the total pressure of the mixture (in mmHg). For instance, at sea level, the partial pressure of O₂ (PO₂) will be 159mmHg (0.21 × 760 = 159). But because the inspired air will be saturated with water vapor passing the trachea and considering that the water vapor partial pressure at 37°C is 47mmHg, the resulting O₂ pressure of inspired dry air will be 713 mmHg (760-47). Therefore, at sea level, the partial pressure of O2 when inspired (PiO₂) is 150mmHg ([760-47] × 0.21 = 150). Once O₂ reaches the alveoli, the partial pressure (P_AO₂) also depends on the arterial PCO₂ because at this level there is a balance between CO₂ removal from the blood and the alveolar ventilation (i.e. CO₂ extraction from the capillaries and O₂ arrival). P_AO₂ can be calculated as $P_AO_2 = PiO_2 - 1.25 \times PCO_2$ and with a normal PCO2 of 40mmHg, PCO₂ is then reduced to 100 mmHg. Then, by diffusion, the O₂ will cross the alveolar-capillary membrane resulting in a drop of ~1 mmHg in a normal lung.

From there, O₂ will be transported in two different ways, either directly dissolved in the plasma or combined with hemoglobin (Hb) but because O₂ doesn't have much affinity for plasma, the majority of it will be transferred in association with Hb and one Hb molecule can transport up to four O₂ molecules bound to its 4 iron atoms. Since a gram of Hb can combine with 1.34mL O₂, and that a dL of blood contains about 15g of it, Hb transports about 20 mL O₂ per dL of blood. This is the basics of the partial saturation in O₂ (SpO₂) measurement, if the Hb carry as much oxygen as it can, it means that Hb is fully saturated in O₂ and this is what happens at sea level for a non-pathological person. When the hemoglobin is loaded with oxygen, it is referred to as oxyhemoglobin.

Once the blood reaches the tissue, O_2 will be released through the capillary membrane and at rest, when the blood leaves the peripheral tissues, it carries about 15ml O_2 per dL of blood (venous partial pressure in O_2 is about 40mmHg and oxygen saturation of ~75%) which means that tissues extracted only 5mL of O_2 (figure 27.A). This is enough to meet the energy requirement at rest.



Figure 27. schematic representation of the Oxygen extraction process. Panel A: extraction at rest and panel B: during an aerobic exercise. aVO₂, arteriovenous difference. Taken from McArdle et al, (2014).

However, when energy expenditure increases (during exercise for example) a cascade of adjustments will take place in order to assure appropriate oxygen delivery to the tissue, among them, a concomitant increase of pulmonary ventilation and cardiac output, blood flow redistribution, and increased O₂ extraction (figure 27.B).

An important factor during hypoxic exposure is the consideration of the oxyhemoglobin dissociation curve (figure 28) which show the relation between oxygen saturation of the Hb and the PO₂ and because this relation is sigmoidal, increasing the altitude linearly will not have linear repercussion. For instance, at sea level, the P_AO_2 is about 100 mmHg and the corresponding saturation of the hemoglobin is ~98%, and a 2000m P_AO_2 drops to 74 mmHg which correspond to a saturation of 90% (West et al. 2007). Because of the shape of the curve, modest altitudes have a low impact on saturation at rest.



Figure 28. oxyhemoglobin dissociation curve. The dashed line represents a potential shift to the left/right. PO₂, partial pressure of O₂.

However, when considering severe altitude leading P_AO₂ to be on the steep part of the oxyhemoglobin dissociation curve, few meters of elevation can induce drastic changes in the oxyhemoglobin saturation. Hopefully, some adjustments take place to limit the decrease in oxyhemoglobin saturation. Those adaptations to acute or chronic exposure occur to a certain point and the acute one will be discussed from there.

Ventilatory responses

The first adaptation to acute hypoxic exposure is an increase in ventilation called Hypoxic ventilation response (HVR), it occurs almost instantaneously to reduce the harmful effects of low PO₂ by reducing PCO₂ levels and therefore increasing P_AO₂ (i.e. $P_AO_2 = PiO_2 - 1.25 \times PCO_2$). Two types of sensory receptors are involved in the respiratory process. The first ones are peripheral and located in the carotid and aorta, they detect changes in PO₂. The second types named central are in the medulla and mostly respond to changes in PCO₂ and pH. CO₂ content is also part of the mechanisms controlling the ventilatory responses and because the

HVR act on both the ventilation and the PCO₂, it is difficult to know the respective part from one another. Indeed, HVR will induce a drop in PCO₂ and therefore, reduced CO₂ drive to breathing limiting the ventilatory response and to see the complete HVR, PCO₂ should be kept constant. HVR also depends on the altitude and is clearer when P_1O_2 drops below 100 mmHg (~3000m; Rahn and Otis 1949), consequently, passed this "threshold" any further reduction in P_1O_2 will induce a more pronounced HVR.

Pulmonary gas exchange

The O_2 transfer between the alveoli and the capillaries occurs by diffusion through the pulmonary membrane and may be limited at high altitudes. The diffusing capacity depends on the diffusion process itself (i.e. the permeability of the membrane) but also from the necessary time for the O_2 to bind with Hb (figure 29).



Figure 29. Diffusing capacity of the lung (DL) depends on the diffusion process itself (D_M) and the time required for the O₂ to combine with hemoglobin (θ V_c). Adapted from (West et al. 2007).

One way to illustrate the diffusion limitation is to compare the rate of O₂ uptake along the pulmonary capillary between sea level and on the summit of Mount Everest. Figure 30 shows the calculated time course evolution of PO2 at rest. At sea level (figure 30.A), venous PO₂ is 40 mmHg and P_AO_2 is ~100 mmHg, in this condition, it takes about 0.2 s for capillary PO₂ to raise

almost to the value of alveolar PO₂ and there is virtually no difference between alveolar and endcapillary PO₂. However, when considering a climber on the summit of Mount Everest (figure 30. B), the venous blood arrives in the lungs with a PO₂ of ~21 mmHg and the P_AO₂ is ~35 mmHg. Considering that the time during which the blood will be in contact with the pulmonary capillaries is ~0.75 s, the end capillary PO₂ will only be ~28 mmHg. This difference of 7 mmHg between alveolar gas and capillary blood indicates a marked diffusion limitation at high altitude.



Figure 30. Time course of oxygen pressure (PO₂) in a resting human pulmonary capillary. Panel A: at sea level and panel B: at the altitude of Mt Everest. Adapted from (West et al. 2007)

Cardiovascular system

The cardiovascular system also adapts during acute exposure to hypoxia to counterbalance the lack of oxygen to the tissue. The principal response is an increase in cardiac output mainly resulting from an elevated heart rate (HR) and the higher is the altitude, the higher is the response. Authors reported a concomitant 40-50% increase in HR and cardiac output at rest for simulated altitude comprised between 4000-4600m (Vogel and Harris 1967; Kontos et al. 1967), thus it seems that no changes are observed in stroke volume. Acute hypoxic exposure also caused vasoconstriction at the pulmonary level, increasing vascular resistance and resulting in pulmonary hypertension. This seems to be caused by contraction of smooth muscle in small pulmonary.

Hemoglobin and oxygen affinity

Depending on four different factors, a shift may occur in the oxyhemoglobin curve presented earlier (figure 31), this is known as the Bohr effect and it will influence the hemoglobin affinity for oxygen. Indeed, an increase in PCO₂, hydrogen ion concentration ([H⁺]), temperature and the concentration of 2,3-BPG in the red cells will shift the curve to the right. Those factors act through distinct mechanisms, CO₂ and [H⁺] will induce an alteration of the molecular structure of the hemoglobin making its binding site less accessible and therefore decreasing its O₂binding affinity (i.e. shift the curve to the right). Because the combination of O₂ and hemoglobin is exothermic, the dissociation of the oxyhemoglobin will be facilitated through an increase of the temperature. Lastly, 2,3-BPG is a glycolytic intermediate of 1,3-BPG which is generated by the glycolytic pathway. 2,3-BPG has a stronger affinity with deoxyhemoglobin than oxyhemoglobin because of its special structure and therefore will shift the oxyhemoglobin curve to the right. Because they don't have mitochondria, red blood cells get their energy through the anaerobic glycolysis and produce 1,3-BPG that can be catalyzed to 2,3-BPG. The balance between generating ATP to support cell metabolism and the need to keep appropriate oxygenation/de-oxygenation status of hemoglobin is thin and is also pH dependent. Thus, an accumulation of [H⁺] will increase 2,3-BPG.

An easy way to characterize the oxygen affinity of hemoglobin is to look at the necessary pressure to obtain a hemoglobin saturation of 50%, this parameter is named P_{50} (see figure 31). With a right shift of the curve, P_{50} increases and therefore to have a 50% saturation, a higher PO2 in required. The concept of the oxyhemoglobin curve is tricky because a right shift (i.e. a decreased oxygen affinity) will facilitate the extraction of oxygen by the tissue and is, therefore, a positive adaptation during exercise in normoxia because the P_AO_2 is ~100 mmHg whereas the PO₂ at the tissue level is ~40 mmHg. Thus, the oxygen loading isn't going to be impacted too much and the oxygen extraction will be improved. However, during severe hypoxic exposure because of the already low P_AO_2 , a left shift of the curve (i.e. increased oxygen affinity) will be more beneficial (Turek et al. 1973; Bencowitz et al. 1982) improving the oxygen loading in the lung. To illustrate, let's go back to the alpinist climbing Mt Everest, although [2,3-DPG] increases, the HVR will induce a low PCO_2 (~8 mmHg) and respiratory alkalosis (pH: ~7.7) all of which result in a P_{50} of about 19 mmHg allowing him to survive.



Figure 31. Oxyhemoglobin dissociation curve under normal condition (green), hypoxic exposure (red) and exercise (blue). The associated dashed lines represent the pressure for which the oxygen saturation is 50% (P₅₀). Temp, Temperature, PO₂, Oxygen pressure.

From capillaries to the mitochondria

The mitochondria represent the final step of the oxygen cascade as it is here that the O_2 will be finally transferred to energy. O_2 is then going to move from the capillaries to the tissue whereas CO_2 will move from the tissue to the blood. Because CO_2 as a strong solubility and diffuses 20 times faster than O_2 , it moves easily into the bloodstream and its removal isn't a problem. It is a bit more complicated for O_2 , especially to the muscle, because the distance between capillaries is much greater compared to the lung and so is the diffusion distance. Therefore, the extraction process is thought to be facilitated by the presence of myoglobin (Mb). Mb is an iron- oxygen-binding protein found in muscle tissue, very alike to Hb except that it has only one binding site to link with O_2 , a much higher affinity with it and its dissociation curve is hyperbolic and not affected by [H⁺], CO_2 , [2,3-DPG] or temperature (figure 32). This difference arises from different function, whereas Hb transport O_2 , Mb stores it in the muscle and therefore its P_{50} is very low (about 5 mmHg). However, it is not a problem due to the extremely low PO₂ of the mitochondria (1 mmHg) that ensure adequate pressure gradient for diffusion.



Figure 32. Oxygen dissociation curve for normal blood (A) and myoglobin (B). Taken from West et al. (2007).

3.1.2 Acute hypoxia and neuromuscular function

Neurons need energy to maintain the ion gradients across the membrane and they obtain it through the aerobic metabolism, therefore the diminished O₂ level associated with hypoxia can become a limit to the brain function. To answer this, hypoxia triggers a general decreased neuron metabolic demand (Neubauer and Sunderram 2004) but certain areas on the other hand, increase their activity. It is the case of the caudal hypothalamus and the rostral ventrolateral medulla, which have been shown to increase sympathetic and respiratory activity, heart rate and blood pressure (Dillon and Waldrop 1992, 1993). Different methods can be used to investigate how cerebral function is impacted by hypoxia and the upcoming section will try to give an overview of some of them.

One question of interest is to know how the cerebral blood flow (CBF) react to acute hypoxic exposure and this can be assessed using the transcranial Doppler methods to measure blood velocity in proximal intracranial or neck arteries (Verges et al. 2012). Authors found little to no effect at all on acute exposure at rest on the net CBF and this can be explained by the two opposite effect induced by hypoxia. Indeed, hypoxia has been shown to be a vasodilator and therefore one could expect an increased CBF, but as previously explained, hypoxia will also induce hyperventilation associated to a diminution of PCO₂ (hypocapnia) which has a vasoconstrictor effect and result in a diminution of CBF. In fine, acute exposure to hypoxic environments has little to no impact on CBF.

Another noninvasive tool useful to get insight of brain oxygenation is the near-infrared spectroscopy (NIRS), since skin, bones, and tissue are relatively transparent to near infrared spectrum (700 – 900 nm) whereas oxy- and deoxyhemoglobin are strong absorbers, it is possible to determine the relative changes in oxy- and deoxyhemoglobin content by sending near-infrared light through a considered tissue (e.g. muscle). Using this technique, researchers found little to no impact of acute exposure to hypoxia on muscle oxygenation at rest whereas cerebral oxygenation was reduced at O_2 saturation comprised between 77-91% (Peltonen et al. 2007; Ainslie et al. 2007; Rupp and Perrey 2009)

Because of this impaired cerebral oxygenation and the general decrease in neuron metabolic demand when neurons lack oxygen shown by Neubauer and Sunderram (2004), the neuromuscular processes are likely to be impacted. However, no effects have been found regarding MVC, peak twitch or voluntary activation (Szubski et al. 2006, 2007; Perrey and Rupp 2009) suggesting that the maximal force-generating capacity of the muscle is well adapted to hypoxia. Rupp et al. (2012), investigated more precisely the central compartment using TMS and found no changes in MEPs or SPs after 1 hour of exposure to hypoxic air (FiO2 = 0.12), but after 3 hours, MEPs and SPs were increased. This suggests hyperexcitability of both the excitatory and inhibitory corticospinal pathways, however, those adaptations appear to be time dependent. The underlying mechanisms are unclear and require further investigation but hypothesizes can be made regarding a potential impact of HVR and acid-base balance over the first hours and days in hypoxia (Dempsey et al. 1975; Forster et al. 1975), indeed, neuron excitability is sensible to other parameters than hypoxia (e.g. PCO₂). Animal studies looking at brain oxygenation responses to hypoxemia also emphasize the specificity of the considered tissue (Almendros et al. 2010) and consequently,

a specific pattern of cerebral tissue deoxygenation could contribute to a time-dependent response.

Electroencephalography (EEG) is a technique measuring directly the electrical activity resulting from the sum of the neuron pool at the scalp level. It has been used to investigate brain activity (Gevins et al. 1995) during various conditions, including hypoxia (Kraaier et al. 1988; Ozaki et al. 1995) and it seems that EEG activity decreases with hypoxic exposure. Furthermore, it seems to be threshold around an O_2 saturation of 75% beyond which EEG reduction is exacerbated (Kraaier et al. 1988; Papadelis et al. 2007; Rozhkov et al. 2009). To illustrate, (Rozhkov et al. 2009) used EEG to measure the balance of brain regulatory structures and reorganization during exposure to severe hypoxia at rest (FiO2 = 0.08) compared to normoxia. They observed a reorganization of brain activity from the cortico-thalamic level to the limbic-diencephalic level suggesting a reorientation toward important autonomic function. Thus, hypoxia seems to induce a reorganization of brain activity toward survival mechanisms to face oxygen diminution (Goodall et al. 2014b).

In conclusion, it appears that acute exposure to hypoxia at rest induces a decrease of the overall brain activity and a reorganization towards the limbic system to activate autonomic mechanisms responsible for protective adaptation to hypoxic environments. Additionally, corticospinal excitability doesn't seem to be impacted, at least when exposures are shorter than 3 hours. The further section will discuss the potential impact of hypoxia when combined with supra-maximal exercise.

3.2 Sprint exercise and hypoxia

Before presenting the impact of hypoxia on sprint performance, it is necessary to differentiate natural (i.e. terrestrial) from simulated hypoxia. As explained at the beginning of this section, altitude impacts FiO₂ due to the change in barometric pressure. Recently, the development of specific devices allows to easily affect the FiO₂ without having the need to change the pressure. Several mechanisms can be used to either dilute O2 by adding more azote to a

mixture or to extract oxygen via a pump. Therefore, this section will refer to natural hypoxia as hypobaric hypoxia (HH) and simulated hypoxia as normobaric hypoxia (NH).

This section will start by providing some information's regarding the impact of hypoxia on sprint performance, first on a single sprint and then when sprints are to be repeated. Next the associated response (i.e. physiological, perceptual, neuromuscular, metabolic and biomechanical) will be presented.

3.2.1 Single sprint performance

Normobaric hypoxia

By looking at the first sprint of various study investigating the impact of hypoxia on repeated sprint performance, it can be observed that the performance is not affected either when considering running exercise (Bowtell et al. 2014; Brocherie et al. 2016) or cycling (Balsom et al. 1994; Billaut and Buchheit 2013) for simulated altitude up to 3600m. Globally, the performance of all-out exercise (up to 45 s) are unaffected by the reduction of aerobic power associated with hypoxia even when considering altitude as high as 5000 m (Mclellan et al. 1990; Calbet et al. 2003). For instance, Ogura et al. (2006) showed that power output produced during a 40 s all-out test similar between sea-level, 1900 and 3700 m (FiO₂ respectively 16.4 and 12.7 %).

These results suggest that despite the diminution in the aerobic energy production due to hypoxia (Calbet et al. 2003; Ogawa et al. 2005) performance during short-lasting effort up to 60 s is not impacted (Weyand et al. 1999). This can be explained by the low proportion of energy provided by the aerobic pathways during such effort but also because the rate of anaerobic energy release [estimated from muscle lactate concentration or O2 deficit; (Mclellan et al. 1990; Weyand et al. 1999; Calbet et al. 2003)] would compensate for the reduced ATP production from the aerobic pathway (Morales-alamo et al. 2012).

Hypobaric hypoxia

It has been quantified that aerobic power decrease for ~1% every 100m above 1500 m (Wehrlin and Halle 2006) mainly due to the decrease in partial pressure of 0_2 because of diminution in barometric pressure associated with HH. As presented earlier, efforts of short duration (i.e. up to 60 s) are relatively unaffected by this reduced aerobic power. However,

when athletes are tested in laboratory condition (i.e. on a stationary bike and/or treadmill) the impact of the lower air volumetric mass associated to HH isn't considered and therefore doesn't provide a full picture of the impact of terrestrial altitude onto performance.

A good example is, of course, the 1968 Olympic games held in Mexico City at an altitude of 2340 m (barometric pressure 580 mmHg) were a world record of many track events were broken for distances up to 800m (100–400 m, 4 x 100-m and 4 x 400- m relays). In fact, the associated diminution of barometric pressure with terrestrial altitude reduces air density [~1% for every 100 m; (Levine and Mehta 2008)] which reduces the aerodynamic resistance and thus decreases energy cost of locomotion task at high-speed (Peronnet et al. 1991; Hollings et al. 2012; Noordhof et al. 2016). Peronnet et al. (1991) showed that the effect of altitude on 400 m running performance is positive (and progressive) up to 2500m. Because the impact of aerodynamic forces is proportional to the square root of the speed, the higher speed associated with shorter sprints (i.e. 100 m) makes altitude beneficial for even higher altitude, up to 4000m.

To conclude, NH or HH doesn't impair single sprint performance physiologically and, furthermore, HH improve sprint performance during a locomotive task due to the lower air resistance associated.

3.2.2 Repeated-sprint performance

To characterize the fatigue development and its kinetics during repeated-sprint exercise (RSE) researchers often use three indices presented in section 2.1.2. The best sprint performance, the mean sprint performance and the fatigue score [either calculated as FI or Sdec, refer to equation 1 and 2; (Girard et al. 2011a)]. Balsom et al. (1994) had participants performed ten 6 s- "sprint" (i.e. participants were asked to maintain 140 revolutions per minute on a stationary bike) in either normoxia or HH (526 mmHg in a low-pressure chamber, ~3000 m elevation). They reported that the decline in performance through the test was higher for the HH condition and was associated with lower oxygen consumption and higher blood lactate concentration. Their findings have been confirmed in more recent studies using NH. Either in cycling modalities, where the simulated altitude of ~2000–3000 m showed an earlier and larger decrement in peak or mean power output compared to normoxia (Smith and Billaut

2010; Billaut and Buchheit 2013; Billaut et al. 2013). Or when running sprints are performed on a treadmill; for instance, Girard et al. (2015b), showed a larger Sdec (8 vs. 3%) and shorter cumulated distance covered (111 vs. 117 m) during RSE consisting of 5 x 5-s sprints interspaced with 25 s recovery at altitude of ~3600 m (FiO₂ = 13.3 %) compared with normoxia.

(Goods et al. 2014), investigated the effect of several NH level of ~2000, ~3000 and ~4000 m (respectively $FiO_2 = 16.4$, 14.5 and 12.7%) on running-RSE consisting of 3 sets of 9 × 4 s-sprint interspaced with 16 s recovery for the first 3 repetitions, 26 s for the next 3 and 36 s for the last 3 repetitions. They reported that increased altitude was associated with a significant diminution of mean power output through the test (especially during set 2 and 3) whereas peak power output was relatively well preserved (figure 33).



Figure 33. Power output during running repeated sprint exercise performed either at sea level, 2000 m, 3000 m, or 4000 m of simulated altitude. Panel A shows the effect of altitude on Mean power output (values are to be multiplied by ten), whereas panel B shows the effect on peak power output. Data are presented as mean \pm SD, ^a Significantly different from sea level (P < 0.05). ^b Significantly different from 2000 m (P < 0.05). ^c Significantly different from 3000 m (P < 0.05). Adapted from Goods et al. (2014).

Contrasting results have been observed by Bowtell et al. (2014) where they compared RSA performance (RSE: 10×6 -s treadmill sprints – 30-s rest) at different level of hypoxia (FiO₂: 12%, 13%, 14%, 15%) and reported impaired RSA only during the highest condition (i.e. FiO₂ = 12%, ~4100m).
In addition to the level of hypoxia, and in accordance with the now well-known task dependency paradigm, other parameters are susceptible to influence RSA performance at altitude. Among them, the work-to-rest ratio, the exercise modalities (i.e. running vs. cycling), and the training status. For instance, during RSE consisting of 4 set of 4 × 4 s non-motorized treadmill sprints with 26 s of recovery between sprint and 146 s between sets performed in NH corresponding to ~3200 m (FiO₂ = 14.0%), amateur were unable to achieve their peak speed observed in normoxia during sets 3 and 4 (Morrison et al. 2015a). On the other hand, RSA performance wasn't impaired when professional Australian football players performed an RSE (10 × 4 s non-motorized treadmill sprints with 26 s of recovery) at ~3200 m (FiO₂ = 14.0%) compared to normoxia (Morrison et al. 2015b).

Taken together, these results suggest that unlike single sprint, repeated sprint performance is decreased under both HH and NH condition (i.e. lower averaged mean/peak power output, often associated with a larger decrement score or fatigue index).

3.2.3 Responses to sprint in hypoxia

Hypoxia inevitably reduce the oxygen availability to the muscle, limiting the possible energy supply from the oxidative metabolism as shown in literature by lower oxygen consumption during RSE when performed in hypoxic environment therefore placing more demand on anaerobic sources as shown by increased level of blood lactate (Balsom et al. 1994) to provide the required rate of ATP provision (Ogawa et al. 2007). Hypoxia is also associated with lower cerebral oxygenation (Rupp and Perrey 2009). Altogether this will lead to an accumulation of metabolites within the muscle (i.e. H⁺, Pi) and potential failure to fully activate the contracting muscle. Many physiological adjustments (figure 34) are likely to occur as it is often reported that RSE in hypoxia elevates heart rate, minute ventilation, oxygen debt, muscle deoxygenation level and EMG signal (Bowtell et al. 2014). This can affect perceptual, neuromuscular, metabolic and mechanical responses.

Perceptual response

(Smith and Billaut 2010) had 15 national-level soccer player performed 20×5 s cycling sprint with 25 s of recovery. They observed a linear relationship between SpO₂ and RPE (r = 0.62,

p<0.05). This suggests that arterial hypoxemia could play a role in performance regulation via modulating the sense of effort. Indeed RSE in hypoxia is often associated with slightly higher RPE despite a reduced total work (Goods et al. 2014; Brocherie et al. 2016b). RPE has also been associated to brain cortical oxyhemoglobin during intermittent all-out cycling-exercise and authors concluded that the sense of effort could be integrated at least in part through the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (Monroe et al. 2016). How exhaustion is perceived during exercise and its link with performance is still unclear in the literature. Further researches are needed to understand if and how it is modulated during exercise in hypoxia.



Figure 34. Main acute responses to multiple-sprint exercise in hypoxia. Taken from Olivier Girard, Brocherie, and Millet (2017)

Metabolic responses

The usage of the near-infrared spectroscopy (NIRS) allows researchers to have a real-time measurement of tissue oxygenation and can, therefore, be used during RSE to see how hypoxia influences muscle and cerebral oxygenation. It appears that the completion of 10 x 10-s cycling sprint with 30 s recovery at an equivalent of 3600 m (FiO₂ = 13.3%) induced similar changes in muscle oxygenation pattern compared to normoxia whereas cerebral oxygenation was more affected through the RSE (Smith and Billaut 2010). Those results were confirmed by Billaut et al. (2013). However Willis et al. (2017) showed that during RSE performed to exhaustion (10-s sprint, 20-s recovery), hypoxia (~3800 m) induced a significant decrease of the oxygenation delta value during the RSE (calculated as maximal value during the sprint minus the minimum value during the same sprint; which is supposed to represent the muscle capacity to extract oxygen). This was associated with a progressive decrease of the raw muscle tissue saturation indicating a limitation of the oxygen transport system. This highlights possible distinct mechanisms when exercise is performed to exhaustion. Billaut and Buchheit (2013) also investigated the impact of hypoxia on the re-oxygenation capacity of the muscle during the recovery period. They showed that under hypoxic condition (FiO₂ = 13%), re-oxygenation was impaired and strongly related to the performance decrement (r =0.78, P = 0.002). Because the re-oxygenation rate is often associated to Pcr resynthesize after a single bout of exercise (Mccully et al. 1994), it can be postulated that suboptimal reoxygenation of the active muscle could impair Pcr resynthesize and therefore limit RSE performance. Further study should confirm the result of Billaut and Buchheit (2013).

Neuromuscular responses

It is relatively well established that the impairment in performance during RSE results of changes both within the muscle (peripheral factors) and the alteration in the neural drive to the considered muscle (central factors). One can refer to section <u>2.3</u> for further details. This section will provide experimental data regarding the impact of hypoxia on fatigue etiology induced by RSE.

Studies usually report a greater attenuation of the EMG activity associated with the exacerbated decline in power output observed during RSE combined with hypoxia (Smith and Billaut 2012; Bowtell et al. 2014). This suggests that central adaptations occur due to the lack of oxygen and could explain the neuromuscular perturbations. However, Girard et al.

(2015c) had EMG activity recorded from 6 muscles (Rectus femoris, Vastus lateralis, Biceps femoris, Gastrocnemius medialis, Gastrocnemius lateralis, and Tibialis anterior) during a running-RSE. They reported that the decline in EMG activity was only exacerbated in the hypoxic condition for the rectus femoris and tibialis anterior, thus, highlighting the muscle dependency. Billaut et al. (2013) had participants performed 3 sets of 5 x 5 s-sprints with 25 s of recovery between sprints and 120 s of rest between sets either in normoxia or in hypoxia (~3100 m, $FiO_2 = 13.8\%$). They reported lower total work and higher decrement score in the hypoxic condition despite similar peripheral fatigue in both normoxia and hypoxia (diminution of quadriceps twitch force without any changes in M-wave). Both hypoxia and normoxia induced a significant diminution of VA (respectively -6.7% and -3.4%) and RMS/Mwave (respectively -15.7% and -7.6%) but the decrease observed in hypoxia was significantly higher. Furthermore, the authors also reported that hypoxia induced a significant systemic (SpO₂) and cerebral deoxygenation without differences in muscle oxygenation. These results suggest that under hypoxic condition, central fatigue is exacerbated and could explain the lower total work performed compared to normoxia despite the same peripheral fatigue. From those results, authors concluded that central component acted as a "safety" mechanism to avoid further development of peripheral fatigue.

This exacerbated central fatigue in hypoxia could be explained from two different mechanisms (figure 35). The first one is due to the overall impaired oxygen consumption at the muscle level (Calbet et al. 2015b), that is likely to diminish the amount of energy supplied by the aerobic pathway, therefore increasing the reliance on anaerobic metabolism and leading to an increased accumulation of metabolites, triggering an increased firing rate of the group III and IV muscle afferent impacting the central nervous system both at the spinal and supraspinal level and in fine exacerbating central fatigue (Amann and Calbet 2008). The other potential mode of action would be through a direct effect of cerebral hypoxia onto muscle recruitment, outside the influence of muscle feedback (Goodall et al. 2014b). Hypoxia is associated with hyperventilation that induces arterial hypocapnia (diminution in CO₂), which is known to cause cerebral vasoconstriction (Ainslie and Ogoh 2010). Interestingly, 14 days of acclimatization at high altitude attenuates the acute effect of hypoxia on central fatigue but not on peripheral fatigue associated with constant load exercise (Goodall et al. 2014b).

Further study should provide an experimental paradigm to identify the underlying mechanisms behind the development of central fatigue associated with the combination of exercise and hypoxia.



Figure 35. Hypothetical scheme linking oxygen (O₂) transport and exercise performance via its effects on fatigue. Taken from Amann and Calbet (2008)

The biomechanical manifestation of fatigue

Recent research suggests that in order to attain higher running speed, it is important to apply more forward-oriented force but not necessarily greater total forces to the ground (Morin et al. 2011b) Using a non-motorized instrumented treadmill Brocherie et al. (2016) compared the effect of RSE (8 × 5 s-sprints with 25 s of recovery) under normoxia and hypoxia (~3600

m) on ground reaction forces. They showed that hypoxia accentuated the inability to apply efficient forces (i.e. forward oriented) and to maintain vertical stiffness and stride frequency.

To conclude, the performance of a single sprint performed in normobaric hypoxia is not impacted because of an increased anaerobic rate of energy released to compensate for the decline in aerobic ATP furniture (relatively limited in such exercise). Furthermore, when a single sprint is performed at terrestrial altitude, performance is improved due to the decline in aerodynamic drag. With the repetition of multiple sprints, performance is negatively impacted in high-altitude (>3000m) both in normobaric or hypobaric hypoxia compared to normoxia. This impairment might be explained by a combination of factors such as a decrease of oxygen transport, increased metabolic (i.e. slower muscle re-oxygenation) and cardiorespiratory stress (heart rate, ventilation), plus impairment of the neuromuscular function at both peripheral and central level.

4 Environmental factors: The Impact of blood flow restriction

Blood flow restriction (BFR), also named KAATSU or vascular occlusion, is a method based on the application of external pressure on proximal part of the limb to induce a reduction of arterial blood flow whilst occluding venous return. It induces an impairment of muscular oxygen delivery and metabolite removal, therefore adding supplemental stress to the exercising muscle that may trigger physiological adaptation beneficial for performance when repeated chronically (i.e. BFR training). In addition to the effect of this metabolic stress, changes in the intra- and extracellular environment induced by BFR exercise have been associated with a diminution of MVC (Cook et al. 2007; Loenneke et al. 2013) which is an indicator of muscle fatigue.

Most of the literature regarding BFR and exercise focuses on resistance modalities (i.e. weight training) whether it is to understand mechanisms to acute exposure or before and after a training intervention. It is well established that this exercise modality leads to muscular adaptions inducing an increase in one repetition maximum (1 RM) and cross-sectional area despite lower intensities (between 20-40% of 1RM) compared to traditional resistance training where loads upwards of 70% of 1RM are recommended (American College of Sports Medicine 2009). For a review of the mechanisms involved in muscle hypertrophy, one can refer to several reviews that have been published (Loenneke et al. 2014b; Pearson and Hussain 2015; Scott et al. 2015).

It has been shown that BFR during low-intensity resistance exercise resulted in severe hypoxia of the muscle (Manini and Clark 2009). It is then possible that many of the positive gains found with BFR training are linked to the reduced oxygen availability more than the reduced blood flow per se. To answer this question, (Manimmanakorn et al. 2013) compared the effect of low load resistance training combined with either localized hypoxia (induced using BFR) or systemic hypoxia (breathing hypoxic air to generate an arterial blood oxygen saturation of 80 %) vs. a control group without added stimulus. They showed that both hypoxic stimuli resulted in improved muscular strength (MVC) and endurance (30s MVC and the number of repetitions to exhaustion at 20% 1 RM), compared to training with normal oxygen delivery to the muscles. These gains were associated with an increase in CSA of the leg extensor muscles and changes in voluntary neural activation (measured by raw RMS) in both groups, relative to control. However, the increase in RMS was substantially larger in the

BFR group suggesting that muscular hypoxia per se might not be the only phenomenon responsible for NMF adaptation and therefore highlighting different adaptation mechanisms between localized *vs.* systemic hypoxia. Nevertheless, further studies are required as the authors underlined that they didn't measure O2 delivery to the muscle during training sessions. Indeed, it may be possible that O2 delivery was maintained in the systemic hypoxic condition despite a lower arterial O2 saturation by an elevation in the limb muscle blood flow, thereby limiting the hypoxic environment in the muscle.

Subsequently, to the success of BFR combined with resistance training methods, researchers transferred the BFR technique to aerobic exercise thinking that the hypoxiainduced environment plus the increased metabolic stress could also create physiological responses that would improve aerobic and anaerobic performance. Authors showed improvements in maximal oxygen uptake as well as time to exhaustion following submaximal aerobic exercise with BFR (Abe et al. 2010). Following these encouraging results and probably the development of repeated sprint training in hypoxia (RSH, an upcoming section will focus on reviewing the potential mechanisms of this training methodology) authors combined BFR during an acute session of repeated sprint exercise to exhaustion (Willis et al. 2018) or during submaximal sprint training (i.e., 60-70% of maximal sprint speed, Behringer et al. 2017). In the latter study, authors found an amelioration of the 100m sprint time after training combined with BFR compared to without, but they were unable to detect significant changes between physiological parameters. (Willis et al. 2018) demonstrated a diminution of the total number of sprints performed to exhaustion when combined with BFR, thus suggesting a direct effect of BFR on the development of muscle fatigue.

While the literature about muscular changes following BFR training or acute BFR exercise is consequent (for review, (Pope et al. 2013; Wilson et al. 2013; Pearson and Hussain 2015), there is still a lack of data regarding how the NMF might be impacted. Therefore, the upcoming section will present a review of the literature regarding the impact of BFR on fatigue development and potential associated mechanisms as well as some practical recommendation for the use of BFR during exercise.

115

4.1 Fatigue etiology

Russ et al. (2003) measured the acute impact of ischemia (230mmHg, 16 subjects; 8men, 8 women) on NMF of the dorsiflexor (tibialis anterior) and reported an effect of BFR alone, increasing MVC force (+6.3% in men and 4.2% in women). However, this augmentation wasn't associated with any other acute NMF indices (potentiated or un-potentiated Pt, central activation ratio, M-wave amplitude, Db10, Db50 or Db10/Db50 ratio...) making the interpretation of this result difficult. They also compared the combination of isometric exercise using a protocol of 4 min of 5-s MVCs, with a 5-s rest between contractions (i.e., 24 contractions) either associated with BFR (i.e., 230mmHg) or not. They reported that BFR induced greater central and peripheral fatigue in both men and women (greater reduction in VA, M-wave amplitude and area, stimulated tetanic force at 10 and 50Hz as well as the lowfrequency ratio). Hogan et al. (1994) conducted on surgically isolated dog muscle (i.e., cut from the sciatic nerve) where authors reported similar fatigue during intermittent stimulation in ischemic (no blood flow) or hypoxemic (no O₂, but normal blood flow) conditions. It is important to note that because of the muscle was isolated, those results are likely to miss the potential central impact of BFR. Based on this study, Russ et al. (2003) concluded that "the effect of ischemia is most likely due to the absence of oxygen, and not the restriction of blood flow per se".

When considering dynamic exercise associated with BFR, many reports in the literature using surface EMG measurements showed an increase of the motor unit recruitment (i.e., more activation of the fast twitch fibers) during low intensity exercise with BFR relative to the same exercise without (Takarada et al. 2000, 2002; Yasuda et al. 2009). Even if this increase may not always be observed (Wernborn et al. 2009; Kacin and Strazar 2011) it can be hypothesized that this change in motor unit recruitment could induce significant changes in the development and etiology of neuromuscular fatigue.

Whereas quite a few studies have recorded EMG (iEMG or RMS) during BFR exercise, only 8 (see table 1) incorporated NMF evaluation such as the ITT technique or assessment of corticospinal parameters using TMS allowing a deeper understanding of the peripheral *vs.* central origin of fatigue.

Table 1	. Published studies	on the impact of b	lood flow restriction	ı (BFR) exercise	e on neuromuscula	function (n
= 8)						

	Author	Subjects /	Training/Acute design	BFR modalities	Meaningful result
	(Year)	muscle group			
		⊲ ar male	(sessions, type, content)		
		Partial = female.			
1	Moore et al, (2004)	Untrained ೆ Elbow flexors	Training study 24 sessions, 8 wks. 50% 1RM: 2x(2x10 + 1xfailure) r=1min passive recovery. R= 5min passive recovery Rq: Contralateral limb served as control	BFR, N = 8 100mmHg during blocks 7cm cuff width No BFR between blocks CON, N = 8	+10% maximal voluntary contraction (MVC), +22% 1 RM -21% peak twitch (PT) -52% PT/MVC +23% 1 RM
2	Karabulut et al, (2010)	Untrained ੰ Knee extensors	Acute exercise Constant resistance/velocity at 20% 1RM 5×20 rep r=30s Rq: MVCpre without BFR, MVCpost with BFR	BFR, N = 14 1.44×Systolic blood pressure (sBP) 5cm cuff CON, N = 14	-13% voluntary activation (VA), - 44% PT, -12% EMGrms -19% PT, +3 %EMG amp.
3	Cook et al., (2013)	Active ♂ Knee extensors	Acute exercise Low-load (LL)/High-load (HL) (20% vs. 70% torque max) 3 sets to failure	LLBFR, N = 8 5cm cuff inflated continuously at 180mmHg LL, N = 8	Similar decrease in MVC, Db and no changes in VA for all conditions Higher EMGrms compare to
			r=30s	HL, N = 8	both LL session, no changes between LL and LLBFR
4			Acute exercise HL (80% 1RM):	LL + BFRconti, N = 10 10.5cm cuff 0.8xsBP continuously	MEP increased at post 5, 20, 40 and 60min compare to HL, LL, and LL+BFRinter
	Brandner et al., (2015)	Untrained ੇ Elbow flexors	4×6 to 8 reps r= 150s	LL + BFRinter, N = 10 10.5cm cuffs, At 1.3 × sBP during exercise Deflated during recovery	MEP increased at post 5, 20 and 40min compare to HL
			1×30 + 3×15 reps r=30s	LL, N = 10 HL, N = 10	MEP increased at post 5 and 20min compare to HL No changes
5	Broxterman et al., (2015)	Active ♂ Handgrip muscles	Acute exercise 1.5 contraction/relaxation cycle at 85% of peak power to exhaustion	OCC + occ, N = 6 pressure > 275mmHg during exercise + recovery OCC, N = 6 pressure > 275mmHg	Shorter time to exhaustion, higher Deoxy-(Hb+Mb), lower oxy (HB+MB) and lower %sat (Hb+Mb) in OCC conditions compare to CON

Chapter 1 - Background

			Rq: pressure used induced	during exercise	reductions in Db100, MVC and
			total occlucion (OCC)		VA greater in OCC vs. CON
				CON + occ, N = 6,	
				pressure > 275mmHg	
				during recovery	Increase in tot-(Hb+Mb)
				CON, N = 6	
					Increase in tot-(Hb+Mb)
			Training study		Increased 1RM and CSA
			18 sessions, 6 wks	BFR, N = 6	no changes neuromuscular
			Leg press + Leg extension	5.5cm cuff	function
6		untrained	20% 1RM:2 (2×25+1×failure)	180/200mmHg deflated	
	Cook of al		r=30s R=150s	between exercise	
	(2017)	50,5∓ Knee			Increased 1RM and CSA
	(2017)	ovtoncore	Leg press + Leg extension	HL, N = 6	no changes neuromuscular
		extensors	70% 1RM:2 (2×25+1×failure)		function
			r=30s R=150s		
				CON, N = 6	
			No training		No changes
					BFR exacerbated:
					- MVC decreased more from the
		Resistance-		BFR, N = 17	1 st set to the 1 st min of recovery
7	Husman et	trained	Acute exercise	10cm cuff at 60% of total	- Peripheral fatigue decreased
	al	a aneu	(30% 1RM):	arterial occlusion pressure	more from the 1 st set to at least
	al.,	о Клаа	1×30 + 3×15 reps		4 min of recovery.
	(2018)	extensors	r=30s		- VA appeared and was
				CON, N = 17	exacerbated after the 4 th set.
					- the increase in VL and VM
					RMS
				BFR ₆₀ , N = 11	
				10cm cuff at 60% of total	
			Acuto sossion	arterial occlusion pressure	Overall offect of REP decreasing
8			Reported oprint evoling test to		MVC PMS/Mwove and VA post
		Physically	expected sprint cycling test to		NIVE, RIVIS/NIWAVE and VA post
	Willis et al., (2018)	active 6 $\stackrel{?}{\circ}$, 5 $\stackrel{\bigcirc}{\circ}$	exhaustion. To s-sprint with	BFR ₄₅ , N = 11	DED everytheted the lass in
		Knee	20 s-recovery at 20w.	10cm cuff at 45% of total	BFR ₆₀ exacerbated the loss in
		extensors	Resistance for the sprint set at	arterial occlusion pressure	MVC and VA compared to BFR
			8% body weight		45
				CON, N = 11	

The first study evaluating NMF using the ITT was performed by Moore et al. (2004) and investigated the effect of an 8 weeks low-intensity resistance training period performed with or without BFR on elbow flexors properties. Subjects served as their own controls as their arms were randomly assigned to either the occluded or control condition. Authors reported

an increase of MVC and a decrease of resting PT only for the arm trained with occlusion whereas no changes in VA or potentiated PT were identified before and after training for both limbs. They concluded that low-intensity resistance training in combination with BFR increased muscle strength and causes changes in indices of NMF.

Sadly, the authors didn't measure acute responses to compare the fatigue induced by both exercise's condition. Furthermore, the specific design of their protocol (i.e. having one arm trained in the occluded *vs.* the other one in the non-occluded condition) might have blunted some central adaptations as it has been shown that exercising one limb will improve the homologous muscles. This phenomenon is known as the contralateral strength training effect and can be responsible for up to half the increase in strength of the trained side mainly due to central adaptations (Carroll et al. 2006b).

Cook et al. (2017), also investigated the effects of BFR training by comparing 6 weeks of low load resistance training with BFR (20% 1RM, intermittent BFR at ~190mmHg) *vs.* medium load training (70% 1RM) on knee extensors muscle. However, authors were unable to replicate the finding from Moore et al (2004) on the arm flexors and didn't detect any significant changes in NMF for both training groups. The limb specificities, as well as the low number of participants and the inclusion of both men and women (i.e., n=6, 3 men and women in both groups), might explain those results

Karabulut et al. (2010) compared NMF after 5 sets of 20 repetitions at 20% of 1 RM performed with or without BFR. They reported a decrease of MVC after both conditions however the post-exercise MVC was 18% lower in the BFR condition. Regarding NMF parameters, PT was more depressed in the occluded condition (-44% vs. -19% in CON) and VA was only impacted after BFR (-13%). They concluded that BFR exacerbated fatigue following lowintensity exercise and that both central (diminution of VA) and peripheral (diminution of twitch torque) factors were responsible. However, the fact that the authors found the baseline (i.e. without any fatigue) value for VA of approximately 80% might indicate some methodological bias. For example, they didn't use the corrected formula (as presented previously in the section 2.2.1 of this manuscript) to calculate VA. This result could also suggest that the subjects weren't properly familiarized with the ITT technique. Cook et al. (2013) looked at the impact of BFR combined with different exercise intensities performed to exhaustion instead of work matched between conditions. They compared NMF impairment (MVC, VA, potentiated doublets at 166Hz and RMS during the first vs. last contraction during the fatiguing task) after high-load (70% dynamic peak torgue) or low-load with or without BFR (20% dynamic peak torque, occlusion was obtained via a 5cm cuff inflated at 180mmHg).

Interestingly, authors reported no significant effect of conditions, meaning that the impairment in NMF was similar between exercise modalities (e.g., MVC: -37%; DB166: -40%). Furthermore, they didn't detect any changes in VA after exhaustion and EMGrms was lower during low-load conditions compare to high-load (either pre- or post-exercise) and increased over time in all 3 conditions. Authors concluded that significant peripheral fatigue occurred whatever the considered condition and that high-load exercise requires higher muscular activation compared to low-load exercise with BFR. A limit from this study might be the low number of subjects (n=8) determined as stated by the author "to detect significant decreases in isometric force immediately after high-load and low-load combined with BFR fatigue protocols". While the important effect size of force decrement certainly allows the authors to detect such changes, it is possible that differences in the amount and etiology of fatigue required a higher number of participants to be detected. This makes interpretation of nonsignificant results often difficult in sport science as most of the study include a relatively modest number of subjects.

A few years later, Brandner et al. (2015) used TMS to investigate whether an acute bout of resistance exercise with (BFR) induced changes in corticospinal excitability (i.e. MEP) and intracortical inhibition (i.e. SICI). Their main findings were a greater increase in MEP amplitude from 5 to 60min after low load (20% 1RM) exercise combined with continuous BFR (80% of systolic blood pressure) compare to all their other conditions (high-load at 80% 1RM, low-load alone or low-load combined with intermittent BFR at 130% of systolic blood pressure). Furthermore, they didn't detect any change in SICI whatever the considered condition. From these results, they achieved that continuous BFR added to low load resistance exercise causes hyperexcitability of excitatory corticospinal excitability and recommend the use of low-pressure continuous BFR during exercise training to promote central adaptations. A limit from this study comes from the fact that the authors didn't measure the fatigue triggered by the different bouts of exercise. Furthermore, they are probably not representative of what occurred during exercise.

In a more integrated approach, Broxterman et al. (2015) completed four constant power handgrip tests to exhaustion (at 85% of peak power) under control, occlusion, control plus post-exercise occlusion and occlusion + post-exercise occlusion conditions. All occlusion conditions were at supra-systolic pressure (>275mmHg) and it should be noted that this level of pressure could no longer refer to BFR but to total occlusion. They reported a shorter time

exhaustion for the occluded conditions associated with higher deoxyto hemoglobin/myoglobin and lower saturation, oxy- and total-hemoglobin/myoglobin measured by NIRS. The reductions in MVC, Db100, and VA were significantly greater for occlusion than for control and for occlusion + occlusion than for control + occlusion. They concluded that blood flow occlusion during exercise reduced O₂ delivery and exacerbated the development of both peripheral and central fatigue. Furthermore, maintaining the blood flow occlusion stimulus worsened the magnitude of peripheral and central fatigue.

Adding more insight to the time course and fatigue etiology, Husmann et al. (2018) performed NMF evaluation before, during and after a resistance training session consisting in four sets of dynamic knee extensions at 30% of 1RM. The loss of MVC during BFR (-45 \pm 14%) condition were more pronounced compared to without BFR (-24 \pm 12%). The main results reported by the authors are an exacerbation of the exercise-induced fatigue with BFR, mainly due to peripheral factors with major impairments during the early stage of the exercise protocol whereas central factors appeared only at the end of the fourth stage.

While still focusing on the impact of BFR on neuromuscular fatigue and tissue oxygenation, Willis et al. (2018) used a novel approach based on the growing literature about repeated sprint performed in hypoxia and try to apprehend BFR exercise from a new perspective. Indeed, they compared a repeated sprint test (RST) performed on a cyclo-ergometer under three conditions (control, with BFR at 45% or 60% of total occlusion pressure). They reported a diminution of sprint performance (number of repetitions and total work) concomitant with a lower peak oxygen consumption and a lower muscular TSI under BFR conditions. NMF (MVC, VA, and RMS/M-wave) was more altered after RST performed with BFR and significantly different between 45 and 60% BFR. No changes were detected on the lowfrequency ratio (Db10/Db100) and authors didn't report Db100, Db10, PT and M-wave. These results suggest that BFR would exacerbate central indices of fatigue. However, some parameters of peripheral fatigue are not reported (i.e., M-wave, Db100, Db10 or PT) and the 3 minutes delay observed between exercise cessation and the NMF evaluation makes the detection of fatigue hazardous. Furthermore, the number of sprints performed under the control condition (approximatively 30 ± 14) seems relatively high compared to previous studies using the same exercise methodology with trained cyclists (i.e., 9 ± 4 for Faiss et al. 2013b). This associated with the relatively low peak oxygen consumption $(2.72 \pm 0.59 \text{ L})$ whereas participants reached approximately VO₂ max after the 5th sprint of RSE involving 5 × 6-s sprints interspaced with 24s of recovery (Mcgawley and Bishop 2015) would suggest that participants might have adopted a pacing strategy making difficult to interpret those results.

Taken together, the literature confirms an acute effect of BFR combined with dynamic exercise on neuromuscular fatigue. Indeed, most of the results are in accordance and show an exacerbated decrease in peripheral (i.e., Pt, Db100, Db10/Db100 ratio) and central indices (i.e., VA, MVC) associated with BFR when exercise is not performed to exhaustion. In the only study reporting M-wave (Husmann et al. 2018), no changes were associated with BFR indicating that sarcolemma excitability was well preserved. Contrarily, low-frequency fatigue and force responses to electrical stimulation were more altered during BFR exercise suggesting an impairment of the contractile properties due to alterations distal to the sarcolemma, such as inhibition of the cross-bridge cycle, reduced myofibrillar sensitivity to calcium (Ca2+), and/or impaired Ca2+ release from the sarcoplasmic reticulum (SR) (Allen, 2008).

The decrease in VA reported by the authors (Karabulut et al. 2010; Broxterman et al. 2015; Husmann et al. 2018; Willis et al. 2018) indicates that BFR promotes the development of central fatigue. While this diminution may arise from several mechanisms (Gandevia 2001), the inhibitory feedback from the group III/IV muscle afferents likely plays a role in BFR conditions by decreasing motor unit firing rate (Butler et al. 2003). This interpretation is corroborated by the decrease in RMS during MVC reported (Karabulut et al. 2010; Willis et al. 2018). It is important to note that from the authors reporting RMS, two different methodologies are used. It is either measured during MVC pre- and post-exercise (Karabulut et al. 2010; Willis et al. 2018) or it is reported during the fatiguing task (Husmann et al. 2018). As reported during MVC, RMS is an indicator of the "maximal" central drive that a participant can produce pre- and post- a fatiguing task, and therefore, can be interpreted as a central index of fatigue. However, when reported during the fatiguing task (Husmann et al. 2018) RMS indicates how much central drive is necessary for this specific task, therefore, during low load exercise with BFR, RMS increased more compared to the same exercise without BFR, indicating that the exercise modality is more challenging. Observing an increase RMS during exercise and a decrease during MVC after this same exercise seems then logical.

From the only study providing insight about the timeline of fatigue development (Husmann et al. 2018), it seems that peripheral compartment is the first involved with drastic changes in

Pt torque (approx. -50 %) after the first set whereas VA is still at its baseline value. The decrease in VA appears significant only after the last set of exercise and remain so up to 8 min after exercise cessation. Lastly, from the two studies that compared different mode of BFR application, both reported different adaptation from the central compartment. (Willis et al. 2018) showed that MVC and VA were more impaired at 60% BFR compared to 45% and Brandner et al. (2015), reported exacerbated hyperexcitability of the motor cortex after cessation of exercise with continuous BFR at 80% of systolic BP compare to intermittent at 130% systolic BP. It can be hypothesized that by increasing the relative intensity of BFR, oxygen delivery to the muscle would be more limited whereas the impaired venous return would already be maximal therefore highlighting two linked mechanisms responsible for the NMF impairment. However, more studies investigating NMF associated with BFR are required to fully understand the potentials mechanisms behind it. Another question arises from different results obtained through different exercise modalities, indeed Cook et al. (2013), performed low-load resistance exercise to exhaustion and failed to show any subsequent adaptation of NMF by adding BFR to it. On the other hand, (Willis et al. 2018) observed exacerbated MVC and VA decrement with BFR during a repeated sprint session to exhaustion without detecting changes on peripheral parameters. This contradiction reinforces the need for further studies investigating the impact of BFR on NMF during exercise performed to exhaustion.

Overall, the current literature demonstrates that blood flow occlusion exacerbated the development of both peripheral and central fatigue. Therefore, the upcoming section will focus on the potential BFR induced mechanisms responsible for acute impairments of the neuromuscular system.

4.2 Acute mechanisms of Blood Flow Restriction impacting fatigue

The understanding of the precise induced mechanisms responsible for physiological adaptations when BFR is combined with exercise is still in progress but some major factors impacting fatigue can be identified (see figure 36 for an overview). BFR suppress venous return limiting clearance of metabolic byproducts and, reduces arterial blood flow causing hypoxia to the tissue but also the deprivation of nutrients and (Kawada 2005) which is contributing to exaggerated levels of metabolic stress and impacts fatigue development either

directly, or by acting on other mechanisms such as i) the increased recruitment of fast-twitch muscle fibers, ii) increased group III/IV muscle afferents iii) increased production of reactive oxygen species, and iv) potentially inducing muscle damages (refer to the previous section regarding the physiological aspect of fatigue).

It has been confirmed using NIRS measurements that muscle oxygen levels during exercise with BFR is diminished (Kawada 2005; Manini and Clark 2009; Larkin et al. 2012). The lack of oxygen is then associated with an increase of the reliance on the anaerobic metabolism for ATP rephosphorylation, increasing phosphocreatine depletion, inorganic phosphate production and lactate acid response to BFR exercise as well as decreasing muscle pH (Takarada et al. 2000; Takano et al. 2005; Suga et al. 2009). Although reduced pH doesn't seem to impact force and velocity capacity of single muscle fibers by itself (Allen et al. 2008), results from (Karatzaferi et al. 2008) suggests that it might have additive effects when combined with Pi at close to physiological temperatures. Concomitantly to this increase of metabolites production from the muscle, venous return is suppressed by BFR (or at least limited depending on occlusion and exercise modalities), therefore exacerbating metabolic perturbations in the working muscle and directly impacting fatigue etiology via the peripheral and/or central mechanisms. Indeed, as previously discussed in this manuscript, the rate of phosphocreatine hydrolysis and concomitant inorganic phosphate accumulation is one of the main contributors to exercise-induced impairments in Ca2+ handling (Allen, 2008) and the most likely explanation regarding the development of peripheral fatigue during low-intensity BFR exercise (Husmann et al. 2018). However, this metabolic response isn't limited to peripheral compartment and is also going to induced other adaptations.

Previous reports in the literature showed higher motor unit recruitment and activation of type II muscle fibers using EMG recordings during low-load BFR resistance exercise compared to a work matched protocol without BFR (Karabulut et al. 2007). This is probably because of premature fatigue of oxidative fibers and can be mechanistically explained through the stimulation of group III and IV muscle afferents as it has been documented that the intramuscular accumulation of metabolites increases their firing frequency (Adreani et al. 1997). Authors proposed that this increased feedback could induce an alpha motoneuron inhibition at the spinal level resulting in a compensatory response to maintain the development of muscular force via an increased muscle fiber recruitment to protect against conduction failure (Yasuda et al. 2009; Loenneke et al. 2011). However, Wernbom et al.

(2009) and Kacin and Strazar (2011) failed to detect such increased in EMG pattern between BFR and control trials. It is important to note that both studies used knee extensors exercise to exhaustion (30% of 1RM and 15% MVC respectively) instead of work matched conditions in both BFR and control conditions. These results suggest that BFR doesn't increase muscle recruitment more at exercise failure and could be explained by the fact that whatever the condition, when reaching exercise failure, group III and IV muscle afferent firing rate are already at their maximal potential.

Sensory afferent feedback has also been implicated as determinants of muscle fatigue during exercise (Amann et al. 2011; Kennedy et al. 2015) by firing to the cortical and/or subcortical area during exercise under hypoxic/ischemic conditions. This has been previously linked to the impairment of muscle activation and corticomotor excitability (Gandevia et al. 1996). Results presented earlier (Brandner et al. 2015; Broxterman et al. 2015; Husmann et al. 2018) and showing an impairment of central parameters with BFR reinforce the potential role of group III and IV muscle afferents in modulating corticomotor excitability in occluded conditions of exercise.

Previous research investigating the impact of hypoxia and the following reperfusion associated with arterial occlusion showed an increase in ROS production in skeletal muscle (Korthuis et al. 1985; Clanton 2007). Furthermore, the interstitial concentration of metabolites produced by active muscle cells plays an important role in vasodilatation of arteriolar vascular smooth muscle (Korthuis 2011). It could, therefore, be expected that the combination of BFR and exercise could exacerbate the production of ROS. As they've been associated with fatigue development (Allen et al. 2008), it can be hypothesized that BFR exercise-induced fatigue could partly result from the presence of ROS within the considered muscle. However, Takarada et al. (2000) and Goldfarb et al. (2008) both failed to report any markers of ROS after a low load resistance exercise with BFR. Pope et al. (2013) mentioned that their results could be explained by the significant difference regarding the time spent under vascular occlusion. Indeed, BFR exercise usually lasts less than 20 minutes and may not be enough to elevate ROS levels whereas Korthuis et al. (1985) used a much longer occlusive period (4 hours). But interestingly, in their study, Goldfarb et al, (2008) compared the ROS responses to resistance exercise between moderate-load (70% of 1RM), low-load with BFR (30% of 1RM) and BFR only. They reported that moderate-load exercise to exhaustion and BFR only for the same duration increased blood oxidative stress marker to a similar extent whereas, low-load exercise plus BFR to exhaustion attenuated the oxidative stress response. These results confirm that both high-intensity resistance exercise (McBride et al. 1998; Bloomer et al. 2007) and BFR alone (even for a shorter period of time) demonstrates oxidative stress markers within the circulatory system but questioned the potential mechanisms impacting ROS production when BFR is combined with low-load exercise. A potential explanation for this surprising result would be the modalities used to induced BFR, indeed they inflated the cuff to 20 mmHg below the acute systolic pressure at rest (no reports of cuff width or mean pressure used). During dynamic exercise, intramuscular blood pressure and total blood flow increase (Saltin et al. 1998) and, this could have led to overcome the BFR induced resistance to venous outflow and arterial inflow allowing the removal of muscle metabolites and adequate oxygen delivery to the muscle, reducing ROS production despite the presence of the occlusion cuff. Nevertheless, further researches are necessary to understand whether ROS production is part of the responses induced by BFR exercise or not.

It has also been proposed that exercising with BFR may result in ischemia-reperfusion muscle damage dependent on the duration and severity of ischemia with irreversible damage being seen between 4 and 6 h of occlusion (Blaisdell 2002). It is important to note that Ischemia-reperfusion injury has been often examined in a surgical setup involving complete blood flow occlusion to a limb during surgeries to decrease bleeding. During ischemia, the depletion of nutrients and the decreased muscle oxygenation will result in a buildup of metabolites and if the ischemic condition is maintained, it can lead to cell necrosis (Wang et al. 2011). Reperfusion of blood flow to the considered area would induce damages due to an increase of ROS in the mitochondria (Wang et al. 2011). However, this kind of response is limited when considering BFR exercise as they typically last between 5 and 20 minutes. Umbel et al. (2009) and Wernborn et al. (2012) still reported increased muscle damage following acute exercise combined with BFR compared to without. In a recent review, Loenneke et al. (2014a) concluded that the available evidence doesn't support the fact that BFR exercise induces muscle damage. Indeed, both studies concluding that BFR exercise induced muscle damages presented some methodological flaws. First, both used contralateral limb as control condition and matched the number of contractions performed to exhaustion under BFR condition to the free flow limb, therefore, comparing muscle damage induced by exercise to volitional exhaustion vs. submaximal exercise. Furthermore, the differences reported by Umbel et al. (2009) regarding the magnitude of delayed onset muscle soreness (DOMS) appeared to be within their error of the measurement (2.3%, Loenneke et al. 2014a). Wernbom et al. (2012) reported a significantly increased percentage of muscle fibers with elevated tetranectin staining (considered by the author as a marker of muscle damage) in the BFR limb exercising to exhaustion compared to the control limb completing submaximal exercise after 24h. As mentioned by Loenneke et al. (2014a), it has been suggested that tetranectin may play a role in the fibrinolytic response (i.e. a process that prevents blood clots) and is not necessarily reflective of muscle damages. This added to the fact that BFR exercise has been associated with an increase in fibrinolytic potential (Madarame et al. 2010; Clark et al. 2011), it seems possible that elevated tetranectin staining reflects more an increased of fibrinolysis and not necessarily damages to the muscle. Taken together, these results suggest that BFR is unlikely to produce muscle damage that would impact fatigue development.



Figure 36. Proposition of potential mechanisms induced by blood flow restriction and impacting the development of neuromuscular fatigue. Positive green signs denote an increase whereas negative red signs denote an impairment.

Conclusion

Due to mechanical constraint, BFR imped limb venous outflow, trapping metabolites produced by the exercising muscle, and concomitantly reduce arterial inflow, limiting oxygen delivery to the tissue, increasing the reliability on anaerobic metabolism contributing to the exacerbation of metabolites accumulation. This augmented metabolic stress will directly impair NMF via peripheral factors (e.g. Ca2+ handling affected by Pi) but also impact muscle

recruitment through increased firing rate of group III and IV muscle afferent which in fine leads to corticomotor adaptations. Production of reactive oxygen species might also be impacted by metabolites accumulation induced by BFR exercise, therefore playing a role in fatigue etiology. However, further studies are needed in order to fully understand the potential mechanisms of ROS. Lastly, it seems unlikely that BFR would exaggerate exercise-induced muscle damages.

4.3 Cuff application

Currently, there is no standardized recommendation for the application of BFR during exercise. It can involve the application of a tourniquet (Shinohara et al. 1998), an inflatable cuff (Takano et al. 2005) or elastic wraps (Loenneke and Pujol 2009) at the top of a limb to reduce blood flow to the muscle. (Scott et al. 2015) suggest that differences between cuffs are more related to cuff width rather than cuffs materials, it is, therefore, the first parameter to consider when applying BFR. A wide range of cuffs size has been previously used by researchers (5 to 18.5 cm for the legs and 3 to 12 cm for the arms; Fahs et al. 2012) and it appears that for similar restrictive pressure, wider cuffs cause greater rating of perceived exhaustion and pain associated with lower total worked performed when exercising under BFR conditions (Rossow et al. 2012). Although, (Jessee et al. (2016) reported that wider cuffs (12 cm) restrict arterial blood flow at lower pressures compared to narrow cuffs (5 cm) showing that it is easier to reach the desired level of occlusion. However, depending on the considered limb and exercise modality, wide cuff could inhibit the normal range of motion of some participants. It has also been showed that muscular stimulus may be attenuated directly below the cuff (Kacin and Strazar 2011) even if such a result needs confirmation. Another finding from (Loenneke et al. 2012), is that occlusive pressure to reach the same percentage of arterial occlusion strongly relies on limb's circumference which is, therefore, an effective parameter to predict the required pressure to restrict arterial blood flow. In the same study, the authors reported that some participants did not reach complete arterial occlusion with narrow cuffs on the legs even at pressures of 300mmHg. Based on those results, we could recommend the use of wide cuff when exercise is performed with lower limbs whereas narrow cuffs seem more appropriate to upper limb exercise.

Even if some studies used restrictive pressures above 200 mmHg (Takarada et al. 2000; Broxterman et al. 2015), it is now accepted that to trigger physiological adaptation during

training, BFR should be high enough to occlude venous return from the muscle but low enough to allow arterial inflow to the muscle (Loenneke et al. 2014b). This highlight the need to individualize the occlusive pressure, rather than using an absolute value, considering the size of the limb as well as its size. While some studies have attempted to normalized BFR relative to brachial systolic blood pressure, probably due to the convenience of the measurement (Cook et al. 2007; Manini et al. 2011), there is no evidence to suggest that this is a valid method for the estimation of BFR on the lower limbs. The best way to account for inter-individual differences is probably to consider BFR as a percentage of the pressure required to reach total arterial occlusion. This involves the use of a Doppler probe to determine which pressure is required to no longer detect arterial pulse (Willis et al. 2018). Laurentino et al. (2012) using 80% of total arterial occlusion pressure during low-load resistance training (20% 1RM) reported similar strength and hypertrophic gain compare to traditional high-load training (80% 1RM). Further Results from Loenneke et al. (2015b) reported that individualized pressure of 50% estimated arterial occlusion pressure maximized EMG amplitude and promote acute loss of torque during and following low-load knee extension exercise. Noteworthy, 60% of estimated arterial occlusion pressure didn't cause further changes in those parameters. Authors, therefore, concluded that pressure corresponding of 50% estimated arterial occlusion permitted optimal physiological adaptation.

Because measurement of total occlusion pressure requires specific equipment and procedures not always compatible with a practical recommendation for training, Loenneke et al. (2013) provided a table based on the equivalence between individual's thigh circumference (lower limb only) and required pressure to reach approximately 60% of total arterial occlusion. While methods using elastic wraps procure easy access to BFR training, application of the restrictive stimulus is often based on a subjective pressure scale (0 indicating no pressure and 10 indicating intense pressure with pain; Wilson et al. (2013) making difficult to standardized occlusion pressure. Therefore, the use of this method should be restricted to practical training and not used for the research-based protocol.

Although further researches are needed in order to make a precise recommendation for the use of optimal BFR stimuli, principal factors to consider are cuffs width and the circumference of the limb and if possible BFR should be individualized based on total arterial occlusion pressure. Preliminary results suggest that pressure equivalent to 50% to 80% of total arterial occlusion pressure could be optimal for muscular adaptation (Laurentino et al. 2012; Loenneke et al. 2014b; Fatela et al. 2016).

5 Repeated sprint training in hypoxia

This section will try to provide a brief overview of a new training method based on the use of hypoxia to develop repeated sprint performance brilliantly named repeated sprint training in hypoxia (RSH).

For a review of more classical training methods to improves repeated sprint performance, one can refer to the existing literature (Bishop et al. 2011; Petrakos et al. 2016; Rumpf et al. 2016).

Historically, altitude/hypoxic training has been used to improve endurance performance after return to sea level by seeking mainly hematological adaptations. With the subsequent development of technological means (i.e. normobaric hypoxia) a lot of different methods involving the use of hypoxia to increase performance emerged (figure 37), focusing on another adaptative pathway (i.e. within the muscle).



Figure 37. Updated panorama of the different hypoxic/altitude training methods. Taken from (Girard et al. 2017). BFR blood flow restriction, CHT continuous hypoxic training, CO2 absorption rebreathing with a mask, HH hypobaric hypoxia, IHE intermittent hypoxic exposure, IHIT IHE during interval-training, IHT interval hypoxic training, IPC ischemic pre-conditioning, LHTH live high-train high, LHTL live high-train low, LLTH live low-train high, LHTHL live high-train high and low, LHTLH live high-train low and high, NH normobaric hypoxia, RSH repeated sprint training in hypoxia, RTH resistance training in hypoxia, VHL voluntary hypoventilation at low lung volume.

RSH is based on the repetition of short (<30 s) maximal sprints associated with incomplete recovery (<60 s) in hypoxia (Faiss et al. 2013a). The difference with interval hypoxic training is the maximal intensity associated with the sprint exercise allowing to maintain very high recruitment of type II muscle fibers through the training session. By adding hypoxia to this type of exercise, oxygen delivery will be impaired and subsequently the capacity of the oxidative pathway to provide ATP. It has been shown earlier in this manuscript (section 2.1.2) that aerobic metabolism provides up to 40% of the energy during the latter stage on RSE in normoxia (Girard et al. 2011a), consequently hypoxia is likely to increase the stress on anaerobic glycolysis to compensate for ATP production which might trigger an up-regulation of this energy pathway with training. Faiss et al. (2013b) were the first to report that compared to repeated sprint training in normoxia, RSH induced beneficial molecular adaptation at the muscle level [e.g. +55% of mRNA concentration of HIF-1 α , +35% of carbonic anhydrase III (CA3) and +20 % of monocarboxylate transporter-4 (MCT-4].

5.1 Potential mechanisms

Because RSH is a relatively new training method (Faiss et al. 2013b), its underlying mechanisms are still to be fully understood. Acute hypoxia is known to trigger sympathetic discharge in the skeletal muscle enhancing vasoconstrictor activity during exercise (Hanada et al. 2003). But despite this mechanism, the same authors didn't detect any changes in blood flow in the resting muscle. Furthermore, when hypoxia is combined with submaximal exercise, it induces compensatory vasodilatation increasing blood flow to limit the alteration in oxygen delivery to the exercising muscle (Casey and Joyner 2012). Whereas this phenomenon is quite well established during submaximal exercise, it is more controversial at supramaximal intensity. Calbet et al. (2015b), had participants performed a 30 s all-out cycling exercise in normoxia or hypoxia (PiO₂ = 73 mmHg) and analyzed separately the first 10 s of the all-out exercise (referred as "sprint") and the whole 30 s. During the first 10 s they

reported a 22% decrease of leg oxygen delivery associated to 27% increase in oxygen extraction in the hypoxic condition, which led to the same oxygen consumption for both hypoxic and normoxic condition. However, authors reported a decrease in power output during the first 10 s in hypoxia (499 ± 86 W) compared to normoxia (567 ± 90 W) which isn't in accordance with previous literature showing that supramaximal exercise up to 60 s is not impacted by hypoxia (Weyand et al. 1999). Furthermore, the average power of 500W produced over 10 s appear guite low to be assimilated to a maximal sprint. When considering the whole 30 s all-out exercise, authors reported again a 7% difference in power output between hypoxia (461 \pm 52 W) and normoxia (494 \pm 47 W). Peak leg blood flow was reduced by 5% in hypoxia (7.04 \pm 0.92 L·min⁻¹) compared to normoxia (6.66 \pm 0.95 L·min⁻¹), and this was associated with a 28% diminution of peak leg oxygen delivery and a 15% increase of oxygen extraction resulting in a peak oxygen consumption by the leg muscle decreased by 23% in hypoxia. This study suggests that when combined to all-out exercise, hypoxia would result in an increased oxygen extraction capacity of the muscle to limit the overall reduced oxygen delivery to the active muscle. Recently, two studies recorded the combination of RSE and hypoxia on blood flow measured by ultrasound Doppler technique. The first one was conducted on lower limb muscles during cycling-RSE and failed to detect any changes in blood flow with hypoxia (Willis et al. 2017). It can be noted that the range of the value obtained was huge due to a methodological problem. The second one, performed by the same team, was conducted on upper limb muscle and detected a trend for higher blood flow level post exercise in the hypoxic condition (3800 m, $FiO_2 = 13.12\%$) compared to normoxia (respectively 779 ± 318 and 605 ± 549 mL·min⁻¹), again, the huge range of values obtained are denoted by the high ± SD. Taken together, these results highlight the relative blur associated with the potential mechanisms of RSH. Indeed, one of the main hypotheses is that the stress added by hypoxia would trigger compensatory vasodilatation associated with higher blood flow that would benefit more to the type-II muscle fibers than the type-I muscle fibers (Faiss et al. 2013a). RSH would, therefore, lead to further muscular adaptation through the oxygen-sensing pathway (HIF-1 α) to improve oxygen extraction (i.e., capillary-fiber ratio, myoglobin content and oxidative enzyme activity such as citrate synthase) compare to normoxia (Hoppeler and Vogt 2001). This would improve in fine the Pcr resynthesize, known to be closely related to repeated sprint performance. Those adaptations are likely to occur through specific muscle transcriptional responses as previously mentioned and shown by Faiss et al. (2013b). They reported an increase of CA3, MCT-4, lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) and mRNA concentration of HIF-1a, with a concomitant decrease of mRNA expression of PGC-1 α and MCT-1. This suggests a shift from aerobic (PGC-1 α and MCT-1) to the anaerobic glycolytic pathway (CA3, MCT-4, LDH) and would explain why an exercise involving high recruitment of type II muscle fibers is more efficient compared to IHT.

This remains to be demonstrated as it is still not acted that repeated sprint in hypoxia leads to compensatory vasodilation to the exercising muscle. However, the promising results in the growing literature regarding RSH and performance improvement suggest that beneficial physiological adaptations are more likely to occur.

5.2 Effects on performance

A good indicator of the popularity of this method is the growing body of literature (i.e. 25 papers) available since the first study published in 2013 and its use by many professional sports (e.g. Welsh Rugby Union, Roland Garros training center, Aspire Football Academy, Australian footballers). Table 2 presents the review of all studies that investigated the impact of RSE on sprint performance and included a control group plus a meta-analysis. Overall, only two studies (Goods et al. 2015; Montero and Lundby 2015) reported no beneficial effect of RSH compared to RSN (i.e. similar improvement in RSA performance). All the other found further improvement using hypoxia. For instance, using an open-loop design, authors reported a 38 % increase in the number of cycling-sprints performed to exhaustion in well trained cyclist (Faiss et al. 2013b) and a 58% increase in the number of double poling sprint performed by cross-country skiers (Faiss et al. 2015) after six to height RSH session. In more classical close-loop design (i.e. a determined number of sprints) the meta-analysis from Brocherie et al. (2017) revealed a small to moderate beneficial effect of RSH on mean sprint time and/or mean power output compare to RSN. Individual results from all studies are summarized in table 2.

To conclude, RSH appears to be a promising method to improve repeated sprint ability in a variety of population. It can be used relatively easily compared to more classical hypoxic training methods where hematological adaptation is the main outcome. The mechanisms responsible for the improved performance are still unclear but likely originate from within the muscle. Further researches are however required to elucidate that question and to confirm the range of population susceptible to benefit from such training intervention.

Table 2. Published studies on training intervention with RSH. From (Millet et al. 2019)

	Author	Subjects	Training protocol	Groups	Meaning differences
	(Year)	♂ = male,	(sessions, type, altitude,		(P < 0.05)
		Q= female.	content)		
				RSH, N =	
				20	+6% Pmean sprints + 38%
			O a sector sector sector s		more sprints during RSE.
1		Madaratak	8 sessions, 4 wk., cycling,		
	Eaise at al. (2012b)	trained		RSN, N =	+7% Pmean sprints, no more
	1 alss et al. (2013b)		3x5x10c - 20c nassive	20	sprints during RSE. NS
		Cyclists ()			changes.
				CON, N =	No RSE improvement.
				10	
			12 sessions in 4 wk.,	RSH, N= 15	
0	Galvin et al.	Rugby	treadmill, 3500m (NH).		+33% YO-YO
2	(2013)	players 👌	10,460 200 0000	RSN, N =	1119/ Vo Vo
				15	+14/0 10-10
			7-8 sessions in 5 wk		
			runnina.	RSH. N = 5	+20% Yo-Yo IR38% slope
3			3000m (NH).		fatique curve during RSA.
	Gatterer et al. (2014)	Football			
	· · · · ·	players ∂	3×10s×4.5 m round-trip	RSN, = 8	+21% Yo-Yo IR, +9% slope
			shuttle - 20s passive		fatigue curve during RSE.
			recovery.		
			8 sessions in 12 days,		Improvement BSE 0.91%
			shuttle-run, 3300m, (NH).	RSH $N = 7$	mean time (s)
4	Gatterer et al. (2015)	Football			
		players 👌	RSE = 6x40-m (6x20-m)	RSN, N = 7	Improvement RSE 0.39%
			back & forth, 20s passive		mean time (s)
			recovery.		
		Mall trained			ASH VS. KSN; -4% TIME of
5	Brocherie et al.	vouth football	290011 (NFI).	RSN N = 8	cumulative sprint -2%
	(2015)		5x4x5s - 45s nassive	1.014, 14 = 0	Time of 1 st sprint -2%
		Playord	recovery.		Cumulative sprint time.
		Highly	6 sessions in 2 wk., double-	RSH, N = 9	+25% Pmax Sprints +57%
	Faiss et al. (2015)	trained XC-	poling ergometer cross-		more sprints during RSE.
		skiers	country skiing, 3000m (NH).		

6		(11 = ♂, 6 =		RSN, N = 8	+21% Pmax sprints, no more
		우)	4×5×10s – 20s passive		sprints during RSE.
			recovery.		
				RSH. N =	
			8 sessions in 4 wk., ergo-	16	+5% Pmax sprints on
			cycle,	10	ergometer after RSH vs.
_		Lacrosse	3000m, (NH).		1.5% in RSN.
1	Kasai et al. (2015)	players ♀	2×10×7s - 30s passive	RSN, N = 16	+9.7% Pmean Sprints vs. 6%
			recovery.		= VO_{2Max} in both groups.
8	Goods et al. (2015)	Australian football plavers ♂	15 sessions in 5 wk., ergo- cycle, (3000m, (NH).	RSH, N = 9 RSN, N =	 + 4.7% Pmax and + 10.3% Pmean + 8.6% Pmax and + 13.6% Pmean sprints -1.1% Pmax and 1.4% Pmean, for the controlled
		« semi-elite »	3×9×5s –active recovery (self-selected pace).	10	group. + 2.3% (RSH), + 1.8% (RSN), + 1.1% (controlled) on the average time of sprints (running) between before and after Training.
					Cumulated sprint time
			LHTL, 6 sessions in 2 wk.,		decreased in LHTLH and LHTL
			running,	RSH, N =	but not in LLTL and
9		Elite field	3000m, (NH).	11	remained significantly
	Brocherie et al.	hockey			reduced at Post-2 in
	(2015b)	players	4×5×5s - 25s passive	RSN, N =	LHTLH only.
			recoverv.	12	
					Same increase in Hbmass
					and YYR2
<u> </u>			12 sessions in 4 wk orga		RSH Post 1 (2.5 doub):
		Modorotoly	12 303310113 111 4 WK., EIYU-	Crossover	16 70/ DDO 14 40/ MDDO
	Montoro or d Luralles	troiped		DON	+12.1% FFU, +14% WIPPU,
					+12.1% WPU. POSt 2 (12
	(2016)	endurance		KSH,	aays); +0.8% PPO, +18.7%
		athletes ∂	4×5×10s – 20s active recovery.	N = 15	MPPO, +18.1% MPO.

10					RSN Post 1 (3-5 days); +7.2% PPO, +16.3% MPPO, +9.9% MPO. Post 2 (12 days); +6.9% PPO, +16.3% MPPO, +14.2% MPO. No differences between RSH & RSN
					RSH-induced increase in Δ[tHb] during RS in hypoxia compared with normoxia.
11	Hamlin et al. (2017)	Well-trained rugby players ♂	 6 sessions in 3 wk., ergo- cycle, 3000m (NH). Followed by 3 post-tests in 2 wk., then 2 sessions in 1 wk. Followed by 2 Post-tests in 2 weeks. 4x5x5s - 25s active recovery. 	RSH, N = 8 RSN, N = 10	- 2.0%, - 2.2%, - 1.6% RSE post 3 wk., post 4 wk., post 5 wk., respectively, in favor or RSH No difference between the groups on the performance of the YYIR1.
12	Brocherie et al. (2016a)	Elite field hockey players	LHTL, 6 sessions in 2 wk., running, 3000m, (NH). 4x5x5s - 25s passive recovery.	RSH, N = 11 RSN, N = 12	RSH vs. RSN; -3.6% difference in RPE (average), -7.8% difference in overall peripheral discomfort and -23.2% difference in lower-limb discomfort
13	Trincat et al. (2017)	Competitive swimmers (9 = 3, 7 = 2)	6 sessions in 2 wk that included 2×16×15m with 30s send off. RSH-VHL low-level active recovery.	RSH-VHL, = 8 RSN, = 8	RSH-VHL +35% number of sprints increased and [La] max compared to RSN
14	Kasai et al. (2017)	University sprinters ♂	5 consecutive days, 3000m (NH) vs normoxia, 2 sessions/ day Morning: RS (5x6s – 24s recovery) 3x + (4x20s 5-15 min)	RSH, N = 9 RSN, N = 9	Running time 0-10m improved (before, $1.39 \pm 0.01s$; after, $1.34 \pm 0.02s$, P<0.05) Increase in PCr content (31.5 ± 1.3 to 38.2 ± 2.8 mM, P<0.05).

			Afternoon: 3 x 5×6s – 36s		
			recovery + 4×20s - 40s		
			passive recovery		
					Pmean during RSE further
					enhanced (P = 0.05) with
					RSH vs RSN.
15	Brocherie et al.	Meta-		N = 202	
	(2017)	analysis			Best performance improved
					to the same extent between
					RSH and RSN.
			4 sessions in 6 days.,		
			running,		Pmax in the MART +2.5%
				RSH = 7	Lactate Concentration
16	0	College 400-	RSH = LH (200m), TH		decreased (p<0.05) at
	Oriishi et al. (2018)	800m	(3000m)		submax velocities.
		runners ♀			
			RSN = LLTL	RSN = 8	
					LHTLH +35% Succinate
		Elita field	2000m (NHI)		dehydrogenase,
	van der Zwaard et al.	Elite field	3000m, (NH).		LHTLH and LHTL
17	(2018)		4EE. 2E. possive		improved combination of
					fiber size and oxidative
			Tecovery		capacity.
			RSH-VHL	RSH-//HI	Number of sprints
		Highly	8 sessions in 4 wks., running	_ 11	increased +64%
	Fornasier-Santos et	trained rugby		- 11	
18	al. (2018)	union players			
		8	2-3x8x40m on 30s- Semi-	RSN - 10	
			active recovery (walking)	10014, = 10	
		Well trained	5 sessions in 12 days,		Time to exhaustion and
		tennis	3000m, (NH).	RSH, N = 9	OBLA improved.
	Brechbuhl et al.	plavers			+13.8% in ball accuracy
19	(2018)	(16 = 3 4 =	4 x 5 "sport specific" sprints		testing.
		(10 = 0, 1 = ?)	- 50 s passive recovery	RSN, N = 9	
		- /			
			8 sessions in 4 wk., ergo-	RSH-NB =	+4% PO in RSE for RSH vs
			cycle, 3000m, (NH).	10	RSN groups.
		Recreational-		RSH-NP = 9	
20	Wang et al. (2018)	active 3	β-Alanine supplementation		
		Ŭ	(NB) or normoxia placebo	RSN-NB =	
			(NP) in both RSH or RSN	11	
			groups.	RSN-NP = 8	

21	Brocherie et al. (2017b)	Elite field hockey players ♂	3×5×10s - 20s active recovery. 6 sessions, running, 3000m (NH). 4×5×5s - 25s passive recovery.	LHTLH, = 8 LHTL, = 11 LLTL, = 9	Larger LHTLH-induced adaptations in molecular responses in O2 signaling (HIF-1α) and transport (VEGF, Mb) and mitochondrial biogenesis and metabolism (PGC-1α, TFAM, CS) compared with LHTL and LLTL.
22	Gatterer et al. (2019)	Amateur team sports players ♂	9 sessions, x3 wk. 2200m, (NH). RSH: 3x5x10s -20s 5-min recovery SIH: 4x30s - 5-min recovery	RSH, N = 6 SIH, N = 5	RSErunningtimeimproved by -0.14 s and -0.11 s after RSH and SIH (p= 0.012).RSHimprovedreoxygenation during RSE
23	Kasai et al. (2019)	University sprinters ♂	6 consecutive days, 3000m (NH) vs normoxia, 2 sessions/ day Morning: RS (5x6s – 24s recovery) 3x + (4x20s 5-15 min) Afternoon: 3 x 5x6s – 36s recovery + 4x20s – 40s passive recovery	RSH, N = 10 RSN, N = 9	+ 3% max pedaling frequency and Pmax. Increases in muscle glycogen (+79.9%) and Pcr (+3.9%).
24	Beard et al. (2018)	Elite Rugby union players ੰ	4 sessions, cycling, 3000m (NH). 3x8x10s - 20s passive recovery	RSH, N = 10 RSN, N = 9	RSA Pmax +6.3% Pmean+ 6.5% improved
25	(Beard et al. 2019)	Elite Rugby union players ♂	4 sessions, double poling, 3000m (NH). 3×8×10s - 20s passive recovery	RSH, N = 18 RSN, N = 18	RSA Pmax +13% Pmean+ 11% improved
	Woorons et al. (2019)	Highly trained Jiu-Jitsu fighters	RSH-VHL shuttle sprint running. 2x6s - 15s passive recovery.	RSH-RSN, N =10	SPO2 lower (89.8 vs 97.7%; p <0.01) and cerebral oxygenation (-6.1±5.4 vs -

	(7 = ♂, 3 = ♀)	1.5±6.6 au) were lower than in RSN.
26		VO2 higher during recovery periods.
		RSE performance not impaired with RSH-VHL.

The significantly (P < 0.05) larger benefits of RSH are presented in **bold**.

NH, Normobaric Hypoxia; Con, Control group without RS training; RSA, Repeated Sprints Ability; RSE, Repeated Sprint Exercise; RSH, Repeated Sprint Training in Hypoxia; RSN, Repeated Sprint Training in Normoxia; SIH, Sprint Interval Training in hypoxia; PO, Power Output; Pmax, maximal PO: Pmean, Mean PO; LT4, Lactic Threshold, i.e. lactate concentration of 4 mmol. L⁻¹, Yo-yo IR, Yo-Yo IR test; Pcr, Phosphocreatine; [tHb], total hemoglobin/myoglobin; VHL, voluntary hypoventilation; OBLA, the onset of blood lactate accumulation; La, Blood lactate concentration.

Synthesis and objectives

The ability to repeat short maximal exercises (i.e. sprints < 10 s) interspaced with incomplete recovery (< 60 s) is considered as a good performance index in a variety of intermittent sports (e.g. team or racket sports). This modality of exercise is extremely strenuous for the neuromuscular system as it relies mostly on the anaerobic metabolism during the first sprints. Towards the exercise, the power output developed during each sprint decrease concomitantly to the related energy expenditure. This is associated with a progressive switch from the anaerobic to the aerobic pathway as the number of sprints increase.

As with any exercise, fatigue will gradually develope from the beginning of the test until completion of the task. For the purpose of this work, fatigue has been defined as "a response that is less than the expected or anticipated contractile response, for a given stimulation". The current methodology to evaluate neuromuscular fatigue involves the use of electrical or magnetic stimulations superimposed during an isometric voluntary contraction or delivered in the relaxed muscle to assess muscle properties (i.e. peripheral fatigue) and determine the ability of the central nervous system to fully activate the exercising muscle (i.e. central fatigue). While it is obviously a limit to bound fatigue measurement to an isolated muscle group especially when the fatiguing task is induced by whole body exercise and involves the use of multiple synergist muscle groups, it is still the most reliable way of investigating fatigue etiology. This procedure is however relatively complicated to pursue when considering locomotive exercise such as repeated sprint. Indeed, the execution of an isometric contraction requires the use of a specific ergometer and thus, implies to move the subject from the fatiguing task (e.g. non-motorized treadmill, cycloergometer) before measuring the induced fatigue. This procedure usually takes between 30 s and 3 min, which is rather problematic as depending on its origin, fatigue can recover quickly and at different rates. This is likely to result in an underestimation of fatigue and probably to a misinterpretation of its etiology as central fatigue usually recover more rapidly than its peripheral component. Another issue resulting from the inherent delay of fatigue measurement is the difficulty to obtain complete kinetics of fatigue development. Therefore, researchers often limit the evaluation to two time-points before and after task completion or propose complex experimental setups where participants need to performed multiple session of exercise to extrapolate fatigue kinetics from it. Despite those limitations, a few studies characterized fatigue etiology during repeated sprint exercise, and while some discrepancies persist, it seems that the fatigue induced by repeated-sprint exercise is mainly peripheral during the early stage of fatigue whereas central fatigue only appears after a few repetitions. It is relatively hard to determine when central fatigue occurs precisely because of the limited time points of measurements through the test. Physiologically, those results could be explained by the reliance on the anaerobic glycolysis during the first part of the repeated sprint exercise, indeed, this source of energy produces a lot of metabolites which are closely related to the development of peripheral fatigue notably due to an accumulation of inorganic phosphate affecting the excitation-contraction coupling. Metabolites accumulation and mechanical changes within the muscle are also associated to muscle afferents (i.e. often referred as group III and IV muscle afferents) that can have inhibitory or excitatory activity at the spinal and supraspinal level. It is therefore hypothesized that muscle afferents are responsible for the later development of central fatigue observed during exercise.

Recently, a new training method has been developed to improve repeated sprint ability based on the completion of training session associated with hypoxic stress (i.e. either using terrestrial or simulated altitude). This method has been used for the past five years and presents interesting results especially with intermittent-sport athletes. However, the associated publications are often limited to performance measurements and only a few studies investigate the underlying physiological mechanisms potentially responsible for the observed benefices on sprint performance. While the main hypothesis relies on hypoxiainduced muscular adaptation through the oxygen-sensing pathway to improve oxygen extraction, and in fine the phosphocreatine resynthesizes, it is known that hypoxia also impacts the development of neuromuscular fatigue and especially the central compartment. Therefore, a potential mechanism associated with better performance post-training could arise from central adaptation to hypoxic stimulus. Nevertheless, the actual impact of hypoxia on neuromuscular function is not fully understood as two potential mechanisms have been proposed to explain the exacerbated central fatigue. Indeed, hypoxia impairs oxygen consumption of the muscle and decreases the amount of energy furnish by the aerobic pathway. This is likely to increase the reliance on anaerobic mechanisms and the production of the associated metabolites, leading to an exacerbation of the group III and IV muscle firing rate known to be partly responsible for the development of central fatigue by impacting the central nervous system both at the spinal and supraspinal levels. The second mode of action of hypoxia would be through a direct effect on brain oxygenation. The diminution in CO₂ level associated with hypoxia-induced hyperventilation is responsible for cerebral vasoconstriction which reduces the brain oxygen delivery resulting in a diminution of brain activity and central motor drive during exercise. However, by using systemic hypoxia (i.e. terrestrial or simulated altitude), it isn't possible to isolate those mechanisms from one another as both the muscles and the brain will be impacted by the overall lack of oxygen.

Two main objectives can be drawn from this synthesis of the current literature and will articulate the next chapter.

The purpose of the first study was to use two different modalities of hypoxia to isolate both potential mechanisms responsible for the exacerbation of central fatigue when performing exercise under hypoxic exposure. In this regard, neuromuscular fatigue induced by repeated sprint exercise combined with systemic hypoxia (i.e. induced via breathing a hypoxic gas mixture) and/or localized hypoxia (i.e. obtained via the use of blood flow restriction), were compared.

The second study aimed to assess some methodological problems associated with the evaluation of neuromuscular function as traditionally done in the literature. Therefore, a new ergometer was developed and build in the lab to allow participants to perform both the fatiguing task and the neuromuscular evaluation on the same ergometer. Furthermore, it also allows the characterization of muscle fatigue via the evolution of dynamic parameters of muscle capabilities calculated from the linear relationship of the torque-velocity profile. A reliability study of the ergometer is proposed.
Chapter 2 – Experimental data

1 Study 1: Neuromuscular evaluation of arm-cycling repeated sprints under hypoxia and/or blood flow restriction.

Neuromuscular function during arm cycling sprint combined with Hypoxia and/or blood flow restriction.

1.1 Presentation

This study aimed to characterize fatigue etiology induced by a repeated sprint exercise performed to exhaustion with the upper limbs under different hypoxic stress. It has been shown that when combined to hypoxia, central fatigue is exacerbated potentially due to two mechanisms. Either a direct effect of lower oxygen availability at the brain level inducing an overall diminution of cortical activity, or an indirect effect from lower oxygen availability to the muscle during exercise, increasing the rate of metabolites production and the firing rate of group III and IV muscle afferent feedback at the spinal and supraspinal level impairing corticospinal excitability. Because previous studies used only systemic hypoxia (i.e. breathing hypoxic gas mixture), it is not possible to dissociate the two potential mechanisms as both the considered muscle and the brain are under hypoxic stress.

Therefore, the idea was to dissociate systemic hypoxia and localized hypoxia of the limb (i.e. using BFR to reduce the oxygen delivery to the working muscle) to see if both conditions would lead to an exacerbated central fatigue compare to normoxia or if one would prevail. Furthermore, the literature regarding sprints and the combined use of BFR is rather scarce so a secondary objective was to characterized fatigue induced by such exercise and if the combination of both systemic plus localized hypoxia would exacerbate fatigue even more.

1.2 The Study

Neuromuscular evaluation of arm-cycling repeated sprints under hypoxia and/or blood flow restriction.

Arthur Peyrard^{1#}, Sarah J. Willis^{2#}, Nicolas Place², Grégoire P. Millet², Fabio Borrani^{2#}, Thomas Rupp^{1#*}

¹Laboratoire Interuniversitaire de Biologie de la Motricité (EA 7424), Université Savoie Mont Blanc, Chambéry, France.

² Institute of Sport Sciences (ISSUL), Faculty of Biology and Medicine, University of Lausanne, Switzerland.

[#]both authors contributed equally to the work

Correspondence:

Thomas RUPP Laboratoire Interuniversitaire de Biologie de la Motricité (EA7424 LIBM Chambéry) Université Savoie Mont Blanc, Campus Scientifique Technolac 73376 LE BOURGET DU LAC Cedex, FRANCE Phone: (+33)4 79 75 81 23 Fax: (+33)4 79 75 81 48 thomas.rupp@univ-smb.fr

Abstract

Purpose: This study aimed to determine the effects of hypoxia and/or blood flow restriction (BFR) on an arm-cycling repeated sprint ability test (aRSA) and its impact on elbow flexor neuromuscular function.

Methods: Fourteen volunteers performed an aRSA (10s sprint / 20s recovery) to exhaustion in four randomized conditions: normoxia (NOR), normoxia plus BFR (N_{BFR}), hypoxia (FiO₂=0.13, HYP) and hypoxia plus BFR (H_{BFR}). Maximal voluntary contraction (MVC), resting twitch force (Db10), and electromyographic responses from the elbow flexors (*biceps brachii* [BB]) to electrical and transcranial magnetic stimulation were obtained to assess neuromuscular function. Main effects of hypoxia, BFR, and interaction were analyzed on delta values from pre- to post-exercise.

Results: BFR and hypoxia decreased the number of sprints during aRSA with no significant cumulative effect (NOR: 16±8; N_{BFR}: 12±4; HYP: 10±3 and H_{BFR}: 8±3; P<0.01). MVC decrease from pre- to post-exercise was comparable whatever the condition. M-wave amplitude (-9.4±1.9% *vs.* +0.8±2.0%, P<0.01) and Db10 force (-41.8±4.7% *vs.* -27.9±4.5%, P<0.01) were more altered after aRSA with BFR compared to without BFR. The exercise-induced increase in corticospinal excitability was significantly lower in hypoxic *vs.* normoxic conditions (e.g. BB motor evoked potential at 75% of MVC: -2.4±4.2% *vs.* +16.0±5.9%, respectively, P=0.03).

Conclusion: BFR and hypoxia led to comparable aRSA performance impairments but with distinct fatigue etiology. BFR impaired the muscle excitation-contraction coupling whereas hypoxia predominantly affected corticospinal excitability indicating incapacity of the corticospinal pathway to adapt to fatigue as in normoxia.

Keywords: corticospinal excitability, transcranial magnetic stimulation, occlusion, neuromuscular fatigue, BFR.

1RM	One-repetition maximum					
AMT	Active motor threshold					
ANOVA	Analysis of variance					
aRSA	Repeated arm-cycling sprint ability test					
BB	Biceps brachii					
BFR	Blood flow restriction					
CMEP	Cervicomedullary motor evoked potentials					
CSP	Cortical silent period					
EMG	electromyographiy					
EMS	Electrical muscle stimulation					
ENS	Electrical nerve stimulation					
ERT	Estimated resting twitch					
ESM	Electronic supplementary material					
FiO ₂	Fraction of inspired oxygen					
GABA	Gamma-aminobutyric acid					
HBFR	Hypoxia with BFR					
HYP	Нурохіа					
MEP	Motor evoked potential					
Mmax	Amplitude of the muscle compound action potential					
mRNA	Messenger ribonucleic acid					
MSUP	amplitude of the muscle compound action potential during maximal					
	voluntary contraction					
MVC	Maximal voluntary contraction					
M-wave	Muscle compound action potential					
NBFR	Normoxia with blood flow restriction					
NIRS	Near infra-red spectroscopy					
NME	Neuromuscular function evaluation					
NOR	Normoxia					
PFC	Pre-frontal cortex					
Pmax	Maximal power					
POST	After Repeated arm-cycling sprint ability test					

Abbreviation:

PRE	Before Repeated arm-cycling sprint ability test					
RMS	Root mean square					
RSA	Repeated sprints ability					
SD	Standard deviation					
SICI	Short-interval intracortical inhibition					
SIT	Superimposed twitch					
SpO ₂	Peripheral arterial oxygen saturation					
ТВ	Triceps brachii					
TMS	Transcranial magnetic stimulation					
TSI	Tissue saturation index					
TTE	Time to exhaustion					
VA	Voluntary activation					
VA _{TMS}	Voluntary activation assessed with TMS					
η_p^2	Partial eta-squared					

Introduction

Repeated sprints ability (RSA) is characterized by the athlete's capacity to repeatedly produce maximal efforts for a short period of time (<10 s) interspersed with incomplete (<60 s) recovery and has been defined as an important factor of team-sport performance and intermittent activities efficiency (Girard et al. 2011a).

Sprint repetition induces fatigue due to a complex interaction between muscular (peripheral) and neural (central) responses leading to an impairment of the neuromuscular function (Girard et al. 2011a). Peripheral fatigue is usually described as a decrease in peak twitch force induced by electrical stimulation whereas central fatigue is characterized by a diminution of voluntary activation (VA) using the interpolated twitch technique (Shield and Zhou 2004). More recently, transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS) has been used to calculate VA and this method provides additional information (e.g. motor evoked potential [MEP] or cortical silent period [CSP]) about the fatigue that occurs upstream of the motor cortex (Todd et al. 2016).

Collins et al. (2018) proposed that knee extensor neuromuscular fatigue throughout a RSA exercise mainly refers to peripheral impairments during the first five sprints (e.g. peak twitch diminution) but then relies on both peripheral and central perturbations. While the literature about RSA-related neuromuscular function predominantly focuses on the legs, researchers (Pearcey et al. 2016) have also investigated the impact of a RSA test on neuromuscular parameters of the elbow flexors since RSA with the upper limbs is of particular interest in multiple sport activities (e.g. kayak, judo, nordic skiing) and in some rehabilitation modalities. Using a determined number of sprints (i.e. 10), they concluded that arm-cycling sprints impacted neuromuscular function by increasing spinal excitability (e.g. increase in cervicomedullary motor evoked potentials [CMEP] from sprint 1 to sprint 10) and decreasing supraspinal excitability (e.g. decrease in MEP/CMEP ratio from sprint 1 to sprint 5). Gruet et al. (2013) also demonstrated that upper limbs were more sensitive to spinal adaptations compared to the lower limb. Furthermore, muscle metabolism also elicits systemic perturbation that could influence oxygen transport, extraction, and brain function (Calbet et al. 2009). Considering the smaller muscle mass and the differences in muscle typology (Koppo et al. 2002) involved with arm exercise compare to the legs, it may result in different systemic perturbation, highlighting limb specificities regarding the development of neuromuscular fatigue. There is a lack of information regarding what are the underlying mechanisms limiting RSA performed to exhaustion in the upper limbs.

In the last few years, repeated sprint training in hypoxia has received growing interest in light of a probable, although debated (Goods et al. 2015) optimization of the gains in terms of performance compared to repeated sprint training performed in normoxia (Brocherie et al. 2017a). It is then likely that physiological adaptations induced by a single session in hypoxia are more prone to promote gains when repeated chronically. As a specificity, it has been shown that short intermittent bouts of sprints (15 x 5-s leg cycling / 25-s passive recovery) combined with acute hypoxia (SpO₂ ~84%) induce greater decline in cerebral oxygenation, quadriceps muscle activation and cycling performance than in normoxia, but with no difference in the magnitude of quadriceps fatigue (Billaut et al. 2013). The authors suggested that the central nervous system regulated the development of peripheral muscle fatigue, acknowledging however that it was not possible to rule out a direct effect of O₂ desaturation on reducing motor output. Hence, from the only study exploring neuromuscular function prepost a RSA test performed in hypoxia vs normoxia (Billaut et al. 2013), it is not possible to determine if the origin of fatigue differs and how far performance limitation is predominantly due to systemic, brain and/or muscle hypoxia. One way to evaluate the respective weight of localized vs systemic hypoxia in the genesis and the amount of exercise-induced fatigue would be to dissociate and combine these distinct environmental stressors during a session of RSA.

Localized hypoxia can be achieved by blood flow restriction (BFR) after the inflation of occlusion cuffs in the proximal portion of the limbs (Willis et al. 2018). This technique has been used for training purposes in combination with low-load resistance exercise, to promote hypertrophy and increase muscle strength due to significant hypoxic stimuli and greater accumulation of metabolites in the exercising muscles (Scott et al. 2015). A study from Fatela et al. (2016) using electromyographic (EMG) indices showed that the use of BFR combined to resistance exercise could enhance muscle activity (e.g. increased EMG root mean square [RMS]) and may increase neuromuscular fatigue. The exact hypoxic response to BFR exercise is not well understood but preliminary evidence suggests that BFR may acutely i) lead to enhanced hypoxia-inducible factor-1 α mediated cell signaling through an increase of its mRNA expression (Taylor et al. 2016a) as classically seen in response to hypoxia (Maxwell 2005) and/or ii) increase corticospinal excitability, possibly due to altered sensory feedback via group III and IV afferents (Brandner et al. 2015). Hemodynamic responses are

151

known to differ between the upper and lower limb. For example, arm exercise is known to elicit larger increases in arterial blood pressure than leg exercise (Calbet et al. 2015a) potentially inducing differences in response to BFR. Whether BFR in upper limbs may specifically modify arm-cycling performance, the amount of fatigue and/or its etiology after high-intensity arm-cycling sprints needs to be clarified. Also, it remains unknown if the combination of BFR plus hypoxia would have cumulative deleterious effects on RSA performance and neuromuscular function.

The purpose of this study was to determine the effects of repeated maximal intensity armcycling sprints on elbow flexor neuromuscular function when exercise is performed to exhaustion in normoxia *vs.* hypoxia and/or BFR. It was first hypothesized that arm-cycling performance would be more impacted under both hypoxia and/or BFR compared to normoxia. Secondly, it was hypothesized that during exhaustive exercise, BFR would predominantly affect peripheral parameters of fatigue due to the reduction in blood flow restraining the removal of muscle metabolites, while hypoxia would rather exacerbate central fatigue through a direct brain-hypoxic effect.

Material and Methods

Participants

Fourteen healthy volunteers (10 men and 4 women: age 26 ± 4 yrs; height 181 ± 6 cm; mass 76 ± 9 kg) provided written informed consent after being informed of the procedures and risks involved in the current study. All participants were physically active (at least 4 h of training per week), unacclimated to high altitude (no sojourn above 2,000 m of altitude over the past 3 months) and completed the magnetic stimulation safety checklist for TMS. Two participants were excluded for TMS (one had a metal implant in the head and the other previously had a serious head injury) making 12 participants for TMS parameters only. Participants were asked to refrain from intense physical activity on the day before testing and to refrain from having a meal or drinking caffeinated beverages in the 2 h preceding the tests due to potential effects on exercise responses. This study was conducted according to the seventh revision of the Declaration of Helsinki (2013) and approved by the local ethics committee [CER-VD; protocol number: PB_2016-01170 (138/15)].

Study design

A preliminary session was first conducted to familiarize participants with sprint exercise on the arm cycloergometer, and with neuromuscular function evaluation (NME) procedures. Individual pressure inducing total brachial artery occlusion was also assessed during this session following 15 min of seated rest (see description below).

At least 3 days after the preliminary session, four experimental sessions (3 to 4 days apart) were performed for each subject in a randomized order (to limit potential training effect) at a similar time of the day and under standard environmental conditions (temperature $24 \pm 2^{\circ}$ C, relative humidity $41 \pm 5\%$, and barometric pressure 731 ± 4 mmHg) in a normobaric hypoxic chamber (ATS Altitude, Sydney, Australia) located in the laboratory at an altitude of 380 m (Lausanne, Switzerland). At the beginning of each session, electrical muscle stimulation (EMS), electrical nerve stimulation (ENS), as well as TMS sites and intensities, were assessed to allow the elbow flexors of the right arm to be investigated (see Fig. 1A for an overview). A standardized isometric warm-up was completed with repetitions of 5-s isometric

contractions / 5-s rest with intensities self-adjusted by the participant to progressively reach maximal voluntary contraction (MVC) during the last three trials. After a subsequent 6 min recovery period, participants performed the NME (see Fig. 1B). After another 6 min recovery period, participants engaged in a repeated arm-cycling sprint ability test (aRSA) to exhaustion. The aRSA test was conducted under either normoxia (NOR), normoxia with BFR (N_{BFR}), hypoxia (HYP, with an inspired fraction of oxygen $FiO_2 = 0.13$) or hypoxia with BFR (H_{BFR}, FiO₂ = 0.13). The FiO₂ of 0.13 was chosen based on previous literature showing no impact on single sprint performance but changes in cerebral oxygenation (Smith and Billaut 2010). Post NME were measured 2 min after aRSA. This 2-min period was standardized between the end of the aRSA and the beginning of the post-test to adjust the setup. TMS, ENS, and EMS to assess corticospinal excitability and peripheral fatigue were achieved during NME. In addition, arterial (SpO₂), the pre-frontal cortex (PFC) and *biceps brachii* (BB) oxygenation (using near-infrared spectroscopy) were monitored and EMG signals of the BB and triceps brachii (TB) muscles were measured continuously throughout sessions. Each session lasted ~120 min and was executed in a single semi-blinded fashion, as participants were naïve regarding altitude level but were not blinded for the blood flow restriction conditions.

Experimental session

EMG, stimulation sites and intensities assessment

Electromyography recordings. EMG signals of the BB and TB muscles were recorded during the whole session with three pairs of bipolar silver chloride surface electrodes (10-mm diameter, Type 0601000402, Contrôle Graphique, France), the reference electrode being placed on the elbow. The recording electrodes were secured lengthwise to the skin over the muscle belly following SENIAM recommendations, with an inter-electrode distance of 20 mm. A low resistance (<5 k Ω) between the two electrodes was verified after shaving, gently abrading the skin and cleaning it with isopropyl alcohol. Electrode positions were marked using a permanent marker during the first session to ensure a reproducible position through subsequent visits. EMG and force signals were amplified, analog-to-digitally converted, bandpass filtered (10-500 Hz, input impedance = 200 MH, common mode rejection ratio = 85 dB, gain = 1000) and recorded at a sampling rate of 2 kHz using BioAmp (octal bio-amplifier)

ML138, ADInstruments, Bella Vista, Australia) and PowerLab system (16/35, ADInstruments,). Data were stored and analyzed offline with LabChart 8 software (ADInstruments).

Peripheral muscle and nerve stimulation. For both EMS and ENS, square-wave pulses (respectively 100 µs and 200 µs duration) were delivered via high-voltage constant-current stimulators (DS7A; Digitimer, Hertfordshire, UK). Single ENS was delivered percutaneously to the brachial plexus via a 20-mm diameter cathode electrode (Ag-AgCl, Controle Graphique Medical, Brie-Comte-Robert, France) pressed into the supraclavicular fossa and a 50×90-mm anode gel pad electrode (Durastick Plus, DJO Global, Vista, USA) placed on the acromion. ENS intensity started at 10 mA and was incremented by step of 10 mA every 5 seconds up to the maximal amplitude of BB M-wave was reached. Stimulation intensity corresponding at 130% of this latter was used thereafter.

Since ENS to the brachial plexus also recruits the antagonist's muscle, paired-pulse EMS (10 Hz) was used instead to obtain the force response of the BB. It was delivered percutaneously via a 45x45-mm cathode pad gel electrode (Durastick Plus, DJO Global, Vista, USA) placed over the BB motor point found using a stimulator pen (Compex SA, Ecublens, Switzerland) and a 50×90-mm anode gel pad electrode (Durastick Plus, DJO Global) positioned over the bicipital tendon (2-3 cm proximal to the elbow). Initially, EMS intensity was set at 20 mA and was augmented by step of 10 mA every 5 seconds to reach the maximal amplitude of force response. Again, 130% of the defined optimal intensity was used for the whole experiment.

Transcranial magnetic stimulation. A magnetic stimulator (Magstim BiStim², The Magstim Company, Dyfed, UK) was used to stimulate the motor cortex during voluntary isometric elbow flexion. Single and paired (3-ms interspaced) TMS pulses were delivered with a circular coil (135-mm outside diameter) held tangentially to the skull. Participants wore a swim cap, secured to the skin, on which lines were drawn between the preauricular points and from *nasion* to *inion* to identify the vertex. Every 1.5 cm from 3 cm anterior to 3 cm posterior to the vertex were demarcated along the *nasal-inion* line and also to 2 cm left from this line. At each point, a stimulus was delivered at 50% of maximal stimulator power output during 5-s isometric elbow flexion at 10% MVC. The optimal stimulus site was defined as the one eliciting the largest MEP in the BB and a MEP as small as possible in the TB. The position was drawn directly on the swim cap to ensure reproducibility of the stimulus throughout the session. The optimal TMS site was defined for each session.

The active motor threshold (AMT) was defined from multiple sets of contractions (6 x 5s on / 10 s off) at 10% MVC during which participants received a TMS starting at 25% of maximal stimulator output and increasing by 5% after each set, up to the specific intensity eliciting at least 4 MEP visually recognizable and \geq 50 μ V out of the 6 contractions in the BB (Forman et al. 2015). The intensity for eliciting MEP during PRE and POST neuromuscular evaluations was set at 140% of AMT to avoid underestimating evoked responses (Temesi et al. 2014). Short interval intracortical inhibition (SICI) indices were obtained by administrating two TMS pulses interspaced by 3 ms during contractions at 10% MVC. The first (conditioning) stimulation was set at 70% of AMT and the second (test) stimulation was 140% of AMT.

Arm cycling position and dynamic warm-up

Participants sat upright, with hips and knees flexed at 90° in front of a cycloergometer (Excalibur, Lode, Groningen, The Netherlands) mounted on a table and equipped with hand grips. The crankset center was on the same level as the chest and arms were nearly straight and shoulders at 90° when the grips reached the further point. Participants were authorized to use their feet to stabilized body position. Participants performed a 6-min bout on the cycloergometer at 1 W/Kg. After a 3 min resting period, they subsequently performed 2 maximal sprints for 10 s, interspaced again with a 3 min recovery. During each sprint, the cycloergometer was set in 'Wingate' mode and the torque factor (i.e. resistance) was set at 0.4 Nm·kg⁻¹ (adjusted from pilot testing). Strong verbal encouragements were given during the sprints to promote maximal efforts.

Arm repeated sprint ability test

The aRSA test consisted of a repetition of 10-s sprints interspersed with 20 s of active recovery (20 W) up to task failure (i.e. volitional stop or inability to maintain a cadence >70 rpm). Participants were instructed to go "as hard as you can" from the start of every sprint. The mean power of the first sprint of the aRSA test had to reach at least 95% of the best sprint performed during the warm-up in order to limit any pacing strategies.

Neuromuscular function evaluation

Participants were in a similar position as described above but the right arm was positioned in an isometric ergometer equipped with a strain gauge (Captels, St. Mathieu deTreviers, France) with the shoulder and elbow flexed at 90° allowing measurement of the force evoked or produced voluntarily by the elbow flexors.



Figure 1. A: Protocol overview. B: Details on neuromuscular function evaluation (NME) performed PRE and POST exercise. AMT, active motor threshold; aRSA, arm-cycling repeated sprint ability; BFR, blood flow restriction; EMS, electrical muscle stimulation; ENS, electrical nerve stimulation; MVC, maximal voluntary contraction; TMS, transcranial magnetic stimulation

As described in Fig. 1B, NME was separated into three distinct parts. It consisted in (I) a supramaximal single-pulse ENS delivered during a brief MVC of the elbow flexors and a paired-pulse EMS delivered 3 s after MVC to assess elbow flexors contractile properties; (II) a voluntary contraction of the elbow flexors with TMS at different torque levels without rest between them (i.e. MVC, followed directly by 75% and 50% MVC all in a continuous way, refer to Mira et al. (2017) for methodology of the technique) to assess corticospinal excitability, CSP, and cortical VA. A single ENS was then delivered 3 s after the last

contraction to assess sarcolemma excitability; (III) 20 contractions at 10% of MVC force (3-s on / 3-s off) with TMS, where contractions 1-5 and 11-15 were superimposed by a single pulse TMS to measure MEP and contractions 6-10 and 16-20 superimposed by paired-pulse TMS to assess SICI (Rothwell et al. 2009). Parts I and II were then performed again (I' and II', respectively) to complete the testing procedure. This testing procedure lasted ~4 min.

Near-infrared spectroscopy measurements

Tissue saturation index was estimated in the BB (TSI_{BB}) and the PFC (TSI_{PFC}) throughout testing sessions using 3x2 wavelengths (760 and 850 nm) multichannel continuous wave NIRS systems based on spatially resolved spectroscopy (respectively Portamon and Portalite, Artinis Medical Systems, the Netherlands) with 30, 35, 40 mm optode distance (between receiver and transmitters). The probes were secured on the skin using double-sided tape and covered to prevent ambient light from disturbing the optode. Elbow flexor muscle oxygenation was assessed from the left BB, and the left PFC oxygenation was assessed between Fp1 and F3 locations according to the international 10–20 EEG system. Data were recorded continuously at the maximum frequency for each device (10 Hz for Portamon and 50 Hz for Portalite) and filtered at 10Hz with a 4th-order low-pass zero-phase Butterworth filter (cutoff frequency 0.2 Hz).

Cardiorespiratory parameters.

Arterial oxygen saturation (SpO₂) was recorded continuously during the session by pulse oximetry at the ear lobe (Radical-7, Masimo Corporation, Irvine, CA, USA). Blood flow restriction

Narrow (3 cm wide) nylon specialized cuffs were applied to the most proximal portion of the arms. The cuff pressure was regulated by a rapid cuff inflator system (E20 Hokanson, Bellevue, WA, USA). At the beginning of the familiarization session, the cuffs were inflated to 50 mmHg and the pressure was slowly raised until the arterial flow was no longer detected during inflation. The pulse (arterial blood flow) was detected using a hand-held bidirectional Doppler probe (Linear probe L12-5L60N; Software EchoWave II 3.4.4, Telemed Medical Systems, Milano, Italy) placed on the brachial artery. This operation was performed two to three times and resting arterial occlusion pressure was set as the mean cuff pressure at which

a pulse was not present. It was then used 45% (95.4 \pm 11.9 mmHg) of this value during the BFR conditions as recommended by Loenneke et al. (2014). The cuffs were inflated during the dynamic warm-up, 5-sec prior to the beginning of neuromuscular testing and 5-sec before the first sprint of the aRSA test with a 6-min wash-out period between them.

Data analysis

All the data were analyzed blinded. SpO₂ and TSI were averaged respectively over a period of 5 and 10 s at the end of the 20 W period before the first sprint and during the last sprint of the aRSA test. The maximal force was measured during part II of the NME as the maximal force before any TMS stimulation (Fig. 1B). The amplitude of the M-wave was measured from the superimposed single pulse ENS during MVC (M_{SUP}) and in relaxed muscles, 3 s after the contraction (Mmax). EMG root mean square (EMG_{RMS}) was calculated during MVC over a 500-ms period before TMS delivery and normalized using M_{SUP} .

MEPs of the BB were recorded using TMS superimposed on maximal (MEP₁₀₀) or submaximal (75%, 50%, e.g. MEP₅₀) contractions and were normalized by M_{SUP}. SICI were normalized by MEP obtained on the same level of contraction (i.e. 10%). CSP were manually analyzed as the time between the TMS delivery and the return of pre-stimulation EMG activity.

Force amplitude for paired EMS at 10 Hz (Db10) was determined as the maximal force measured after paired EMS in relaxed muscle 3 s after the end of MVC. VA_{TMS} was quantified by measuring force responses to TMS. Superimposed twitch (SIT) amplitude evoked during contractions at 100, 75, and 50% MVC, and the y-intercept of the linear regression between SITs and voluntary force allowed to quantify the estimated resting twitch (ERT). When linear regression was not linear ($R^2 < 0.9$), ERT was excluded and VA_{TMS} was not calculated for the considered set of contractions. Hence, one subject was excluded from VA_{TMS} measurements, otherwise, R^2 were acceptable permitting VA_{TMS} to be determined in 11 subjects using the equation:

$$VA_{TMS} = [1 - (SIT \times ERT^{-1})] \times 100$$

The number of sprints was defined as the total sprints performed by the subject before exhaustion, no cut off (e.g. %Pmax) was applied and the best sprint (mean power over 10 s) during the aRSA test was calculated.

Statistical analysis was performed on the raw values for sprint performance indices (number of sprints and mean power output of the best sprint) whereas delta (Δ) values were used between PRE and POST, expressed in percentage of PRE to evaluate the effect of *altitude* and/or *occlusion* on MVC force, EMG_{RMS}, VA_{TMS}, Db10, Mmax, MEP, SICI, SpO₂, and TSI.

Statistical analysis

All statistical procedures were completed on Statistica v10 (Statsoft, Tulsa, OK). Grubbs test was used to determined potential outliers and when such value was detected, it was deleted. If more than one data was determined as outliers or missing for the same period of analysis (i.e. PRE or POST), participants were excluded of the variable analysis (cf. parameters of the F-value).

Normality of the distributions and homogeneity of the variances were confirmed using Shapiro-Wilk normality tests and the Levene's tests, respectively. Two-way ANOVAs (*altitude*occlusion*) with repeated measures were performed to evaluate the effect of an aRSA performed in different conditions on performance, MVC force, EMG_{RMS}, VA_{TMS}, Db10, Mmax, MEP, SICI, SpO₂, and TSI. Post-hoc Tukey's tests were applied to determine a difference if the ANOVA revealed a significant main or interaction effect. Statistical significance was set at P < 0.05. Effect sizes are reported as partial eta-squared (η_p^2) for ANOVAs [with interpretation thresholds fixed at 0.02, 0.13, 0.26 for respectively, small, medium and large, (Cohen 1988)]. All data are presented as mean ± SD.

Two additional statistical analyses were performed. Since their results are not the focus of the study but may be of interest for some readers, they are depicted in the electronic supplementary material (ESM) to not overload the article. 1) Two-way ANOVAs (*altitude*occlusion*) with repeated measures were performed on PRE-values only to evaluate the acute effect of *altitude* and *occlusion* before the start of the fatiguing test (see results in ESM I). And 2) T-tests for dependent samples were performed on data PRE/POST aRSA test in NOR condition only to describe variables evolution in terms of absolute values rather than delta in this "control" condition (see results in ESM II).

Results

Performance and saturation indices

As shown in Fig. 2A, *occlusion* had a significant effect on aRSA test performance decreasing the number of sprints (10 ± 4 in BFR *vs.* 13 ± 7 without BFR, $F_{(1,13)}$ =9.73, P<0.01, η_p^2 =0.43). *Altitude* also affected performance, (9 ± 3 sprints in hypoxia *vs.* 14 ± 6 in normoxia, $F_{(1,13)}$ =14.30, P=0.002, η_p^2 =0.52). *Altitude*occlusion* interaction did not reach significance but tended to show an attenuation of BFR effect when combined with hypoxia ($F_{(1,13)}$ =3.41, P=0.09, η_p^2 =0.21). The same result occurred when considering the total work (Time × Mean power, not presented here).

Mean power output of the best sprint (Fig. 2B) was impacted by *occlusion* ($F_{(1,13)}=7.65$, P=0.02, $\eta_p^2=0.37$), but was not impacted by *altitude* ($F_{(1,13)}=2.70$, P=0.12) or *altitude*occlusion* ($F_{(1,13)}=0.07$, P=0.79). The decrease in MVC force after exercise was not impacted by *occlusion* ($F_{(1,11)}=3.39$, P=0.09), *altitude* ($F_{(1,11)}=2.37$, P=0.15), or *altitude*occlusion* ($F_{(1,11)}=3.03$, P=0.11). Data are presented in Table 1.



Figure 2 Performance on the arm-cycling repeated sprint ability test depending on the condition: normoxia without blood flow restriction (NOR), normoxia with BFR (NBFR), hypoxia without BFR (HYP) and hypoxia with BFR (HBFR). A: Number of sprints completed until exhaustion. B: Best single sprint performance as mean power output over the 10-s period. # indicates a significant main effect of occlusion and * indicates a significant main effect of altitude. Statistical significance set at P < 0.05.

Fig. 3 shows that Δ SpO₂ and Δ TSI_{PFC} from the end of the warm-up to the end of aRSA were not impacted by *occlusion* (F_(1,13)=0.45, P=0.51 and F_(1,13)=2.12, P=0.17, respectively),

altitude ($F_{(1,13)}=2.92$, P=0.11 and $F_{(1,13)}=0.17$, P=0.69, respectively) or *altitude*occlusion* ($F_{(1,13)}=2.21$, P=0.51 and $F_{(1,13)}=0.17$, P=0.68, respectively).

 Δ TSI_{BB} was not impacted by *occlusion* compared to without BFR (F_(1,13)=1.43, P=0.25) but decreased with *altitude* (-7.6 ± 6.8% *vs.* +1.3 ± 7.1% in normoxia, F_(1,13)=35.8, P<0.01, η_p^2 =0.73). The interaction *altitude*occlusion* was significant (F_(1,13)=5.61, P=0.03, η_p^2 =0.30) and the post-hoc analysis showed different evolution in NOR (+1.9 ± 8.6%) *vs.* HYP (-10.3 ± 7.4%, P<0.01, *d*=1.52) and *vs.* H_{BFR} (-4.8 ± 5%, P=0.02 *d*=0.96).



Figure 3 Arterial and tissue oxygenation PRE and POST arm-cycling repeated sprint ability test. A: Peripheral arterial oxygen saturation (SpO2). B: Tissue saturation index of the biceps brachii (TSI_{BB}). C: Tissue saturation index of the pre-frontal cortex (TSI_{PFC}). Dotted lines help to refer to values observed in control (NOR) condition PRE exercise. \$ indicates a significant main effect of time, # indicates a significant main effect of occlusion, * indicates a significant main effect of altitude and Δ^* indicates a significant main effect of altitude on the delta from PRE to POST aRSA test. Statistical significance set at P < 0.05.

Peripheral indices

An example of raw data from typical subjects are presented in Fig.4. Δ Mmax from PRE to POST exercise was more impacted with BFR (-9.4 ± 1.9%) compared to without BFR (+0.8 ± 2.0%, F_(1,13)=14.03, P<0.01, η_p^2 =0.52) but was not affected by *altitude* (F_(1,13)=0.98, P=0.34) or *altitude**occlusion (F_(1,13)=0.23, P=0.64).

 Δ Db10 was significantly greater from PRE to POST exercise in *occlusion* conditions (-40.8 ± 4.7% vs. -27.9 ± 4.5% without BFR, F_(1,13)=10.73, P<0.01, η_p^2 =0.45) but was not impacted by *altitude* (F_(1,13)=3.43, P=0.09) or *altitude***occlusion* (F_(1,13)=1.01, P=0.37).



Figure 4 Peripheral fatigue indices PRE and POST arm-cycling repeated sprint ability test performed in 4 conditions: normoxia without blood flow restriction (NOR), normoxia with BFR (NBFR), hypoxia without BFR (HYP), and hypoxia with BFR (HBFR). A: amplitude of the M-wave (Mmax) measured from the relaxed muscles 3 s after maximal voluntary contraction. B: force amplitude for paired electrical muscle stimulation at 10 Hz (Db10) in relaxed muscle 3 s after maximal voluntary contraction. Presented as raw data from a typical subject.

Central indices

 Δ VA_{TMS} from PRE to POST exercise was not impacted by any factors (*occlusion*: F_(1,10)=0.25, P=0.62; *altitude*: F_(1,10)=0.95, P=0.35; *altitude*occlusion*: F_(1,10)=0.92, P=0.36). Δ EMG_{RMS} was not impacted by *occlusion* (F_(1,10)=0.41, P=0.54) or *altitude*occlusion* (F_(1,10)=0.31, P=0.59) but was significantly less increased with *altitude* (+3.5 ± 4.2% in hypoxia *vs.* +18.3 ± 4.1% in normoxia, F_(1,10)=5.09, P=0.05, η_P^2 =0.34). As shown in Table 1, exercise-induced adaptations in MEP were not affected by *occlusion* (e.g. Δ MEP₇₅: F_(1,9)=2.78, P=0.13) or *altitude*occlusion* (e.g. Δ MEP₇₅: F_(1,9)=0.33: P=0.58) but exercise-induced increase in corticospinal excitability was significantly lower with *altitude* (e.g. Δ MEP₇₅: -2.4 ± 4.2% in hypoxia *vs.* +16 ± 5.9% in normoxia, F_(1,9)=6.78, P=0.03, η_P^2 =0.43).

 Δ CSP from PRE to POST exercise was not impacted by any factors during contractions at 100, 75 or 50% MVC. The same was observed for SICI.

 Table 1
 Effects of an arm-cycling repeated sprint ability test to task failure on elbow flexors, saturation index, and neuromuscular function under different combination of hypoxia and blood flow restriction

	Conditions	Factors					
	NOR	N _{BFR}	НҮР	H _{BFR}	Altitude	Occlusion	Alti- tude×occlu- sion
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·					P value	P value	P value
Performance							
TTE (s)	460 ± 220	340 ± 100	250 ± 70	220 ± 70	0.002	0.008	0.088
Sbest (W)	547 ± 149	520 ± 137	530 ± 158	493 ± 147	0.124	0.0160	0.786
ΔMVC (%)	-16.5 ± 9	-10.5 ± 12.1	-11.1 ± 10.4	-9.8 ± 11.1	0.152	0.093	0.110
Peripheral indices							
$\Delta M_{\rm max}$ (%)	0.5 ± 14.6	-11.6 ± 10.9	1.1 ± 6	-7.2 ± 12.3	0.339	0.002	0.643
ΔDb10 (%)	-29.3 ± 23.2	-46.5 ± 19.8	-26.6 ± 18	-35 ± 19.8	0.087	0.006	0.332
Central indices							
ΔVA_{TMS} (%)	-3.4 ± 2.8	-1.3 ± 3.3	-3.5 ± 6.7	-4.0 ± 5.6	0.352	0.627	0.360
ΔEMG_{RMS} (%)	18.2 ± 26.5	18.5 ± 18.9	7.8 ± 20.9	-0.8 ± 20.2	0.048	0.538	0.588
ΔMEP ₁₀₀ (%)	20 ± 36.4	7.2 ± 11.4	2.6 ± 17.7	-5.9 ± 13.9	0.051	0.182	0.742
ΔMEP ₇₅ (%)	23.2 ± 33.8	8.8 ± 15.5	-0.3 ± 21.8	-4.6 ± 17.1	0.028	0.130	0.580
ΔMEP ₅₀ (%)	15.7 ± 27.2	12.9 ± 12.3	4.7 ± 25.3	-8.7 ± 10.1	0.030	0.072	0.52
ΔCSP ₁₀₀ (%)	-1.7 ± 8.3	5.3 ± 14.9	3.8 ± 6.2	8.1 ± 11.1	0.097	0.064	0.702
ΔCSP_{75} (%)	-2.5 ± 9.4	3.9 ± 13.5	4.0 ± 9.0	3.7 ± 8.7	0.200	0.327	0.240
ΔCSP ₅₀ (%)	-5.4 ± 10.4	0.6 ± 11.4	-1.1 ± 8.0	1.9 ± 6.2	0.310	0.130	0.487
Δ SICI (%)	4.3 ± 16.6	7.5 ± 20.3	6.6 ± 21.3	-3.1 ± 18.6	0.407	0.579	0.211

Data are presented as a delta from PRE to POST exercise (except for time to exhaustion and the best sprint performance). Values are presented as mean (SD). Statistical significance was set at P<0.05 and is highlighted by bold type. NOR normoxia without blood flow restriction, N_{BFR} normoxia with blood flow restriction, HYP hypoxia without blood flow restriction, H_{BFR} hypoxia with blood flow restriction, TTE time to exhaustion, Sbest best sprint performed (in mean power), MVC maximal voluntary contraction force, Mmax maximal M-wave, Db10 force evoked by a 10 Hz doublets, VA_{TMS} voluntary activation assess by TMS, EMG_{RMS} EMG root mean square, MEP₁₀₀, MEP₇₅, MEP₅₀ motor evoked potential, respectively, during MVC, submaximal contraction at 75 and 50% of MVC, CSP₁₀₀, CSP₇₅, CSP₅₀ cortical silent period, respectively, during MVC, submaximal contraction at 75, and 50% of MVC, SICI short-interval intracortical inhibition during contraction at 10% MVC

Discussion

The purpose of this study was to determine the effects of systemic hypoxia and/or localized hypoxia induced by BFR on performance and neuromuscular function adaptations induced by an arm-cycling RSA test. The main finding is that the number of sprints performed was similarly decreased when exercise is performed under hypoxia ($FiO_2 = 0.13$) and/or moderate BFR (45% of resting full ischemia). Regarding the neuromuscular function, BFR impacted the peripheral compartment, specifically leading to an impairment of the muscle excitation-contraction coupling. Contrarily, hypoxia led to lower corticospinal excitability compared to normoxia, potentially indicating an incapacity of the corticospinal pathway to adapt to fatigue as in normoxia.

aRSA test Performance

The number of sprints performed to exhaustion decreased both with *altitude* and *occlusion* without any clear cumulative effect, indicating that both hypoxic stressors negatively impacted the ability to repeat arm-cycling sprints. It has been shown that partial occlusion impacts muscular endurance during low-load resistance training (up to 40% of 1RM), decreasing the number of repetitions completed at a given intensity (Wernbom et al. 2006). To our knowledge, this is the first study demonstrating such a diminution when repeated sprints are performed with BFR in the arms. Regarding the impact of hypoxia on RSA performance, the topic is more widely documented and the decreased number of sprints performed was expected (Girard et al. 2017). It is yet to determine if the mechanisms responsible for the decrease in the number of sprints are similar for the two modalities.

The mean power of the best sprint performed during each session was lowered by *occlusion* but not by *altitude*, leading to speculation that BFR immediately negatively impacts the ability of the neuromuscular system to produce maximal force (cf. MVC, Db10). This could be, at least partly, related to PRE-exercise lower levels of muscle oxygenation with BFR (refer to ESM I), which is not visible with *altitude* only. These observations reinforce the assumption that hypoxia *per se* does not impact short isolated sprint performance (Girard et al. 2017).

Oxygen saturation indices

At the end of the aRSA test, both SpO₂ and TSI_{PFC} decreased in similar ways from warm-up level, no matter the condition. However, since both variables were impacted negatively at rest by *altitude* (see ESM I), it is likely that the level of deoxygenation at the end of exercise was exacerbated with hypoxia (Fig 3A). In addition, TSIBB decreased with altitude whereas no changes were noticed in normoxia. It means that despite not being affected by altitude at rest, muscular oxygenation imbalance was exacerbated with *altitude* compared to normoxia. This implies that the vascular system was not able to match the muscular demand in oxygen during exercise in hypoxic conditions. This supports previous studies that have demonstrated no peripheral vasodilation during leg cycling repeated sprint in hypoxia (Willis et al. 2017). However, further researches are needed regarding the question of peripheral vasodilatation during intermittent supra-maximal exercise in hypoxia in the upper limb as the present results don't allow us to investigate this hypothesis. Interestingly, while impacting muscle oxygenation at rest, BFR had no major additional effect during exercise (Figure 3C). This could be explained by the fact that muscle activity during aRSA test could induce an increase of intramuscular pressure that may reach levels high enough to impede blood flow by itself, therefore bypassing the effect BFR may have had. This is well known with isometric contractions (Sadamoto et al. 1983) and also occurs during dynamic isolated exercise at 50% of 1RM (Wernborn et al. 2006). It should also be noted that the current study used 45% of the pressure corresponding to total occlusion at rest as recommended by Loenneke et al. (2014) to promote muscle adaptation during resistance training and previously used on lower limb muscle during high-intensity repeated-sprint exercise (Willis et al. 2018). It has been shown that during a dynamic exercise, arterial pressure and muscular vasodilation are correlated with the exercise intensity (Saltin et al. 1998). Therefore, in this study, it is likely that supramaximal exercise intensity induced vasodilatation and an increase in arterial pressure sufficient to counteract the action of BFR on tissue oxygenation parameters. Taken together, these results show different oxygenation perturbations regarding the tissue and the use of BFR or hypoxia.

Neuromuscular parameters

No matter the condition, the aRSA test induced comparable changes in MVC from PRE to POST (mean Δ MVC of -12 ± 10.7% over conditions, see ESM II for absolute responses on NOR condition only). To note that the tendency towards the lower impact of BFR on Δ MVC

could be partially related to the fact that BFR already has an effect at rest (i.e. before the fatiguing exercise, see ESM I), therefore limiting the possible range of force decrease. These results are in accordance with previous literature showing similar force decrement in the elbow flexors (-9%) after a set of 10 repeated sprints in normoxia without BFR (Pearcey et al. 2016). In the present study, despite a lower number of sprints performed in hypoxia and/or BFR condition, the decrease in MVC seems to be consistent, indicating a similar global level of fatigue. Thus, only the rate of fatigue seems to be accelerated rather than its amounts as shown by the shorter TTE (table 1). After a set of fifteen 5-s leg cycling sprints performed either in normoxia or hypoxia, Billaut and Buchheit (2013) observed similar peripheral fatigue (-54.3% in peak twitch) whereas central indices were more impacted in hypoxia (VA: -3.4% in normoxia and -6.7% in hypoxia; EMG_{RMS} :-7.6% in normoxia and -15.7% in hypoxia). The authors concluded that muscle recruitment and performance were regulated by the central nervous system to restrict the peripheral fatigue generated. However, only systemic hypoxia was used in that previous study. Accordingly, it is unknown if the fatigue etiology would be different depending on local and/or systemic hypoxia stresses.

Peripheral and central fatigue are known to both be partly accountable for the decrease of MVC force after leg cycling sprints (Girard et al. 2011a) and arm cycling sprints (Pearcey et al. 2016). The present study showed a similar decrease in Db10 from PRE to POST (-29.8% in NOR) in line with previous results of Pearcey et al. (2016) in normoxia in the same muscle group (-27.6% for peak twitch with a 5s delay between the end of the sprint and the measurements). However, this decrease in Db10 was exacerbated in the present BFR conditions. Also, sarcolemma excitability was well preserved in NOR and HYP conditions while Mmax decreased when exercise was performed with BFR. Together, these observations underline a BFR-induced specific fatigue etiology through challenging peripheral perturbations. A decrease in Db10 suggests that peripheral fatigue occurred at and/or beyond the sarcolemma and could partly relate to impairments in the muscle excitation-contraction coupling potentially due to an intracellular accumulation of H⁺ (Bishop et al. 2004) although debated (Allen et al. 2008), a reduction in blood lactate removal (Thomas 2004) and a Phosphocreatine breakdown (Glaister 2005). The known effect of BFR developing an accumulation of muscle metabolites (Loenneke et al. 2011), which is strongly related to the onset of peripheral fatigue (Kirkendall 1990) could explain the higher decrease of Δ Db10 under BFR conditions. In the literature, Mmax impairment is explained by the change in ion concentrations across the muscle membrane. During ecological exercise, protecting mechanisms prevent a loss of excitability (refer to Allen et al. [2008] for a review of the mechanisms involved). However, the use of BFR is known to induce muscular damages (Umbel et al. 2009) leading to sarcolemmal permeability (Wernbom et al. 2012) and therefore could imbalance the ion distribution across the sarcolemma explaining the diminution of Mmax. The link between sarcolemmal excitability and sarcolemmal permeability has been previously reported during exercise (Piitulainen et al. 2008). It is likely that BFR impact peripheral factors at rest due to tissue deoxygenation but also because of an impairment of the metabolite's removal *per se* during exercise.

As a global index of central fatigue, the present study showed a decrease of VA_{TMS} after exhaustive dynamic exercise of the elbow flexors in normoxia without BFR (refer to ESM II for details). Comparable VA_{TMS} decrements were observed whatever the condition. Exercising with hypoxia can lead to cerebral perturbation and exacerbated central fatigue (Goodall et al. 2010). It looks like the present experimental conditions were not constraining enough to aggravate the diminution of VA measurements in comparison to normoxia. The reason might be the relatively moderate systemic hypoxic stimulus used (FiO₂=0.13) compared to other studies (e.g. Goodall et al. [2010], FiO₂=0.10) and the moderate muscle mass involved in the task (i.e. arms vs. legs) preventing SpO₂ to decrease towards critical values for the central nervous system (e.g. 85-90% vs ~75-80% for Goodall et al. [2010] to fully activate motoneurons). Hence, with higher systemic constraints, these authors reported an exacerbated central fatigue with less peripheral fatigue for a similar decrease in MVC (i.e. modified fatigue etiology compared to normoxia) what could, however, explain the tendency of *altitude* to limit the decrease in Δ Db10 force in the current study.

MEP amplitude in the BB tended to increase from PRE to POST aRSA test in normoxic conditions at 100, 75 or 50% of the MVC. Pearcey et al. (2016) showed that during the first 5 sprints, MEP amplitude decreased before returning to resting values after the 10th sprint. However, participants stopped the exercise before exhaustion maybe preventing them to increase MEP value even higher than the resting values. In another study (Fernandez-del-Olmo et al. 2013) MEP amplitude at 75 and 50% of MVC increased after a set of two 30-s Wingate test. It has been hypothesized that the increase in MEP could be an adaptation from the corticospinal pathway to compensate for a decrease in force production due to peripheral fatigue (Gruet et al. 2013). In hypoxia, MEP did not increase as in normoxia. This indicates lower exercise-induced excitability of the motor cortex in hypoxia compared to normoxia and potentially incapacity of the corticospinal pathway to adapt as in normoxia. Similar results were observed for ΔEMG_{RMS} during MVC in the BB with lower increases in hypoxia compared to normoxia potentially indicating an incapacity of the central nervous system to adapt fully

during acute hypoxic exposure. Those results can be related to the effect of hypoxia on TSIPFC leading to lower cerebral oxygenation levels and altered corticospinal excitability (although these perturbations are not marked enough to impact more global central indices such as VA). In the present study, BFR did not induce any measurable central adaptations in comparison to without BFR as observed by Brandner et al. (2015), who mentioned the potential impact of BFR on III and IV afferents that would modulate corticospinal excitability. This might be explained by the relatively low pressure used to elicit BFR and the specificity of the exercise (as discussed above in the "Oxygen saturation indices" section) therefore limiting the impact of BFR on sensory feedback. No differences were found regarding the impact of an aRSA test performed with or without altitude and occlusion on SICI results, suggesting that neither hypoxia and/or BFR would impact directly intracortical inhibition through GABAA receptors activity. In accordance with previous studies measuring neuromuscular parameters after locomotive tasks in normoxia (Jubeau et al. 2014), CSP was not lengthened after aRSA test either by occlusion or altitude suggesting that intracortical inhibition through GABA_B receptors activity was not impacted at exhaustion. Despite a moderate specific impact of altitude on fatigue etiology, evidence converges to consider that exercising within hypoxia rather than normoxia or BFR challenges predominantly central parameters and it can be hypothesized that this effect would be exacerbated with lower FiO₂ level than in the present study.

Methodological considerations

As a limitation, the neuromuscular function was not able to be assessed immediately at the end of the aRSA tests. We must acknowledge that this could have induced some underestimation regarding both the peripheral (Froyd et al. 2013) and central parameters of fatigue (Mira et al. 2017). Further research should definitively explore the time-course of recovery of the neuromuscular function after high-intensity exercise coupled with different hypoxic stressors. However, the time between exhaustion and post-exercise neuromuscular tests was strictly standardized to 2 min as previously used in the literature (Jubeau et al. 2017) to ensure similar testing conditions no matter the session.

Conclusion

The number of sprints performed during an aRSA test and the decline in the ability to produce force after exercise decreases to a similar extent when exercise was performed under hypoxia and/or moderate BFR. However, fatigue etiology differs depending on hypoxic modalities. BFR specifically led to an impairment of the muscle excitation-contraction coupling probably due to immediate muscle deoxygenation and impairment in metabolites removal ability during exercise, whereas hypoxia predominantly impacted corticospinal excitability in line with lower levels of cerebral oxygenation, potentially indicating incapacity of the corticospinal pathway to adapt to fatigue as in normoxia. Further investigations are needed to understand the recovery time course of central and peripheral components and the potential exacerbated impact of higher systemic/localized hypoxic doses on fatigue etiology.

List of electronic supplementary material

Electronic supplementary material is available in the Annex part.

ESM I. Effects of hypoxia and/or blood flow restriction (BFR) on elbow flexors, saturation index, and neuromuscular function at rest.pdf

ESM II. Effects of an arm-cycling repeated sprint ability test in normoxia without blood flow restriction on elbow flexors neuromuscular function and saturation indices.pdf

Conflict of Interest

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

Author Contributions

GP.M., F.B., N.P., and T.R. designed the study methodology. A.P. and S.W. collected the data and analyzed the results. A.P., S.W., and T.R. drafted the article. All authors reviewed and revised the work. All authors reviewed the final article and approved it for submission.

References

Allen DG, Lamb GD, Westerblad H (2008) Skeletal muscle fatigue: cellular mechanisms. Physiol Rev 88:287–332. https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev.00015.2007.

Billaut F, Buchheit M (2013) Repeated-sprint performance and vastus lateralis oxygenation: Effect of limited O2 availability. Scand J Med Sci Sport 23:e185-93. https://doi.org/10.1111/sms.12052

Billaut F, Kerris JP, Rodriguez RF, et al (2013) Interaction of Central and Peripheral Factors during Repeated Sprints at Different Levels of Arterial O2 Saturation. PLoS One 8:e77297. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0077297

Bishop D, Edge J, Goodman C (2004) Muscle buffer capacity and aerobic fitness are associated with repeated-sprint ability in women. Eur J Appl Physiol 92:540–547. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00421-004-1150-1

Brandner CR, Warmington SA, Kidgell DJ (2015) Corticomotor Excitability is Increased Following an Acute Bout of Blood Flow Restriction Resistance Exercise. Front Hum Neurosci 9:1–10. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2015.00652

Brocherie F, Girard O, Faiss R, Millet GP (2017) Effects of Repeated-Sprint Training in Hypoxia on Sea-Level Performance: A Meta-Analysis. Sport Med 47:1651–1660. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40279-017-0685-3

Calbet JAL, González-Alonso J, Helge JW, et al (2015) Central and peripheral hemodynamics in exercising humans: Leg vs arm exercise. Scand J Med Sci Sport 25:144–157. https://doi.org/10.1111/sms.12604

Calbet JAL, Rådegran G, Boushel R, Saltin B (2009) On the mechanisms that limit oxygen uptake during exercise in acute and chronic hypoxia: Role of muscle mass. J Physiol 587:477–490. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.2008.162271

Cohen J (1988) Statistical Power Analysis for the Behavioral Sciences (2nd ed.)

Collins BW, Pearcey GE, Buckle NCM, et al (2018) Neuromuscular fatigue during repeated sprint exercise: underlying physiology and methodological considerations. Appl Physiol Nutr Metab 1–38. https://doi.org/10.1139/apnm-2018-0080

Fatela P, Reis JF, Mendonca G V, et al (2016) Acute effects of exercise under different levels of blood-flow restriction on muscle activation and fatigue. Eur J Appl Physiol 116:985–995. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00421-016-3359-1 Fernandez-del-Olmo M, Rodriguez FA, Marquez G, et al (2013) Isometric knee extensor fatigue following a Wingate test: Peripheral and central mechanisms. Scand J Med Sci Sport 23:57–65. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0838.2011.01355.x

Forman DA, Philpott DTG, Button DC, Power KE (2015) Cadence-dependent changes in corticospinal excitability of the biceps brachii during arm cycling. J Neurophysiol 114:2285–2294. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00418.2015

Froyd C, Millet GY, Noakes TD (2013) The development of peripheral fatigue and short-term recovery during self-paced high-intensity exercise. J Physiol 591:1339–1346. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.2012.245316

Girard O, Brocherie F, Millet GP (2017) Effects of Altitude/Hypoxia on Single- and Multiple-Sprint Performance: A Comprehensive Review. Sport Med 47:1931–1949. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40279-017-0733-z

Glaister M (2005) Multiple sprint work : physiological responses, mechanisms of fatigue and the influence of aerobic fitness. Sport Med 35:757–777. https://doi.org/10.2165/00007256-200535090-00003

Goodall S, Ross EZ, Romer LM (2010) Effect of graded hypoxia on supraspinal contributions to fatigue with unilateral knee-extensor contractions. J Appl Physiol 109:1842–1851. https://doi.org/10.1152/japplphysiol.00458.2010

Goods PSR, Dawson B, Landers GJ, et al (2015) No Additional Benefit of Repeat-Sprint Training in Hypoxia than in Normoxia on Sea-Level Repeat-Sprint Ability. J Sports Sci Med 14:681–8

Gruet M, Temesi J, Rupp T, et al (2013) Stimulation of the motor cortex and corticospinal tract to assess human muscle fatigue. Neuroscience 231:384–399. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2012.10.058

Hunter SK (2018) Performance fatigability: Mechanisms and task specificity. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med 8:1–22. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a029728

Jubeau M, Rupp T, Perrey S, et al (2014) Changes in voluntary activation assessed by transcranial magnetic stimulation during prolonged cycling exercise. PLoS One 9:e89157. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0089157

Jubeau M, Rupp T, Temesi J, et al (2017) Neuromuscular Fatigue during Prolonged Exercise in Hypoxia. Med Sci Sports Exerc 49:430– 439.https://doi.org/10.1249/MSS.00000000001118

Kirkendall DT (1990) Mechanisms of peripheral fatigue. Med Sci Sports Exerc 22:444–449 Koppo K, Bouckaert J, Jones AM (2002) Oxygen uptake kinetics during high-intensity arm and leg exercise. Respir Physiol Neurobiol 133:241–250. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1569-9048(02)00184-2

Loenneke JP, Fahs CA, Wilson JM, Bemben MG (2011) Blood flow restriction: The metabolite/volume threshold theory. Med Hypotheses 77:748–752. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mehy.2011.07.029

Loenneke JP, Thiebaud RS, Abe T, Bemben MG (2014) Blood flow restriction pressure recommendations: The hormesis hypothesis. Med Hypotheses 82:623–626. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mehy.2014.02.023

Maxwell PH (2005) Hypoxia-inducible factor as a physiological regulator. Exp Physiol 90:791–797. https://doi.org/10.1113/expphysiol.2005.030924

Mira J, Lapole T, Souron R, et al (2017) Cortical voluntary activation testing methodology impacts central fatigue. Eur J Appl Physiol 117:1845–1857. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00421-017-3678-x

Pearcey GEP, Bradbury-Squires DJ, Monks M, et al (2016) Arm-cycling sprints induce neuromuscular fatigue of the elbow flexors and alter corticospinal excitability of the biceps brachii. Appl Physiol Nutr Metab 41:199–209. https://doi.org/10.1139/apnm-2015-0438 Piitulainen H, Komi P, Linnamo V, Avela J (2008) Sarcolemmal excitability as investigated with M-waves after eccentric exercise in humans. J Electromyogr Kinesiol 18:672–681.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jelekin.2007.01.004

Rothwell JC, Day BL, Thompson PD, Kujirai T (2009) Short latency intracortical inhibition: one of the most popular tools in human motor neurophysiology. J Physiol 587:11–12. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.2008.162461

Sadamoto T, Bonde-Petersen F, Suzuki Y (1983) Skeletal muscle tension, flow, pressure, and EMG during sustained isometric contractions in humans. Eur J Appl Physiol Occup Physiol 51:395–408. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00429076

Saltin B, Rådegran G, Koskolou MD, Roach RC (1998) Skeletal muscle blood flow in humans and its regulation during exercise. Acta Physiol Scand 162:421–436. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-201X.1998.0293e.x

174

Scott BR, Loenneke JP, Slattery KM, Dascombe BJ (2015) Exercise with blood flow restriction: an updated evidence-based approach for enhanced muscular development. Sport Med 45:313–325. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40279-014-0288-1

Shield A, Zhou S (2004) Activation with the Twitch Interpolation Technique. Sport Med 34:253–267. https://doi.org/10.2165/00007256-200434040-00005

Smith KJ, Billaut F (2010) Influence of cerebral and muscle oxygenation on repeated-sprint ability. Eur J Appl Physiol 109:989–999. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00421-010-1444-4

Taylor CW, Ingham SA, Ferguson RA (2016) Acute and chronic effect of sprint interval training combined with postexercise blood-flow restriction in trained individuals. Exp Physiol 101:143–154. https://doi.org/10.1113/EP085293

Temesi J, Gruet M, Rupp T, et al (2014) Resting and active motor thresholds versus stimulus – response curves to determine transcranial magnetic stimulation intensity in quadriceps femoris. J Neuroeng Rehabil 11:1–13. https://doi.org/10.1186/1743-0003-11-40

Thomas C (2004) Monocarboxylate transporters, blood lactate removal after supramaximal exercise, and fatigue indexes in humans. J Appl Physiol 98:804–809. https://doi.org/10.1152/japplphysiol.01057.2004

Todd G, Taylor JL, Gandevia SC (2016) Measurement of voluntary activation based on transcranial magnetic stimulation over the motor cortex. J Appl Physiol 121:678–686. https://doi.org/10.1152/japplphysiol.00293.2016

Umbel JD, Hoffman RL, Dearth DJ, et al (2009) Delayed-onset muscle soreness induced by low-load blood flow-restricted exercise. Eur J Appl Physiol 107:687–695. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00421-009-1175-6

Wernbom M, Augustsson J, Thomeé R (2006) Effects of vascular occlusion on muscular endurance in dynamic knee extension exercise at different submaximal loads. J Strength Cond Res 20:372–377. https://doi.org/10.1519/R-16884.1

Wernbom M, Paulsen G, Nilsen TS, et al (2012) Contractile function and sarcolemmal permeability after acute low-load resistance exercise with blood flow restriction. Eur J Appl Physiol 112:2051–2063. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00421-011-2172-0

Willis SJ, Alvarez L, Borrani F, Millet GP (2018) Oxygenation time course and neuromuscular fatigue during repeated cycling sprints with bilateral blood flow restriction. Physiol Rep 6:e13872. https://doi.org/10.14814/phy2.13872

Willis SJ, Alvarez L, Millet GP, Borrani F (2017) Changes in muscle and cerebral deoxygenation and perfusion during repeated sprints in hypoxia to exhaustion. Front Physiol 8:1–12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2017.00846

1.3 Synthesis

The purpose of this study was to investigate neuromuscular fatigue induced by an arm cycling repeated sprint exercise completed under different hypoxic condition (i.e. systemic and/or localized).

The number of sprints performed through the test and the overall amount of fatigue measured were similarly impaired by systemic and localized hypoxia, however distinct mechanisms of fatigue seemed to occur depending on the condition. The use of BFR exacerbated the peripheral origin of fatigue through an impairment of the EC coupling probably due to the accumulation of metabolite. Whereas systemic hypoxia impaired corticospinal excitability probably because of a direct hypoxic effect on the brain as shown by a decrease of cortex oxygen saturation both at rest and during exercise.

Some limits are inherent to this study as the level of hypoxia induced by BFR could not be normalized to the one obtained with systemic hypoxia. Therefore, one can wonder if the differences observed could arise from different levels of hypoxic stress induced in both conditions. Furthermore, the specific modalities used to induce localized hypoxia impaired both oxygen delivery to the muscle and venous return, leading to two potential mechanisms inducing an accumulation of metabolites. Because the literature regarding repeated sprint combined with BFR was limited, the percentage of BFR was based on previous recommendations for resistance strength training and therefore might not be optimal for repeated sprint exercise.

A second study published from the same experiment showed different vascular and oxygenation responses across hypoxic conditions. BFR increased vascular resistance and restricts vasodilation whereas hypoxia likely induces compensatory vasodilation in the working muscles (Willis et al. 2019).

Taken together, and despite the associated limits, those results support a direct effect of hypoxia on the brain that would impair the central component of fatigue during repeated sprint exercise. Nevertheless, further studies should confirm those results, notably by reducing the delay between the end of exercise and the fatigue measurements.

2 Study 2: A new ergometer to investigate neuromuscular fatigue

2.1 Presentation

One of the main objectives of this thesis was to develop an innovative ergometer based on the one validated by Doyle-Baker et al. (2017) to evaluate neuromuscular fatigue kinetics during a repeated sprint exercise without any delay.

As a "novel" way to assess the evolution of muscle capabilities during fatigue, recent studies have interpreted Torque-Velocity (T-V) relationship PRE and POST fatigue (Krüger et al. 2019).

Therefore, the objectives were to build and to evaluate the reliability of this ergometer. Two separate analysis were performed, one on the neuromuscular function parameters and another one on the T-V profile indices. The idea would be to separates both analysis into two distinct papers, because the introduction and methodological parts would be quite similar, in this thesis both have been combined into one entity. To not overload the result section, not all the results are presented.

2.2 The Study

Introduction

Fatigue is commonly experienced especially when it comes to physical activities and is usually quantified as a diminution of maximal voluntary contraction (MVC). This study will focus on performance fatiguability, which will be defined as exercise-induced changes resulting in a force output that is less than anticipated for a given voluntary contraction or stimulation (Macintosh and Rassier 2002). Its origin may come from the contractile capabilities and/or the ability of the nervous system to activate the muscle involved in the task (Enoka and Duchateau 2016). Fatigue is therefore a multifactorial phenomenon as its origin depends on multiple causes. Furthermore, the specificity of the task is known to be determinant in the relative contribution of the different mechanisms to fatigue (Enoka and Stuart 1992). Intensity, duration of exercise, mode and speed of contraction are among the variables that can influence fatigue etiology.

A big part of the literature investigating neuromuscular function (NMF) after fatigue used single-joint contraction (either isometric or dynamic) as exhaustive task allowing quick assessment of the NMF after exercise termination. While being practical, this method is quite far from daily life physical activities where dynamic whole-body exercises are usually involved. In this exercise modalities, a greater muscle mass is recruited, and cardiorespiratory demands are greater compared to single-joint exercise (Sidhu et al. 2013). These differences are likely to exacerbate the importance of respiratory muscle work, core and brain temperature, cerebral and muscle oxygenation and therefore impacting fatigue etiology (Nybo and Nielsen 2001; Romer and Polkey 2008; Secher et al. 2008; Rasmussen et al. 2010). More specifically, Sidhu et al. (2012) showed that corticospinal responses after sustained cycling exercise are different from single-joint exercise emphasizing the importance of exercise modalities. Understanding the underlying mechanisms of fatigue during whole-body exercise cessation.

Previous studies have performed NMF evaluation before and after physical activities like running (Millet et al. 2011), cycling (Amann et al. 2007) and even soccer (Brownstein et al. 2017) by transferring the subject to an instrumented chair. However, the necessary delay to transfer the subject from the bike/treadmill to the chair is often between one or two minutes

178

and unlikely faster than 30 s (Tomazin et al. 2017). This is rather problematic because fatigue is known to recover rapidly, especially after short duration exercise (i.e. within 15s Taylor et al. 2000). Therefore, there is a risk of underestimating the amount of fatigue and potentially misinterpreting its etiology. Recently, an innovative ergometer that allows the subject to cycle and to perform isometric contraction alternatively on the same device has been developed and validated for steady-state exercise (Doyle-Baker et al. 2017). This device enables proper NMF evaluation (including MVC and interpolated twitch technic, Shield and Zhou 2004) while limiting the delay from the end of exercise (< 5 s) and seems very much appropriate to assess NMF during repeated supramaximal exercise [i.g. repeated sprints exercise (RSE)].

RSE is characterized by the succession of short maximal exercise (i.e. short enough to allow the subject to maintain maximal power output through the whole sprint; often establish as <10 s) interspaced with incomplete (<60 s) recovery (Girard et al. 2011a). This type of exercise has been recently investigated by researchers but a limitation present through all the studies is the inherent delay to switch from the sprint ergometer to the NMF one (Tomazin et al. 2017). Another recent approach is to use the sprint itself to quantify fatigue in a more adapted way that what's usually done (i.e. mean or peak power).

Lower limbs dynamic force production capabilities can be well described using linear and polynomial relationships that are obtained between torque and velocity [torque-velocity (T-V) relationship] and between power output and velocity [power-velocity (P-V) relationship], respectively (Samozino et al. 2007). This relation can be obtained using different exercise modality including on a stationary cycle ergometer (Arsac et al. 1996). From the two extremums of the T-V relationship, the force production capacities at high and low velocities are represented by the maximal theoretical torque produced at null velocity (T0) and the maximal theoretical angular velocity produced under zero load (V0) (Samozino et al. 2007). Those characteristics (i.e. T0, V0) can be used to evaluate the potential distinct impact of fatigue on force and/or velocity capabilities of the muscle.

Recently, (Krüger et al. 2019), used this methodology to characterized fatigue pre- and postdifferent exercise-modalities (a 30 s all-out exercise, a 10 min cycling exercise at severe intensity and a 90 min cycling exercise at moderate intensity) and compared it to the classical isometric method (i.e. MVC decrement). They reported distinct evolution patterns as for example Pmax decreased more than MVC after the all-out exercise whereas it decreased less than MVC when considering the 10- and 90-min exercise. This is to be related to the study from (Monks et al. 2017), presented in the literature review and showing that by
modulating the recovery time, the repeated sprint performance (i.e. power output decrement) wasn't associated to any change in neuromuscular fatigue assessed via MVC. This suggests that the results obtained from isometric contraction can't characterize the dynamic function of the muscle.

Therefore, the purpose of this study was to validate intra- and inter-day reliability of neuromuscular function and force-velocity profile obtained from RSE performed on a similar cyclo-ergometer as the one presented by (Doyle-Baker et al. 2017).

Methods

Participants

Thirteen subjects (age: 27 ± 5 years old, weight: 66 ± 8 kg, height: 175 ± 9 cm) gave written informed consent after being informed of the procedures and risks involved in the current study. Subjects were physically active (at least 2 training sessions per week) and did not present any pathology. Participants were asked to refrain from intense physical activity 24 hours before testing and to refrain from having a meal or drinking caffeinated beverages in the 2 h preceding the tests due to potential effects on exercise responses. This study was conducted according to the seventh revision of the Declaration of Helsinki (2013) and approved by the local ethics committee.

Study design

A preliminary session was first conducted to familiarize participants with sprint exercise and NMF evaluation procedures on the specific cyclo-ergometer.

At least 48 hours after the familiarization, two experimental sessions (3 to 4 days apart) were performed for each subject at a similar time of the day and under standard environmental conditions in the laboratory. At the beginning of each session (an overview is provided in figure 1), electrical nerve stimulation (ENS) intensity was determined to allow the knee extensors of the right leg to be investigated using the interpolated twitch technic. During the first part, participants then performed a standardized warm-up consisting in the repetitions of 4 blocks of isometric contractions (intensity increasing from 50N to 70% of estimated MVC) interspaced with cycling (power ranking from 75 to 125W). They finished the warm-up with 2

MVC. After a 5 min recovery period, participants performed the NMF evaluation twice. And after another 5 min recovery period, participants performed the torque-velocity profile, which consisted of the realization of 2 maximal sprints at different torque factors (i.e. 0.4 N·kg⁻¹ and 0.8 N·kg⁻¹). After a subsequent 50 min recovery period, participants performed the second part consisting of the same procedure as previously described (i.e. Warm-up, MVC, NMF evaluation and T-V profile) to measure intra-day reliability. After a 10 min recovery period following the T-V profile, participants performed the RSE consisting of five 10 s sprint with 20 s of passive recovery. NMF evaluation was performed before (PRE), immediately after sprint 2 (INT) and sprint 5 (POST), and 2 minutes after the end of the last sprint (POST2). Participants took part in a second session corresponding to the second part of the first session (i.e. after the 50 min break) to obtain inter-day reliability of the torque-velocity profile, the NMF evaluation at rest and during the RSE. EMG signals of the vastus lateralis (VL) and the rectus femoris (RF) muscles were measured continuously throughout the sessions.



Figure 1. Overview of the study design. Session one and two are respectively shown in panel A and B. Panel C represent the neuromuscular function (NMF) evaluation. Int max: maximal intensity for electrical nerve stimulation, MVC: Maximal voluntary contraction, Db100: paired-pulse electrical nerve stimulation at 100 Hz, Db10: paired-pulse electrical nerve stimulation at 10 Hz, Pt: single electrical nerve stimulation, T-V: torque-velocity relationship, RSE: repeated sprint exercise.

Experimental session

EMG and intensities assessment

EMG signals of the VL and RF muscles were recorded during the whole session with two pairs of bipolar silver chloride surface electrodes (10-mm diameter, Type 0601000402, Contrôle Graphique, France), the reference electrode being placed on the patella. The recording electrodes were secured lengthwise to the skin over the muscle belly following SENIAM recommendations, with an inter-electrode distance of 20 mm. A low resistance (<5 k Ω) between the two electrodes was verified after shaving, gently abrading the skin and cleaning it with isopropyl alcohol. Electrode positions were marked using a permanent marker during the first session to ensure a reproducible position through subsequent visits. EMG signals were amplified, analog-to-digitally converted, band-pass filtered (10-500 Hz, input impedance = 200 MH, common mode rejection ratio = 85 dB, gain = 1000) and recorded at a sampling rate of 2 kHz using BioAmp (octal bio-amplifier ML138, ADInstruments, Bella Vista, Australia) and PowerLab system (16/35, ADInstruments). Data were stored and analyzed offline with LabChart 8 software (ADInstruments).

Square-wave pulses of 100 µs duration were delivered via high-voltage constant-current stimulators (DS7A; Digitimer, Hertfordshire, UK) percutaneously to the femoral nerve via a 20-mm diameter cathode electrode (Ag-AgCl, Controle Graphique Medical, Brie-Comte-Robert, France) pressed into the inguinal crease and a 50×90-mm anode gel pad electrode (Durastick Plus, DJO Global, Vista, USA) placed on the gluteal fold. ENS intensity started at 10 mA and was incremented by step of 10 mA every 5 seconds up to the concomitant reach of a plateau for force and M-wave amplitude (both VL and RF). Stimulation intensity corresponding at 120% of the one at the beginning of the plateau was used thereafter. Single and paired-pulse ENS at 10 and 100 Hz were used to obtain different neuromuscular parameters details below (respectively Pt, Db10 and Db100).

The innovative ergometer

The ergometer (figure 2) was built from a recumbent bike linked to an electromagnetically braked Velotron system (Racermate Inc, Seattle, WA) and powered by Wingate Velotron Software (Racermate Inc). The crank and the right pedal were lockable via automated

motorized units piloted by a customized software created using LabVIEW (LabVIEW, National Instrument, Austin, Texas, USA). Both seat height and length were adjustable permitting an optimal cycling position and an approximately 90 degrees angle for the ankle, knee, and hips in the locked position (in this position, crankset were parallel to the ground). To limit trunk movements during the experiments, participants were secured to the bike via a racing seat belt. Instrumented pedals (I-crankset, Sensix, Poitiers, France) recorded the angle position of the pedals as well as raw forces and moments in the three dimensions (400Hz). Force in the x-axis of the right pedal was sampled at 200 Hz and sent to PowerLab system (16/35, ADInstruments) for synchronization with EMG signals via a National Instruments card (National Instruments, Austin, Texas, USA). Power was instantaneously calculated from the pedals and display in the customized software.



Figure 2. Pictures of the specific ergometer build from a recumbent bike and a velotron flywheel (Racermate Inc). Panel A represents an overview of the experimental set up in the laboratory environment. A screen allows the display of visual feedback to the subject. Panel B shows the participant position when the system is locked, the big red arrow represents the effective force measured during MVC whereas the mark provides the different force axis measured by the pedal (Fx, Fy, and Fz) and used to calculate the power. Panel C shows a closer view of the locking system. A short video is provided as supplementary material.

Force measurement

This design allowed the participants to performed voluntary isometric knee extension within 5 seconds after the end of a cycling task. Crank and pedals were locked such as the participant's right leg was in a position where ankle, knee, and hips formed approximately a 90° angle (figure 2B). From this position, it was asked the participant to produce maximal force parallel to the ground for 3 to 5 s. The assignment given to the subject was "to push their foot forward" to maximize the x-axis force (parallel to the ground) and preferentially recruit the knee extensors muscles. A screen was displayed in front of the participant with real-time visual feedback including force production and orientation and the possibility to adjust guidelines for submaximal contractions. A video of the bike utilization will be associated with this manuscript. The isometric force was analyzed offline using LabChart 8 software (ADInstruments).

Power measurement

Friction force was applied and maintained constant by the electromagnetic brake of the velotron system controlled by the Wingate software (Racermate Inc). Torque in the crankset referential was calculated from raw forces and angular position obtained from the pedals. Instantaneous power was therefore determined as the efficient torque multiply by the angular velocity. Mean power was automatically calculated at the end of each sprint to have visual feedback on real-time performance decrement.

From the instantaneous power, data were cut and averaged downstroke per downstroke automatically allowing to export, instantaneous power (at 400Hz) and averaged power, speed, and torque for each downstroke.

Measurements

Warm-up and MVC

The warm-up consisted of a succession of isometric contraction interspaced with pedaling. It had both the objectives to get the participant ready to produce maximal exercise but also to

check that he was comfortable with the locking/unlocking process. The entire warm-up is presented in figure 1.

Two MVC were performed after the warm-up without any superimposed stimulation and served as a reference for the NMF evaluation to ensure that participants didn't refrain from producing maximal force due to the expectation of the stimulation.

Neuromuscular function evaluation

After 5 min of recovery, participants were asked to perform MVC, after they plateaued at their maximal force, a superimposed paired-pulse ENS at 100Hz was delivered. Then, in relaxed muscles, Db100 was delivered 2 s after the end of the MVC followed by Db10 and Pt (with a 2 s delay between each) to assess knee extensors contractile properties and sarcolemma excitability (figure 1C). Strong verbal encouragements were given to the subject to ensure maximal force production during MVC. This testing procedure lasted ~15s.

Torque-velocity profile.

Friction force was applied through the sprint by the electromagnetic brake of the velotron system controlled by the Wingate software (Racermate Inc). Two sprints were performed at different resistances (i.e. low: 0.4 N·kg⁻¹, and high: 0.8 N·kg⁻¹) to widen the range of point and improve the relationship. Average torque and velocity per downstroke during the acceleration phase were plotted into T-V and P-V relationship using least-square linear and second-order polynomial regression, respectively (Samozino et al. 2007).

Repeated sprint exercise

The RSE test started after a 10 min resting period following the NMF evaluation. It consisted of 5 repetitions of 10-s sprints interspaced with 20 s of passive recovery. Participants were instructed to go "as hard as you can" from the start of every sprint. The mean power of the first sprint of the RSE test had to reach at least 95% of the isolated sprint performed during the Torque-velocity profile (at 0.8 N·kg⁻¹) to limit any pacing strategies. During each sprint,

the cycloergometer was set in 'Wingate' mode and the torque factor (i.e. resistance) was set at 0.8 N·kg⁻¹. Strong verbal encouragements were given during the sprints to promote maximal efforts.

Almost instantaneously (0.5 s) after the 2nd and last sprints, the crank and the right pedal were locked automatically to allow participants to perform their MVC. To prevent them to arrive too rapidly in the locking system, a countdown was given 3 s before the end of each sprint. The neuromuscular evaluation took 15 s to be completed, as a safety margin and to compensate for the 5-s MVC, recovery time was increased to 25 s between sprint 2 and 3.

Data analysis

MVC force was measured during each NMF evaluation as the maximal force before any ENS stimulation. Force amplitude for Db100, Db10, and Pt was determined as the maximal force measured after ENS in relaxed muscle after the end of MVC. The ratio between Db10 and Db100 (LF/HF) was calculated as an index of low-frequency fatigue (Verges et al. 2008). The amplitude of the M-wave was measured peak to peak from the superimposed single pulse ENS delivered in the relaxed muscles ~6 s after the contraction (Mmax). The duration of the M-wave was measured as the time from peak to peak (Mdur). EMG root mean square was calculated for both vastus lateralis (RMS_{VL}) and rectus femoris (RMS_{RF}) during MVC over a 500-ms period before ENS delivery and normalized using Mmax of the respective muscle (MmaxVL and MmaxRF). Voluntary activation (VA) was calculated using the formula from Strojnik and Komi (1998):

 $VA(\%) = [1 - SIT(Fbase/MVC)/Db100] \times 100$

Where SIT is the superimposed force induced by the paired-pulse stimulation during the MVC and Fbase is the force right before the stimulation.

T0 was determined as the intercept of the T-V relationship in the force axis and V0 as the intercept of the T-V relationship in the velocity axis (Samozino et al. 2007). Both values were determined either by combining the sprints at low and high resistances (T0_c and V0_c) or from a single sprint at high resistance only (T0.8 and V0.8). Pmean was determined as the mean

power obtained during the sprint at high resistance. Pmax was determined as the most powerful downstroke during the sprint at high resistance.

During RSE, Pmean of each sprint were averaged (Smean) and the best overall sprint power (Sbest) was determined. Decremental score (Sdec) was calculated using the equation provided by (Girard et al. 2011a):

Sdec (%) = $(1 - \text{Smean/Sbest}) \times 100$

Total work (Wtot) was calculated as the sum of the work obtained from each sprint during the RSE.

For the neuromuscular function evaluation indices, intraday reliability was determined by comparing the average values obtained during test 1 before and after the 50 min break. Interdays and inter-sprints reliability were determined by comparing the values from the RSE. For the biomechanical indices, intraday reliability was determined by comparing the values obtained during test 1 before and after the 50 min break and inter-days reliability was calculated from test 1 and test 2 isolated T-V relationship. Inter-sprints reliability was determined by comparing the RSE performed on test 1 and test 2. An overview is provided in figure 1.

Statistical analysis

All data are reported as mean \pm SD. Normal distribution was assessed with the Shapiro-Wilk's test. A two-way repeated measures ANOVA (*exercise* × *session*) was used to compare the values obtained from the two RSE at different time points (i.e. PRE, INT, POST, POST2 for neuromuscular parameters and during each sprint for the biomechanical indices). Effect sizes are reported as partial eta-squared (η_p^2) for ANOVAs. Post-hoc Tukey's tests were applied to determine a difference if the ANOVA revealed a significant main or interaction effect. As recommended by Hopkins (2000), relative reliability was assessed with a mixedmodel intra-class correlation coefficient (ICC) at the 95% confidence level. An ICC > 0.75 represents excellent reliability and from 0.60 to 0.74 represents good reliability. ICC was not calculated for voluntary activation due to a ceiling effect, which occurs when there is little variability in the scores of all subjects as they approach the maximum possible value (Todd et al. 2004). Absolute reliability was determined through typical error expressed as coefficients of variation (CV) \pm 95% confidence intervals (CI; Hopkins 2000). Both ICCs and CVs were calculated using log-transformed data in the online spreadsheet created by Hopkins (Hopkins 2015). Statistical significance was set at P < 0.05 for all tests, and all ANOVAs were completed on Statistica v10 (Statsoft, Tulsa, OK).

Because a participant broke the left pedal during his 2nd session, only ten people (including him) completed both sessions. It was possible to get the value from the right pedal to obtain the force responses to electrical stimulation, but it wasn't possible to compute the power. Therefore, intraday reliability of the neuromuscular function evaluation is determined from 13 participants, whereas, inter-day reliability is calculated from 10 participants. All the power indices have been calculated on 9 participants.

Results

Neuromuscular parameters

Intraday reliability

Table 1 provides the results of intraday reliability for all neuromuscular parameters including the change in mean between test 1 part I and test 1 part II. All the indices present excellent reliability with ICCs all above 0.92 (i.e. LF/HF) and CVs under 6.9% (i.e. RMS_{VL}).

Table 1. Intraday reliability of the neuromuscular indices measured on the new cycloergometer.

	Test 1 part I	Test 1 part II	% change in mean			
	Mean ± SD	Mean ± SD	(95% CI)	CV (93 % CI)		
MVC (N)	275 ± 70	264 ± 52	-2.3 (-7.4; 2.9)	6.4 (4.5; 10.7)	0.96 (0.87; 0.99)	
Db100 (N)	148 ± 29	144 ± 31	-2.5 (-5.8; 0.8)	4.0 (2.9; 6.7)	0.97 (0.91; 0.99)	
Db10 (N)	121 ± 25	112 ± 22	-7.0 (-10.2; -3.7)	4.2 (3.0; 7.0)	0.97 (0.89; 0.99)	
Pt (N)	91 ± 19	87 ± 17	-4.8 (-9.1; -0.3)	5.6 (4.0; 9.3)	0.95 (0.86; 0.99)	
VA (%)	98.6 ± 0.9	97.4 ± 2.9	-1.3 (-3.2; 0.6)	2.3 (1.6; 3.8)		
LF/HF (%)	82 ± 11	79 ± 10	-4.6 (-8.0; -1.0)	4.4 (3.1; 7.3)	0.92 (0.75; 0.97)	
RMS _{v∟} (%Mmax)	78 ± 32	76 ± 29	-1.6 (-7.0; 4.2)	6.9 (4.9; 11.7)	0.97 (0.91; 0.99)	
RMS _{RF} (%Mmax)	58 ± 0.13	60 ± 12	2.7 (-2.2; 7.8)	5.9 (4.2; 9.9)	0.94 (0.82; 0.98)	
MmaxVL (mV)	13.2 ± 2.5	12.7 ± 1.9	-3.3 (-6.6; 0.3)	4.3 (3.0; 7.1)	0.95 (0.84; 0.98)	
MmaxRF (mV)	7.3 ± 1.3	6.9 ± 1.4	-5.0 (-8.6; -1.2)	4.7 (3.3; 7.8)	0.95 (0.86; 0.99)	
MdurVL (ms)	7.98 ± 1.72	8.19 ± 1.63	3.0 (-1.1; 7.4)	4.9 (3.5; 8.3)	0.95 (0.85; 0.99)	
MdurRF (ms)	9.75 ± 2.56	9.94 ± 2.55	4.8 (1.3; 8.5)	3.9 (2.8; 6.8)	0.98 (0.93; 0.99)	

Values are presented as mean ± SD; CI: confidence interval; MVC: maximal voluntary contraction force; Db100: force evoked by a 10Hz doublets; Db10: force evoked by a 10Hz doublets; Pt: force evoked by a single stimulation; VA: voluntary activation assess by the interpolated twitch technique; LH/HF: ratio between Db10/Db100; VL: Vastus lateralis; RF: rectus femoris; RMS: root mean square; Mmax: potentiated M-wave; Mdur: duration of the Mmax.

Inter-days reliability

The time between the end of a sprint and the beginning of the neuromuscular fatigue evaluation (i.e. MVC) was 4.6 ± 1.5 s.

The Anova didn't detect a *session* main effect for any of the variables (e.g. VA: $F_{(1,9)}=0.07$, P=0.53; Pt: $F_{(1,9)}=0.42$, P=0.53).

All variables but Mmax ($F_{(3,24}=0.72, P=0.55$) and VA ($F_{(3,27)}=1.70, P=0.18$) presented a main effect of *exercise* and decreased over time. MVC: $F_{(3,27)}=19.25, P<0.01, \eta_p^2=0.68$; Db100: $F_{(3,27)}=25.25, P<0.01, \eta_p^2=0.74$; Db10: $F_{(3,27)}=14.89, P<0.01, \eta_p^2=0.62$; Pt: $F_{(3,27)}=16.80, P<0.01, \eta_p^2=0.65$; LF/HF: $F_{(3,27)}=4.13, P=0.016, \eta_p^2=0.31$. Results are presented in figure 3. No interactions *exercise* × *session* were significant.

Table 2 provides the results of inter-days reliability for PRE and POST values only (not to overload the paper), including the change in mean between test 1 and test 2. overall the indices present excellent reliability with ICCs above 0.75 except for LF/HF [ICC PRE: 0.74 (0.26; 0.93) and POST: 0,83 (0,42; 0,96)]. CVs tend to be lower for PRE compared to POST measurement [e.g. CV for Db100: PRE, 7.1% (4.9; 13.4); POST, 13.5% (8.9; 27.5)].

		Test 1	Test 2	% change in	O)/ (05%/ OI)	ICC (95% CI)
		Mean ± SD	Mean ± SD	mean (95% CI)	CV (95% CI)	
MVC	PRE	278 ± 38	287 ± 57	2.0 (-3.7; 8.0)	5.8 (4.0; 10.9)	0.92 (0.72; 0.98)
(N)	POST	224 ± 29	237 ± 46	4.9 (-3.6; 14.1)	8.7 (5.9; 16.4)	0.81 (0.40; 0.95)
Db100	PRE	130 ± 31	135 ± 32	3.6 (-3.4; 11.1)	7.1 (4.9; 13.4)	0.94 (0.79; 0.99)
(N)	POST	102 ± 26	113 ± 27	11.4 (-3.0; 27.8)	13.5 (8.9; 27.5)	0.82 (0.40; 0.96)
Db10	PRE	94 ± 18	97 ± 22	2.1 (-3.9; 8.4)	6.2 (4.2; 11.5)	0.95 (0.80; 0.99)
(N)	POST	71 ± 14	75 ± 18	5.1 (-6.8; 18.5)	11.7 (7.7; 23.6)	0.81 (0.36; 0.95)
Pt	PRE	69 ± 16	72 ± 20	2.2 (-9.0; 14.8)	12.1 (8.2; 23.3)	0.87 (0.56; 0.97)
(N)	POST	52 ± 10	55 ± 14	5.6 (-7.1; 20.0)	12.5 (8.3; 25.3)	0.80 (0.33; 0.95)
LF/HF	PRE	73.4 ± 9.5	72.5 ± 10.5	-1.5 (-8.4; 6.0)	7.5 (5.1; 14.1)	0.74 (0.26; 0.93)
(%)	POST	69.1 ± 9.9	65.6 ± 11.5	-5.6 (-13.1; 2.6)	8 (5.3; 15.8)	0.83 (0.42; 0.96)
VA	PRE	98.4 ± 1.4	98.5 ± 1.6	0.1 (-1.7; 2.0)	1.9 (1.3; 3.4)	
(%)	POST	99.0 ± 2.1	97.9 ± 2.4	-1.1 (-3.7; 1.7)	2.5 (1.7; 4.9)	
	PRE	13.3 ± 2.1	14.8 ± 3.4	10.3 (-0.2; 22.0)	10.4 (7.1; 19.8)	0.78 (0.33; 0.94)

Table 2. Inter-days reliability of the neuromuscular indices measured during a repeated sprint exercise on the new cycloergometer.

Mmax						
VL	POST	13.5 ± 2.2	14.4 ± 3.1	6.2 (-0.4; 13.2)	6.6 (4.5; 12.3)	0.91 (0.69; 0.98)
(mV)						
Mmax	PRE	7.0 ± 1.5	7.5 ± 1.8	7.0 (-2.4; 17.3)	9.5 (6.5; 18.0)	0.89 (0.61; 0.97)
RF (mV)	POST	7.3 ± 1.5	7.7 ± 1.7	5.1 (-6.3; 17.9)	12.0 (8.1; 23.1)	0.81 (0.40; 0.95)

Values are presented as mean ± SD; CI: confidence interval; MVC: maximal voluntary contraction force; PRE: before the first sprint; POST: immediately after the 5th sprint; Db100: force evoked by a 100Hz doublets; Db10: force evoked by a 10Hz doublets; Pt: force evoked by a single stimulation; VA: voluntary activation assess by the interpolated twitch technique; LH/HF: ratio between Db10/Db100; VL: Vastus lateralis; RF: rectus femoris; RMS: root mean square; Mmax: potentiated M-wave.

Biomechanical parameters

Intraday reliability

Table 3 provides the results of intraday reliability of the biomechanical parameters including the change in mean between test 1 part I and test 1 part II. Only V0.8 has bad reliability as shown by an ICC of 0.42 (-0.29; 0.83).

Table 3. Intra- and inter-days reliability of the biomechanical indices measured during isolated sprints on the new cycloergometer.

	Test 1 part I	Test 1 part II	% change in	CV (95% CI)	ICC (95% CI)
	Mean ± SD	Mean ± SD	mean (95% CI)		
Intraday					
Pmean (W)	549 ± 81	542 ± 74	-1.2 (-6.6; 4.5)	5.3 (3.5; 10.4)	0.91 (0.65; 0.98)
Pmax (W)	733 ± 126	714 ± 129	-2.8 (-7.3; 1.9)	4.5 (3.0; 8.7)	0.96 (0.84; 0.99)
T0 _c (Nm)	92.8 ± 17.8	89.0 ± 18.1	-4.3 (-8.9; 0.6)	4.7 (3.1; 9.2)	0.96 (0.85; 0.99)
V0 _C (rad.s ⁻¹)	23.8 ± 1.7	24.0 ± 1.5	0.8 (-2.6; 4.4)	3.3 (2.2; 6.4)	0.83 (0.42; 0.96)
T0.8 (Nm)	94.3 ± 21	91.2 ± 18.6	-3.0 (-11.0; 5.7)	8.2 (5.5; 16.3)	0.90 (0.63; 0.98)
V0.8 (rad.s ⁻¹)	23.6 ± 2.2	23.0 ± 1.6	-2.4 (-9.2; 4.9)	6.9 (4.6; 13.5)	0.42 (-0.29; 0.83)
Inter-days	Test 1	Test 2			
Pmean (W)	549 ± 81	555 ± 72	1.3 (-4.5; 7.5)	5.6 (3.8; 11.0)	0.89 (0.59; 0.97)
Pmax (W)	714 ± 129	748 ± 123	5.1 (0.4; 10.1)	4.3 (2.9; 8.4)	0.96 (0.85; 0.99)
T0 _c (Nm)	92.8 ± 17.8	90.6 ± 20.5	-3.0 (-7.8; 2.0)	4.8 (3.2; 9.3)	0.97 (0.87; 0.99)

V0 _C (rad.s ⁻¹)	23.8 ± 1.7	24.2 ± 1.9	1.5 (-4.1; 7.4)	5.3 (3.6; 10.4)	0.58 (-0.08; 0.89)
T0.8 (Nm)	94.3 ± 21.0	91.7 ± 25.2	-3.8 (-11.9; 5)	8.4 (5.6; 16.7)	0.93 (0.71; 0.98)
V0.8 (rad.s ⁻¹)	23.6 ± 2.2	24.2 ± 2.9	2.5 (-5.3; 10.9)	7.5 (5.0; 14.9)	0.57 (-0.1; 0.88)

Values are presented as mean \pm SD; CI: confidence interval; Pmean: mean power during the sprint; Pmax: most powerful downstroke; T0_c: torque determined as the intercept of the torque-velocity relationship in the force axis (T0) for 2 sprints combined; V0_c: velocity determined as the intercept of the torque-velocity relationship in the velocity axis (V0) for 2 sprints combined; T0.8: T0 obtained from a single sprint at a resistance of 0.8 N·kg⁻¹; V0.8: V0 obtained from a single sprint at a resistance of 0.8 N·kg⁻¹.

Inter-days reliability

Inter-days reliability values of the biomechanical indices obtained on isolated sprints are provided in table 3. VO_C and VO.8 present both poor relative reliability with ICC of respectively 0.58 (-0.08; 0.89) and 0.57 (-0.1; 0.88).

The Anova didn't detect a *session* main effect for any of the variables (e.g. Pmean: $F_{(1,8)}=0.07$, P=0.79; V0: $F_{(1,8)}=0.02$, P=0.91) or any interaction *exercise* × *session* (e.g. Pmax: $F_{(1,8)}=0.07$, P=0.79; V0.8: $F_{(1,8)}=0.02$, P=0.91).

All variables presented a main effect of *exercise* and decreased over time. Pmean: $F_{(4,32)}=57.50$, P<0.01, $\eta_p^2=0.88$; Pmax: $F_{(4,32)}=38.24$, P<0.01, $\eta_p^2=0.83$; V0.8: $F_{(4,32)}=6.86$, P<0.01, $\eta_p^2=0.46$; T0.8: $F_{(4,32)}=6.45$, P<0.01, $\eta_p^2=0.45$. Figure 4 presents the evolution of the variables.

Inter-days reliability values of the biomechanical indices obtained during repeated sprints are provided in table 4. V0.8 and T0.8 present good relative reliability with ICC for the first sprint of respectively 0.73 (0.19; 0.93) and 0.80 (0.35; 0.95).

		Test 1	Test 2	% change in			
		$Mean \pm SD$	$Mean \pm SD$	mean (95% CI)	CV (33 / Cl)		
Pmean (W)	Sprint 1	540 ± 76	530 ± 69	-1.6 (-4.2; 1)	2.5 (1.7; 4.8)	0.98 (0.91; 1.0)	
	Sprint 5	370 ± 38	371 ± 38	0.2 (-3.8; 4.4)	3.8 (2.5; 7.4)	0.90 (0.61; 0.98)	
Pmax (W)	Sprint 1	700 ± 119	678 ± 110	-3 (-7.1; 1.3)	4.1 (2.7; 8.0)	0.96 (0.85; 0.99)	
	Sprint 5	520 ± 102	492 ± 69	-4.8 (-13.6; 5.0)	8.6 (5.6; 18.3)	0.81 (0.31; 0.96)	
T0.8 (Nm)	Sprint 1	85.9 ± 18.1	83.4 ± 20.0	-3.5 (-15.5; 10.2)	13.0 (8.6; 26.3)	0.80 (0.35; 0.95)	
	Sprint 5	73.2 ± 18.6	75.0 ± 13.8	3.8 (-8.1; 17.4)	11.9 (7.9; 24.1)	0.80 (0.33; 0.95)	
V0.8 (rad.s ⁻ ¹)	Sprint 1	24.5 ± 5.1	24.4 ± 3.6	0.4 (-9.5; 11.4)	10.0 (6.7; 20.1)	0.73 (0.19; 0.93)	
	Sprint 5	20.4 ± 4	20.6 ± 3.5	1.6 (-8.6; 12.9)	10.2 (6.8; 20.5)	0.76 (0.26; 0.94)	
Wtot (kj)	-	22.0 ± 2.3	22.1 ± 2.3	0.5 (-2.9; 4.0)	3.2 (2.2; 6.3)	0.93 (0.73; 0.98)	
Sdec (%)	-	17.9 ± 4.4	16.2 ± 4.2	-9.4 (-21.2; 4.2)	13.7 (9.1; 28.0)	0.81 (0.36; 0.95)	

Table 4. Inter-days reliability of the biomechanical indices measured during a repeated sprint exercise on the new cycloergometer.

Values are presented as mean \pm SD; CI: confidence interval; Pmean: mean power during the sprint; Pmax: most powerful downstroke; T0.8: torque determined as the intercept of the torque-velocity relationship in the force axis; V0.8: velocity determined as the intercept of the torque-velocity relationship in the velocity axis; Wtot: total work performed during the 5 x 10-s sprints; Sdec: decrement score calculated from Pmean over the sprint repetition.

Discussion

The purpose of this study was to validate the reliability of a new ergometer builds to investigate neuromuscular fatigue during a repeated sprint exercise. Two different approaches were combined to characterize fatigue, a classical neuromuscular function evaluation using isometric MVC and the interpolated twitch technique to determine fatigue etiology and a biomechanical description of fatigue using muscle capabilities determined directly from dynamic exercise (i.e. the sprint itself). Overall, the reliability of the fatigue indices is excellent intraday (i.e. all ICC > 0.90 and CV < 7%) and very good inter-days (i.e. ICC ranging from 0.74 to 0.95 and CV from 1.9 to 13.5%). Only V0 provides poor reliability and will be discussed later.

During repeated sprint exercise, mean power output decreased as soon as the second sprint and neuromuscular fatigue was detected from the first measure (i.e. MVC decreased after the second sprint) proving that this ergometer is a reliable and valid tool to investigate fatigue.

The ergometer

It is important to keep in mind the task dependency of fatigue, depending on the exercise modality, the fatigue induced can have different etiology and characteristics. Yet, most of the studies investigating fatigue induced by whole-body exercise (e.g. running, Goodall et al. 2014a) use isometric contraction because it is possible to combine it with the interpolated twitch technique to evaluate fatigue etiology. However, the relationship between isometric and dynamic force production isn't that clear, indeed, Krüger et al. (2019) compared the fatigue induced by different dynamic exercise and their impact on both isometric and dynamic force production. They reported distinct fatigue responses notably when considering high-intensity exercise (i.e. 30-s all-out exercise) where the decrease in power output was more pronounced than the decrease in MVC, suggesting that fatigue could be underestimated if only based on isometric measurement. Furthermore, whole body exercise often required the use of different large muscle group (Dorel et al. 2012) whereas isometric force is usually obtained by isolating one, which could partly explain the differences observed in power diminution compared to MVC. However, it is not yet possible to estimate fatigue etiology from dynamic contractions. Therefore, dynamic and isometric measurements seem to be

complementary and should both be used to describe fatigue mechanisms induced by the dynamic task.

But this raises the question of time delay and experimental setup as it has been shown that fatigue recovers quickly and at a different rate depending on its etiology and/or amount (Herbert and Gandevia 1999; Froyd et al. 2013). Indeed, as the fatigue and evaluation task are not performed on the same device, it induces an inherent time delay for switching to one another which result in a "recovery" period making difficult to obtain kinetics of fatigue development. To avoid this, researchers elaborate complex experimental setup. For instance, Hureau et al. (2016) had participants performed RSE on 5 different days (i.e. 1, 4, 6, 8, or 10 sprints) with NMF evaluation before and after each session to be able to build a kinetics from it. Krüger et al. (2019) had to use two sessions to compare one modality of exercise (i.e. one session to evaluate the impact of fatigue on dynamic contractions and another one to evaluate the same exercise on isometric contraction). While it is doable (but not optimal) to obtain kinetics under one specific condition, it becomes much harder if one wants to compare fatigue etiology in different environmental conditions for example.

With this ergometer, it is possible to assess fatigue using both dynamic parameters (T0 and V0 obtained from the T-V profile determined during a sprint) and indices obtained from isometric MVC and the use of superimposed electrical stimulation (i.e. Pt, Db100...). It is therefore possible to obtain complete kinetics of fatigue in a single session.

Measurement reliability

Doyle-Baker et al. (2017) previously validated a similar ergometer allowing reliable inter-days measurement of NMF during incremental exercise. The results presented in this study are similar with very good to excellent reliability for all the parameters in conditions without fatigue (i.e. PRE exercise). In this study, results of the fatigued condition (i.e. POST) are presented as raw value whereas Doyle-Baker et al. (2017) decided to present them as a percentage of PRE values (likely reducing the variability). Despite this difference, the results of the present study provide overall very good relative reliability with ICC all above 0.74, however, the CVs are often higher when considering POST values and therefore, it could be better to use relative changes instead of absolute one if the purpose of the study is to compare fatigue induced by different conditions performed on different days. The overall excellent intraday

reliability also suggest that it would allow better interpretation of the results to consider delta value from PRE to POST exercise rather than raw value.



Figure 3. Neuromuscular function measured during two sessions of a repeated sprint exercise consisting of 5 times 10-s sprints interspaced with 20 s of passive recovery. Maximal voluntary contraction force (MVC, panel A), voluntary activation (VA, panel B), evoked force by 100Hz-doublet (Db100, panel C), low frequency fatigue ratio (LF/HF, panel D), evoked force by single electrical nerve stimulation (Pt, panel E) and amplitude of the electromyographic response of the rectus femoris to a Pt (MmaxRF, panel F). All measures were performed before (PRE), during (INT) immediately after (POST) and 2 min after (POST2) the exercise. * denotes a significant difference from PRE, P<0.05.

The results of the biomechanical parameters (i.e. Pmean, T0, and V0) provides some differences. Pmean and Pmax have both excellent intra- and inter-days reliability whereas T0 and V0 have very good reliability only when combining two sprints at low and high resistances. The problem comes from the fact that the resistance chosen in the present protocol is based on what is traditionally applied on a normal bike. Therefore, the resistance used (i.e. 0.8 N·kg⁻¹) is likely too important for this setup and prevent the participant to reach high speed during his sprints. This will shift the range of point of the T-V relationship towards the force side, impairing the quality of the linear regression and making the extrapolation of T0 and V0 difficult (especially V0, Jaafar et al. 2015). This is even more problematic when exercise induces fatigue as it will also reduce the neuromuscular capabilities, making difficult to overcome the flywheel inertia and to produce maximal speed. This is likely to exacerbate the left shift of the range of point on the T-V relationship (i.e. more points with high forces and low speed) making V0 and T0 less reliable.

One way to overcome this issue would be to determine individually the optimal resistance for each participant depending on his muscular capabilities and the specificity of the ergometer. This has been the topic of another study under the reviewing process.

Repeated sprint exercise and fatigue

The purpose of the ergometer is to be able to detect fatigue development during RSE. The results obtained in the present study show that sprint performance is impacted as soon as the second sprint (i.e. Pmean and Pmax diminution, see figure 4). Neuromuscular function evaluation showed a diminution of MVC and peripheral indices of fatigue (i.e. Db100, Pt, figure 3) as soon as the first measure performed after the second sprint whereas voluntary activation wasn't impacted through the test. Because no changes were detected in Mmax, those results can be interpreted as an impairment of the EC coupling probably because of an accumulation of Pi. Indeed, RSE is known to be dependent on the anaerobic glycolysis (Gaitanos et al. 1993) which produces a lot of metabolites impacting the different steps involved in the EC coupling (REF).

These results suggest that fatigue appears as soon as the first sprint and is mainly peripheral from the early stage of fatigue. This is in accordance with previous literature showing that peripheral fatigue seems to develop from the early stage of exercise whereas central fatigue

appears later (Collins et al. 2018). The small number of sprints performed in the present study is likely to explain the absence of central fatigue.



Figure 4. Biomechanical indices measured during two sessions of a repeated sprint exercise consisting of 5 times 10-s sprints interspaced with 20 s of passive recovery. Average power output from the sprints (Pmean, panel A), most powerful downstroke during the sprint (Pmax, panel B), torque determined as the intercept of the torque-velocity relationship in the force axis (T0.8, panel C) and velocity determined as the intercept of the torque-velocity relationship in the velocity axis (V0.8, panel D). * denotes a significant difference from sprint 1, P<0.05.

Further work should focus on establishing complete kinetics of fatigue etiology in order to determine when exactly central fatigue starts to occur. In their recent review, Collins et al. (2018) proposed a model in which performance decrement follows distinctive pattern with a rapid loss of power in the early sprints and a slower rate at the end of the RSE. It would be interesting to perform such exercise to exhaustion on the developed ergometer with several NMF evaluation throughout the test to confirm this nonlinear decrease in power output and see if there is any relationship between fatigue etiology and this rate of performance decrement.

Conclusion

The present study shows the very good relative and absolute reliability of the developed ergometer and confirmed that it is an adapted tool to evaluate neuromuscular fatigue using isometric contraction associated with superimposed electrical stimulation to determine fatigue etiology. It also allows to perform dynamic exercise providing information regarding the impact of fatigue on muscle force and velocity production capabilities. Results also highlight the needs to individualize sprint resistance to the participant and to consider the specificity of the ergometer.

By removing the delay between the fatiguing task and the fatigue measurement, this original setup brings new possibilities to assess more precisely neuromuscular function during cycling and to obtain a continuum in fatigue origin through whole body exercise.

2.3 Synthesis

The current literature investigating neuromuscular fatigue associated with repeated sprint exercise usually have 2 or 3 time-points of measurement through the session mostly because of methodological limits. Indeed, the common methodology to investigate neuromuscular function often implies the delivery of superimposed electrical stimulation during a voluntary contraction and therefore, the use of a specific ergometer. Because repeated sprints in laboratory environments are mostly performed on non-motorized treadmill or cyclo-ergometer, it is necessary to move the participant after the completion of the fatiguing task, to the designed ergometer to investigate fatigue. This is rather problematic due to the delay (often comprised between 30 s and up to 3 min) induced between the task completion and fatigue measurement as it has been shown that fatigue recovers quickly and at different rates depending on its etiology (e.g. central or peripheral).

Another limitation from the current methodology to assess neuromuscular fatigue is to use only isometric contraction to characterize fatigue development induced by whole-body dynamic exercise. It has been shown that power output decrement is not necessarily correlated to a diminution of isometric MVC, questioning the relevance of such measurement. It is however possible to characterize muscle capabilities to produce force and velocity through the linear relationship linking those two indices and to look at the impact of fatigue on those characteristics. To do so it is necessary to obtain force and velocity measurement during maximal exercise.

From those limitations, the objective was to develop a device allowing to perform the fatiguing task and the neuromuscular evaluation on the same ergometer to avoid the associated delay to switch from one another. The idea was to make possible the completion of multiple measurements during a single session of repeated sprint to obtain full kinetics of the development of fatigue to investigate its etiology.

The above section presents the concept and the reliability of the designed ergometer. Its development represented a huge part of the job achieved during this thesis however its validation is just a step forward to many other projects. Conjointly to its development, a method to determine the individualized optimal sprint resistance depending on individual muscle capabilities and ergometer specificities has been established and is currently under

reviewing process. From there a new protocol was conducted to evaluate the neuromuscular fatigue associated with a repeated sprint exercise and to determine precisely fatigue etiology by having measurement interspaced between each sprint repetition.

Chapter 3 – Analysis and outlooks

1 General discussion

This thesis was constructed around three main objectives that aimed to answer a lack of information in the scientific literature or some methodological issues regarding the neuromuscular evaluation to assess fatigue induced by a repeated-sprint exercise (RSE) and the potential adaptation when combined to hypoxic stress.

The first study meant to isolate the two potential mechanisms responsible for the exacerbation of central fatigue previously reported when performing RSE under hypoxic stress (Billaut et al. 2013) and determined if both really played a role. Indeed, hypoxia is believed to affect either directly the central motor drive by a reduction of brain oxygen delivery (due to the combination of the reduced amount of oxygen and the hypocapnia induced by the hyperventilation response to hypoxia) that would reduce the overall brain activity. Or through increased reliance on anaerobic metabolism induced by the diminution of oxygen delivery to the working muscle limiting the aerobic pathway. This would lead to an accumulation of metabolites known to increase the firing rate of group III and IV muscle afferents and impacting the central nervous system at the spinal and supraspinal level to finally exacerbate central fatigue (Amann and Calbet 2008).

To achieve this objective, two different modalities of hypoxia were applied. The commonly used systemic hypoxia (classically obtained by breathing a hypoxic gas mixture, $FiO_2 = 0.13$ in the present case) and the localized hypoxia obtained via the use of blood flow restriction (BFR). The idea was to create a hypoxic paradigm where in one condition, both the brain and the muscle would be held in hypoxia whereas, on the blood flow restriction condition, only the muscle would be. If central fatigue is exacerbated only in systemic hypoxia, it is likely that the brain hypoxic effect is mainly responsible for the exacerbation of central fatigue.

The results, while promising, were not as clear as expected. The number of sprints performed during the repeated sprint test and the MVC were similarly decreased under both hypoxic modalities, but fatigue etiology differed. BFR led to a more pronounced impairment of the muscle excitation-contraction coupling (i.e. peripheral fatigue) probably due to immediate muscle deoxygenation and impairment in metabolites removal ability during RSE. Whereas systemic hypoxia predominantly impacted corticospinal excitability (i.e. central fatigue) in line with lower levels of cerebral oxygenation, potentially indicating incapacity of the corticospinal

pathway to adapt to fatigue as in normoxia. Therefore, those results suggest that hypoxia would be more likely to impact central fatigue via a direct brain hypoxic effect.

However, some limits remain and prevent to conclude clearly regarding the main objective. First, this study failed to report any exacerbation of VA decrement with both hypoxic modalities compared to normoxia as reported by Billaut et al. (2013). A potential explanation for this discrepancy could be that in the present study, exercise was performed to exhaustion, likely diluting any potential difference between conditions. Indeed, the decrease in MVC was similar in all condition despite the smaller number of sprints performed when exercise was combined with hypoxic modalities. It would be interesting to compare neuromuscular fatigue for the same number of sprints performed in all condition and see if this would change the results. Another limitation is the lack of data regarding RSE performed with blood flow restriction and the fact that localized hypoxia couldn't be normalized regarding the systemic condition (i.e. muscle oxygenation at rest is not impacted by hypoxia, making difficult to use NIRS to quantify the localized hypoxic level compared to hypoxia). Thus, the level of BFR was based on a recommendation for resistance training (Loenneke et al. 2014b) and might not be optimal for sprint exercise. Indeed, RSE is likely to induce more cardiovascular strain that resistance training especially when considering the arms (Calbet et al. 2015a) and might counteract the BFR effect. Furthermore, hemodynamic responses are likely different between localized and systemic hypoxic modalities (Willis et al. 2019), therefore the increase in peripheral fatigue associated with blood flow restriction might originate from an impairment of metabolites removal per se rather than a hypoxic effect. Lastly, the 2 minutes delay between the end of the repeated sprints test and the neuromuscular evaluation probably led to an underestimation and a misinterpretation of fatigue etiology and could also explain the smaller decrement in VA observed in the normoxic condition (i.e. -4.2%) compared to the -5.6% reported by Pearcey et al. (2016). This delay was standardized to 2 minutes to be sure that arterial blood flow was detected and recorded via Doppler ultra-sound, results are presented by Willis et al. (2019).

Overall and despite the limitations, those results are promising, and further studies are required to understand fatigue etiology when repeated sprint exercise is performed combined to hypoxic stimulus.

From this first study and the literature review, a critical point when assessing fatigue is the associated delay between the end of the fatiguing task and the neuromuscular evaluation that can be assimilated as a recovery period. Because fatigue is known to recover quickly

and at different rates depending on its origin, this will likely impact the amount of fatigue measured as well as it's interpretation. While some methodological improvements have been made since the first use of electrical superimposed stimulation to assess VA by Merton (1954), the concept is still the same and requires the participant to perform a single-joint isometric MVC in a specific setup to record the twitch force both during the MVC and in the relaxed muscle. This has led most of the study to focus on fatigue induced by isometric contractions and although it provides an easy and controllable fatiguing task that can be performed on the same experimental setup used for the fatigue evaluation, this mode of contraction is quite far from daily life activities or sports performance. Because the type of activity carried out will impact the physiological stress and the induced fatigue (i.e. the task dependency principle) the results obtained from single-joint isometric fatiguing task can't be transferred to dynamic whole-body exercise. However, when considering this type of exercises, a major limitation arises from the necessary time to switch participants from the fatiguing task (i.e. often performed on a treadmill or a cycloergometer) to the isometric ergometer for fatigue assessment. This limitation is inherent to any study that investigates neuromuscular function induced by RSE with a delay between the end of the task and the evaluation generally comprised between 30 s and 3 min (Tomazin et al. 2017). Keeping in mind the task dependency, another limitation appears to be the evaluation mode of fatigue itself. It appears questionable to focus the quantification of fatigue development induced by whole body exercise only to a decrease of isometric MVC. In a recent study, Krüger et al. (2019) compared the impact of a 30-s all-out cycling test on both isometric and dynamic contractions. To characterized muscle capabilities during dynamic contraction, they had participants performed a 7-s sprint before and after (i.e. 10 s) the fatiguing task and calculated biomechanical indices (Samozino et al. 2007) reflecting the muscle capabilities to produce torque (T0), velocity (V0) and power (Pmax). They compared the decreased induce by the fatiguing exercise on Pmax and T0 to the isometric MVC and V0 to the rate of force development (i.e. an indicator of muscle explosiveness obtains from isometric contractions). They reported different diminutions for MVC and Pmax and V0 and RMFD (MVC: -20.3%, Pmax: -40%, P<0.05). T0 presented similar decrease than MVC (T0: -19.3%) however when considering individual value, no correlation between the two variables were detected.

Their results suggest that isometric and dynamic measurements are not impacted to the same extent by all-out exercise and probably don't share the same underlying physiological mechanisms, however, only isometric contraction allows assessment of VA. This highlight the complementarity of the two measurements and the scientific interest to develop a single

ergometer allowing to measure isometric MVC and dynamic muscle properties during short sprints.

From this analysis, the purpose of the second part of this thesis was to build and validate such ergometer. The results obtained and presented previously showed that this new device provides excellent intraday reliability of neuromuscular function measurement (ICC>0.92 for all parameters) and very good inter-days reliability during RSE (ICC>0.74 for all parameters). However, the results obtained on the biomechanics measures present some limits. Whereas the reliability of the measured power is excellent (e.g. inter-days reliability of Pmean: ICC>0.9), the determination of T0 and V0 required the combination of two sprints at different resistances to provide reliable data. This is explained by the fact that the resistance used during the RSE (i.e. 0.8 N·kg⁻¹) was based on what's used in the current literature for exercise performed on classical cycloergometer and was likely too high for a majority of participants, preventing them to reach their maximal velocity. This would lead to too many points with high torques and slow velocity, impairing the extrapolation of T0 and V0, especially in a fatigued state. This issue was addressed during a parallel project conducted to determine the optimal sprint resistance load depending on individual muscle capabilities and the specificity of the ergometer. Preliminary results from a second protocol on the recumbent bike performed with 11 participants report an optimal load of 0.64 \pm 0.07 N kg⁻¹, confirming that 0.8 N kg⁻¹ was too high. Further experimental work should therefore assess the reliability of this new ergometer using an appropriate resistance load.

Nevertheless, the development of this ergometer will open a wide range of possibilities to investigate the impact of RSE on neuromuscular function. Not only the delay to switch from one ergometer to another induced an underestimation of fatigue but it also prevents to performed multiple measurements during the test to obtain a precise kinetic of fatigue development. Some authors interspaced a measure in the middle of the RSE or used a complex experimental design having the participants to perform multiple RSE on different days with a variable number of sprints to build a kinetic. For instance, Hureau et al. (2016) used 5 RSE consisting in 1, 4, 6, 8 and 10 sprints with pre- and post- measurement to establish the evolution of fatigue. While this methodology is doable, it is certainly not optimal, especially if the purpose is to compare the impact of different experimental conditions such as environmental factors or training intervention. The use of this ergometer is obviously not limited to sprint exercise and can also be used to investigate the impact of continuous or incremental exercise on the neuromuscular function.

Most of the current knowledge regarding fatigue induced by whole-body exercise and its impact on neuromuscular function has been established using isometric MVC with a significant delay between the end of the task and the evaluation. The validation of the present ergometer represents a step forward for the neuromuscular evaluation and the associated understanding of fatigue etiology.

The experimentations conducted during this thesis brings more outlooks than they provide clear answers and some of the projects started during those last years are still under progress and awaits

The next part focus on providing a few perspectives for the short to mid-term following the completion of this work.

2 Perspectives

Surely, the validation of the new ergometer provides a lot of potential projects and some of them have already started.

The first one aimed to characterized fatigue etiology during RSE and investigate the relationship between power decrement and the development of peripheral and central fatigue. In their review, Collins et al. (2018) highlighted that the decrease in power output during RSE is nonlinear with a higher rate of fatigue development (mainly peripheral) during the early stage of exercise. There is also a discrepancy in the literature regarding the onset of central fatigue, where some authors reported its development only after 2, 6 or 10 sprints whereas others didn't report any change after 3 sets of 5 sprints (Tomazin et al. 2017). Another question arises from the fact that most studies use a predetermined number of sprints. This likely induces participants to reach different levels of fatigue at the end of the test depending on their physiological profile and training status and prevent the investigation of fatigue etiology at task failure. Therefore, the purpose of the protocol was to investigate fatigue etiology induced by the repetitions of 10-s sprints interspaced with 30-s recovery until the average sprint power output decrease below 70% of the first sprint. During each recovery period, neuromuscular function was assessed using the interpolated twitch technique. The sprints were performed at an individualized optimal resistance load to ensure reliability of biomechanical determinants of muscle capabilities (i.e. T0 and V0). The associated hypothesis is that peripheral fatigue follows the nonlinear profile of power decrement (i.e. rapid decrease toward the early stage of RSE then plateaued) whereas central fatigue starts its development when peripheral fatigue has plateaued.

During this thesis, a partnership has been developed with the military department to assess the effectiveness of a repeated sprint training protocol in hypoxia to improve the physical performance of mountain infantrymen. The evaluation consists of several basic fitness tests applied to the specific military population (e.g. assault course) performed pre- and post- the training intervention to evaluate the effectiveness of RSH protocol with this population. The actual number of participants was too low to include this work in the thesis (n= 5 in both experimental and control group). This project served as a basis for an upcoming PhD starting next year and should therefore be completed shortly. Finally, the last perspective aims to characterize the evolution of neuromuscular fatigue after RSH. This is part of a much bigger project involving the investigation of several aspects of potential physiological adaptation to RSH including neuromuscular function, metabolic changes within the muscle measured via nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy (e.g. Pcr depletion and resynthesize, pH) and biopsies as well as lactate kinetics during exercise recovery. The objective of this project is to provide experimental data to identify the underlying mechanisms responsible for performance improvement following sprint training in hypoxia. Hopefully, ethics approval should arrive soon.

3 Conclusion

Fatigue may originate from any site involved in the motor command chain from the brain to the muscle. The interpolated twitch technique first described by Merton in 1954 is still the most widely used tool to assess neuromuscular fatigue induce by exercise as it provides information regarding both the central and peripheral component of fatigue.

Repeated sprint exercise is known to induce mainly peripheral fatigue during the early sprints whereas central fatigue only appears towards the end of the task. However, fatigue etiology is impacted by environmental conditions such as systemic or localized hypoxia. Results from the first study show that hypoxia and blood flow restriction impaired similarly sprint performance and the force production ability. However, hypoxia exacerbates the development of central fatigue due to a direct brain hypoxic effect diminishing corticospinal excitability whereas blood flow restriction worsened peripheral fatigue via impairment of the muscle excitation-contraction coupling because of an impairment of metabolites removal.

The use of the interpolated twitch technique requires to perform an isometric contraction to obtain insight into fatigue etiology and therefore involves the use of a specific ergometer. When investigating neuromuscular function during whole-body exercise, it is therefore necessary to switch between the ergometer where the fatiguing task is being performed (i.e. treadmill or cycloergometer) to the one to evaluate fatigue. This inevitably leads to a delay between the end of the fatiguing task and the neuromuscular fatigue evaluation that is assimilated to a recovery period and thus to an underestimation of fatigue and a misinterpretation of its etiology as the kinetics of recovery differs depending on its origin. Furthermore, the use of single-joints isometric contraction to assess fatigue induced by dynamic whole-body exercise has been questioned.

To answer those issues the second part of this work has been dedicated to the validation of an innovative ergometer allowing to perform both the fatiguing task and the neuromuscular function evaluation on the same device. Therefore, the delay is reduced to less than five seconds to switch from dynamic to isometric mode and fatigue can be characterized by both the interpolated twitch technique associated with isometric contraction and the determination of muscle capabilities to produce force and velocity during dynamic contraction.

211

Bibliography

Bibliography

- Abe T, Fujita S, Nakajima T, et al (2010) Effects of Low-Intensity Cycle Training with Restricted Leg Blood Flow on Thigh Muscle Volume and VO2MAX in Young Men. J Sports Sci Med 9:452–8
- Adreani CM, Hill JM, Kaufman MP (1997) Responses of group III and IV muscle afferents to dynamic exercise. J Appl Physiol 82:1811–1817. https://doi.org/10.1152/jappl.1997.82.6.1811
- Ainslie PN, Barach A, Murrell C, et al (2007) Alterations in cerebral autoregulation and cerebral blood flow velocity during acute hypoxia: rest and exercise. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 292:H976-83. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpheart.00639.2006
- Ainslie PN, Ogoh S (2010) Regulation of cerebral blood flow in mammals during chronic hypoxia: a matter of balance. Exp Physiol 251–262. https://doi.org/10.1113/expphysiol.2008.045575
- Allen DG, Lamb GD, Westerblad H (2008) Skeletal muscle fatigue: cellular mechanisms. Physiol Rev 88:287–332. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev.00015.2007.
- Allen DG, Lee JA, Westerblad H, et al (1989) Intracellular calcium and tension during fatigue in isolated single muscle fibres from Xenopus laevis. J Physiol 415:433–458. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.1989.sp017730
- Allen DG, Westerblad H (2001) Role of phosphate and calcium stores in muscle fatigue. J Physiol 536:657–665. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7793.2001.t01-1-00657.x
- Allen GM, Gandevia SC, McKenzie DK (1995) Reliability of measurements of muscle strength and voluntary activation using twitch interpolation. Muscle Nerve 18:593–600. https://doi.org/10.1002/mus.880180605
- Almendros I, Montserrat JM, Torres M, et al (2010) Changes in oxygen partial pressure of brain tissue in an animal model of obstructive apnea. Respir Res 11:3. https://doi.org/10.1186/1465-9921-11-3
- Amann M, Blain GM, Proctor LT, et al (2011) Implications of group III and IV muscle afferents for high-intensity endurance exercise performance in humans. J Physiol 589:5299–5309. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.2011.213769
- Amann M, Calbet JAL (2008) Convective oxygen transport and fatigue. J Appl Physiol 53706:861–870. https://doi.org/10.1152/japplphysiol.01008.2007.
- Amann M, Proctor LT, Sebranek JJ, et al (2009) Opioid-mediated muscle afferents inhibit central motor drive and limit peripheral muscle fatigue development in humans. Physiol Soc 587:. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.2008.163303
- Amann M, Romer LM, Subudhi AW, et al (2007) Severity of arterial hypoxaemia affects the

relative contributions of peripheral muscle fatigue to exercise performance in healthy humans. J Physiol 1:389–403. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.2007.129700

- American College of Sports Medicine (2009) Progression Models in Resistance Training for
Healthy Adults. Med Sci Sports Exerc 41:687–708.
https://doi.org/10.1249/MSS.0b013e3181915670
- Andersson DCC, Betzenhauser MJJ, Reiken S, et al (2011) Ryanodine receptor oxidation causes intracellular calcium leak and muscle weakness in aging. Cell Metab 14:196–207. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2011.05.014
- Andrade FH, Reid MB, Allen DG, Westerblad H (1998) Effect of hydrogen peroxide and dithiothreitol on contractile function of single skeletal muscle fibres from the mouse. J Physiol 509 (Pt 2):565–75. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7793.1998.565bn.x
- Arsac LM, Belli a, Lacour JR (1996) Muscle function during brief maximal exercise: accurate measurements on a friction-loaded cycle ergometer. Eur J Appl Physiol Occup Physiol 74:100–6. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00376501
- Azevedo R, Silva-Cavalcante MD, Gualano B, et al (2016) Effects of caffeine ingestion on endurance performance in mentally fatigued individuals. Eur J Appl Physiol 116:2293– 2303. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00421-016-3483-y
- Aziz AR, Chia M, Teh KC (2000) The relationship between maximal oxygen uptake and repeated sprint performance indices in field hockey and soccer players. J Sports Med Phys Fitness 40:195–200
- Aziz AR, Mukherjee S, Chia MYK, Teh KC (2007) Relationship between measured maximal oxygen uptake and aerobic endurance performance with running repeated sprint ability in young elite soccer players. J Sports Med Phys Fitness 47:401–7
- Ball D, Burrows C, Sargeant AJ (1999) Human power output during repeated sprint cycle exercise: the influence of thermal stress. Eur J Appl Physiol Occup Physiol 79:360–6. https://doi.org/10.1007/s004210050521
- Balnave CD, Allen DG (1998) Evidence for Na+/Ca2+ exchange in intact single skeletal muscle fibers from the mouse. Am J Physiol 274:C940-6. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpcell.1998.274.4.C940
- Balog EM, Fitts RH (2001) Effects of depolarization and low intracellular pH on charge movement currents of frog skeletal muscle fibers. J Appl Physiol 90:228–34. https://doi.org/10.1152/jappl.2001.90.1.228
- Balsom PD, Gaitanos GC, Ekblom B (1994) Reduced oxygen availability during high intensity intermittent exercise impairs performance. Acta Physiol Scand 152:279–285

- Balsom PD, Seger Y, Sjädin B, et al (1992) Maximal-Intensity Intermittent Exercise : Effect of Recovery Duration. Int J Sports Med 13:528–533. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-2007-1021311
- Bangsbo J, Madsen K, Kiens B, Richter EA (1996) Effect of muscle acidity on muscle metabolism and fatigue during intense exercise in man. J Physiol 495:587–596. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.1996.sp021618
- Barclay JK (1986) A delivery-independent blood flow effect on skeletal muscle fatigue. J Appl Physiol 61:1084–1090. https://doi.org/10.1152/jappl.1986.61.3.1084
- Bassett DR, Howley ET (2000) Limiting factors for maximum oxygen uptake and determinants of endurance performance. Med Sci Sports Exerc 32:70–84
- Bawa P, Murnaghan C (2009) Motor unit rotation in a variety of human muscles. J Neurophysiol 102:. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00278.2009
- Baylor SM, Hollingworth S (2003) Sarcoplasmic reticulum calcium release compared in slowtwitch and fast-twitch fibres of mouse muscle. J Physiol 551:125–38. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.2003.041608
- Beard A, Ashby J, Kilgallon M, et al (2018) Repeated-Sprint Training in Hypoxia in International Rugby Union Players. Int J Sports Physiol Perform
- Beard A, Ashby J, Kilgallon M, et al (2019) Upper-body repeated-sprint training in hypoxia in international rugby union players. Eur J Sport Sci 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1080/17461391.2019.1587521
- Behm DG, St-Pierre DM, Perez D (1996) Muscle inactivation: assessment of interpolated twitch technique. J Appl Physiol 81:2267–2273. https://doi.org/10.1152/jappl.1996.81.5.2267
- Behringer M, Behlau D, Montag JCK, et al (2017) Low-Intensity Sprint Training With Blood Flow Restriction Improves 100-m Dash. J Strength Cond Res 31:2462–2472. https://doi.org/10.1519/JSC.00000000001746
- Bellinger AM, Mongillo M, Marks AR (2008) Stressed out: the skeletal muscle ryanodine receptor as a target of stress. J Clin Invest 118:445–453. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI34006
- Bencowitz HZ, Wagner PD, West JB (1982) Effect of change in P50 on exercise tolerance at high altitude: a theoretical study. J Appl Physiol 53:1487–1495. https://doi.org/10.1152/jappl.1982.53.6.1487
- Bergström J, Hermansen L, Hultman E, Saltin B (1967) Diet, Muscle Glycogen and Physical Performance. Acta Physiol Scand 71:140–150. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1748-
1716.1967.tb03720.x

- Bigland-Ritchie B, Jones DA, Woods JJ (1979) Excitation frequency and muscle fatigue: electrical responses during human voluntary and stimulated contractions. Exp Neurol 64:414–27. https://doi.org/10.1016/0014-4886(79)90280-2
- Bigland-Ritchie BR, Dawson NJ, Johansson RS, Lippold OC (1986) Reflex origin for the slowing of motoneurone firing rates in fatigue of human voluntary contractions. J Physiol 379:451–9. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.1986.sp016263
- Bigland-Ritchie B, Woods JJ, Bigland-Ritchie B (1984) Changes in muscle contractile properties and neural control during human muscular fatigue. Muscle Nerve 7:691–699. https://doi.org/10.1002/mus.880070902
- Billaut F, Basset FA (2007) Effect of different recovery patterns on repeated-sprint ability and neuromuscular responses. J Sport Sci 25:905–913. https://doi.org/10.1080/02640410600898087
- Billaut F, Buchheit M (2013) Repeated-sprint performance and vastus lateralis oxygenation: Effect of limited O2 availability. Scand J Med Sci Sport 23:e185-93. https://doi.org/10.1111/sms.12052
- Billaut F, Kerris JP, Rodriguez RF, et al (2013) Interaction of Central and Peripheral Factors during Repeated Sprints at Different Levels of Arterial O2 Saturation. PLoS One 8:e77297. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0077297
- Billaut F, Smith K (2010) Prolonged repeated-sprint ability is related to arterial O2 desaturation in men. Int J Sports Physiol Perform 5:197–209
- Bishop D, Claudius B (2005) Effects of induced metabolic alkalosis on prolonged intermittentsprint performance. Med Sci Sports Exerc 37:759–67
- Bishop D, Edge J (2006) Determinants of repeated-sprint ability in females matched for single-sprint performance. Eur J Appl Physiol 97:373–9. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00421-006-0182-0
- Bishop D, Edge J, Goodman C (2004) Muscle buffer capacity and aerobic fitness are associated with repeated-sprint ability in women. Eur J Appl Physiol 92:540–547. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00421-004-1150-1
- Bishop D, Lawrence S, Spencer M (2003) Predictors of repeated-sprint ability in elite female hockey players. J Sci Med Sport 6:199–209

- Bishop D, Spencer M (2004) Determinants of repeated-sprint ability in well-trained team-sport athletes and endurance-trained athletes. J Sports Med Phys Fitness 44:1–7
- Blaisdell FW (2002) The pathophysiology of skeletal muscle ischemia and the reperfusion syndrome: a review. Cardiovasc Surg 10:620–30
- Blazev R, Lamb GD (1999) Low [ATP] and elevated [Mg2+] reduce depolarization-induced Ca2+ release in rat skinned skeletal muscle fibres. J Physiol 520 Pt 1:203–15. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7793.1999.00203.x
- Bloomer RJ, Fry AC, Falvo MJ, Moore CA (2007) Protein carbonyls are acutely elevated following single set anaerobic exercise in resistance trained men. J Sci Med Sport 10:411–417. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JSAMS.2006.07.014
- Bogdanis GC, Nevill ME, Boobis LH, et al (1995) Recovery of power output and muscle metabolites following 30 s of maximal sprint cycling in man. J Physiol 482 (Pt 2:467–80. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.1995.sp020533
- Bogdanis GC, Nevill ME, Boobis LH, Lakomy HK (1996) Contribution of phosphocreatine and aerobic metabolism to energy supply during repeated sprint exercise. J Appl Physiol 80:876–84. https://doi.org/10.1152/jappl.1996.80.3.876
- Boncompagni S, Rossi AE, Micaroni M, et al (2009) Mitochondria are linked to calcium stores in striated muscle by developmentally regulated tethering structures. Mol Biol Cell 20:1058–67. https://doi.org/10.1091/mbc.e08-07-0783
- Bottinelli R (2001) Functional heterogeneity of mammalian single muscle fibres: do myosin isoforms tell the whole story? Pflugers Arch 443:6–17. https://doi.org/10.1007/s004240100700
- Bottinelli R, Reggiani C (2000) Human skeletal muscle fibres: molecular and functional diversity. Prog Biophys Mol Biol 73:195–262
- Bowtell JL, Cooke K, Turner R, et al (2014) Acute physiological and performance responses to repeated sprints in varying degrees of hypoxia. J Sci Med Sport 17:399–403. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsams.2013.05.016
- Brandner CR, Warmington SA, Kidgell DJ (2015) Corticomotor Excitability is Increased Following an Acute Bout of Blood Flow Restriction Resistance Exercise. Front Hum Neurosci 9:1–10. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2015.00652
- Brechbuhl C, Brocherie F, Millet G, Schmitt L (2018) Effects of Repeated-Sprint Training in Hypoxia on Tennis-Specific Performance in Well-Trained Players. Sport Med Int Open 02:E123–E132. https://doi.org/10.1055/a-0719-4797
- Brocherie F, Girard O, Faiss R, Millet GP (2015a) High-intensity intermittent training in

hypoxia: a double-blinded, placebo-controlled field study in youth football players. J Strength Cond Res 29:226–237. https://doi.org/10.1519/JSC.0000000000000590

- Brocherie F, Girard O, Faiss R, Millet GP (2017a) Effects of Repeated-Sprint Training in Hypoxia on Sea-Level Performance: A Meta-Analysis. Sport Med 47:1651–1660. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40279-017-0685-3
- Brocherie F, Millet GP, D'Hulst G, et al (2017b) Repeated maximal-intensity hypoxic exercise superimposed to hypoxic residence boosts skeletal muscle transcriptional responses in elite team-sport athletes. Acta Physiol 222:e12851. https://doi.org/10.1111/apha.12851
- Brocherie F, Millet GP, Girard O (2016a) Psycho-Physiological Responses to Repeated-Sprint Training in Normobaric Hypoxia and Normoxia. Int J Sport Physiol Perform 1–25. https://doi.org/10.1123/ijspp.2016-0052
- Brocherie F, Millet GP, Hauser A, et al (2015b) "Live High-Train Low and High" Hypoxic Training Improves Team-Sport Performance. Med Sci Sport Exerc. doi: 10.1249/MSS.000000000000630
- Brocherie F, Millet GP, Morin JB, Girard O (2016b) Mechanical Alterations to Repeated Treadmill Sprints in Normobaric Hypoxia. Med Sci Sport Exerc 48:1570–1579. https://doi.org/10.1249/MSS.000000000000037
- Brookes PS, Yoon Y, Robotham JL, et al (2004) Calcium, ATP, and ROS: a mitochondrial love-hate triangle. Am J Physiol Physiol 287:C817–C833. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpcell.00139.2004
- Brooks GA (2018) The Science and Translation of Lactate Shuttle Theory. Cell Metab 27:757–785
- Brownstein CG, Dent JP, Parker P, et al (2017) Etiology and recovery of neuromuscular fatigue following competitive soccer match-play. Front Physiol 8:. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2017.00831
- Brownstone RM (2006) Beginning at the end: repetitive firing properties in the final common pathway. Prog Neurobiol 78:156–72. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pneurobio.2006.04.002
- Broxterman RM, Craig JC, Smith JR, et al (2015) Influence of blood flow occlusion on the development of peripheral and central fatigue during small muscle mass handgrip exercise. J Physiol 593:4043–4054. https://doi.org/10.1113/JP270424
- Broxterman RM, Layec G, Hureau TJ, et al (2017) Skeletal muscle bioenergetics during allout exercise: mechanistic insight into the oxygen uptake slow component and neuromuscular fatigue. J Appl Physiol 122:1208–1217. https://doi.org/10.1152/japplphysiol.01093.2016

- Bruton JD, Aydin J, Yamada T, et al (2010) Increased fatigue resistance linked to Ca2+ stimulated mitochondrial biogenesis in muscle fibres of cold-acclimated mice. J Physiol 588:4275–4288. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.2010.198598
- Buchheit M, Ufland P (2011) Effect of endurance training on performance and muscle reoxygenation rate during repeated-sprint running. Eur J Appl Physiol 111:293–301. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00421-010-1654-9
- Burnley M, Vanhatalo A, Fulford J, Jones AM (2010) Similar metabolic perturbations during all-out and constant force exhaustive exercise in humans: a (31)P magnetic resonance spectroscopy study. Physiol Soc 95:798–807. https://doi.org/10.1113/expphysiol.2010.052688
- Butler JE, Taylor JL, Gandevia SC (2003) Responses of Human Motoneurons to Corticospinal Stimulation during Maximal Voluntary Contractions and Ischemia. 23:10224–10230
- Cady EB, Jones DA, Lynn J, Newham DJ (1989) Changes in force and intracellular metabolites during fatigue of human skeletal muscle. J Physiol 418:311–325. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.1989.sp017842
- Calbet JA., De Paz J., Garatachea N, et al (2003) Anaerobic energy provision does not limit Wingate exercise performance in endurance-trained cyclists Anaerobic energy provision does not limit Wingate exercise performance in endurance-trained cyclists. J Appl Physiol 94:668–676. https://doi.org/10.1152/japplphysiol.00128.2002
- Calbet JAL, González-Alonso J, Helge JW, et al (2015a) Central and peripheral hemodynamics in exercising humans: Leg vs arm exercise. Scand J Med Sci Sport 25:144–157. https://doi.org/10.1111/sms.12604
- Calbet JAL, Holmberg H-C, Rosdahl H, et al (2005) Why do arms extract less oxygen than legs during exercise? Am J Physiol Integr Comp Physiol 289:R1448–R1458. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpregu.00824.2004
- Calbet JAL, Losa-Reyna J, Torres-Peralta R, et al (2015b) Limitations to oxygen transport and utilization during sprint exercise in humans: evidence for a functional reserve in muscle O ₂ diffusing capacity. J Physiol 593:4649–4664. https://doi.org/10.1113/JP270408
- Calbet JAL, Rådegran G, Boushel R, Saltin B (2009) On the mechanisms that limit oxygen uptake during exercise in acute and chronic hypoxia: Role of muscle mass. J Physiol 587:477–490. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.2008.162271
- Calder KM, Stashuk DW, McLean L (2008) Physiological characteristics of motor units in the

brachioradialis muscle across fatiguing low-level isometric contractions. J Electromyogr Kinesiol 18:2–15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jelekin.2006.08.012

- Carpentier A, Duchateau J, Hainaut K (2001) Motor unit behaviour and contractile changes during fatigue in the human first dorsal interosseus. PubMed NCBI. J Physiol
- Carpentier A, Duchateau J, Hainaut K (2001) Motor unit behaviour and contractile changes during fatigue in the human first dorsal interosseus. J Physiol 534:903–912. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7793.2001.00903.x
- Carroll TJ, Baldwin ERL, Collins DF, Zehr EP (2006a) Corticospinal excitability is lower during rhythmic arm movement than during tonic contraction. J Neurophysiol 95:914–21. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00684.2005
- Carroll TJ, Herbert RD, Munn J, et al (2006b) Contralateral effects of unilateral strength training: evidence and possible mechanisms. J Appl Physiol 101:1514–1522. https://doi.org/10.1152/japplphysiol.00531.2006
- Carroll TJ, Riek S, Carson RG (2001) Neural adaptations to resistance training: Implications for movement control. Sport Med 31:829–840. https://doi.org/10.2165/00007256-200131120-00001
- Carroll TJ, Selvanayagam VS, Riek S, Semmler JG (2011) Neural adaptations to strength training: Moving beyond transcranial magnetic stimulation and reflex studies. Acta Physiol 202:119–140. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1748-1716.2011.02271.x
- Casey DP, Joyner MJ (2012) Compensatory vasodilatation during hypoxic exercise: Mechanisms responsible for matching oxygen supply to demand. J Physiol 590:6321– 6326. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.2012.242396
- Castagna C, Manzi V, D'Ottavio S, et al (2017) Relation between maximal aerobic power and the ability to repeat sprints in young basketball players. J strength Cond Res 21:1172– 6. https://doi.org/10.1519/R-20376.1
- Chambers ES, Bridge MW, Jones DA (2009) Carbohydrate sensing in the human mouth: effects on exercise performance and brain activity. J Physiol 587:1779–1794. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.2008.164285
- Chelly SM, Denis C (2001) Leg power and hopping stiffness: relationship with sprint running performance. Med Sci Sports Exerc 33:326–33
- Cheng AJ, Bruton JD, Lanner JT, et al (2015) Antioxidant treatments do not improve force recovery after fatiguing stimulation of mouse skeletal muscle fibres. J Physiol 593:457– 472. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.2014.279398

Cheng AJ, Place N, Ha'kan Westerblad (2017) Molecular Basis for Exercise-Induced

Fatigue: The Importance of Strictly Controlled Cellular Ca2+ Handling

- Cheng AJ, Yamada T, Rassier DE, et al (2016) Reactive oxygen/nitrogen species and contractile function in skeletal muscle during fatigue and recovery. J Physiol 594:. https://doi.org/10.1113/JP270650
- Chin ER, Allen DG (1996) The role of elevations in intracellular [Ca2+] in the development of low frequency fatigue in mouse single muscle fibres. J Physiol 491:813–824. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.1996.sp021259
- Clanton TL (2007) Hypoxia-induced reactive oxygen species formation in skeletal muscle. J Appl Physiol 102:2379–2388. https://doi.org/10.1152/japplphysiol.01298.2006
- Clark BC, Manini TM, Hoffman RL, et al (2011) Relative safety of 4 weeks of blood flowrestricted resistance exercise in young, healthy adults. Scand J Med Sci Sports 21:653– 662. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0838.2010.01100.x
- Clausen T, Overgaard K, Nielsen OB (2004) Evidence that the Na+-K+ leak/pump ratio contributes to the difference in endurance between fast- and slow-twitch muscles. Acta Physiol Scand 180:209–16. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0001-6772.2003.01251.x
- Cohen J (1988) Statistical Power Analysis for the Behavioral Sciences (2nd ed.)
- Collins* BW, Pearcey* GEP, Buckle NCM, Kevin E. Power (2017) Corticospinal excitability of the biceps brachii is shoulder position-dependent. J Neurophysiol. doi: 10.1152/jn.00527.2017
- Collins BW, Button DC (2018) The effect of shoulder position on motor evoked and maximal muscle compound action potentials of the biceps brachii. Neurosci Lett 665:206–211. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neulet.2017.12.019
- Collins BW, Gale LH, Buckle NCM, Button DC (2017) Corticospinal excitability to the biceps brachii and its relationship to postactivation potentiation of the elbow flexors. Physiol Rep 5:e13265. https://doi.org/10.14814/phy2.13265
- Collins BW, Pearcey GEPEEP, Buckle NCMM, et al (2018) Neuromuscular fatigue during repeated sprint exercise: underlying physiology and 3 methodological considerations. Appl Physiol Nutr Metab 43:1–38. https://doi.org/10.1139/apnm-2018-0080
- Conwit RA, Stashuk D, Suzuki H, et al (2000) Fatigue effects on motor unit activity during submaximal contractions. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 81:1211–1216. https://doi.org/10.1053/apmr.2000.6975
- Cook SB, Clark BC, Ploutz-snyder LL (2007) Effects of Exercise Load and Blood-Flow Restriction on Skeletal Muscle Function. Med Sci Sport Exerc 39:1708–1713. https://doi.org/10.1249/mss.0b013e31812383d6

- Cook SB, Murphy BG, Labarbera KE (2013) Neuromuscular function after a bout of low-load blood flow-restricted exercise. Med Sci Sports Exerc 45:67–74. https://doi.org/10.1249/MSS.0b013e31826c6fa8
- Cook SB, Scott BR, Hayes KL, Murphy BG (2017) Neuromuscular Adaptations to Low-Load Blood Flow Restricted Resistance Training. J Sport Sci Med 66–73
- Cooke R (2007) Modulation of the actomyosin interaction during fatigue of skeletal muscle. Muscle Nerve 36:756–77. https://doi.org/10.1002/mus.20891
- Cotel F, Exley R, Cragg SJ, Perrier J-FJ-F (2013) Serotonin spillover onto the axon initial segment of motoneurons induces central fatigue by inhibiting action potential initiation. PNAS 110:. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1216150110
- Cowling BL, Harwood B, Copithorne DB, Rice CL (2016) Rate modulation of human anconeus motor units during high-intensity dynamic elbow extensions. J Appl Physiol 121:. https://doi.org/10.1152/japplphysiol.00131.2016
- da Silva JF, Guglielmo LGA, Bishop D (2010) Relationship Between Different Measures of Aerobic Fitness and Repeated-Sprint Ability in Elite Soccer Players. J Strength Cond Res 24:2115–2121. https://doi.org/10.1519/JSC.0b013e3181e34794
- Dahlstedt AJ, Katz A, Tavi P, Westerblad H (2003) Creatine kinase injection restores contractile function in creatine-kinase-deficient mouse skeletal muscle fibres. J Physiol 547:395–403. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.2002.034793
- Dahlstedt AJ, Katz A, Westerblad H (2001) Role of myoplasmic phosphate in contractile function of skeletal muscle: studies on creatine kinase-deficient mice. J Physiol 533:379– 88. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7793.2001.0379a.x
- Dahlstedt AJ, Katz A, Wieringa B, Westerblad H (2000) Is creatine kinase responsible for fatigue? Studies of isolated skeletal muscle deficient in creatine kinase. FASEB J 14:982–90. https://doi.org/10.1096/fasebj.14.7.982
- Dahlstedt AJ, Westerblad H (2001) Inhibition of creatine kinase reduces the rate of fatigueinduced decrease in tetanic [Ca(2+)](i) in mouse skeletal muscle. J Physiol 533:639–49. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7793.2001.00639.x
- Davis JM, Alderson NL, Welsh RS (2000) Serotonin and central nervous system fatigue: nutritional considerations. Am J Clin Nutr 72:573S-578S. https://doi.org/10.1093/ajcn/72.2.573S
- Davis JM, Bailey SP (1997) Possible mechanisms of central nervous system fatigue during exercise. Med Sci Sports Exerc 29:45–57

Dawson B, Fitzsimons M, Ward D (1993) The relationship of repeated sprint ability to aerobic

power and performance measures of anaerobic work capacity and power. Aust J Sci Med Sport 28:88–93

- Dawson B, Goodman C, Lawrence S, et al (1997) Muscle phosphocreatine repletion following single and repeated short sprint efforts. Scand J Med Sci Sports 7:206–13
- de Paoli FV, Broch-Lips M, Pedersen TH, Nielsen OB (2013) Relationship between membrane CI- conductance and contractile endurance in isolated rat muscles. J Physiol 591:531–545. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.2012.243246
- De Pauw K, Roelands B, Knaepen K, et al (2015) Effects of caffeine and maltodextrin mouth rinsing on P300, brain imaging, and cognitive performance. J Appl Physiol 118:776–782. https://doi.org/10.1152/japplphysiol.01050.2014
- Debold EP, Romatowski J, Fitts RH (2006) The depressive effect of Pi on the force-pCa relationship in skinned single muscle fibers is temperature dependent. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 290:C1041-50. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpcell.00342.2005
- Decorte N, Lafaix PA, Millet GY, et al (2012) Central and peripheral fatigue kinetics during exhaustive constant-load cycling. Scand J Med Sci Sports 22:. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0838.2010.01167.x
- DeJong AT, Bonzheim K, Franklin BA, Saltarelli W (2009) Cardiorespiratory responses to maximal arm and leg exercise in national-class marathon runners. Phys Sportsmed 37:120–126. https://doi.org/10.3810/psm.2009.06.1718
- Delbono O, Meissner G (1996) Sarcoplasmic reticulum Ca2+ release in rat slow- and fasttwitch muscles. J Membr Biol 151:123–30
- Dempsey JA, Forster H V, Gledhill N, doPico GA (1975) Effects of moderate hypoxemia and hypocapnia on CSF [H+] and ventilation in man. J Appl Physiol 38:665–74. https://doi.org/10.1152/jappl.1975.38.4.665
- Dillon GH, Waldrop TG (1992) In vitro responses of caudal hypothalamic neurons to hypoxia and hypercapnia. Neuroscience 51:941–50
- Dillon GH, Waldrop TG (1993) Responses of feline caudal hypothalamic cardiorespiratory neurons to hypoxia and hypercapnia. Exp brain Res 96:260–72
- Dimitrova NA, Dimitrov G V (2002) Amplitude-related characteristics of motor unit and Mwave potentials during fatigue. A simulation study using literature data on intracellular potential changes found in vitro. J Electromyogr Kinesiol 12:339–49
- Dorel S, Guilhem G, Couturier A, Hug F (2012) Adjustment of muscle coordination during an all-out sprint cycling task. Med Sci Sports Exerc 44:2154–2164. https://doi.org/10.1249/MSS.0b013e3182625423

- Dousset E, Avela J, Ishikawa M, et al (2007) Bimodal recovery pattern in human skeletal muscle induced by exhaustive stretch-shortening cycle exercise. Med Sci Sports Exerc 39:453–460. https://doi.org/10.1249/mss.0b013e31802dd74e
- Doyle-Baker D, Temesi J, Medysky ME, et al (2017) An Innovative Ergometer to Measure Neuromuscular Fatigue Immediately after Cycling
- Duchateau J, Balestra C, Carpentier A, Hainaut K (2002) Reflex regulation during sustained and intermittent submaximal contractions in humans. J Physiol 541:959–67. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.2002.016790
- Duchateau J, Hainaut K (1990) Effects of immobilization on contractile properties, recruitment and firing rates of human motor units. J Physiol 422:55–65. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.1990.sp017972
- Duchateau J, Hainaut K (1993) Behaviour of short and long latency reflexes in fatigued human muscles. J Physiol 471:787–99. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.1993.sp019928
- Duche P, Ducher G, Lazzer S, et al (2002) Peak power in obese and nonobese adolescents: effects of gender and braking force. Med Sci Sport Exerc 34:2072–2078. https://doi.org/10.1097/00005768-200212000-00031
- Duchen MR (2000) Mitochondria and Ca(2+)in cell physiology and pathophysiology. Cell Calcium 28:339–48. https://doi.org/10.1054/ceca.2000.0170
- Duke AM, Steele DS (2000) Characteristics of phosphate-induced Ca(2+) efflux from the SR in mechanically skinned rat skeletal muscle fibers. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 278:C126-35. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpcell.2000.278.1.C126
- Dupont G, McCall A, Prieur F, et al (2010) Faster oxygen uptake kinetics during recovery is related to better repeated sprinting ability. Eur J Appl Physiol 110:627–634. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00421-010-1494-7
- Dupont G, Millet GP, Guinhouya C, Berthoin S (2005) Relationship between oxygen uptake kinetics and performance in repeated running sprints. Eur J Appl Physiol 95:27–34. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00421-005-1382-8
- Dutka TL, Lamb GD (2004) Effect of low cytoplasmic [ATP] on excitation-contraction coupling in fast-twitch muscle fibres of the rat. J Physiol 560:451–68. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.2004.069112
- Enoka RM, Baudry S, Rudroff T, et al (2011) Unraveling the neurophysiology of muscle fatigue. J Electromyogr Kinesiol 21:208–219. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jelekin.2010.10.006
- Enoka RM, Duchateau J (2016) Translating fatigue to human performance

- Enoka RM, Stuart DG (1992) Neurobiology of muscle fatigue. J Appl Physiol 72:1631–1648. https://doi.org/10.1152/jappl.1992.72.5.1631
- Everts ME, Lømo T, Clausen T (1993) Changes in K+, Na+ and calcium contents during in vivo stimulation of rat skeletal muscle. Acta Physiol Scand 147:357–68. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1748-1716.1993.tb09512.x
- Fahs A, Loenneke P, Rossow M, et al (2012) Methodological considerations for blood flow restricted resistance exercise. J Trainology
- Faiss R, Girard O, Millet GP (2013a) Advancing hypoxic training in team sports: From intermittent hypoxic training to repeated sprint training in hypoxia. Br J Sports Med 47:i45-50. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2013-092741
- Faiss R, Léger B, Vesin JM, et al (2013b) Significant molecular and systemic adaptations after repeated sprint training in hypoxia. PLoS One 8:e56522. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0056522
- Faiss R, Willis S, Born DP, et al (2015) Repeated double-poling sprint training in hypoxia by competitive cross-country skiers. Med Sci Sports Exerc 47:809–817. https://doi.org/10.1249/MSS.00000000000464
- Fan J-L, Kayser B (2016) Fatigue and Exhaustion in Hypoxia: The Role of Cerebral Oxygenation. High Alt Med Biol 17:72–84. https://doi.org/10.1089/ham.2016.0034
- Farley CT, Blickhan R, Saito J, Taylor CR (1991) Hopping frequency in humans: a test of how springs set stride frequency in bouncing gaits. J Appl Physiol 71:2127–2132. https://doi.org/10.1152/jappl.1991.71.6.2127
- Fatela P, Reis JF, Mendonca G V, et al (2016) Acute effects of exercise under different levels of blood-flow restriction on muscle activation and fatigue. Eur J Appl Physiol 116:985– 995. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00421-016-3359-1
- Fernandez-del-Olmo M, Rodriguez FA, Marquez G, et al (2013) Isometric knee extensor fatigue following a Wingate test: Peripheral and central mechanisms. Scand J Med Sci Sport 23:57–65. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0838.2011.01355.x
- Fitts RH (2016) The Role of Acidosis in Fatigue: Pro Perspective. Med Sci Sports Exerc 48:2335–2338. https://doi.org/10.1249/MSS.000000000001043
- Forman DA, Philpott DTG, Button DC, Power KE (2015) Cadence-dependent changes in corticospinal excitability of the biceps brachii during arm cycling. J Neurophysiol 114:2285–2294. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00418.2015
- Forman DA, Richards M, Forman GN, et al (2016) Changes in Corticospinal and Spinal Excitability to the Biceps Brachii with a Neutral vs. Pronated Handgrip Position Differ

between Arm Cycling and Tonic Elbow Flexion. Front Hum Neurosci 10:1–12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2016.00543

- Fornasier-Santos C, Millet GP, Woorons X (2018) Repeated-sprint training in hypoxia induced by voluntary hypoventilation improves running repeated-sprint ability in rugby players. Eur J Sport Sci 18:504–512. https://doi.org/10.1080/17461391.2018.1431312
- Forster H V, Dempsey JA, Chosy LW (1975) Incomplete compensation of CSF [H+] in man during acclimatization to high altitude (48300 M). J Appl Physiol 38:1067–72. https://doi.org/10.1152/jappl.1975.38.6.1067
- Froyd C, Millet GY, Noakes TD (2013) The development of peripheral fatigue and short-term recovery during self-paced high-intensity exercise. J Physiol 591:1339–1346. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.2012.245316
- Fuglevand AJ, Keen DA (2003) Re-Evaluation of Muscle Wisdom in the Human Adductor Pollicis using Physiological Rates of Stimulation. J Physiol 549:865–875. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.2003.038836
- Fuglevand AJ, Lester RA, Johns RK (2015) Distinguishing intrinsic from extrinsic factors underlying firing rate saturation in human motor units. J Neurophysiol 113:. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00777.2014
- Gaitanos GC, Williams C, Boobis LH, Brooks S (1993) Human muscle metabolism during intermittent maximal exercise. J Appl Physiol 75:712–9. https://doi.org/10.1152/jappl.1993.75.2.712
- Galvin HM, Cooke K, Sumners DP, et al (2013) Repeated sprint training in normobaric hypoxia. Br J Sports Med 47:i74–i79. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2013-092826
- Gandevia SC (2001) Spinal and supraspinal factors in human muscle fatigue. Physiol Rev 81:1725–1789
- Gandevia SC, Allen GM, Butler JE, Taylor JL (1996) Supraspinal factors in human muscle fatigue: evidence for suboptimal output from the motor cortex. J Physiol 490 (Pt 2:529–36. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.1996.sp021164
- Garland SJ, Gossen ER (2002) The muscular wisdom hypothesis in human muscle fatigue. Exerc Sport Sci Rev 30:45–9
- Gatterer H, Klarod K, Heinrich D, et al (2015) Effects of a 12-day maximal shuttle-run shock microcycle in hypoxia on soccer specific performance and oxidative stress. Appl Physiol Nutr Metab 40:842–845. https://doi.org/10.1139/apnm-2014-0479
- Gatterer H, Menz V, Untersteiner C, et al (2019) Physiological Factors Associated With Declining Repeated Sprint Performance in Hypoxia. J strength Cond Res 33:211–216.

https://doi.org/10.1519/JSC.000000000001891

- Gatterer H, Philippe M, Menz V, et al (2014) Shuttle-run sprint training in hypoxia for youth elite soccer players: a pilot study. J Sport Sci Med 13:731–735
- Gevins A, Leong H, Smith ME, et al (1995) Mapping cognitive brain function with modern high-resolution electroencephalography. Trends Neurosci 18:429–36
- Girard O, Bishop DJ, Racinais S (2013) Neuromuscular adjustments of the quadriceps muscle after repeated cycling sprints. PLoS One 8:e61793. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0061793
- Girard O, Brocherie F, Bishop DJ (2015a) Sprint performance under heat stress: A review. Scand J Med Sci Sport 25:79–89. https://doi.org/10.1111/sms.12437
- Girard O, Brocherie F, Millet GP (2017) Effects of Altitude/Hypoxia on Single- and Multiple-Sprint Performance: A Comprehensive Review. Sport Med 47:1931–1949. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40279-017-0733-z
- Girard O, Brocherie F, Morin JB, Millet GP (2015b) Running mechanical alterations during repeated treadmill sprints in hot versus hypoxic environments. A pilot study. J Sport Sci 34:1–9. https://doi.org/10.1080/02640414.2015.1101482
- Girard O, Brocherie F, Morin JB, Millet GP (2015c) Neuro-mechanical determinants of repeated treadmill sprints Usefulness of an "hypoxic to normoxic recovery" approach. Front Physiol 6:260. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2015.00260
- Girard O, Micallef J-P, Millet GP (2011b) Changes in spring-mass model characteristics during repeated running sprints. Eur J Appl Physiol 111:125–134. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00421-010-1638-9
- Glaister M (2008) Multiple-sprint work: methodological, physiological, and experimental issues. Int J Sport Physiol Perform 3:107–112
- Glaister M (2005) Multiple sprint work : physiological responses, mechanisms of fatigue and the influence of aerobic fitness. Sport Med 35:757–777. https://doi.org/10.2165/00007256-200535090-00003
- Glaister M, Stone MH, Stewart AM, et al (2005) The influence of recovery duration on multiple sprint cycling performance. J strength Cond Res 19:831–7
- Glancy B, Willis WT, Chess DJ, Balaban RS (2013) Effect of calcium on the oxidative phosphorylation cascade in skeletal muscle mitochondria. Biochemistry 52:.

https://doi.org/10.1021/bi3015983

- Glynn IM (1963) Transport adenosinetriphosphatase' in electric organ. The relation between ion transport and oxidative phosphorylation. J Physiol 169:452–465. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.1963.sp007272
- Goldfarb AH, Garten RS, Chee PDM, et al (2008) Resistance exercise effects on blood glutathione status and plasma protein carbonyls: Influence of partial vascular occlusion. Eur J Appl Physiol 104:813–819. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00421-008-0836-1
- Gomez-Cabrera M-C, Domenech E, Romagnoli M, et al (2008) Oral administration of vitamin C decreases muscle mitochondrial biogenesis and hampers training-induced adaptations in endurance performance. Am J Clin Nutr 87:142–9. https://doi.org/10.1093/ajcn/87.1.142
- Goodall S, Charlton K, Howatson G, Thomas K (2014a) Neuromuscular fatigability during repeated-sprint exercise in male athletes. Med Sci Sports Exerc 47:528–536. https://doi.org/10.1249/MSS.00000000000443
- Goodall S, González-Alonso J, Ali L, et al (2012) Supraspinal fatigue after normoxic and hypoxic exercise in humans. J Physiol 590:2767–2782. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.2012.228890
- Goodall S, Romer LM, Ross EZ (2009) Voluntary activation of human knee extensors measured using transcranial magnetic stimulation. Exp Physiol 94:995–1004. https://doi.org/10.1113/expphysiol.2009.047902
- Goodall S, Ross EZ, Romer LM (2010) Effect of graded hypoxia on supraspinal contributions to fatigue with unilateral knee-extensor contractions. J Appl Physiol 109:1842–1851. https://doi.org/10.1152/japplphysiol.00458.2010
- Goodall S, Twomey R, Amann M (2014b) Acute and chronic hypoxia: implications for cerebral function and exercise tolerance. Fatigue Biomed Heal Behav 2:2:73–92. https://doi.org/10.1080/21641846.2014.909963
- Goods PS, Dawson BT, Landers GJ, et al (2014) Effect of different simulated altitudes on repeat-sprint performance in team-sport athletes. Int J Sport Physiol Perform 9:857–862. https://doi.org/10.1123/ijspp.2013-0423
- Goods PSR, Dawson B, Landers GJ, et al (2015) No Additional Benefit of Repeat-Sprint Training in Hypoxia than in Normoxia on Sea-Level Repeat-Sprint Ability. J Sports Sci Med 14:681–8
- Gruet M, Temesi J, Rupp T, et al (2013) Stimulation of the motor cortex and corticospinal tract to assess human muscle fatigue. Neuroscience 231:384–399.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2012.10.058

- Hallett M (2000) Transcranial magnetic stimulation and the human brain. Nature 406:147– 150. https://doi.org/10.1038/35018000
- Halperin I, Collins BW, Monks M, et al (2018) Upper and lower body responses to repeated cyclical sprints Upper and lower body responses to repeated cyclical sprints. Eur J Sport Sci 0:1–10. https://doi.org/10.1080/17461391.2018.1468485
- Hamlin MJ, Olsen PD, Marshall HC, et al (2017) Hypoxic repeat sprint training improves rugby player's repeated sprint but not endurance performance. Front Physiol 8:24. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2017.00024
- Hanada A, Sander M, González-Alonso J (2003) Human skeletal muscle sympathetic nerve activity, heart rate and limb haemodynamics with reduced blood oxygenation and exercise. J Physiol 551:635–647. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.2003.044024
- Harbo T, Brincks J, Andersen H (2012) Maximal isokinetic and isometric muscle strength of major muscle groups related to age, body mass, height, and sex in 178 healthy subjects.
 Eur J Appl Physiol 112:267–75. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00421-011-1975-3
- Harwood B, Choi I, Rice CL (2012) Reduced motor unit discharge rates of maximal velocity dynamic contractions in response to a submaximal dynamic fatigue protocol. J Appl Physiol 113:. https://doi.org/10.1152/japplphysiol.00879.2012
- Heckman CJ, Johnson M, Mottram C, Schuster J (2008) Persistent Inward Currents in Spinal Motoneurons and Their Influence on Human Motoneuron Firing Patterns. Neurosci 14:264–275. https://doi.org/10.1177/1073858408314986
- Heckman CJJ, Enoka RM (2012) Motor unit. Compr Physiol 2:2629–2682. https://doi.org/10.1002/cphy.c100087
- Henneman E, Somjen G, Carpenter DO (1965) Functional Significance of cell size in spinal motoneurons. Am Physiol Soc 28:560–580. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.1965.28.3.560
- Herbert RD, Gandevia SC (1999) Twitch Interpolation in Human Muscles: Mechanisms and Implications for Measurement of Voluntary Activation. J Neurophysiol 82:2271–2283. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.1999.82.5.2271
- Hidalgo C, González ME, García AM (1986) Calcium transport in transverse tubules isolated from rabbit skeletal muscle. Biochim Biophys Acta 854:279–86
- Hidalgo C, Sánchez G, Barrientos G, Aracena-Parks P (2006) A transverse tubule NADPH oxidase activity stimulates calcium release from isolated triads via ryanodine receptor type
 1 S -glutathionylation. J Biol Chem 281:26473–82. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M600451200

- Hill A V., Kupalov P (1929) Anaerobic and Aerobic Activity in Isolated Muscle. Proc R Soc B Biol Sci 105:313–322. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.1929.0045
- Hirschfield W, Moody MR, O'Brien WE, et al (2017) Nitric oxide release and contractile properties of skeletal muscles from mice deficient in type III NOS. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 278:R95–R100. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpregu.2000.278.1.R95
- Hogan MC, Richardson RS, Kurdak SS (1994) Initial fall in skeletal muscle force development during ischemia is related to oxygen availability. J Appl Physiol 77:2380–2384. https://doi.org/10.1152/jappl.1994.77.5.2380
- Hoheisel U, Unger T, Mense S (2005) Excitatory and modulatory effects of inflammatory cytokines and neurotrophins on mechanosensitive group IV muscle afferents in the rat. Pain 114:168–176. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pain.2004.12.020
- Hollings SC, Hopkins WG, Hume PA (2012) Environmental and venue-related factors affecting the performance of elite male track athletes. Eur J Sport Sci 12:3:201–206. https://doi.org/10.1080/17461391.2011.552640
- Hopkins WG (2000) Measures of Reliability in Sports Medicine and Science. Sport Med 30:1– 15. https://doi.org/10.2165/00007256-200030010-00001
- Hopkins WG (2015) Spreadsheets for analysis of validity and reliability. Sportscience 19:36– 42
- Hoppeler H, Vogt M (2001) Muscle tissue adaptations to hypoxia. J Exp Biol 204:3133–9
- Horowicz P, Hodgkin AL, Horowicz P (1959) The influence of potassium and chloride ions on the membrane potential of single muscle fibres. J Physiol 148:127–160. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.1959.sp006278
- Hultman E, Sjöholm H (1983) Energy metabolism and contraction force of human skeletal muscle in situ during electrical stimulation. J Physiol 345:525–532. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.1983.sp014994
- Hunter SK (2018) Performance fatigability: Mechanisms and task specificity. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med 8:1–22. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a029728
- Hureau TJ, Ducrocq GP, Blain GM (2016) Peripheral and Central Fatigue Development during All-Out Repeated Cycling Sprints. Med Sci Sports Exerc 48:391–401. https://doi.org/10.1249/MSS.000000000000000000
- Hureau TJ, Olivier N, Millet GY, et al (2014) Exercise performance is regulated during repeated sprints to limit the development of peripheral fatigue beyond a critical threshold. Exp Physiol 99:951–963. https://doi.org/10.1113/expphysiol.2014.077974

Husmann F, Mittlmeier T, Bruhn S, et al (2018) Impact of Blood Flow Restriction Exercise on

Muscle Fatigue Development and Recovery. Med Sci Sports Exerc 50:436–446. https://doi.org/10.1249/MSS.00000000001475

- Jaafar H, Attiogbe E, Rouis M, et al (2015) Reliability of Force-Velocity Tests in Cycling and Cranking Exercises in Men and Women. Biomed Res Int 2015:. https://doi.org/10.1155/2015/954780
- Janssen I, Heymsfield SB, Wang ZM, Ross R (2000) Skeletal muscle mass and distribution in 468 men and women aged 18-88 yr. J Appl Physiol 89:81–8. https://doi.org/10.1152/jappl.2000.89.1.81
- Johnson KVB, Edwards SC, Van Tongeren C, Bawa P (2004) Properties of human motor units after prolonged activity at a constant firing rate. Exp brain Res 154:479–87. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00221-003-1678-z

Johnson MD, Heckman CJ (2014) Gain control mechanisms in spinal motoneurons. Front Neural Circuits 8:1–7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fncir.2014.00081

- Jones DA (1996) High- and low-frequency fatigue revisited. Acta Physiol Scand 156:265–270. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-201X.1996.192000.x
- Jubeau M, Rupp T, Perrey S, et al (2014) Changes in voluntary activation assessed by transcranial magnetic stimulation during prolonged cycling exercise. PLoS One 9:e89157. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0089157
- Jubeau M, Rupp T, Temesi J, et al (2017) Neuromuscular Fatigue during Prolonged Exercise in Hypoxia. Med Sci Sports Exerc 49:430–439. https://doi.org/10.1249/MSS.000000000001118
- Juel C (1988) Muscle action potential propagation velocity changes during activity. Muscle Nerve 11:714–719. https://doi.org/10.1002/mus.880110707
- Juel C, Pilegaard H, Nielsen JJ, Bangsbo J (2017) Interstitial K + in human skeletal muscle during and after dynamic graded exercise determined by microdialysis . Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 278:R400–R406. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpregu.2000.278.2.r400
- Kabbara AA, Allen DG (1999) The role of calcium stores in fatigue of isolated single muscle fibres from the cane toad. J Physiol 519:169–76. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7793.1999.0169o.x
- Kacin A, Strazar K (2011) Frequent low-load ischemic resistance exercise to failure enhances muscle oxygen delivery and endurance capacity. Scand J Med Sci Sport 21:231–241. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0838.2010.01260.x

Kallenberg LAC, Schulte E, Disselhorst-Klug C, Hermens HJ (2007) Myoelectric

manifestations of fatigue at low contraction levels in subjects with and without chronic pain. J Electromyogr Kinesiol 17:264–274. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jelekin.2006.04.004

- Kamandulis S, Bruzas V, Mockus P, et al (2018) Sport-Specific Repeated Sprint Training Improves Punching Ability and Upper-Body Aerobic Power in Experienced Amateur Boxers. J strength Cond Res 32:1214–1221. https://doi.org/10.1519/JSC.00000000002056
- Karabulut M, Abe T, Sato Y, Bemben M (2007) Overview of neuromuscular adaptations of skeletal muscle to KAATSU Training. 1–9
- Karabulut M, Cramer JT, Abe T, et al (2010) Neuromuscular fatigue following low-intensity dynamic exercise with externally applied vascular restriction. J Electromyogr Kinesiol 20:440–447. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jelekin.2009.06.005
- Karatzaferi C, de Haan A, Ferguson RA, et al (2001a) Phosphocreatine and ATP content in human single muscle fibres before and after maximum dynamic exercise. Pflugers Arch 442:467–74
- Karatzaferi C, de Haan A, van Mechelen W, Sargeant AJ (2001b) Metabolism changes in single human fibres during brief maximal exercise. Exp Physiol 86:411–5
- Karatzaferi C, Franks-Skiba K, Cooke R (2008) Inhibition of shortening velocity of skinned skeletal muscle fibers in conditions that mimic fatigue. Am J Physiol Integr Comp Physiol 294:R948–R955. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpregu.00541.2007
- Kasai N, Kojima C, Sumi D, et al (2017) Impact of 5 Days of Sprint Training in Hypoxia on Performance and Muscle Energy Substances. Int J Sports Med. doi: 10.1055/s-0043-117413
- Kasai N, Mizuno S, Ishimoto S, et al (2015) Effect of training in hypoxia on repeated sprint performance in female athletes. Springerplus 4:310. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40064-015-1041-4
- Kasai N, Mizuno S, Ishimoto S, et al (2019) Impact of Six Consecutive Days of Sprint Training in Hypoxia on Performance in Competitive Sprint Runners. J Strength Cond Res 33:36– 43. https://doi.org/10.1519/JSC.00000000001954
- Kaufman MP, Forster H V. (2011) Reflexes Controlling Circulatory, Ventilatory and Airway
 Responses to Exercise. In: Comprehensive Physiology. John Wiley & Sons, Inc.,
 Hoboken, NJ, USA, pp 381–447
- Kawada S (2005) What phenomena do accur in BFR muscle.pdf. Int J KAATSU Train Res 1:37–44
- Keeton RB, Binder-macleod SA (2006) Low-Frequency Fatigue. Phys Ther 86:1146–1150

- Kennedy DS, Fitzpatrick SC, Gandevia SC, Taylor JL (2015) Fatigue-related firing of muscle nociceptors reduces voluntary activation of ipsilateral but not contralateral lower limb muscles. J Appl Physiol 118:408–418. https://doi.org/10.1152/japplphysiol.00375.2014
- Kent-Braun JA (1999) Central and peripheral contributions to muscle fatigue in humans during sustained maximal effort. Eur J Appl Physiol Occup Physiol 80:57–63. https://doi.org/10.1007/s004210050558

Kernell D (2006) The motoneurone and its muscle fibres

Kirkendall DT (1990) Mechanisms of peripheral fatigue. Med Sci Sports Exerc 22:444-449

- KLASS M, Duchateau J, Rabec S, et al (2016) Noradrenaline reuptake inhibition impairs cortical output and limits endurance time. Med Sci Sports Exerc 48:1014–1023. https://doi.org/10.1249/MSS.00000000000879
- Klass M, Lévénez M, Enoka RM, Duchateau J (2008) Spinal mechanisms contribute to differences in the time to failure of submaximal fatiguing contractions performed with different loads. J Neurophysiol 99:. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.01252.2007
- Kontos HA, Levasseur JE, Richardson DW, et al (1967) Comparative circulatory responses to systemic hypoxia in man and in unanesthetized dog. J Appl Physiol 23:381–386. https://doi.org/10.1152/jappl.1967.23.3.381
- Koppo K, Bouckaert J (2001) The effect of prior high-intensity cycling exercise on the VO 2 kinetics during high-intensity cycling exercise is situated at the additional slow component. Int J Sports Med 22:21–26
- Koppo K, Bouckaert J, Jones AM (2002) Oxygen uptake kinetics during high-intensity arm and leg exercise. Respir Physiol Neurobiol 133:241–250. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1569-9048(02)00184-2
- Korthuis RJ (2011) Skeletal Muscle Circulation. Colloq Ser Integr Syst Physiol From Mol to Funct 3:1–144. https://doi.org/10.4199/C00035ED1V01Y201106ISP023
- Korthuis RJ, Granger DN, Townsley MI, Taylor AE (1985) The role of oxygen-derived free radicals in ischemia-induced increases in canine skeletal muscle vascular permeability. Circ Res 57:599–609. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.RES.57.4.599
- Kraaier V, Van Huffelen AC, Wieneke GH (1988) Quantitative EEG changes due to hypobaric hypoxia in normal subjects. Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol 69:303–12
- Krüger RL, Aboodarda SJ, Jaimes LM, et al (2019) Fatigue and recovery measured with dynamic properties versus isometric force: effects of exercise intensity. J Exp Biol 222:jeb197483. https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.197483

Lamb GD (1992) DHP receptors and excitation-contraction coupling. J Muscle Res Cell Motil

13:394-405

- Lamb GD, Stephenson DG (1994) Effects of intracellular pH and [Mg2+] on excitationcontraction coupling in skeletal muscle fibres of the rat. J Physiol 478 (Pt 2:331–9. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.1994.sp020253
- Lamb GD, Westerblad H (2011) Acute effects of reactive oxygen and nitrogen species on the contractile function of skeletal muscle. J Physiol 589:2119–2127. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.2010.199059
- Lännergren J, Westerblad H, Lannergren J, Westerblad H (1987) Action potential fatigue in single skeletal muscle fibres of Xenopus. Acta Physiol Scand 129:311–318. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1748-1716.1987.tb08074.x
- Larkin KA, Macneil RG, Dirain M, et al (2012) Blood flow restriction enhances post-resistance exercise angiogenic gene expression. Med Sci Sport Exerc 44:2077–2083. https://doi.org/10.1249/MSS.0b013e3182625928
- Laurentino GC, Carlos U, Roschel H, et al (2012) Strength training with blood flow restriction diminishes myostatin gene expression. Med Sci Sports Exerc 44:406–12. https://doi.org/10.1249/MSS.0b013e318233b4bc
- Lee M, Gandevia SC, Carroll TJ (2008) Cortical voluntary activation can be reliably measured in human wrist extensors using transcranial magnetic stimulation. Clin Neurophysiol 119:1130–1138. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2007.12.018
- Lévénez M, Garland SJ, Klass M, Duchateau J (2008) Cortical and Spinal Modulation of Antagonist Coactivation During a Submaximal Fatiguing Contraction in Humans. J Neurophysiol 99:554–563. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00963.2007
- Levine BD, Mehta RD (2008) Effect of altitude on football performance. Scand J Med Sci Sports 18:76–84. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0838.2008.00835.x
- Little T, Williams AG (2007) Ratio on repeated sprint performance and soccer players. J Strength Cond Res 1–4. https://doi.org/10.1519/R-20125.1
- Liu JZ, Shan ZY, Zhang LD, et al (2003) Human brain activation during sustained and intermittent submaximal fatigue muscle contractions: an FMRI study. J Neurophysiol 90:300–12. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00821.2002
- Loenneke JP, Allen KM, Mouser JG, et al (2015a) Blood flow restriction in the upper and lower limbs is predicted by limb circumference and systolic blood pressure. Eur J Appl Physiol 115:397–405. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00421-014-3030-7
- Loenneke JP, Fahs CA, Rossow LM, et al (2012) Effects of cuff width on arterial occlusion: implications for blood flow restricted exercise. Eur J Appl Physiol 112:2903–2912.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s00421-011-2266-8

- Loenneke JP, Fahs CA, Wilson JM, Bemben MG (2011) Blood flow restriction: The metabolite/volume threshold theory. Med Hypotheses 77:748–752. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mehy.2011.07.029
- Loenneke JP, Kim D, Fahs CA, et al (2015b) Effects of exercise with and without different degrees of blood flow restriction on torque and muscle activation. 1–32
- Loenneke JP, Pujol TJ (2009) The Use of Occlusion Training to Produce Muscle Hypertrophy. Strength Cond J 31:77–84. https://doi.org/10.1519/SSC.0b013e3181a5a352
- Loenneke JP, Thiebaud RS, Abe T (2014a) Does blood flow restriction result in skeletal muscle damage? A critical review of available evidence. Scand J Med Sci Sports 24:e415-422. https://doi.org/10.1111/sms.12210
- Loenneke JP, Thiebaud RS, Fahs CA, et al (2013) Blood flow restriction does not result in prolonged decrements in torque. Eur J Appl Physiol 113:923–931. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00421-012-2502-x
- Loenneke JPP, Thiebaud RSS, Abe T, Bemben MGG (2014b) Blood flow restriction pressure recommendations: The hormesis hypothesis. Med Hypotheses 82:623–626. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mehy.2014.02.023
- Lunde PK, Dahlstedt AJ, Bruton JD, et al (2001) Contraction and intracellular Ca(2+) handling in isolated skeletal muscle of rats with congestive heart failure. Circ Res 88:1299–305
- Macefield G, Hagbarth KE, Gorman R, et al (1991) Decline in spindle support to alphamotoneurones during sustained voluntary contractions. J Physiol 440:497–512. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.1991.sp018721
- Macefield VG, Fuglevand AJ, Howell JN, Bigland-Ritchie B (2000) Discharge behaviour of single motor units during maximal voluntary contractions of a human toe extensor. J Physiol 528 Pt 1:227–34. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7793.2000.00227.x
- Macintosh BR, Rassier DE (2002) What Is Fatigue? Can J Appl Physiol 27:42–55. https://doi.org/10.1139/h02-003
- Madarame H, Kurano M, Takano H, et al (2010) Effects of low-intensity resistance exercise with blood flow restriction on coagulation system in healthy subjects. Clin Physiol Funct Imaging 30:210–213. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1475-097X.2010.00927.x
- Madueno MC, Guy J, Dalbo VJ, Scanlan AT (2018) A systematic review examining the physiological, perceptual, and performance effects of active and passive recovery modes applied between repeated-sprints. J Sports Med Phys Fitness. doi: 10.23736/S0022-4707.18.09188-0

- Manimmanakorn A, Manimmanakorn N, Taylor R, et al (2013) Effects of resistance training combined with vascular occlusion or hypoxia on neuromuscular function in athletes. Eur J Appl Physiol 113:1767–1774. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00421-013-2605-z
- Manini TM, Clark BC (2009) Blood flow restricted exercise and skeletal muscle health. Exerc Sport Sci Rev 37:78–85. https://doi.org/10.1097/JES.0b013e31819c2e5c LK http://resolver.ebscohost.com/openurl?sid=EMBASE&issn=00916331&id=doi:10.1097 %2FJES.0b013e31819c2e5c&atitle=Blood+flow+restricted+exercise+and+skeletal+mu scle+health&stitle=Exercise+Sport+Sci.+Rev.&title=Exercise+and+Sport+Sciences+Re views&volume=37&issue=2&spage=78&epage=85&aulast=Manini&aufirst=Todd+M.&a uinit=T.M.&aufull=Manini+T.M.&coden=ESSRB&isbn=&pages=78-85&date=2009&auinit1=T&auinitm=M
- Manini TM, Vincent KR, Leeuwenburgh CL, et al (2011) Myogenic and proteolytic mRNA expression following blood flow restricted exercise. Acta Physiol 201:. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1748-1716.2010.02172.x
- Matuszczak Y, Farid M, Jones J, et al (2005) Effects of N-acetylcysteine on glutathione oxidation and fatigue during handgrip exercise. Muscle Nerve 32:633–638. https://doi.org/10.1002/mus.20385
- Maxwell PH (2005) Hypoxia-inducible factor as a physiological regulator. Exp Physiol 90:791–797. https://doi.org/10.1113/expphysiol.2005.030924
- McBride J, Kraemer W, Triplett-McBride T, Sebastianelli W (1998) Effect of resistance exercise on free radical production. Med Sci 30:67–72
- Mccully KK, Stefano I, Kendrick K, et al (1994) Simultaneous in vivo measurements of HbO , saturation and PCr kinetics after exercise in normal humans. J Appl Physiol 77:5–10
- McGawley K, Bishop D (2008) Anaerobic and aerobic contribution to two, 5 x 6-s repeatedsprint bouts. Coach Sport Sci J 3:52
- Mcgawley K, Bishop DJ (2015) Oxygen uptake during repeated-sprint exercise Kerry. J Sci Med Sport 18:214–218. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsams.2014.02.002
- McKenna MJ, Bangsbo J, Renaud J-M (2008) Muscle K + , Na + , and CI disturbances and Na + -K + pump inactivation: implications for fatigue . J Appl Physiol 104:288–95. https://doi.org/10.1152/japplphysiol.01037.2007
- McKenna MJ, Medved I, Goodman CA, et al (2006) N-acetylcysteine attenuates the decline in muscle Na+,K+-pump activity and delays fatigue during prolonged exercise in humans. J Physiol 576:279–88. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.2006.115352

Mclellan TM, Kavanagh MF, Jacobs I (1990) The effect of hypoxia on performance during 30

s or 45 s of supramaximal exercise. Eur J Appl Physiol 155–161

- McNeil CJ, Giesebrecht S, Gandevia SC, Taylor JL (2011) Behaviour of the motoneurone pool in a fatiguing submaximal contraction. J Physiol 589:3533–44. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.2011.207191
- Meeusen R, Roelands B (2010) Central fatigue and neurotransmitters, can thermoregulation be manipulated? Scand J Med Sci Sports 20:19–28. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0838.2010.01205.x
- Meeusen R, Roelands B (2018) Fatigue: Is it all neurochemistry? Eur J Sport Sci 18:37–46. https://doi.org/10.1080/17461391.2017.1296890
- Mendez-Villanueva A, Edge J, Suriano R, et al (2012) The Recovery of Repeated-Sprint Exercise Is Associated with PCr Resynthesis, while Muscle pH and EMG Amplitude Remain Depressed. PLoS One 7:e51977. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0051977
- Mendez-Villanueva A, Hamer P, Bishop D (2008) Fatigue in repeated-sprint exercise is related to muscle power factors and reduced neuromuscular activity. Eur J Appl Physiol 103:411–9. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00421-008-0723-9
- Merry TL, Ristow M (2016) Do antioxidant supplements interfere with skeletal muscle adaptation to exercise training? J Physiol 594:5135–47. https://doi.org/10.1113/JP270654
- Merton PA (1954) Voluntary strength and fatigue. J Physiol 123:553–564. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.1954.sp005070
- Metzger JM, Fitts RH (1986) Fatigue from high- and low-frequency muscle stimulation: role of sarcolemma action potentials. Exp Neurol 93:320–33
- Michaelson LP, Shi G, Ward CW, Rodney GG (2010) Mitochondrial redox potential during contraction in single intact muscle fibers. Muscle Nerve 42:522–529. https://doi.org/10.1002/mus.21724
- Miller AEJ, MacDougall JD, Tarnopolsky MA, Sale DG (1993) Gender differences in strength and muscle fiber characteristics. Eur J Appl Physiol 66:254–262
- Millet G, Girard O, Beard A, Brocherie F (2019) Repeated sprint training in hypoxia an innovative method. Dtsch Z Sportmed 2019:115–122. https://doi.org/10.5960/dzsm.2019.374
- Millet GY, Tomazin K, Verges S, et al (2011) Neuromuscular consequences of an extreme mountain ultra-marathon. PLoS One 6:. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0017059
- Mira J, Lapole T, Souron R, et al (2017) Cortical voluntary activation testing methodology impacts central fatigue. Eur J Appl Physiol 117:1845–1857.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s00421-017-3678-x

- Mogk JPMM, Rogers LM, Murray WM, et al (2014) Corticomotor excitability of arm muscles modulates according to static position and orientation of the upper limb. Clin Neurophysiol 125:. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2014.02.007
- Mohr M, Nordsborg N, Nielsen JJ, et al (2004) Potassium kinetics in human muscle interstitium during repeated intense exercise in relation to fatigue. Pflugers Arch 448:452–6. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00424-004-1257-6
- Monks MR, Compton CT, Yetman JD, et al (2017) Repeated sprint ability but not neuromuscular fatigue is dependent on short versus long duration recovery time between sprints in healthy males. J Sci Med Sport 20:600–605. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsams.2016.10.008
- Monroe DC, Gist NH, Freese EC, et al (2016) Effects of Sprint Interval Cycling on Fatigue, Energy, and Cerebral Oxygenation. Basic Sci 615–624. https://doi.org/10.1249/MSS.000000000000809
- Montero D, Lundby C (2016) Repeated Sprint Training in Hypoxia Versus Normoxia Does Not Improve Performance: A Double-Blind and Cross-Over Study. Int J Sport Physiol Perform 1–22. https://doi.org/10.1123/ijspp.2015-0691
- Montero D, Lundby C (2015) Enhanced performance after repeated sprint training in Hypoxia: False or reality? Med Sci Sports Exerc 47:2483. https://doi.org/10.1249/MSS.000000000000711
- Moopanar TR, Allen DG (2005) Reactive oxygen species reduce myofibrillar Ca2+ sensitivity in fatiguing mouse skeletal muscle at 37 degrees C. J Physiol 564:189–99. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.2005.083519
- Moore DR, Burgomaster KA, Schofield LM, et al (2004) Neuromuscular adaptations in human muscle following low intensity resistance training with vascular occlusion. Eur J Appl Physiol 92:399–406. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00421-004-1072-y
- Morales-alamo D, Ponce-gonzález JG, Guadalupe-grau A, et al (2012) Increased oxidative stress and anaerobic energy release, but blunted Thr 172 -AMPK α phosphorylation, in response to sprint exercise in severe acute hypoxia in humans Increased oxidative stress and anaerobic energy release, but blunted Thr 172 -AMPK □. J Appl Physiol 113917-928, 113:917–928. https://doi.org/10.1152/japplphysiol.00415.2012
- Morin J-B, Jeannin T, Chevallier B, Belli A (2006) Spring-mass model characteristics during sprint running: correlation with performance and fatigue-induced changes. Int J Sports Med 27:158–65. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-2005-837569

- Morin J-B, Samozino P, Edouard P, Tomazin K (2011a) Effect of fatigue on force production and force application technique during repeated sprints. J Biomech 44:2719–2723. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbiomech.2011.07.020
- Morin J, Edouard P, Samozino P (2011b) Technical Ability of Force Application as a. Med Sci Sport Exerc 43:1680–1688. https://doi.org/10.1249/MSS.ObO
- Morrison J, McLellan C, Minahan C (2015a) A Clustered Repeated-Sprint Running Protocol for Team-Sport Athletes Performed in Normobaric Hypoxia. J Sport Sci Med 14:857–863
- Morrison JD, Lovell D, McLellan C, Minahan C (2015b) Performance and Metabolic Responses of Highly-Trained Team-Sport Athletes during Repeated Sprinting in Hypoxia. J Athl Enhanc 4:
- Mosso A (1891) La fatica, Treves. Milan
- Murphy RM, Stephenson DG, Lamb GD (2004) Effect of creatine on contractile force and sensitivity in mechanically skinned single fibers from rat skeletal muscle. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 287:C1589-95. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpcell.00276.2004
- Neubauer JA, Sunderram J (2004) Oxygen-sensing neurons in the central nervous system. J Appl Physiol 96:367–374. https://doi.org/10.1152/japplphysiol.00831.2003
- Newsholm E (1987) Amino acids, brain neurotransmitters and a functional link between muscle and brain that is important in sustained exercise. Adv Myochem
- Neyroud D, Rüttimann J, Mannion AF, et al (2013) Comparison of neuromuscular adjustments associated with sustained isometric contractions of four different muscle groups. J Appl Physiol 114:1426–1434. https://doi.org/10.1152/japplphysiol.01539.2012
- Nielsen J, Cheng AJ, Ørtenblad N, Westerblad H (2014) Subcellular distribution of glycogen and decreased tetanic Ca2+ in fatigued single intact mouse muscle fibres. J Physiol 592:2003–2012. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.2014.271528
- Nielsen J, Holmberg H-C, Schrøder HD, et al (2011) Human skeletal muscle glycogen utilization in exhaustive exercise: role of subcellular localization and fibre type. J Physiol 589:2871–85. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.2010.204487
- Nielsen OB, de Paoli F, Overgaard K (2001) Protective effects of lactic acid on force production in rat skeletal muscle. J Physiol 536:161–166. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7793.2001.t01-1-00161.x
- Noordhof DA, Mulder RCM, Koning JJ De, Hopkins WG (2016) Race Factors Affecting Performance Times in Elite Long-Track Speed Skating. Int J Sports Physiol Perform 535–542
- Nuzzo JL, Trajano GS, Barry BK, et al (2016) Arm posture-dependent changes in

corticospinal excitability are largely spinal in origin. J Neurophysiol 115:. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00885.2015

- Nybo L, Nielsen B (2001) Hyperthermia and central fatigue during prolonged exercise in humans. J Appl Physiol 91:1055–1060. https://doi.org/10.1152/jappl.2001.91.3.1055
- Ogawa T, Hayashi ÆK, Ichinose ÆM, The H (2007) Metabolic response during intermittent graded sprint running in moderate hypobaric hypoxia in competitive middle-distance runners. Eur J Appl Physiol 99:39–46. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00421-006-0315-5
- Ogawa T, Ohba K, Yoshiharu N, et al (2005) Intermittent short-term graded running performance in middle-distance runners in hypobaric hypoxia. Eur J Appl Physiol 94:254–261. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00421-005-1322-7
- Ogura Y, Katamoto S, Uchimaru J (2006) Effects of low and high levels of moderate hypoxia on anaerobic energy release during supramaximal cycle exercise. Eur J Appl Physiol 98:41–47. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00421-006-0214-9
- Oriishi M, Matsubayashi T, Kawahara T, Suzuki Y (2018) Short-Term Hypoxic Exposure and Training Improve Maximal Anaerobic Running Test Performance. J Strength Cond Res 32:181–188. https://doi.org/10.1519/JSC.000000000001791
- ørtenblad N, Nielsen J, Saltin B, Holmberg H-CC (2011) Role of glycogen availability in sarcoplasmic reticulum Ca2+ kinetics in human skeletal muscle. J Physiol 589:711–25. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.2010.195982
- Ørtenblad N, Westerblad H, Nielsen J (2013) Muscle glycogen stores and fatigue. J Physiol 591:4405–4413. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.2013.251629
- Ozaki H, Watanabe S, Suzuki H (1995) Topographic EEG changes due to hypobaric hypoxia at simulated high altitude. Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol 94:349–56
- Pageaux B, Marcora SM, Rozand V, Lepers R (2015) Mental fatigue induced by prolonged self-regulation does not exacerbate central fatigue during subsequent whole-body endurance exercise. Front Hum Neurosci 9:67. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2015.00067
- Pal R, Basu Thakur P, Li S, et al (2013) Real-time imaging of NADPH oxidase activity in living cells using a novel fluorescent protein reporter. PLoS One 8:e63989. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0063989
- Papadelis C, Kourtidou-Papadeli C, Bamidis PD, et al (2007) The effect of hypobaric hypoxia on multichannel EEG signal complexity. Clin Neurophysiol 118:31–52. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2006.09.008

Partridge LD, Benton LA (2011) Muscle, the Motor. In: Comprehensive Physiology. John

Wiley & Sons, Inc., Hoboken, NJ, USA

- Pearcey GEP, Bradbury-Squires DJ, Monks M, et al (2016) Arm-cycling sprints induce neuromuscular fatigue of the elbow flexors and alter corticospinal excitability of the biceps brachii. Appl Physiol Nutr Metab 41:199–209. https://doi.org/10.1139/apnm-2015-0438
- Pearcey GEP, Murphy JR, Behm DG, et al (2015) Neuromuscular fatigue of the knee extensors during repeated maximal intensity intermittent-sprints on a cycle ergometer. Muscle Nerve 51:569–579. https://doi.org/10.1002/mus.24342
- Pearcey GEP, Noble SA, Munro B, Zehr EP (2017) Spinal Cord Excitability and Sprint Performance Are Enhanced by Sensory Stimulation During Cycling. Front Hum Neurosci 11:. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2017.00612
- Pearson SJ, Hussain SR (2015) A Review on the Mechanisms of Blood-Flow Restriction Resistance Training-Induced Muscle Hypertrophy. Sport Med 45:187–200. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40279-014-0264-9
- Pedersen TH, de Paoli F, Nielsen OB (2005) Increased excitability of acidified skeletal muscle: role of chloride conductance. J Gen Physiol 125:237–46. https://doi.org/10.1085/jgp.200409173
- Pedersen TH, de Paoli FV, de Paoli FV, et al (2009a) Regulation of CIC-1 and KATP channels in action potential-firing fast-twitch muscle fibers. J Gen Physiol 134:309–22. https://doi.org/10.1085/jgp.200910290
- Pedersen TH, Macdonald WA, de Paoli FVV, et al (2009b) Comparison of regulated passive membrane conductance in action potential–firing fast- and slow-twitch muscle. J Gen Physiol 134:323–37. https://doi.org/10.1085/jgp.200910291
- Pedersen TH, Nielsen OB, Lamb GD, Stephenson DG (2016a) Intracellular Acidosis Enhances the Excitability of Working Muscle. Am Assoc Adv Sci 305:1144–1147. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1101141
- Pedersen TH, Riisager A, de Paoli FV, et al (2016b) Role of physiological CIC-1 CI- ion channel regulation for the excitability and function of working skeletal muscle. J Gen Physiol 147:291–308. https://doi.org/10.1085/jgp.201611582
- Peltonen JE, Kowalchuk JM, Paterson DH, et al (2007) Cerebral and muscle tissue oxygenation in acute hypoxic ventilatory response test. Respir Physiol Neurobiol 155:71–81. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resp.2006.03.008
- Peronnet F, Thibault G, Cousineau D (1991) A theoretical analysis of the effect of altitude on running performance. J Appl Physiol 70:399–404

- Perrey S, Racinais S, Saimouaa K, Girard O (2010) Neural and muscular adjustments following repeated running sprints. Eur J Appl Physiol 109:1027–1036. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00421-010-1445-3
- Perrey S, Rupp T (2009) Altitude-Induced Changes in Muscle Contractile Properties. High Alt Med Biol 10:175–182. https://doi.org/10.1089/ham.2008.1093
- Petrakos G, Morin JB, Egan B (2016) Resisted Sled Sprint Training to Improve Sprint Performance: A Systematic Review. Sport Med 46:381–400. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40279-015-0422-8
- Philpott DTG, Pearcey GEP, Forman D, et al (2015) Chronic resistance training enhances the spinal excitability of the biceps brachii in the non-dominant arm at moderate contraction intensities. Neurosci Lett 585:12–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neulet.2014.11.009
- Piitulainen H, Komi P, Linnamo V, Avela J (2008) Sarcolemmal excitability as investigated with M-waves after eccentric exercise in humans. J Electromyogr Kinesiol 18:672–681. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jelekin.2007.01.004
- Place N, Ivarsson N, Venckunas T, et al (2015) Ryanodine receptor fragmentation and sarcoplasmic reticulum Ca2+ leak after one session of high-intensity interval exercise. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 112:15492–7. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1507176112
- Pope ZK, Willardson JM, Schoenfeld BJ (2013) Exercise and blood flow restriction. J Strength Cond Res 27:2914–26. https://doi.org/10.1519/JSC.0b013e3182874721
- Post M, Steens A, Renken R, et al (2009) Voluntary activation and cortical activity during a sustained maximal contraction: An fMRI study. Hum Brain Mapp 30:1014–1027. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.20562
- Posterino G, Dutka T, Lamb G (2001) L (+)-lactate does not affect twitch and tetanic responses in mechanically skinned mammalian muscle fibres. Pflugers Arch Eur J Physiol 442:197–203. https://doi.org/10.1007/s004240100528
- Powers SK, Jackson MJ (2010) Exercice-induced oxidative stress: cellular mechanisms and impact on muscle force production. Physiol Rev 88:1243–76. https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev.00031.2007.Exercise-Induced
- Powers SK, Ji LL, Kavazis AN, Jackson MJ (2011) Reactive Oxygen Species: Impact on Skeletal Muscle. In: Comprehensive Physiology. John Wiley & Sons, Inc., Hoboken, NJ, USA, pp 941–969
- Racinais S, Connes P, Bishop D, et al (2005) Morning versus evening power output and
repeated-sprintRacinais S, Connes P, Bishop D, et al (2005) Morning versus evening power output and
22:1029–1039.

https://doi.org/10.1080/07420520500397918

- Racinais SS, Bishop D, Denis R, et al (2007) Muscle deoxygenation and neural drive to the muscle during repeated sprint cycling. Med Sci Sport Exerc 39:268–274. https://doi.org/10.1249/01.mss.0000251775.46460.cb
- Rahn H, Otis AB (1949) Man's respiratory response during and after acclimatization to high altitude. Am J Physiol Content 157:445–462. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajplegacy.1949.157.3.445
- Rampinini E, Connolly DR, Ferioli D, et al (2014) Peripheral Neuromuscular Fatigue Induced by Repeated-sprint Exercise : Cycling vs Running. J Sports Med Phys Fitness 56:49–59
- Rampinini E, Sassi A, Morelli A, et al (2009) Repeated-sprint ability in professional and amateur soccer players. Appl Physiol Nutr Metab 34:1048–1054. https://doi.org/10.1139/H09-111
- Rasmussen P, Nielsen J, Overgaard M, et al (2010) Reduced muscle activation during exercise related to brain oxygenation and metabolism in humans. J Physiol 588:1985– 1995. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.2009.186767
- Rassier DE, MacIntosh BR (2000) Coexistence of potentiation and fatigue in skeletal muscle.
 Brazilian J Med Biol Res 33:499–508. https://doi.org/10.1590/S0100-879X2000000500003
- Reid MB, Haack KE, Franchek KM, et al (1992) Reactive oxygen in skeletal muscle. I. Intracellular oxidant kinetics and fatigue in vitro. J Appl Physiol 73:1797–804. https://doi.org/10.1152/jappl.1992.73.5.1797
- Richardson RS, Secher NH, Tschakovsky ME, et al (2006) Metabolic and vascular limb differences affected by exercise, gender, age, and disease. Med Sci Sports Exerc 38:1792–6. https://doi.org/10.1249/01.mss.0000229568.17284.ab
- Rodriguez-Falces J, Place N (2018) Determinants, analysis and interpretation of the muscle compound action potential (M wave) in humans: implications for the study of muscle fatigue. Eur J Appl Physiol 118:501–521. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00421-017-3788-5
- Rodriguez-Falces J, Place N (2017) New insights into the potentiation of the first and second phases of the M-wave after voluntary contractions in the quadriceps muscle. Muscle Nerve 55:35–45. https://doi.org/10.1002/mus.25186
- Roelands B, Goekint M, Heyman E, et al (2008) Acute norepinephrine reuptake inhibition decreases performance in normal and high ambient temperature. J Appl Physiol 105:. https://doi.org/10.1152/japplphysiol.90509.2008

ROELANDS B, HASEGAWA H, WATSON P, et al (2008) The Effects of Acute Dopamine

Reuptake Inhibition on Performance. Med Sci Sport Exerc 40:879–885. https://doi.org/10.1249/MSS.0b013e3181659c4d

- Romer LM, Polkey MI (2008) Exercise-induced respiratory muscle fatigue: implications for
performance.JApplPhysiol104:879–888.https://doi.org/10.1152/japplphysiol.01157.2007
- Ross A, Leveritt M, Riek S (2001) Neural influences on sprint running: training adaptations and acute responses. Sports Med 31:409–25. https://doi.org/10.2165/00007256-200131060-00002
- Rossman MJ, Garten RS, Venturelli M, et al (2014) The role of active muscle mass in determining the magnitude of peripheral fatigue during dynamic exercise. AJP Regul Integr Comp Physiol 306:R934–R940. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpregu.00043.2014
- Rossman MJ, Venturelli M, McDaniel J, et al (2012) Muscle mass and peripheral fatigue: a potential role for afferent feedback? Acta Physiol 206:. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1748-1716.2012.02471.x
- Rossow LM, Fahs CA, Loenneke JP, et al (2012) Cardiovascular and perceptual responses to blood-flow-restricted resistance exercise with differing restrictive cuffs. Clin Physiol Funct Imaging 32:331–337. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1475-097X.2012.01131.x
- Rothwell JC, Day BL, Thompson PD, Kujirai T (2009) Short latency intracortical inhibition: one of the most popular tools in human motor neurophysiology. J Physiol 587:11–12. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.2008.162461
- Rozhkov VP, Soroko SI, Trifonov MI, et al (2009) Cortical-subcortical interactions and the regulation of the functional state of the brain in acute hypoxia in humans. Neurosci Behav Physiol 39:417–428. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11055-009-9160-4
- Rubinstein S, Kamen G (2005) Decreases in motor unit firing rate during sustained maximaleffort contractions in young and older adults. J Electromyogr Kinesiol 15:536–43. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jelekin.2005.04.001
- Rumpf MC, Lockie RG, Cronin JB, Jalilvand F (2016) Effect of Different Sprint Training Methods on Sprint Performance over Various Distances: A Brief Review
- Rupp T, Jubeau M, Millet GY, Wuyam B (2013) Muscle, Prefrontal, and Motor Cortex Oxygenation Profiles During Prolonged Fatiguing Exercise. Van Huffel S, Naulaers G, Caicedo A, Bruley DF, Harrison DK Oxyg Transp to Tissue XXXV Adv Exp Med Biol 789:2–9. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-7411-1
- Rupp T, Jubeau M, Wuyam B, et al (2012) Time-dependent effect of acute hypoxia on corticospinal excitability in healthy humans. J Neurophysiol 108:1270–1277.

https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.01162.2011

- Rupp T, Perrey S (2009) Effect of severe hypoxia on prefrontal cortex and muscle oxygenation responses at rest and during exhaustive exercice. Oxyg Transp to Tissue XXX 645:329–334. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-0-387-85998-9
- Russ DW, Kent-braun JA, Yau JE, et al (2003) Sex differences in human skeletal muscle fatigue are eliminated under ischemic conditions. J Appl Physiol 94:2414–2422. https://doi.org/10.1152/japplphysiol.01145.2002
- Sadamoto T, Bonde-Petersen F, Suzuki Y (1983) Skeletal muscle tension, flow, pressure, and EMG during sustained isometric contractions in humans. Eur J Appl Physiol Occup Physiol 51:395–408. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00429076
- Sahlin K, Ren JM (1989) Relationship of contraction capacity to metabolic changes during recovery from a fatiguing contraction. J Appl Physiol 67:648–654. https://doi.org/10.1152/jappl.1989.67.2.648
- Säisänen L, Pirinen E, Teitti S, et al (2008) Factors influencing cortical silent period: Optimized stimulus location, intensity and muscle contraction. J Neurosci Methods 169:231–238. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneumeth.2007.12.005
- Sakellariou GK, Vasilaki A, Palomero J, et al (2013) Studies of Mitochondrial and Nonmitochondrial Sources Implicate Nicotinamide Adenine Dinucleotide Phosphate Oxidase(s) in the Increased Skeletal Muscle Superoxide Generation That Occurs During Contractile Activity. Antioxid Redox Signal 18:603–621. https://doi.org/10.1089/ars.2012.4623
- Sale DG (2002) Postactivation potentiation: role in human performance. Exerc Sport Sci Rev 30:138–43
- Saltin B, Rådegran G, Koskolou MD, Roach RC (1998) Skeletal muscle blood flow in humans and its regulation during exercise. Acta Physiol Scand 162:421–436. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-201X.1998.0293e.x
- Salwa B, El-Sobkey, Hazzaa M. Al-Hazzaa (2014) Heart Rate and Perceptual Responses to Graded Leg and Arm Ergometry in Healthy College-Aged Saudis: Effects of Gender and Exercise Mode. J Nov Physiother Phys Rehabil
- Samozino P, Horvais N, Hintzy F (2007) Why does power output decrease at high pedaling rates during sprint cycling? Med Sci Sports Exerc 39:680–687. https://doi.org/10.1249/MSS.0b013e3180315246
- Sandbakk Ø, Skålvik TF, Spencer M, et al (2015) The physiological responses to repeated upper-body sprint exercise in highly trained athletes. Eur J Appl Physiol 115:1381–1391.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s00421-015-3128-6

- Schneider DA, Wing AN, Morris NR (2002) Oxygen uptake and heart rate kinetics during heavy exercise: a comparison between arm cranking and leg cycling. Eur J Appl Physiol 88:100–6. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00421-002-0690-5
- Scott BR, Loenneke JP, Slattery KM, Dascombe BJ (2015) Exercise with blood flow restriction: an updated evidence-based approach for enhanced muscular development. Sport Med 45:313–325. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40279-014-0288-1
- Secher NH, Seifert T, Van Lieshout JJ (2008) Cerebral blood flow and metabolism during exercise: implications for fatigue. J Appl Physiol 104:306–314. https://doi.org/10.1152/japplphysiol.00853.2007
- Senefeld J, Yoon T, Bement MH, Hunter SK (2013) Fatigue and recovery from dynamic contractions in men and women differ for arm and leg muscles. Muscle and Nerve 48:436–439. https://doi.org/10.1002/mus.23836
- Shield A, Zhou S (2004) Activation with the Twitch Interpolation Technique. Sport Med 34:253–267. https://doi.org/10.2165/00007256-200434040-00005
- Shima N, Ishida K, Katayama K, et al (2002) Cross education of muscular strength during unilateral resistance training and detraining. Eur J Appl Physiol 86:287–294. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00421-001-0559-z
- Shinohara M, Kouzaki M, Yoshihisa T, Fukunaga T (1998) Efficacy of tourniquet ischemia for strength training with low resistance. Eur J Appl Physiol Occup Physiol 77:189–91
- Sidhu SK, Cresswell AG, Carroll TJ (2013) Corticospinal Responses to Sustained Locomotor Exercises: Moving beyond Single-Joint Studies of Central Fatigue. Sport Med 43:437– 449. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40279-013-0020-6
- Sidhu SK, Cresswell AG, Carroll TJ (2012) Motor cortex excitability does not increase during sustained cycling exercise to volitional exhaustion. 401–409. https://doi.org/10.1152/japplphysiol.00486.2012
- Sidhu SK, Weavil JC, Mangum TS, et al (2017) Group III/IV locomotor muscle afferents alter motor cortical and corticospinal excitability and promote central fatigue during cycling exercise. Clin Neurophysiol 128:44–55. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2016.10.008
- Škarabot J, Ricardo M, Brownstein CGm, Ansdell P (2018) Myths and Methodologies: how loud is the story told by the transcranial magnetic stimulation-evoked silent period. Exp Physiol 10–12. https://doi.org/10.13479/j.cnki.jip.2018.05.003
- Smith KJ, Billaut F (2010) Influence of cerebral and muscle oxygenation on repeated-sprint ability. Eur J Appl Physiol 109:989–999. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00421-010-1444-4

- Smith KJ, Billaut F (2012) Tissue Oxygenation in Men and Women During Repeated-Sprint Exercise. 59 Int J Sport Physiol Perform 59–67
- Söderlund K, Hultman E, Soderlund K, Hultman E (1991) ATP and phosphocreatine changes in single human muscle fibers after intense electrical stimulation. Am J Physiol 261:E737–E741. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpendo.1991.261.6.e737
- Søgaard K, Gandevia SC, Todd G, et al (2006) The effect of sustained low-intensity contractions on supraspinal fatigue in human elbow flexor muscles. J Physiol 573:511–523. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.2005.103598
- Spencer M, Bishop D, Dawson B, Goodman C (2005) Physiological and Metabolic Responses of Repeated-Sprint Activities: specific to field-based team sports. Sport Med 35:1025–1044. https://doi.org/10.2165/00007256-200535120-00003
- Spruce AE, Standen NB, Stanfield PR (1985) Voltage-dependent ATP-sensitive potassium channels of skeletal muscle membrane. Nature 316:736–8. https://doi.org/10.1038/316736a0
- Stephenson DG (2006) Tubular system excitability: an essential component of excitationcontraction coupling in fast-twitch fibres of vertebrate skeletal muscle. J Muscle Res Cell Motil 27:259–74. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10974-006-9073-6
- Stienen GJ, van Graas IA, Elzinga G (2017) Uptake and caffeine-induced release of calcium in fast muscle fibers of Xenopus laevis: effects of MgATP and P(i). Am J Physiol Physiol 265:C650–C657. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpcell.1993.265.3.C650
- Stöggl T, Karlöf L (2013) Mechanical behaviour of cross-country ski racing poles during double poling. Sport. Biomech. 12:365–380
- Strojnik V, Komi P V. (1998) Neuromuscular fatigue after maximal stretch-shortening cycle exercise. J Appl Physiol 84:344–350. https://doi.org/10.1152/jappl.1998.84.1.344
- Suga T, Okita K, Morita N, et al (2009) Intramuscular metabolism during low-intensity resistance exercise with blood flow restriction. J Appl Physiol 106:1119–1124. https://doi.org/10.1152/japplphysiol.90368.2008
- Suter E, Herzog W (2001) Effect of number of stimuli and timing of twitch application on variability in interpolated twitch torque. J Appl Physiol 90:1036–40. https://doi.org/10.1152/jappl.2001.90.3.1036
- Swart J, Lamberts RP, Lambert MI, et al (2009) Exercising with reserve: Evidence that the central nervous system regulates prolonged exercise performance. Br J Sports Med 43:782–788. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsm.2008.055889

Swenson AM, Trivedi D V., Rauscher AA, et al (2014) Magnesium Modulates Actin Binding

and ADP Release in Myosin Motors. J Biol Chem 289:23977–23991. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M114.562231

- Szubski C, Burtscher M, Löscher WN (2006) The effects of short-term hypoxia on motor cortex excitability and neuromuscular activation. J Appl Physiol 101:1673–1677. https://doi.org/10.1152/japplphysiol.00617.2006
- Szubski C, Burtscher M, Löscher WN (2007) Neuromuscular fatigue during sustained contractions performed in short-term hypoxia. Med Sci Sports Exerc 39:948–54. https://doi.org/10.1249/mss.0b013e3180479918
- Takano H, Morita T, Iida H, et al (2005) Hemodynamic and hormonal responses to a shortterm low-intensity resistance exercise with the reduction of muscle blood flow. Eur J Appl Physiol 95:65–73. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00421-005-1389-1
- Takarada Y, Sato Y, Ishii N (2002) Effects of resistance exercise combined with vascular occlusion on muscle function in athletes. Eur J Appl Physiol 86:308–14
- Takarada Y, Takazawa H, Sato Y, et al (2000) Effects of resistance exercise combined with moderate vascular occlusion on muscular function in humans. J Appl Physiol 88:2097–106. https://doi.org/10.1152/jappl.2000.88.6.2097
- Taylor CW, Ingham SA, Ferguson RA (2016a) Acute and chronic effect of sprint interval training combined with postexercise blood-flow restriction in trained individuals. Exp Physiol 101:143–154. https://doi.org/10.1113/EP085293
- Taylor JL (2006) Stimulation at the cervicomedullary junction in human subjects. J Electromyogr Kinesiol 16:215–223. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jelekin.2005.07.001
- Taylor JL, Amann M, Duchateau J, et al (2016b) Neural contributions to muscle fatigue: From the brain to the muscle and back again
- Taylor JL, Butler JE, Allen GM, Gandevia SC (1996) Changes in motor cortical excitability during human muscle fatigue. J Physiol 490:519–528
- Taylor JL, Gandevia SC (2007) A comparison of central aspects of fatigue in submaximal and maximal voluntary contractions. J Appl Physiol 104:542–550. https://doi.org/10.1152/japplphysiol.01053.2007
- Taylor JL, Petersen N, Butler JE, Gandevia SC (2000) Ischaemia after exercise does not reduce responses of human motoneurones to cortical or corticospinal tract stimulation. J Physiol 525 Pt 3:793–801. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7793.2000.00793.x
- Temesi J, Gruet M, Rupp T, et al (2014) Resting and active motor thresholds versus stimulus – response curves to determine transcranial magnetic stimulation intensity in quadriceps femoris. J Neuroeng Rehabil 11:1–13. https://doi.org/10.1186/1743-0003-11-40

- Thomas C (2004) Monocarboxylate transporters, blood lactate removal after supramaximal exercise, and fatigue indexes in humans. J Appl Physiol 98:804–809. https://doi.org/10.1152/japplphysiol.01057.2004
- Thomas C, Sirvent P, Perrey S, et al (2004) Relationships between maximal muscle oxidative capacity and blood lactate removal after supramaximal exercise and fatigue indexes in humans. J Appl Physiol 97:2132–8. https://doi.org/10.1152/japplphysiol.00387.2004
- Todd G, Gorman RB, Gandevia SC (2004) Measurement and reproducibility of strength and voluntary activation of lower-limb muscles. Muscle Nerve 29:834–842. https://doi.org/10.1002/mus.20027
- Todd G, Taylor JL, Gandevia SC (2003) Measurement of voluntary activation of fresh and fatigued human muscles using transcranial magnetic stimulation. J Physiol 551:661–671. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.2003.044099
- Todd G, Taylor JL, Gandevia SC (2016) Measurement of voluntary activation based on transcranial magnetic stimulation over the motor cortex. J Appl Physiol 121:678–686. https://doi.org/10.1152/japplphysiol.00293.2016
- Tomazin K, Morin JB, Millet GY (2017) Etiology of neuromuscular fatigue after repeated sprints depends on exercise modality. Int J Sports Physiol Perform 12:878–885. https://doi.org/10.1123/ijspp.2016-0200
- Trincat L, Woorons X, Millet GP (2017) Repeated Sprint Training in Hypoxia Induced by Voluntary Hypoventilation in Swimming. Int J Sport Physiol Perform. doi: 10.1123/ijspp.2015-0674
- Turek Z, Kreuzer F, Hoofd LJC (1973) Advantage or disadvantage of a decrease of blood oxygen affinity for tissue oxygen supply at hypoxia. Pflugers Arch Eur J Physiol 342:185– 197. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00591367
- Turner CE, Byblow WD, Stinear CM, Gant N (2014) Carbohydrate in the mouth enhances activation of brain circuitry involved in motor performance and sensory perception. Appetite 80:. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2014.05.020
- Twomey R, Aboodarda SJ, Kruger R, et al (2017) Neuromuscular fatigue during exercise: Methodological considerations, etiology and potential role in chronic fatigue. Clin Neurophysiol 47:95–110. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neucli.2017.03.002
- Umbel JD, Hoffman RL, Dearth DJ, et al (2009) Delayed-onset muscle soreness induced by low-load blood flow-restricted exercise. Eur J Appl Physiol 107:687–695. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00421-009-1175-6
- van der Zwaard S, Brocherie F, Kom BLG, et al (2018) Adaptations in muscle oxidative

capacity, fiber size, and oxygen supply capacity after repeated-sprint training in hypoxia combined with chronic hypoxic exposure. J Appl Physiol 124:1403–1412. https://doi.org/10.1152/japplphysiol.00946.2017

- Verges S, Maffiuletti NA, Kerherve H, et al (2008) Comparison of electrical and magnetic stimulations to assess quadriceps muscle function. J Appl Physiol 106:701–710. https://doi.org/10.1152/japplphysiol.01051.2007
- Verges S, Rupp T, Jubeau M, et al (2012) Cerebral perturbations during exercise in hypoxia.
 AJP Regul Integr Comp Physiol 302:R903–R916.
 https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpregu.00555.2011
- Vernillo G, Temesi J, Martin M, Millet GY (2018) Mechanisms of fatigue and recovery in upper versus lower limbs in men. Med Sci Sports Exerc 50:. https://doi.org/10.1249/MSS.00000000001445
- Vogel JA, Harris CW (1967) Cardiopulmonary responses of resting man during early exposure to high altitude. J Appl Physiol 22:1124–1128. https://doi.org/10.1152/jappl.1967.22.6.1124
- Waldrop TG, Eldridge FL, Iwamoto GA, Mitchell JH (2011) Central Neural Control of Respiration and Circulation During Exercise. In: Comprehensive Physiology. John Wiley & Sons, Inc., Hoboken, NJ, USA
- Wang R, Fukuda DH, Hoffman JR, et al (2018) Distinct Effects of Repeated-Sprint Training in Normobaric Hypoxia and β-Alanine Supplementation. J Am Coll Nutr 0:1–13. https://doi.org/10.1080/07315724.2018.1475269
- Wang WZ, Baynosa RC, Zamboni WA (2011) Update on Ischemia-Reperfusion Injury for the Plastic Surgeon. Plast Reconstr Surg 128:685e-692e. https://doi.org/10.1097/PRS.0b013e318230c57b
- Watanabe D, Kanzaki K, Kuratani M, et al (2015) Contribution of impaired myofibril and ryanodine receptor function to prolonged low-frequency force depression after in situ stimulation in rat skeletal muscle. J Muscle Res Cell Motil 36:275–286. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10974-015-9409-1
- Wehrlin JP, Halle J (2006) Linear decrease in VO2max and performance with increasing altitude in endurance athletes. Eur J Appl Physiol 96:404–412. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00421-005-0081-9
- Wei L, Salahura G, Boncompagni S, et al (2011) Mitochondrial superoxide flashes: metabolic biomarkers of skeletal muscle activity and disease. FASEB J 25:3068–78. https://doi.org/10.1096/fj.11-187252

- Wernbom M, Augustsson J, Thomeé R (2006) Effects of vascular occlusion on muscular endurance in dynamic knee extension exercise at different submaximal loads. J Strength Cond Res 20:372–377. https://doi.org/10.1519/R-16884.1
- Wernbom M, Järrebring R, Andreasson MA, Augustsson J (2009) Acute effects of blood flow restriction on muscle activity and endurance during fatiguing dynamic knee extensions at low load. J Strength Cond Res 23:2389–2395. https://doi.org/10.1519/JSC.0b013e3181bc1c2a
- Wernbom M, Paulsen G, Nilsen TS, et al (2012) Contractile function and sarcolemmal permeability after acute low-load resistance exercise with blood flow restriction. Eur J Appl Physiol 112:2051–2063. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00421-011-2172-0
- West JB, Schoene RB, Milledge JS (2007) High Altitude Medicine and Physiology. Ann R Coll Surg Engl 91:484. https://doi.org/10.1308/003588409X432419D
- Westad C, Westgaard RH, De Luca CJ (2003) Motor unit recruitment and derecruitment induced by brief increase in contraction amplitude of the human trapezius muscle. J Physiol 552:645–56. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.2003.044990
- Westerblad; H (2016) Acidosis is not a significant cause of skeletal muscle fatigue. Med Sci Sports Exerc 48:2339–2342. https://doi.org/10.1249/MSS.0000000000001044
- Westerblad H, Allen DG (1991) Changes of myoplasmic calcium concentration during fatigue in single mouse muscle fibers. J Gen Physiol 98:615–635. https://doi.org/10.1085/jgp.98.3.615
- Westerblad H, Allen DG (1992) Myoplasmic free Mg2+ concentration during repetitive stimulation of single fibres from mouse skeletal muscle. J Physiol 453:413–34. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.1992.sp019236
- Westerblad H, Bruton JD, Katz A (2010) Skeletal muscle: energy metabolism, fiber types, fatigue and adaptability. Exp Cell Res 316:3093–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yexcr.2010.05.019
- Weyand PG, Lee CS, Martinez-ruiz R, et al (1999) High-speed running performance is largely unaffected by hypoxic reductions in aerobic power. J Appl Physiol 2059–2064
- Willis SJ, Alvarez L, Borrani F, Millet GP (2018) Oxygenation time course and neuromuscular fatigue during repeated cycling sprints with bilateral blood flow restriction. Physiol Rep 6:e13872. https://doi.org/10.14814/phy2.13872
- Willis SJ, Alvarez L, Millet GP, Borrani F (2017) Changes in muscle and cerebral deoxygenation and perfusion during repeated sprints in hypoxia to exhaustion. Front Physiol 8:1–12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2017.00846
Bibliography

- Willis SJ, Peyrard A, Rupp T, et al (2019) hypoxia during arm cycling repeated sprints. J Sci Med Sport 6–11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsams.2019.05.001
- Wilson JM, Lowery RP, Joy JM, et al (2013) Practical blood flow restriction training increases acute determinants of hypertrophy without increasing indices of muscle damage. J Strength Cond Res 27:. https://doi.org/10.1519/JSC.0b013e31828a1ffa
- Yacyshyn AF, Woo EJ, Price MC, McNeil CJ (2016) Motoneuron responsiveness to corticospinal tract stimulation during the silent period induced by transcranial magnetic stimulation. Exp Brain Res 234:3457–3463. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00221-016-4742-1
- Yasuda T, Brechue WF, Fujita T, et al (2009) Muscle activation during low-intensity muscle contractions with restricted blood flow. J Sports Sci 27:479–489. https://doi.org/10.1080/02640410802626567
- Yquel RJ, Arsac LM, Thiaudière E, et al (2002) Effect of creatine supplementation on phosphocreatine resynthesis, inorganic phosphate accumulation and pH during intermittent maximal exercise. J Sports Sci 20:427–37. https://doi.org/10.1080/026404102317366681

Annexes

Arm-cycling repeated sprints under hypoxia and/or blood flow restriction.

Arthur Peyrard^{1#}, Sarah J. Willis^{2#}, Nicolas Place², Grégoire P. Millet², Fabio Borrani^{2#}, Thomas Rupp^{1#*}

¹Laboratoire Interuniversitaire de Biologie de la Motricité (EA 7424), Université Savoie Mont Blanc, Chambéry, France.

² Institute of Sport Sciences (ISSUL), Faculty of Biology and Medicine, University of Lausanne, Switzerland.

[#]both authors contributed equally to the work

Submitted in the European Journal of Applied Physiology

Correspondence:

Thomas RUPP Laboratoire Interuniversitaire de Biologie de la Motricité (EA7424 LIBM Chambéry) Université Savoie Mont Blanc, Campus Scientifique Technolac 73376 LE BOURGET DU LAC Cedex, FRANCE Phone: (+33)4 79 75 81 23 Fax: (+33)4 79 75 81 48 thomas.rupp@univ-smb.fr

Electronic supplementary material part I: Effects of hypoxia and/or blood flow restriction

(BFR) on elbow flexors, saturation index, and neuromuscular function at rest.

Two-way ANOVAs (*altitude*occlusion*) with repeated measures were performed on PREvalues only to evaluate the acute effect of *altitude* and *occlusion* before the start of the fatiguing test. As for the analysis presented in the article, Post-hoc Tukey's tests were applied to determine a difference if the ANOVA revealed a significant main or interaction effect. Statistical significance was set at P < 0.05. Effect sizes are reported as partial eta-squared (η_P^2) for ANOVAs (with interpretation thresholds fixed at 0.02, 0.13, and 0.26 for respectively, small, medium, and large). All data are presented as mean ± SD).

Results

As presented in the table below, MVC was lower with *occlusion* ($F_{(1,11)}=6.60$, P=0.03, $\eta_P^2=0.37$), but was not impacted by *altitude* ($F_{(1,11)}=0.25$, P=0.63) or *altitude*occlusion* ($F_{(1,11)}=1.66$, P=0.22) before exercise.

Pre values of SpO₂ (Fig. 3A) and TSI_{PFC} (Fig.3C) were not impacted by *occlusion* ($F_{(1,13)}=2.24$, P=0.16 and $F_{(1,13)}=1.44$, P=0.25, respectively) or *altitude*occlusion* ($F_{(1,13)}=0.39$, P=0.54 and $F_{(1,13)}=0.32$, P=0.58, respectively) but were decreased with *altitude* (SpO₂ in normoxia: 98 ± 1%, hypoxia: 91 ± 2%, $F_{(1,13)}=197.1$, P<0.01, $\eta_p^2=0.94$ and TSI_{PFC} in normoxia: 72 ± 6%, hypoxia: 67 ± 6%, $F_{(1,13)}=10.1$, P=0.01, $\eta_p^2=0.44$, respectively). TSI_{BB} (Fig. 3B) decreased at baseline with *occlusion* (58 ± 6% and 63 ± 8%, respectively, with and without BFR, $F_{(1,13)}=6.80$, P=0.02, $\eta_p^2=0.34$) but was not impacted by *altitude* ($F_{(1,13)}=0.80$, P=0.39) or *altitude*occlusion* ($F_{(1,13)}=0.18$, P=0.68).

Baseline Mmax was not impacted by *occlusion* ($F_{(1,13)}=2.20$, P=0.16), *altitude* ($F_{(1,13)}=1.27$, P=0.28) or *altitude* **occlusion* ($F_{(1,13)}=0.06$, P=0.80).

Db10 decreased at PRE with *occlusion* ($F_{(1,13)}$ =14.1, P<0.01, η_p^2 =0.52) and increased with *altitude* ($F_{(1,13)}$ =9.0, P=0.01, η_p^2 =0.41). The interaction *altitude*occlusion* was not significant ($F_{(1,13)}$ =0.33, P=0.58).

Baseline VA_{TMS} was not impacted by *occlusion* ($F_{(1,10)}$ =1.62, P=0.23), *altitude* ($F_{(1,10)}$ =1.15, P=0.31) or *altitude* **occlusion* ($F_{(1,10)}$ =0.47, P=0.51).

MEP, SICI, and EMG_{RMS} were not impacted, no matter the intensity of contraction. CSP was not impacted at PRE by *occlusion* (e.g. CSP₇₅: $F_{(1,10)}$ =0.79, P=0.39) or *altitude*occlusion* (e.g. CSP₇₅: $F_{(1,10)}$ =0.92, P=0.36) but decreased with *altitude* (e.g. CSP₇₅: normoxia: 127 ± 23 ms, hypoxia: 117 ± 22) ms, $F_{(1,10)}$ =6.69, P=0.03, η_p^2 =0.40).

Supplementary Table I. Effects of hypoxia and/or blood flow restriction (BFR) on elbow flexors, saturation index and neuromuscular function at rest.

	Conditions			Factors			
	NOR	N _{BFR}	HYP	H _{BFR}	altitude	occlusion	Altitude*occlusion
					P-value	P-value	P-value
Performance							
MVC (N)	229 ± 58	220 ± 60	235 ± 59	218 ± 57	0.625	0.026	0.225
SpO ₂ (%)	98 ± 1	98 ± 1	90 ± 3	91 ± 2	<0.001	0.158	0.544
TSI _{BB} (%)	63 ± 8	58 ± 8	63 ± 9	57 ± 5	0.390	0.022	0.680
TSIPFC (%)	71 ± 6	72 ± 6	65 ± 6	68 ± 7	0.007	0.251	0.580
Peripheral indices							
MmaxBB (mV)	16.8 ± 5.4	14.9 ± 5.5	17.6 ± 5.3	16 ± 6.5	0.280	0.162	0.807
Db10 (N)	31 ± 13	27 ±9	37 ± 11	31 ± 14	0.010	0.002	0.577
Central indices							
VA _{TMS} (%)	96.2 ± 2.3	94.9 ± 2.8	95.8 ± 2.9	93.4 ± 4.4	0.148	0.087	0.430
EMG _{RMS} (AU)	0.079 ± 0.039	0.070 ± 0.03	0.071 ± 0.021	0.075 ± 0.031	0.819	0.711	0.226
MEP100 (AU)	0.70 ± 0.33	0.65 ± 0.25	0.66 ± 0.25	0.69 ± 0.25	0.981	0.923	0.325
MEP75 (AU)	0.93 ± 0.47	0.85 ± 0.3	0.86 ± 0.32	0.86 ± 0.34	0.621	0.441	0.567
MEP50 (AU)	0.92 ± 0.38	0.91 ± 0.35	0.86 ± 0.36	0.94 ± 0.37	0.871	0.351	0.498
CSP100 (ms)	112 ± 20	103 ± 18	102 ± 22	101 ± 19	0.063	0.269	0.554
CSP ₇₅ (ms)	131 ± 24	122 ± 22	116 ± 22	117 ± 22	0.027	0.393	0.360
CSP ₅₀ (ms)	143 ± 27	138 ± 27	130 ± 23	133 ± 24	0.086	0.822	0.502
SICI (AU)	0.53 ± 0.16	0.48 ± 0.15	0.53 ± 0.22	0.55 ± 0.18	0.303	0.608	0.107

Values are presented as mean (SD); NOR : normoxia without blood flow restriction; N_{BFR}: normoxia with blood flow restriction; HYP: hypoxia without blood flow restriction; H_{BFR}: hypoxia with blood flow restriction; MVC: maximal voluntary contraction force; SpO₂: arterial oxygenation; TSI : tissue saturation index; BB: *biceps brachii*; PFC: pre-frontal cortex; Mmax: maximal M-wave; BR: *brachioradialis*; Db10: force evoked by a 10Hz doublets; VA_{TMS}: voluntary activation assess by TMS; EMG_{RMS}: EMG root mean square; MEP₁₀₀, MEP₇₅, MEP₅₀: motor evoked potential respectively during MVC, submaximal contraction at 100, 75, and 50%, of MVC force; SICI: short interval intracortical inhibition during contraction at 10% MVC force. Statistical significance was set at P < 0.05.

Interpretation

As expected, SpO2 and TSIPFC were significantly reduced at rest in conditions with simulated altitude (FiO₂: 0.13). However, despite lower systemic O₂ availability in these conditions, resting TSIBB (~30 min) was well preserved. This is in accordance with previous literature showing that acute passive exposure to hypoxia, even at lower FiO₂ than the one used here, only marginally affect resting muscle oxygenation status contrarily to its effect on systemic and brain oxygenation (Rupp and Perrey 2009; Rupp et al. 2013). As BFR immediately impaired muscle TSI in the present study, while preserving systemic and cerebral oxygenation, we are confident our experimental design was effective to induce either dissociated or coupled local versus systemic hypoxic stress. MVC decreased with acute exposure to BFR. As an indicator of muscle excitation-contraction coupling efficiency, Db10 force was also depressed so that one may argue that acute local muscle hypoxia likely impaired MVC through peripheral limitations, as previously reported (Racinais et al. 2007). Systemic hypoxia had an acute effect on PRE-values, surprisingly increasing Db10 force and decreasing CSP during contractions, indicating that hypoxia could impact the muscle excitation-contraction coupling and the activity of the GABA_B receptors, limiting intracortical inhibition. However, those results did not transfer to more global parameters such as MVC or VATMS.

References

Racinais S, Bishop D, Denis R, et al (2007) Muscle deoxygenation and neural drive to the muscle during repeated sprint cycling. Med Sci Sport Exerc 39:268–274. https://doi.org/10.1249/01.mss.0000251775.46460.cb

Rupp T, Jubeau M, Millet GY, Wuyam B (2013) Muscle, Prefrontal, and Motor Cortex Oxygenation Profiles During Prolonged Fatiguing Exercise. Van Huffel S, Naulaers G, Caicedo A, Bruley DF, Harrison DK Oxyg Transp to Tissue XXXV Adv Exp Med Biol 789:2– 9. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-7411-1

Rupp T, Perrey S (2009) Effect of Severe Hypoxia on Prefrontal Cortex and Muscle Oxygenation Responses at Rest and During Exhaustive Exercise. In: Oxygen Transport to Tissue XXX. Springer US, Boston, MA, pp 329–334

257

Electronic supplementary material part II: Effects of an armcycling repeated sprint ability test in normoxia without blood flow restriction on elbow flexors, saturation index, and neuromuscular function.

T-tests for dependent samples were performed on data PRE and POST aRSA test in NOR condition only to describe variables evolution in terms of absolute values rather than delta in this "control" condition. Statistical significance was set at P < 0.05. Effect sizes are reported as Cohen's d (*d*) for t-tests (with interpretation thresholds fixed at 0.2, 0.6, 1.2, and 2.0 for, respectively, small, moderate, large, and very large). All data are presented as mean \pm SD.

Results

Data are shown in the table below.

MVC decreased by 16.7% from PRE to POST aRSA test (P<0.01, d=0.73). SpO₂ and TSI_{PFC} decreased respectively by 2.6% (P<0.01, d=1.28) and 5.2% (P<0.01, d=0.62) while TSI_{BB} was not impacted (P=0.42) from PRE to POST aRSA test in NOR (Fig. 3). Mmax was not impacted by the aRSA test (P=0.84), but Db10 decreased by 29.8% (P<0.01, d=0.83). VA_{TMS} decreased by 4.3% after aRSA test in NOR (P<0.01, d=2.46). MEP tended to increase in the BB after exercise (MEP₁₀₀: +16%, P=0.15, d=0.48; MEP₇₅BB: +17%, P=0.08, d=0.47; MEP₅₀BB: +17.4%, P=0.09, d=0.58). The aRSA test did not impact CSP (e.g. CSP₁₀₀ : P=0.81;), EMG_{RMS} (P=0.21) or SICI (P=0.90).

Supplementary Table II. Effects of an arm-cycling repeated sprint ability test to task failure in normoxia without blood flow restriction on elbow flexors, saturation index, and neuromuscular function.

			- ·	
	PRF	POST	P-value	Cohen's
				d
MVC (N)	229 ± 58	191 ± 52	< 0.001	0.73
SpO₂ (%)	98 ± 1	96 ± 3	0.003	1.28
TSIвв (%)	63 ± 8	65 ± 6	0.416	0.29
TSIPFC (%)	71 ± 6	67 ± 6	0.004	0.62
Peripheral indices				
Mmax (mV)	16.8 ± 5.4	16.6 ± 5.4	0.839	0.03
Db10 (N)	31 ± 12.9	21.7 ± 10.1	0.001	0.83
<u>Central indices</u>				
VАтмs (%)	96.3 ± 1.4	92.1 ± 2.1	< 0.001	2.46
EMG _{RMS} (AU)	0.08 ± 0.04	0.09 ± 0.04	0.210	0.27
MEP ₁₀₀ (AU)	0.76 ± 0.26	0.88 ± 0.28	0.146	0.48
MEP ₇₅ (AU)	1.01 ± 0.39	1.18 ± 0.37	0.082	0.47
MEP ₅₀ (AU)	1.0 ± 0.25	1.18 ± 0.37	0.095	0.58
CSP100 (ms)	112 ± 20	112 ± 22	0.811	0.03
CSP75 (ms)	131 ± 24	128 ± 20	0.367	0.17
CSP50 (ms)	143 ± 27	135 ± 23	0.101	0.36
SICI (AU)	0.53 ± 0.16	0.55 ± 0.14	0.672	0.08

Values are presented as mean \pm SD; MVC: maximal voluntary contraction force; SpO₂: arterial oxygenation; TSI: tissue saturation index; BB: *biceps brachii*; PFC: pre-frontal cortex; Mmax: maximal M-wave; Db10: force evoked by a 10Hz doublets; VA_{TMS}: voluntary activation assess by TMS; EMG_{RMS}: EMG root mean square; MEP₁₀₀, MEP₇₅, MEP₅₀: motor evoked potential respectively during MVC, submaximal contraction at 100, 75, and 50% of MVC; CSP₁₀₀, CSP₇₅, CSP₅₀: cortical silent period respectively during MVC, submaximal contraction at 100, 75, and 50% of MVC force; SICI: short interval intracortical inhibition during contraction at 10% MVC force. Statistical significance was set at P < 0.05.

Fatigue neuromusculaire induite par répétition de sprints – Etiologie et impact de l'hypoxie.

Résumé :

La capacité à répéter des efforts de courte durée et d'intensité maximale est considérées comme un indicateur de la performance dans de nombreux sports intermittents (sports collectifs, sports d'opposition). Ce travail de thèse s'est focalisé sur l'étude de la fatigue neuromusculaire induite par une répétition de sprints et de l'impact que peut avoir l'hypoxie sur le développement de celle-ci. Il est établi qu'en condition normale l'origine de cette fatigue est d'avantage musculaire (périphérique) dès les premiers sprints alors qu'une fatigue dites centrale, correspondant à une incapacité du système nerveux centrale à recruter le muscle de manière optimale, apparait lors des derniers sprints. La réalisation de ce type d'effort en hypoxie a pour effet d'exacerber l'apparition de la fatigue, notamment centrale, de deux manières potentielles. Soit via une diminution de la quantité d'oxygène fournit au cerveau, ce qui aurait un effet direct diminuant l'activité cérébrale et donc la commande motrice nécessaire à l'exercice. Soit via la réduction de l'arrivée de l'oxygène au niveau musculaire, qui engendrerait une diminution de la part d'énergie produite par le métabolisme aérobie, qui serait redirigé vers le métabolisme anaérobie, connu pour produire davantage de déchets métaboliques. Ces derniers sont liés à des voies afférentes qui inhibe de manière indirect la commande motrice. L'un des objectifs était de pouvoir isoler ces deux mécanismes grâce à la mise en place d'une hypoxie musculaire localisée afin de voir si cela suffirait à induire une augmentation de la fatigue centrale. Les résultats présentés suggèrent que les deux types d'hypoxies diminuent la performance en sprint de manière similaire mais via des mécanismes distincts. L'hypoxie générale impact d'avantage le développement de la fatigue centrale via un effet direct sur le cerveau alors que l'hypoxie localisée augmente surtout la fatigue périphérique via l'accumulation de métabolites. Cependant la méthode utilisée dans cette étude et classiquement dans la littérature induit un délai entre la fin du sprint et la mesure de fatigue, ce qui peut induire une sous-estimation et une mauvaise interprétation de l'étiologie de celle-ci et ne permet pas d'établir une cinétique précise du développement de la fatigue. C'est pourquoi suite à cette première étude, l'objectif était de développer une méthode permettant des mesures régulières et sans délai de la fatigue neuromusculaire. Ce travail présente le développement et la validation d'un nouvel ergomètre permettant des mesures de la fonction neuromusculaire intégrées pendant un exercice de sprint répétés sur vélo.

Neuromuscular fatigue and repeated sprint exercise – etiology and impact of hypoxia.

Abstract:

The ability to repeat short maximal sprints is considered as a good performance index in a variety of intermittent sports (e.g. team or racket sports). This work focused on the neuromuscular fatigue induced by repeated sprint exercise and the impact of hypoxia on its development. In normoxic condition, it is rather established that fatigue mainly originates from the muscle itself (i.e. peripheral) during the early stage of the task whereas central fatigue (i.e. the incapacity of the central nervous system to fully activate the muscles) arise during the latter stage of exercise. When performed under hypoxic condition, central fatigue is exacerbated due to two potential mechanisms. The first one implies a direct brain hypoxic effect that would reduce the brain activity and therefore the motor drive to the exercising muscles. The second one would be through a decrease in oxygen delivery to the muscle, decreasing the energy furnished by the aerobic pathway, increasing the reliance on anaerobic metabolism and leading to the production of more metabolites. Those are known to increase the firing rate of muscle afferents inhibiting the central drive. One of the objectives of this thesis was to isolate those mechanisms thanks to the use of localized muscle hypoxia obtain through blood flow restriction and to determine if exercising in that condition would increase the development of central fatigue. The present results suggest that systemic and localized hypoxia impaired similarly sprint performance but with distinct mechanisms. Systemic hypoxia exacerbates the development of central fatigue through a direct brain hypoxic effect whereas blood flow restriction increased peripheral fatigue due to the accumulation of metabolites. However, the methodology used for this study and classically in the literature involves a delay between the end of the repeated sprint exercise and the fatigue measurement. This is problematic as fatigue is known to recover quickly and at different rates depending on its origin, thus leading to a probable underestimation and misinterpretation of fatigue etiology. Furthermore, it prevents the possibility of having kinetics of fatigue development allowing to determine more precisely the apparition and the evolution of central and peripheral fatigue. Therefore, following the first study, the aim was to propose a new methodological approach to allow several measures of fatigue during the exercise without any delay. This work presents the development and the validation of a new ergometer making possible to assess neuromuscular function during repeated sprint cycling exercise.